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introduc tion

In the mid-1960s a group of Yaquis in the Tucson barrio called Pascua took 
the fi rst steps toward seeking federal acknowledgment of their status as 
American Indians. In part they hoped to obtain access to federal resources 
and an area of land outside the city. Since World War II, Tucson’s ware-
house district had enveloped Pascua, and the mechanization of agriculture 
had dramatically reduced the number of jobs on nearby industrial farms. 
Pascua residents lived in poverty, with dilapidated housing and worn-out 
and insufficient infrastructure. Catholic Yaquis also complained about ex-
cessive interference by local Protestant missionaries. They hoped that by 
moving outside the city they might be, as one contemporary ethnogra-
pher put it, “left alone with the traditional religious life of the Yaquis.” 
The campaign to establish a new settlement sparked a rancorous debate 
about what it meant to be Yaqui, Indian, and ethnic Mexican in twentieth-
century Arizona.1

Anselmo Valencia, a Yaqui war veteran, led the campaign to establish 
a new settlement after founding the Pascua Yaqui Association in 1963 “to 
maintain and enhance the Yaqui culture as it is found in the State of Ari-
zona.” Membership in the association was limited to “any person who has 
been ceremonially associated with the Yaqui Indians.”2 Valencia enlisted 
the help of Anglos living in Tucson, such as ethnographers Edward Spicer 
and Muriel Thayer Painter, who formed the Pascua Advisory Committee 
that same year.3 Finally, declaring himself the chief of the Pascua Yaquis, 
he wrote to Rep. Morris Udall, explaining that Pascua had long been “the 
heart of Yaqui life and culture in Arizona” and that resettlement would 
empower them to protect their way of life.4 Udall agreed to take up the 
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2 border citizens

cause, and he soon presented a bill before Congress to set aside an area of 
land in trust. He did so because he felt that “the Yaquis of Pascua Village 
are threatened with extinction as a tribe if a new home is not found for 
them.”5

At the time, most Arizonans knew little or nothing about the Yaquis. 
Few were aware, for example, that thousands had fi rst arrived in Arizona in 
the late nineteenth century, crossing the border to escape a war of attrition 
by the Mexican military to usurp and divide their lands in south western 
Sonora for private ownership and capitalist development. By the second 
half of the twentieth century, Yaqui families were settled throughout Ari-
zona’s borderlands. Because Yaquis were the descendants of immigrants 
who lived mostly in barrios or ethnically mixed rural towns rather than 
reservations, tended to speak Spanish as well as Yaqui, and shared many 
cultural traits and kinship ties with Mexicans and Mexican Americans, 
many Anglos assumed that they were Mexicans, and thought it incompre-
hensible that they could be American Indians.6

Opponents of Udall’s bill sometimes expressed their opposition in ex-
plicitly racist and nationalist terms. Turney Smith, a rancher who lived 
near land sought by the Yaquis, explained his objections in a letter to Udall 
in 1964. “These so-called Indians,” Smith argued, “are not Indians in the 
proper sense of the word. They are a mixture of several breeds—they have 
no nationality—no home and are not citizens of any country.” To Smith 
the Yaquis defi ed the requisite characteristics of proper Indians, who were 
supposed to be indigenous to territory within the United States and cultur-
ally and racially pure. The bill also challenged his assumptions about Mexi-
cans, since in Arizona the term Mexican had been imbued with derogatory 
meanings, implying a dangerous blending of races and alien status. How 
could a group of people from Mexico now claim to be pure Indians, let 
alone citizens of the United States?7

To complicate matters further, many Yaquis themselves showed little 
interest in the bill. Yaquis in the town of Guadalupe, in Maricopa County, 
were especially suspicious of intentions to seek benefi ts from the govern-
ment based upon their status as Indians. One Guadalupano feared that the 
government would “tattoo a number on us and put us on a reservation.” 
Others had simply never identifi ed as American Indians but had developed 
strong ties to ethnic Mexicans, sharing a legacy of immigration, simi-
lar cultural practices, kinship ties, and a similar place within the socio-
economic order.8 These ties became the basis for a collective identity that 
defi ed simple categories like Mexican and Indian. Gabe Alvarez, a Yaqui 
who had married a Mexican-American woman, put it this way: “I’m not an 
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introduction 3

American, I’m a Mexican. I’m from Mexico. . . . I speak Spanish, and I like 
Mexican music, so how can I be Native American?”9

In the end, Congress settled on an imperfect solution that left the offi-
cial status of the Yaquis ambiguous. A revised version of Udall’s bill (Pub-
lic Law 88-350) passed Congress in 1965, placing 202 acres of land in trust 
as New Pascua, near the San Xavier Tohono O’odham reservation. The new 
law, however, fell short of recognizing Yaquis as equivalent to other Ameri-
can Indians. According to the law, “Nothing in this Act shall make such 
Yaqui Indians eligible for any services performed by the United States for 
Indians because of their status as Indians.”10 The bill thus recognized the 
Yaquis as Indians while refusing to endorse the idea that their Indianness 
entitled them to federal resources.

As this brief account suggests, the debate over Yaqui federal recognition 
raised fundamental questions about race, identity, and national belonging 
in twentieth-century Arizona. How could the descendents of immigrants 
from Mexico, many of whom spoke Spanish and shared many cultural tra-
ditions with ethnic Mexicans, be American Indians? The Yaquis were one 
of several indigenous groups in the region—the Tohono O’odham, Pimas, 
and Maricopas among them—who had experienced long histories of inter-
cultural exchanges with Spaniards and Mexicans before the United States 
conquered the region in the mid-nineteenth century, and who continued 
to have economic, cultural, and kinship ties on both sides of the border. 
At a fundamental level, the debate over Yaqui federal recognition reveals 
the inadequacy of the standard terms of ethno-racial classifi cation, such 
as Mexican, Indian, and Anglo, to capture the complex reality of people’s 
experiences and identities. A central goal of this book is to interrogate how 
and why these ethno-racial categories and boundaries developed histori-
cally in the way they did, and to examine their evolving meanings.

In the past several years, scholars from a variety of disciplines have be-
gun to explore similar questions in different contexts. Historians, anthro-
pologists, sociologists, and others have come to a rough consensus that the 
meaning of categories such as Anglo, Mexican, and Indian change over 
time. They are not static, and they often hide more than they reveal about 
complex identities and intercultural relationships. Instead, it is now widely 
argued that both ethnic and racial categories are socially constructed, re-
lational, and historically contingent.11 Still, many scholars use such cate-
gories as a convenient way to identify different groups of people. While I, 
too, often fi nd it necessary to resort to those terms in this book, I try to 
take more seriously the idea that we must question monolithic classifi ca-
tions and in the process, as two historians have recently put it, “give voice 
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4 border citizens

to silenced mestizo identities.”12 Arizona, with its diverse population of 
ethnic Mexicans and semi-Hispanicized indigenous peoples, provides an 
ideal arena in which to do so.

This book tells the story of Arizona’s economic and political incorpora-
tion into the U.S. nation-state and of the ways in which race and ethnicity 
shaped labor markets, defi ned citizenship criteria, and inscribed national 
boundaries. This story is told from two interrelated perspectives. First, I 
explore how government officials, regional and national elites, and Euro-
Americans attempted to comprehend and impose order on the indigenous 
and ethnic Mexican population beginning in the late nineteenth century 
by drawing boundaries of race, class, and citizenship. Before Arizona be-
came a state, government officials struggled to integrate these populations 
into the developing industrial and extractive economy primarily as wage-
workers. They would regulate their mobility and cultural development, 
promote assimilation or build and maintain hierarchical racial boundar-
ies, and delineate who would or would not have access to full and equal 
citizenship.

Second, I examine how people of indigenous and Mexican descent strug-
gled to maintain control of their own cultures and daily lives. As they 
interacted with one another, with the developing capitalist economy, and 
with the state, they created new institutions and practices that became the 
basis for challenging their exclusion from as well as their absorption into 
a monolithic national culture. These responses are best understood not as 
wholesale assimilation or resistance, but rather as resistant adaptation. As 
recent scholars have used the term, resistant adaptation refers to the un-
anticipated, resilient, and sometimes defi ant ways in which people adapt to 
impositions by those in power.13

These two processes—classifi cation by the Euro-American majority and 
resistant adaptation by subordinated peoples—were inextricably linked. 
Over time, ethnic identity took shape according to internal cultural fac-
tors such as language and religion and according to the differential rela-
tionships that various groups formed with one another, with the national 
economy, and with the nation-state. What made someone Mexican rather 
than Indian or white/Anglo, rather than nonwhite, evolved out of cross-
ethnic interaction and stratifi cation within the same, developing political 
and economic contexts.

To clarify this argument, it is necessary to defi ne more precisely some 
of the key concepts and terms used in this book, beginning with race. Mi-
chael Omi and Howard Winant’s defi nition is particularly salient: “Race is 
a concept which signifi es and symbolizes social confl icts and interests by 
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referring to different types of human bodies. Although the concept invokes 
biologically based human characteristics (so-called ‘phenotypes’), selection 
of these particular human features for purposes of racial signifi cation is 
always and necessarily a social and historical process” (emphasis added). 
Omi and Winant refer to this process as “racial formation.” As Stuart Hall 
has argued, racial formation is also a hegemonic process in which, over 
time, racial categories become ingrained as “common sense” among those 
who use them—even those who have been racially classifi ed. Still, such 
categories are always susceptible to challenges from below, so they are al-
ways unstable. They continually emerge, are redefi ned, or erode through 
historical processes of classifi cation, oppression, resistant adaptation, and 
negotiation.14

Like race, ethnicity should be understood as a product of history, not 
simply as the static remnant of a primordial past. This is not to suggest, 
however, that ethnicity has no real content or that it is merely a “nexus 
of relations and transactions actively engaging a subject,” as James Clif-
ford has claimed. Rather, ethnicity must also be understood as a “mode of 
consciousness.” This conception of ethnicity is strongly infl uenced by the 
work of Jean and John Comaroff. They argue that while ethnicity “has its 
origins in the asymmetric incorporation of structurally dissimilar group-
ings into a single political economy,” it is also deeply felt. Ethnic identity 
is never static, but rather changes through time in a “dialectical relation-
ship with the structures that underlie it: once ethnicity impinges upon 
experience as an (apparently) independent principle of social classifi cation 
and organization, it provides a powerful motivation for collective activity.” 
Ethnicity is different from race in that it is not necessarily linked to pheno-
type and it generally develops as a way for groups to defi ne themselves in 
relation to those around them, rather than primarily as a way to impose 
control over others through the restriction of rights and privileges.15

As the Comaroffs’ defi nition of ethnicity suggests, examining the pro-
cess of racial and ethnic identity formation requires an understanding of 
the broader workings of political economy. Throughout this book politi-
cal economy refers to the intersection between the forces of economy and 
government; more precisely, it is the economic milieu constructed largely 
by political processes, state institutions, and policies. It is a crucial con-
cept because it implies that the economy does not simply develop naturally 
over time but through the explicit interventions of political actors and the 
state.

In Arizona the state played an enormous role in shaping the regional 
economy and in determining how certain groups would fi t within it (i.e., as 
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employers, property holders, wageworkers, or wards). I trace the evolution 
of Arizona’s political economy over the course of a century, during which 
several state interventions stand out. In the 1870s and 1880s, government 
land grants to the railroads and subsidies to miners facilitated the fi rst 
phase of modern industrial development, primarily in mining and agricul-
ture. Simultaneously, the federal government helped to determine patterns 
of landholding through the reservation system, the Homestead Act, the 
Desert Lands Act, and the Dawes General Allotment Act.

In the twentieth century, the state continued to infl uence the character 
of the political economy. Most important for south-central Arizona was 
the Newlands Reclamation Act passed by Congress in 1902. It provided fed-
eral fi nancing and a set of regulations for the construction of massive recla-
mation projects that fundamentally transformed south-central Arizona’s 
desert ecology, economy, and social structure. During the Great Depres-
sion, federal New Deal programs dramatically impacted the economy, or-
ganizing the labor of thousands of Arizona residents—Anglo, indigenous, 
and ethnic Mexican alike—to further alter the region’s infrastructure, ecol-
ogy, and social structure. During and after World War II, government con-
tracts attracted high-tech manufacturing fi rms to the region, resulting in 
unprecedented demographic and urban growth and laying the groundwork 
for the manufacturing and service economy to supersede the old extrac-
tive economy. Even as this new economy developed, however, agricultural 
production peaked in the 1950s, while the federal government continued to 
fuel its growth by recruiting Indians and importing thousands of Mexican 
braceros to work in the fi elds.

This book focuses on four contiguous counties that collectively expe-
rienced Arizona’s most dramatic economic development and population 
growth from 1880 to 1980: Maricopa, Pima, Pinal, and Santa Cruz. In the 
late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, copper was the backbone of 
Arizona’s regional economy. By 1929, in fact, Arizona provided more than 
half of all copper purchased within the United States.16 What truly differ-
entiated the south-central Arizona counties from the rest of the state, how-
ever, was industrial agriculture. Indeed, it was the demand for farmworkers 
that drew the most immigrants from Mexico to settle in Arizona after 
1910. In 1911 the completion of the Roosevelt Dam—among the fi rst major 
reclamation projects built under the Reclamation Act—spurred the growth 
of a vast agricultural industry.17 By 1920 the yearly harvest of Pima cotton, 
an extralong staple hybrid designed to be grown in the desert Southwest, 
reached about two hundred thousand acres, covering 70 percent of all irri-
gated lands.18 Growers also planted everything from short-staple cotton to 
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alfalfa, citrus, and melons. With the completion of numerous other dams, a 
second major reclamation project in 1928 on the Gila River (the San Carlos 
Project/Coolidge Dam), and the installment of hundreds of groundwater 
pumps, Arizona’s industrialized agricultural region eventually stretched 
from the Salt River valley (Maricopa County), into the Casa Grande valley 
(Pinal County), and along the Santa Cruz River into the vicinity of Tucson 
(Pima and Santa Cruz counties).19

South-central Arizona, because it is adjacent to Mexico, is also a fertile 

Map 0.1. South-Central Arizona, ca. 1900
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8 border citizens

site for exploring the production of racial, ethnic, and national boundar-
ies. In many respects the boundaries of the nation-state are the most tan-
gible and the most contested at its territorial borders. Physically, the U.S.-
Mexico border has been marked by fences and enforcement mechanisms 
such as the Border Patrol. In a broader sense it has been an especially impor-
tant site of cultural confl ict through, for example, battles over immigration, 
language, and education. Throughout Arizona’s history, this process would 
remain contested and incomplete, as a transborder regional  community 

Map 0.2. South-Central Arizona, ca. 1940
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defi ed the efforts of the United States to promote a homogeneous national 
culture and enforce strict territorial and racial boundaries.20

Because ethnic and racial boundaries were so intricately linked to the 
construction of the nation, it is important to clarify the meaning of the 
term nation. Throughout this book the word refers to a cultural body that 
is, to quote two recent theorists, “in a perpetual condition of becoming.”21 
While I use state to refer to the tangible institutions and bureaucracies that 
make up the federal and state governments, I view the nation as much more 
diffuse. It is, to use Benedict Anderson’s classic formulation, an “imag-
ined community” constructed both by state officials and the citizenry.22 
The nation’s power consists in its ability to rule, regulate, and enforce, 
and to delineate cultural and social borders. Anderson is concerned with 
how elites and state officials construct the nation through printed media. 
I focus on how the meaning of the nation and the power of the state are 
contested by subordinated and marginalized peoples, often at the level of 
personal and community identity.

Just as it is necessary to distinguish between the state and the nation, it 
is helpful to differentiate between two forms of citizenship—one legal, one 
cultural. At one level, citizenship is a legal relationship between individu-
als and the state. The Anglo, ethnic Mexican, and indigenous populations 
of south-central Arizona each had a distinct and evolving legal status. 
Throughout the twentieth century, for example, unnaturalized Mexican 
nationals had no citizenship rights. They could not vote or sit on juries and 
could be physically removed from the country at the will of the U.S. gov-
ernment (as they were en masse in the 1930s and 1950s). Before 1924 most 
Arizona Indians were not citizens but had a special status as wards of the 
state. In that year the Indian Citizenship Act altered this relationship by 
recognizing all American Indians as citizens. Congress, however, left the 
specifi cs up to the states, permitting other restrictions on full membership 
in the body politic to remain in force.23 In Arizona the 1912 state constitu-
tion specifi ed that “no person under guardianship shall be qualifi ed to vote 
in any election.” Arizona’s courts consistently applied this restriction to 
the indigenous population, although the line between who was and who 
was not Indian was not always clear. Until the Supreme Court struck it 
down in 1948, the Arizona law enforced the notion that Indians, as long as 
they remained dependent on the state, were not yet ready for full and equal 
citizenship.24

The residents of south-central Arizona also had changing cultural 
 relationships with the United States. Recently, some scholars have begun 
to refer to these relationships as cultural citizenship. Renato Rosaldo and 
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William V. Flores have offered the simplest defi nition, writing that it re-
fers to “distinctions in senses of belonging, entitlement, and infl uence that 
vary in distinct situations and in different local communities.” In a sense, 
cultural citizenship is to the nation what legal citizenship is to the state. 
For example, while ethnic Mexicans and Indians have had distinct sets of 
political and civil rights as legal citizens (voting, serving on juries, etc.), 
they have also had distinct social and cultural relationships to the nation. 
Euro-Americans have variously regarded these groups as “savages” and/or 
foils to U.S. expansion, as aliens, as marginal to mainstream American 
culture, as wards or, more recently, as members of a diverse, culturally 
inclusive nation. And yet these groups have also struggled to defi ne their 
own relationship to the nation, sometimes stressing their status as the 
original inhabitants of the region, sometimes as American citizens, and 
sometimes as members of their own, separate nations.

The meaning of cultural citizenship thus changes as people struggle to 
maintain, as Rosaldo and Flores have put it, their “right to be different (in 
terms of race, ethnicity, or native language) with respect to the norms of 
the dominant national community, without compromising [their] right to 
belong, in the sense of participating in the nation-state’s democratic pro-
cesses.” The concept of cultural citizenship thus permits an examination 
of how different groups of people participated in the construction of their 
own identities while defi ning what it meant to belong to the nation in cul-
tural terms. It also permits an exploration of how the meaning of citizen-
ship evolved over time, and how it varied for different groups.25

In Arizona’s borderlands, the project of nation building—incorporat-
ing the region economically and politically into the United States while 
defi ning the cultural and racial boundaries of full citizenship—became 
problematic just as the region entered a stage of rapid capitalist develop-
ment through mining and reclamation and of political maturation through 
statehood in 1912. While expanding extractive industries demanded for-
eign labor, Euro-Americans in Arizona struggled to project an image of 
themselves as progressive, educated, and fully American—which usually 
meant being fully white—to the rest of the nation.26

This image was particularly important around the turn of the century, 
when regional elites engaged in a protracted struggle to shed Arizona’s 
 territorial status and gain admission as a state. One possible resolution 
to the problem presented by a large nonwhite population was to regulate 
immigration. Anglo employers and state officials did not want to shut off 
immigration entirely, since foreign labor was necessary for economic de-
velopment. Instead, they attempted to manage immigration through legis-
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lation that was often contradictory. During debates over statehood, some 
sectors of Arizona’s population pressed for a variety of anti-immigrant 
measures, including laws that would limit the number of immigrants who 
could work in hazardous occupations such as mining. Repeatedly, how-
ever, business interests—the cotton growers in Arizona were among the 
most vocal—defeated such legislation and secured exemptions from im-
migration restrictions for Latinos.27

Regulating immigration did nothing to address the problem of how 
to incorporate naturalized immigrants or indigenous peoples into the 
nation-state. In these cases, government officials and much of the Euro-
American citizenry tried to ensure that the limits of full citizenship were 
maintained along lines of race and culture. Those who were perceived to 
have the potential to become fully assimilated were often coerced, particu-
larly in the decades around the turn of the century. State and religious of-
fi cials pursued this goal through, for example, Americanization programs 
and forced assimilation, boarding schools, and the banning of certain cul-
tural practices.28 Legislation and legal interpretations denied full citizen-
ship to Arizona’s indigenous population indefi nitely.

The combined weight of restrictive immigration policy, racial segrega-
tion, and limits on citizenship relegated much of south-central Arizona’s 
population to a second-class status. Groups such as the Yaquis, Tohono 
O’odham, and ethnic Mexicans became “border citizens”—people whose 
rights of belonging were in question, leaving them on the margins of the 
national territory and of American society and culture. Throughout the 
twentieth century, however, these groups would challenge the economic, 
political, and cultural boundaries that were being constructed around 
them, sometimes in cooperation with and sometimes in confl ict with each 
other. They were “border citizens” both because of restrictions imposed on 
them and because they were redefi ning what it meant to belong to the U.S. 
nation-state from its borderlands. In the process they helped to redefi ne 
what it meant to be Mexican, Indian, and Anglo.

The relationships that these groups formed with one other and with the 
political economy substantially infl uenced how they identifi ed themselves 
over time. Yaquis came to inhabit a liminal cultural and political space be-
tween two nations and between their status as Mexican and Indian. They 
lived and worked alongside ethnic Mexicans, shared their precarious legal 
status, and often spoke Spanish, while they shared close cultural and eco-
nomic connections to indigenous groups in the region and were viewed 
as American Indians by most Anglo-Americans. Over decades these cir-
cumstances spawned tensions among the Yaquis themselves, especially 
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between those who hoped to gain official legal status as American Indians 
and those who felt such a status would mean a loss of cultural indepen-
dence and self-determination. Many of the latter built upon their inter-
ethnic ties and transnational culture to challenge existing ethnic boundar-
ies and the cultural defi nitions of U.S. citizenship.

The Tohono O’odham also skirted national, racial, and ethnic bound-
aries, but in their own way. In 1854 the Tohono O’odham territory was 
split in half by the Gadsden Purchase/Mesilla treaty, the purchase by the 
United States of the territory that is now southern Arizona and Southwest-
ern New Mexico. By the turn of the century, the vast majority of Tohono 
O’odham lived north of the border. Like the Yaquis, many spoke Spanish, 
worked together with ethnic Mexicans, and married across ethnic lines. 
The U.S. government, however, defi ned the Tohono O’odham, unlike the 
Yaquis, as American Indians, recognizing part of their homeland with res-
ervations and subjecting them to distinct government policies. Over time, 
entanglement with federal bureaucracies such as the Bureau of Indian Af-
fairs seriously affected their sense of themselves as a people.

Yet, Tohono O’odham fortunes were not solely determined from with-
out. The Tohono O’odham found ways to manipulate their unique situa-
tion, building upon emerging tribal institutions to confront the hegemony 
of a monolithic U.S. nation-state, assert their rights as citizens and indig-
enous people, defend their economic interests, and express their cultural 
and political identities. In the process, old forms of village government by 
patriarchal consensus broke down, and women began to take an expanding 
role in government. They eventually challenged the validity of the geo-
political border itself, demanding that O’odham on both sides of the bor-
der be recognized, fi rst and foremost, as citizens of the Tohono O’odham 
nation.29

Like “Mexican” and “Indian”, “whiteness” was a fuzzy concept in the 
decades around the turn of the twentieth century. As historians such as 
Matthew Frye Jacobson, Linda Gordon, David Roediger, and Neil Foley 
have shown, the boundaries of whiteness were under constant negotiation, 
especially as immigrants from Mexico and Europe fl ooded into the United 
States. Italian, Spanish, and Slavic immigrants in Arizona fought to ensure 
that they would be counted as respectable white citizens in part by joining 
Anglo-Americans in their struggle to defi ne Mexican immigrants as non-
white aliens. In the 1930s the presence of a new class of Anglo migrants 
from the southern plains again challenged established boundaries between 
white and nonwhite. Since the so-called Okies often worked the same 
jobs and lived in the same labor camps as ethnic Mexican and indigenous 
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workers, many Arizonans perceived them to be naturally inferior and not 
quite fully white. The concept of whiteness, then, was not monolithic. Its 
boundaries were periodically challenged or solidifi ed in relation to evolv-
ing defi nitions of national citizenship.30

To refl ect these shifts, I use several terms to refer to people of European 
descent. In the fi rst four chapters, covering the period up to the 1930s, I use 
Anglo or white to refer only to those people who had adopted such an iden-
tity and whom others generally referred to with such terms. I use Euro-
American to refer to people of European descent (excluding Mexicans), 
some of whom had been accepted as fully white, and others—like Italians 
and Slavs—who had not. For the post–World War II era, when sharp distinc-
tions between different groups of European Americans subsided, I use An-
glo and white to refer to a broader group of people, refl ecting the fact that 
southern and eastern Europeans had generally been accepted as white.

Many Mexican Americans also made claims to whiteness. Armed with 
provisions in the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo that guaranteed their access 
to U.S. citizenship and the weapon of legal (if not social or cultural) clas-
sifi cation as white, Mexican Americans often challenged segregation and 
political and economic discrimination by struggling to gain acceptance as 
patriotic American citizens. At the same time, many Mexican Americans 
and Mexican nationals, the latter lacking legal citizenship, struggled to 
hold onto their own cultural traditions, joining mutualistas (mutual aid 
societies), labor unions, or other organizations to resist their subordination. 
In the 1960s and ’70s, many Mexican Americans would assert an emerging 
ethnic identity as Chicano and embrace their indigenous heritage as a basis 
for empowerment rather than racial degradation. At different times and in 
different circumstances, then, they manipulated, sought inclusion within, 
or confronted existing standards of national belonging.31

To refl ect the differing identities and legal statuses of people of Mexi-
can descent, I reserve Mexican American for those with U.S. citizenship 
and Mexican for Mexican nationals. I use ethnic Mexican to refer to both 
groups collectively. At times I also use mestizo to emphasize the differ-
ence between those who identifi ed with a specifi c indigenous group and 
those, most of them of mixed European and indigenous heritage, who no 
longer did so. I employ the term Hispanic only when making reference to 
external classifi cation systems like the U.S. census, and Spanish Ameri-
can only when discussing either immigrants from Spain or individuals of 
Mexican descent who claimed to be Spanish largely as a means to claim 
whiteness. While even these terms do not adequately capture the diversity 
of the  population, they at least provide a way to analyze the complexity 

T4257.indb   13T4257.indb   13 7/19/07   12:11:57 PM7/19/07   12:11:57 PM



14 border citizens

of ethnic Mexican identity, and to distinguish between people lumped to-
gether too often by the national and racial designation of Mexican.

The diverse border citizens of south-central Arizona actively struggled 
to defi ne their own identities. But the process of self-identifi cation was 
deeply entangled with racial ideologies and government policies designed 
to construct their identities and their place in the nation for them. Eth-
nic and national identities were never autonomous; they were relational 
and historically contingent. The racial, economic, and political boundaries 
these groups faced, and the network of relations they formed with one an-
other, played an extremely important role in shaping both their identities 
and their belonging to the nation-state. As they struggled to protect their 
own interests, their actions altered the blueprint drawn up by government 
officials and members of the Anglo majority for their assimilation and/or 
exclusion. Building upon a century of resistant adaptation, they would 
eventually alter the cultural meaning of citizenship, and the meaning 
of national belonging. By examining this process holistically we can be-
gin to understand how and why certain groups were seen or came to see 
themselves as Mexican, Indian, or Anglo, or as having some other identity 
altogether.
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chap ter 1

desert empire

Shortly after the Mesilla Treaty (also called the Gadsden Purchase) trans-
ferred what would become southern Arizona from Mexico to the United 
States in the mid-1850s, hundreds of Americans moved into the territory to 
improve their fortunes.1 Among them was Sylvester Mowry, a lieutenant 
in the army. Mowry was stationed at Fort Yuma when he began to dream 
about the potential that the new territory held for would-be entrepreneurs 
like himself. After resigning his commission in 1858, he began to pros-
pect for gold and silver. He also served as a special commissioner in the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA),2 with instructions to report on the region’s 
indigenous peoples. In this capacity, he began to map and classify material 
resources and human inhabitants according to their value to U.S. interests 
and their potential for citizenship.3

As Benedict Anderson has argued, colonial states in the nineteenth and 
twentieth centuries imposed their rule in part by such mapping and classi-
fying practices. They did so in an attempt to comprehend “the nature of the 
human beings [they] ruled, the geography of [their] domain, and the legiti-
macy of [their] ancestry.” Census takers held onto the “fi ction” that “ev-
eryone has one—and only one—extremely clear place,” and therefore that 
people could not tolerate “multiple, politically ‘transvestite,’ blurred, or 
changing identifi cations.”4 James Scott has expanded on Anderson’s argu-
ment, demonstrating that states in the twentieth century also attempted to 
create a “standard grid” to “monitor” populations and resources within 
their own borders. In the process, they often developed oppressive policies 
to regulate and transform indigenous social relationships and clarify the 
relationship of various groups to the state.5

Mowry’s effort to map Arizona’s geography and population exemplifi es 
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this process. As he surveyed the region, the peoples who seemed most sim-
ilar to his own won highest honors. He described the Pimas (the Akimel 
O’odham, or “river people”) along the Gila River as “a brave and hospitable 
race—they live in villages and cultivate the arts of peace. Their regular 
fi elds, well-made irrigating ditches, and beautiful crops of cotton, wheat, 
corn, pumpkins, melons, and beans have not only gladdened the eye, but 
also given the timely assistance to the thousands of emigrants who have 
traversed Arizona on their way to the Pacifi c.” He had similar praises for the 
Maricopas, a smaller group who had moved from the Colorado River cen-
turies earlier and had settled near the Pimas, adopting many of their eco-
nomic and cultural practices.6

He judged the Papagos (today they prefer to be called the Tohono 
O’odham, or “desert people”) who were closely related to the Pimas, to be 
“inferior to the Pimos [sic]” because they “do not cultivate so much, and 
live in scattered villages in the Central and Western parts of the Territory.” 
For the nomadic Apaches he expressed only opprobrium: “They are best 
compared to the prairie wolf, sneaking, cowardly, revengeful, quick to as-
sassinate the weak, and to fl y from or yield to the strong.” It seemed impos-
sible that Apaches would ever become independent farmers or workers, and 
he saw only two options for them: “They must be fed by the Government, 
or exterminated.”7

Mowry also suggested that certain groups—such as the Yaquis and 
Opatas in Sonora—were more naturally suited for manual labor than oth-
ers. Mowry purchased a mine in the Patagonia Mountains, just north of 
the new international border, which supported four hundred workers by 
1862.8 He wrote that the full potential of Arizona and Sonora had yet to 
be tapped, from the Salt River valley in central Arizona to the Yaqui River 
delta in southwestern Sonora, where indigenous and mestizo farmers grew 
wheat, maize, beans, squash, peas, and cane. To exploit these resources, 
labor would be provided by those peoples who had proven themselves, in 
Mowry’s eyes, to be “cheap, and under proper management, efficient and 
permanent” workers: “My own experience has taught me that the lower 
class of Mexicans, with the Opata and Yaqui Indians, are docile, faith-
ful, good servants, capable of strong attachments when fi rmly and kindly 
treated. They have been ‘peons’ for generations. They will always remain 
so, as it is their natural condition.”9

At least two other scholars have quoted Mowry to argue that by the 
1860s Anglos in Arizona already viewed Mexicans and Indians in strict 
racial terms that justifi ed their subordination.10 Indeed, Euro-Americans 
moving into the territory already tended to view the existing regional pop-
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ulation as inferior. By taking Mowry’s words out of context and by neglect-
ing to emphasize that he characterized each group differently, these schol-
ars imposed a biracial model onto a much more complex process of racial 
formation. In fact, like other travelers to the region, Mowry was careful not 
to lump all of Arizona’s indigenous and Mexican inhabitants together. His 
respect for the Pimas, for example, because their farms were productive 
and they had helped in the fi ght against the Apaches, led him to condemn 
the government’s failings in its dealings with them. He singled out “lower-
class” Mexicans, Yaquis, and Opatas as naturally inferior, and thus as ideal 
workers.11

It is misleading, therefore, to suggest a clear racial order among mono-
lithic groups labeled Anglo, Mexican, and Indian in the early territorial pe-
riod. Mowry drew careful distinctions between the different mestizo and 
indigenous populations. Neither could the regional Euro-American elite 
be accurately defi ned as Anglo. Some of Arizona’s mine owners and other 
economic elites were of German, eastern European, and/or Jewish ances-
try. Ethnic Mexicans were also divided along lines of culture, national 
citizen ship, and class. Tucson, which was the largest town in Arizona at 
the time of the Gadsden Purchase, remained, in the words of one historian, 
“a haven for upper- and middle-class Mexican society in the southwestern 
United States.”12 At least through the 1870s, ethnic Mexicans who had 
earned their fortunes through ranching, freighting, and mining main-
tained substantial infl uence in local and territorial politics. This political 
power would be chipped away in subsequent decades, but at least until 
1880, while the people of the region spoke of “cultivated” versus “lower-
class Mexicans” and “peon,” “savage,” or “industrious and independent” 
Indians, these classifi cations had not become a strict racial divide.13

This chapter examines why and how permeable racial lines began to 
close up during the half century that constituted Arizona’s territorial pe-
riod—particularly after 1880, as the pace of economic development acceler-
ated. Emerging boundaries of race, class, culture, and language would de-
termine who would have access to resources, who could work where, who 
could join craft unions, who would be accepted as fi rst- or second-class 
citizens, and who would be excluded from citizenship altogether. Some, 
like the Chiricahua Apaches, would be banished from the territory. Other 
groups would fi nd ways to survive in Arizona. By the time Arizona became 
a state in 1912, those survivors would develop a variety of relationships 
with the U.S. nation-state, as defi ned in part by the perceptions of elites 
such as Mowry but also by their own cultural patterns and strategies of 
resistant adaptation.
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deser t peoples

When the region that would become Arizona was acquired by the United 
States, most of its territory remained under indigenous control. After de-
cades of neglect by the newly independent nation of Mexico and renewed 
raids and resistance from the Apaches, only about one thousand Mexicans 
remained in the area, most of them in Tucson and on ranches along the 
Santa Cruz River. The lives and identities of the regional population were 
in a state of constant fl ux, defying the neat classifi cations made by Euro-
Americans like Mowry. Groups traded with one another, adopted certain 
cultural practices from one another, raided and warred against one another, 
or engaged in all of these practices simultaneously. As incorporation into 
the U.S. nation-state proceeded and a new industrial economy began to 
develop, the rate of cultural change would accelerate—but it is important 
to recognize that cultural adaptation had been occurring continuously for 
centuries.14

As Mowry noted, the border between Arizona and Sonora was all but 
meaningless in terms of ecology and culture in the late nineteenth cen-
tury. Most of south-central Arizona and central-western Sonora make up 
a distinct and uniform ecological zone called the Sonoran desert. While 
desert brings to mind, for many, the image of a wasteland, the Sonoran 
is an arboreal desert that includes a wide variety of grasses, shrubs, and 
low-growing trees, myriad forms of cacti, and diverse fauna. Its biological 
diversity is due largely to its low elevation and to heavy rains in the late 
summer and lighter rains in the winter when evaporation rates are low. 
This rich natural world allowed the Sonoran desert to become, according 
to one botanist, “by far the richest in number of life forms and in variety 
and development of communities” of the North American deserts.15

In the northern reaches of the Sonoran desert, in what is central Arizona, 
lie the basins created by the Salt and Gila rivers—rivers that once fl owed 
freely out of the semiarid mountains to the east through the arid basins 
and intermittent mountain ranges of the desert, eventually merging with 
the Colorado River and the Gulf of California. Farther south, in Sonora, 
several rivers fl owed out of the Sierra Madre Occidental and cut across the 
state, running generally southwest toward the Gulf of California.

While the semiarid mountainous regions to the east contain small 
patches of fl at, irrigable land, the arid deserts of the central and western 
regions of both states are interrupted by rich alluvial fl oodplains and river 
deltas. Historically, most desert streams were dry for much of the year, car-
rying water only intermittently during heavy summer downpours. As one 
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Map 1.1. Indigenous Peoples, ca. 1854

botanist explains, “fresh water has always been at a premium in western 
Sonora.” Water could be found in natural and man-made water holes, or 
charcos, and in mountain springs.16

The diverse fl ora and fauna have provided food and building materials 
for the region’s inhabitants for many centuries. The ubiquitous mesquite 
tree produces pods rich in protein and carbohydrates that can be used to 
make breads and porridges. Desert peoples collected cactus fruit, such as 
the pitahaya, and the agave plant for its leaves and edible heart. For over a 
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thousand years they used the fi bers of the yucca plant to weave fi ne bas-
kets for storage. Durable ironwood was ideal for crafting utensils, and the 
trunks of other trees, such as the mesquite, were used to construct family 
dwellings. They hunted large and small game, including mule deer, white-
tailed deer, pronghorn antelope, bighorn sheep, javelinas, and jackrabbits. 
They used the animals for both their meat and hides, using the skins to 
make shoes, sleeping mats, and other items.17

When Jesuits established missions in Sonora in the seventeenth cen-
tury, one of the groups they came across were the O’odham, who lived in 
villages and rancherías stretching from the Gila River for approximately 
one thousand miles to the south. The O’odham language is a part of the 
Uto-Aztecan family, which includes Nahuatl, the language of the Aztecs.18 
O’odham speakers came from widely varying cultures, ranging from the 
seminomadic Hia C’ed O’odham of the extremely arid region northeast 
of the Gulf of California to the sedentary agriculturalists known as the 
Akimel O’odham or Pimas living along the banks of the Gila and other 
rivers. Distinct group identities were discernible through variations in 
regional dialects, economic practices, and cultures, but any notion of a 
tribal political entity was foreign to the O’odham. Villages and scattered 
rancherías were largely autonomous political units, with temporary unions 
formed only in times of war or for intervillage meetings. Residents of each 
ranchería were related by kinship. Councils of village men made decisions 
by consensus about when to plant and harvest, hunt, engage in war, or 
practice a variety of seasonal rituals. These councils were loosely led by 
individuals called keepers who retained their power only as long as they 
earned the respect of their communities.19

Two centuries of Spanish colonial settlement affected groups of O’odham 
differently, creating further cultural divisions among an already diverse 
people. In the late seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries, the Jesuit 
Eusebio Francisco Kino established missions among the O’odham who lived 
along the Magdalena and Altar rivers, in present-day Sonora, and among 
a group of O’odham known as Sobaipuris along the Santa Cruz River in 
present-day Arizona. These included the missions at San Xavier, Guévavi, 
and Tumacácori. Over time, the O’odham nearest the missions and Span-
ish settlements adopted certain Spanish linguistic traits, crops (such as 
wheat), and livestock. They also merged indigenous religious practices with 
Catholic practices, helping to create a distinct brand of folk Catholicism. 
Some of the villages adopted political offices introduced by the Spanish, 
such as the gobernador (village-level governor). Gobernadores came to rival 
or even replace the keepers and served as intermediaries between O’odham 
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villages and the Spanish government. Unfortunately, Spaniards also intro-
duced devastating diseases which disrupted many of the old villages and 
spurred new migrations. Over time, this process created a broad cultural 
division between the more Hispanicized O’odham to the south and along 
the Santa Cruz River and the relatively isolated O’odham to the north and 
west. This new division would remain important well into the twentieth 
century.20

The northernmost O’odham, who remained outside of areas of Spanish 
colonization altogether, were the Akimel O’odham or Pimas, who lived 
along the Gila River and its tributaries. They were among the most seden-
tary O’odham, building diversion dams of mud, logs, and brush, and dis-
tributing water to their fi elds using networks of canals and ditches. The 
Pima river settlements were larger and more permanent and had greater 
and more reliable supplies of food and water than those of the semiseden-
tary and nomadic O’odham, who lived in the open desert or along ephem-
eral desert streams. The Pimas also required less hunting and gathering 
and thus had more leisure time and specialized in trades more than did 
their desert cousins. They grew cotton, wove cotton clothing, and made 
ornaments of imported turquoise and shell.21

South of the Gila River, the O’odham retained a variety of other cultural 
patterns as they interacted to greater or lesser degrees with Spaniards and 
mestizos. The Sobaipuri, who lived in or near the missions along the Santa 
Cruz River, found themselves in the worst position, serving as a buffer 
between Spanish settlers and Apache peoples who moved south into the 
region after the mid-seventeenth century. The Apaches came into confl ict 
with both mestizo settlers and the O’odham, leading to a state of open 
warfare. By the late eighteenth century, a combination of disease, Apache 
raiding, and warfare had decimated the Sobaipuri villages.22

Further to the west, however, groups who were not as sedentary, such as 
the Tohono O’odham, fared much better. Historically, the Tohono O’odham 
were semisedentary farmers and hunters. In the late summer they took ad-
vantage of storms to raise crops of corn, tepary beans, squash, and cotton 
in the fl oodplains of ephemeral desert streams—a type of farming they 
referred to as ak chin. Once they harvested these crops, they would mi-
grate either to villages near mountain springs for the winter or live among 
more sedentary O’odham, such as the Pimas along the Gila River or the 
Sobaipuri along the Santa Cruz. Tohono O’odham men supplemented ag-
riculture with hunting, and women supplemented it with the gathering of 
seeds and cactus fruit. Ultimately, the Tohono O’odham living in what is 
now southern Arizona were much more successful at preserving aspects of 
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their indigenous ways of life—which they called the Himdag—than either 
the O’odham farther to the south or the Sobaipuris to the east.23

A linguistically unrelated group called the Maricopas lived just to 
the west of the Pimas along the Gila River. The Maricopas were Yuma 
speakers who had migrated from the Colorado River not long before Span-
iards arrived in the region. As early as the 1690s, as Eusebio Kino made his 
fi rst entradas into the Sonoran desert, he made contact with “Opas and 
Coco-Maricopas” who lived near the Pimas. Opa and Coco-Maricopa were 
probably Piman terms for these newcomers. As anthropologist Paul Ezell 
 suggests, “It is more than probable that the Yuman peoples did not regard, 
until very late in historic times if then, the Piman names as their proper 
appellatives.”24 It was only in relation to other ethnic groups that identities 
such as Maricopa were established.

Even farther to the south, in what is today Sonora, Mexico, the in fl uence 
of Spanish and Mexican culture was much greater than among the indig-
enous peoples of what would become south-central Arizona. By the end of 
the seventeenth century, the Opatas and Eudeves of central Sonora found 
themselves in the midst of a new mining frontier, and by the middle of 
the eighteenth century, silver, gold, and lead attracted mestizo settlers to 
the region.  Edward Spicer suggests that by this time “no important part 
of Eudeve and Opata territory was without Spanish inhabitants.” Both of 
these groups inter married with mestizos with greater frequency than did 
the O’odham to the north, and they accepted Christianity in greater num-
bers. While certain segments of the Opata population would revolt periodi-
cally, by the nineteenth century many worked for wages and increasingly 
came to recognize (if not to fully accept) the political authority of the re-
gional and town governments.25

To the west of the Opatas, in the fertile Yaqui and Mayo river valleys of 
southwestern Sonora, lived Cahitan-speaking peoples, thousands of whom 
would migrate north into Arizona during the upheavals of the late nine-
teenth century. They became known in Spanish and Mexican accounts as 
the Mayo and Yaqui Indians. Their location away from the primary areas 
of European and mestizo settlement allowed them to control their inter-
action with the incoming colonists to a greater degree than the Opatas 
and Eudeves could. Yaquis and Mayos lived on scattered rancherías in the 
fl oodplains, hunting, growing crops, weaving native-grown cotton, produc-
ing baskets and pottery, and engaging in limited trade. Their language, also 
a part of the Uto-Aztecan language family, was related to O’odham, but the 
two were not mutually intelligible.26

After initially fending off Spanish incursions in the sixteenth century, 
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Yaquis accepted Jesuit missionaries between 1614 and 1617, probably to 
fi nd an alternative to the impending threat of further military attacks and 
slave raids. Traditionally, the Yaquis lacked both a full-time, professional 
priesthood and a permanent tribal political body, and village councils 
made decisions for their individual communities through consensus. The 
Jesuits, however, introduced baptism and pressured the Yaquis to construct 
denser pueblos than the traditional rancherías. New villages emerged, each 
arranged around a Catholic mission. Simultaneously, new civil officials 
such as the Jesuit-appointed gobernador rivaled the old councils. For the 
Yaquis and Mayos, then, the process of reducción (concentration into mis-
sion communities) was more complete by the nineteenth century than it 
was among the Tohono O’odham and the Akimel O’odham living on the 
Gila River.27

Consequently, Yaquis and Mayos became entangled in the expanding 
market and wage economy more quickly than did the Tohono O’odham and 
Pimas. The Jesuits instructed the Yaquis in the construction of a system of 
dams and canals and introduced the practice of long-term storage and mar-
keting of their surplus harvest. As early as 1645, Yaqui men began to leave 
the pueblos temporarily to work in the Sierra Madre mines, using their 
earnings to purchase horses, clothing, and other items. By the eighteenth 
century, miners, hacendados (owners of haciendas), and Jesuits competed 
for Yaqui labor. The Yaquis took advantage of these competing interests 
by engaging in what Evelyn Hu-DeHart has termed “rotational migration” 
between villages, missions, and mines. Yaqui men engaged in temporary 
stints away from the mission pueblos while the women and children, for 
the most part, remained in the villages.28

In an unusual reversal of the colonial process, the Yaquis briefl y gained 
more autonomy in the late eighteenth century when the Spanish crown 
expelled the Jesuits from its empire. In their absence, Spanish-introduced 
civil and religious offices continued to evolve. Ironically, a colonial sys-
tem initially intended to promote cultural assimilation had the opposite 
effect, as the new civil and political institutions brought a greater sense 
of cohesion across village lines. The captain-general of the militia, for ex-
ample, who presided over all of the Yaqui pueblos collectively, became in-
creasingly powerful, while the responsibilities of the village gobernadores 
expanded to include the oversight of community plots and livestock. The 
growing sense of collective identity among the Yaquis and their determina-
tion to resist incursions onto their land would continue to frustrate Mexi-
can vecinos (settlers or residents) and officials, prompting periodic rebel-
lions throughout the nineteenth century and into the twentieth.29
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In the three decades after Mexican independence in 1821, political tur-
moil led to the decline of Mexico’s hold on the northern borderlands. In the 
territory that would become south-central Arizona, Apaches repeatedly 
undermined Mexican colonization efforts. As a result, between 1821 and 
1848, the Mexican government approved only twelve relatively small land 
grants—far fewer than in the other northern borderland states and territo-
ries of Nuevo Mexico, Alta California, and Coahuila y Tejas. Over time, 
the recipients of these grants either sold some of their land or divided it 
among members of their extended families. By the time of the war between 
the United States and Mexico in 1846, there were ninety-eight ranches in 
the fertile land along the Santa Cruz River, many of which were periodi-
cally abandoned due to warfare with the Apaches.30

During the Mexican period the indigenous peoples of northern Sonora 
increased the intensity of their resistance to Mexican incursions. The de-
clining military presence and a lack of resources to support the missions 
and peace camps led to new tensions between Mexican mestizos and In-
dians, particularly with respect to the Apaches, who were renewing their 
raids and resistance with vigor in the 1820s. The O’odham also rose up in 
the 1840s, gaining a degree of autonomy they had not enjoyed since the 
seventeenth century. Because of widespread hostilities, Mexican vecinos 
in what would become Arizona were periodically forced to abandon their 
ranches, and only a total of about one thousand non-Indian settlers lived 
near Tucson or along the Santa Cruz River. For the most part, the Arizona 
portion of the Mesilla tract, acquired with the Gadsden Purchase, remained 
in the hands of its diverse, indigenous peoples.31

a mining and r ailroad empire

In the two decades after the Gadsden Purchase, a small class of Anglo, 
Euro-American, and Mexican-American elites came to dominate Arizona 
politically and economically. These elites often justifi ed their subordina-
tion of their Mexican and Indian workers by claiming superiority because 
of their European or American heritage and their lighter skin. Sonoran 
Mexicans had long pointed to their Spanish heritage as a mark of their 
superiority. In fact, many Sonoran Mexicans who were actually the off-
spring of mixed marriages denied being so, claiming, as one historian has 
put it, to be “Spaniards from Europe” and “disdaining anyone who was 
not white.” As the United States tightened its grip on the region through 
railroad construction and the industrialization of mining, and because of 
migration from states to the east, the economic and political power of the 
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Mexican elite would erode. In the process a somewhat more distinct racial 
divide would emerge.32

Partly because of diversity within the elite class, it would be inaccurate 
to suggest that there was a clear racial order between Anglos, Mexicans, 
and Indians before 1880. A small class of ethnic Mexicans shared with the 
growing Euro-American elite a high social status and a substantial degree 
of economic and political power well into Arizona’s territorial period. As 
late as 1881 the Tucson city directory was careful to distinguish between 
classes of ethnic Mexicans and Indians. It stated that Barrio Libre, just 
south of central Tucson, was a “slum district” inhabited by “Papago In-
dians” and “lower-class Mexicans,” and that it was not a suitable area for 
“cultivated Mexicans.”33

Some Mexican Americans, like Estevan Ochoa, initially prospered be-
cause of the developing industrial economy and remained an important 
political force. Into the 1870s Ochoa and Mariano Samaniego largely con-
trolled the freighting industry on both sides of the Arizona-Sonora bor-
der, while others made their fortunes ranching and as merchants. In 1870 
 Leopoldo Carrillo, a Sonorense (native Sonoran), was the wealthiest person 
in Tucson. Federico Ronstadt, the son of a German immigrant and a Mexi-
can woman from a landholding Sonoran family, emigrated from Sonora 
in 1882 and founded a successful wagon-and-carriage business. This eco-
nomic strength translated into political clout. In 1875 Tucson citizens by a 
vote of 187–40 elected Estevan Ochoa mayor.

Mexican-American involvement in territorial politics was less impres-
sive but still signifi cant. On the fi rst Territorial Assembly of Arizona (1864), 
two of nine members were Mexican Americans—Francisco S. León of Tuc-
son and José Mariá Redondo of Arizona City.34

Some of the elite investors who transformed Arizona into a mining em-
pire were neither Anglo nor Mexican. One of the most important, Henry 
Lesinsky, was a Jew from central Europe. He had emigrated fi rst to the 
Australian gold mines before eventually making his way to the United 
States. In Las Cruces he began building up his fortune by buying grain 
from Hispanic farmers and selling it to the U.S. government. He delivered 
mail and opened a store in Silver City before moving to Arizona. He soon es-
tablished the Longfellow Copper Mining Company, hired a party of skilled 
Mexican miners, and founded the town of Clifton at the junction of Chase 
Creek and the San Francisco River in 1873.35

The fi rst Euro-American mining entrepreneurs attempted to adopt the 
Mexican system of peonage. Until 1863 southern Arizona was still a part 
of the New Mexico territory, which had passed a bill legalizing peonage in 
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1851.36 Charles Poston and Samuel Heintzelman, who organized the Sonora 
Mining and Exploring Company, were among the fi rst to hire Mexican 
workers. In 1856 they paid a party of Mexican miners to help clear out some 
Spanish mine shafts near Tubac to explore for new silver veins. They soon 
operated two mines in the vicinity, which along with Mowry’s Patagonia 
mine drew hundreds of Mexican workers from Sonora.37 Poston initially 
purchased the laborers’ debts from wealthy Sonoran hacendados and then 
employed the men in his mine. One traveler to the region commented that 
the hacendados sold “their peons—debts—and do not even take the trouble 
to notify the peons of the changes which has taken place in their condition, 
much less take into consideration their will and consent.”38

Before 1880 the considerable agency of the ethnic Mexican and indig-
enous workers themselves prevented the formation of a strictly racialized 
class system. Many Mexicans worked only for brief periods in the mines 
before returning to their fi elds in Arizona and Sonora. They sometimes 
stole some of their employer’s livestock as payment for their labor. If the 
mine owners or overseers attempted to subdue them, the result could be 
a violent confrontation. As a result, the practice of peonage was always 
unstable.39 Legal peonage ended altogether when Congress passed a law in 
1867 banning it.40

Some Tohono O’odham also worked in the mines, but because they 
retained vast territory, farms, and livestock, their lives were not circum-
scribed by their experiences as mine workers. In 1864 forty-two Tohono 
O’odham men worked at the Cerro Colorado mine. Indian agent John 
Walker indicated that Tohono O’odham men often sought employment 
wherever they could when the water dried up in their villages. Some went 
to Tubac “where they [had] the confi dence of the Sonora Mining Company, 
and readily [found] employment,” while others worked in various capaci-
ties in Tucson. Others worked at mines at Picacho, Fresnal, and Quijotoa. 
Poston, however, suggested that the O’odham “would not submit to the 
regimentation of the mines and were never any serious challenge to the 
Mexicans’ almost complete monopoly of mine labor.” The evidence sug-
gests that the O’odham could have worked in greater numbers had they so 
desired. Poston’s statement that the O’odham did not like the “regimenta-
tion” of mining and Walker’s that they could “readily fi nd employment” 
suggest that the O’odham chose to participate at a limited level in the de-
veloping wage economy.41

A lack of transportation to national markets kept mining operations 
small before 1880, and Lesinsky’s mine at Clifton was no exception. Clifton, 
which was on territory recently captured from the Apaches, remained rela-
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tively small before 1880. Lesinsky responded by building his own narrow-
gauge railway to carry unrefi ned ores to the reduction works, but through-
out the 1870s, he never employed more than a few hundred miners. Only 
in 1877, after considerable lobbying by Arizona capitalists, did Lesinsky’s 
future look brighter. That year, Estevan Ochoa sponsored a bill in the ter-
ritorial assembly that granted the Southern Pacifi c Railroad a charter to 
build a route across the Arizona desert.42

The construction of the Southern Pacifi c and a new network of smaller 
railroads rapidly altered the economy and social structure of the Arizona 
borderlands, connecting regional mines to a transnational economy con-
trolled largely by U.S. capitalists. In addition to the Southern Pacifi c, which 
traversed Arizona in 1880, several others connected the mines and smelt-
ers in Arizona and Sonora to national and international markets. These 
lines facilitated the movement of cattle, mining ore, and people back and 
forth across the border.43

Ironically, Ochoa’s bill to bring the Southern Pacifi c to Arizona rendered 
freighting, which was his and many of the Mexican-American elites’ most 
lucrative business, obsolete. The railroad thus accelerated the development 
of a more strictly defi ned, racialized class system in which Mexican na-
tionals and Mexican Americans alike found themselves subordinated. By 
the latter 1880s, Mariano Samaniego was the only Spanish-surnamed in-
dividual remaining on the territorial assembly; by shortly after the turn of 
the century, there was no Mexican-American representation in territorial 
government. Some Mexican Americans, like Federico Ronstadt in Tucson, 
would preserve their relative affluence by fi nding ways to adapt (see Chap-
ter 3), but the clear trend after 1880 was toward the erosion of their eco-
nomic and political power.44

The development of highly industrialized and capitalized mining ven-
tures also undermined the ability of Mexican and indigenous workers to 
ne gotiate the terms of their labor. Unlike Poston’s and Mowry’s early ven-
tures, the new projects were characterized by a stricter, racialized class 
system. In the 1870s and early 1880s, Chinese immigrants provided most 
of the manual labor on the railroads. When the work was completed, some 
of them remained and were hired by mining companies, but a wave of 
nativist resent ment over their arrival soon resulted in their expulsion.45 
The large copper companies began to utilize labor contractors, or engan-
chadores, who traveled into Mexico to sign up displaced Mexican peas-
ants. The workers no longer emigrated solely from Sonora but also traveled 
up the Mexican Central Railroad to El Paso, and then over the Southern 
Pacifi c to the  Arizona copper mines.46 By the 1880s the railroads and cop-
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per  companies imported their own skilled labor and managers from other 
U.S. states and from Europe, while ethnic Mexicans and Indians fi lled the 
lowest-paid, unskilled positions. As a result, in 1890 a journalist for the 
Arizona Daily Citizen could write that at Clifton, which had reached a 
population of two thousand, ethnic Mexicans and Indians were relegated 
to manual labor, and “all skilled workers are white.”47

Still, even by the turn of the century, it would be inaccurate to character-
ize the racialized class structure in the mining towns as a binary system. 
According to a government study on immigration called the Dillingham Re-
port, the workforce remained stratifi ed between Irish- and Anglo-American 
citizens, southern and eastern European immigrants, ethnic Mexicans, 
and Indians. The complex nature of this racial hierarchy was apparent in 
the wage levels in the Clifton-Morenci-Metcalf mining district. There, in 
1909, 94 percent of native-born workers whom the Dillingham commis-
sion identifi ed as white earned $3.50 per day or more. What Canadian, Eng-
lish, German, and Irish immigrants earned was comparable with the wages 
of native-born, Euro-American workers. In stark contrast, 93 percent of 
Mexican-born workers earned between $1.50 and $2.50. According to histo-
rian James Kluger, two hundred Yaquis also worked at the mines by 1915. If 
this number is accurate, the Dillingham commission likely combined the 
Yaquis with ethnic Mexicans in its fi gures, making it impossible to com-
pare wages between the two groups. In the middle of the wage hierarchy 
were Italian immigrants, 78 percent of whom earned between $2 and $3 
(Figure 1.1). (The racial classifi cation of eastern and southern Europeans is 
discussed in Chapter 4.)48

Wage stratifi cation was not based simply on different skill levels but 
on race and nationality. Native-born and Canadian, English, German, and 
Irish employees described as miners and general laborers earned up to 
twice the wage of the ethnic Mexican workers in the same positions, and 
substantially more than Italians.49 At the smelters at Clifton and Douglas, 
where much of Clifton-Morenci’s copper was processed, the Dillingham 
Report explained that “the Mexicans are employed largely at common 
labor, but whether employed at this or at work of higher grade, most of 
which is done by native-born and north Europeans, they are paid, as a rule, 
lower wages than those received by ‘white’ laborers engaged in the same or 
similar kinds of work.” Sixty-fi ve percent of U.S.-born Mexican Americans 
earned less than $2.50 per day, while 85 percent of foreign-born western and 
northern Europeans earned $3 or more (Figure 1.1).50 Racial classifi cation, 
rather than nationality, language, or degree of skill, structured the wage 
hierarchy. Moreover, this was a multitiered rather than a binary or dual-
wage system.
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Figure 1.1. Wages at the Clifton-Morenci Mines, 1909. Source: Senate, Reports of the Immi-
gration Commission, 61st Cong., 2d sess., 1911 (Washington, DC: Government Printing Offi ce, 
1974), 125–133.

Indigenous workers—a group almost wholly ignored by most histori-
ans of Arizona labor—were often relegated to the lowest-paid manual jobs, 
below southern Europeans and ethnic Mexicans alike. Such stratifi ca-
tion occurred on both sides of the border. On Sonora’s rail system, for ex-
ample, according to an 1883 census, 810 Yaquis, 664 Mexicans, and 475 
Euro-Americans made up the workforce. Even in Mexico, Euro-Americans 
held most of the skilled positions and office assignments, while most Mex-
icans worked in construction or as translators. Yaquis held only the lowest-
paying jobs as track repairmen and construction workers.51

The subordinate status of indigenous workers was perhaps clearest 
at the Cornelia Copper Company’s mines in Ajo, located within traditional 
Tohono O’odham lands near the border with Sonora. There, hundreds of 
 Tohono O’odham men lived and worked under highly segregated condi-
tions. The 1920 census lists the majority of “Papagos” at Ajo as general 
la borers in the copper plant, “Mexicans” as miners and mine laborers, 
and “whites” as skilled workers, managers, and foremen. As in other min-
ing communities, the company maintained racial boundaries both in the 
mines and in town—not only between whites and nonwhites, but also 
between Indians and Mexicans. The O’odham were restricted to an area 
that became known as Ajo Indian village. Unlike in the Mexican sec-
tion, the company did not even provide housing for the O’odham workers, 
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justifying that practice by suggesting that the O’odham were ephemeral 
workers, wanting only to earn a little cash before returning to their own 
rancherías—a claim that will be interrogated in later chapters.52

an agricultur al empire

Mowry’s vision of an agricultural empire stretching from the Salt River 
in Arizona to the Yaqui and Mayo rivers in Sonora was slower to develop 
than the mining empire, but by 1880 it was well under way. U.S fi nancing 
again largely fueled the transformation in both the United States and Mex-
ico. In Arizona, agencies such as the Geological Survey, the Army Corps 
of Engineers, and the Reclamation Service (renamed the Bureau of Recla-
mation in 1923) determined where agricultural development would take 
place and who would benefi t from it. Race played a signifi cant role in these 
decisions. As large-scale irrigation projects led to the rise of mechanized 
commercial farms, many ethnic Mexican and indigenous farmers lost ac-
cess to water through upriver diversions and erosion. Thousands would 
fi nd themselves with little choice but to work for wages in the burgeoning 
mining industry, on the railroads, and on new commercial farms. By the 
fi rst decade of the twentieth century, then, it became clear that agriculture 
in the transborder region would mirror, in many respects, the structure of 
the copper mines: large, capital-intensive farms would rely upon a mobile, 
racially stratifi ed workforce to produce staple crops for market.53

Even with these substantial changes in Arizona’s economy, many eth-
nic Mexicans held onto their lands well into the twentieth century. Dur-
ing the territorial period, the U.S. government confi rmed as valid approxi-
mately one hundred thousand of the eight hundred thousand acres of land 
grants that had been made before the Gadsden Purchase, most of them 
along the Santa Cruz and San Pedro rivers.54 Moreover, between 1875 and 
1901, Hispanic-surnamed individuals—some of whom had roots in the re-
gion stretching as far back as the eighteenth century—received 259 patents 
for homesteads in the territory.55

On both sides of the border, ethnic Mexican landholders continued to 
practice traditional forms of open-range ranching and farming into the 
1900s. Along the San Pedro and Santa Cruz rivers, members of extended 
families took possession of contiguous homesteads, often leaving the land 
unfenced, mingling their herds, and cooperating in yearly corridas (round-
ups). Longtime resident families included the Sozas, who owned fourteen 
homestead patents in one contiguous area, and the Pachecos, whose cattle 
brand dated to 1818 in the Tucson and Tubac areas and who owned at least 
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four different patents. Antonia Wilbur-Cruce wrote in her memoir that 
three generations of her family lived together on her father’s ranch just 
north of the border, raising goats and running cattle on the open range 
and growing subsistence crops in their own milpa (a large garden or small 
farm). Like other large Sonoran ranchers, her father claimed pure Spanish 
ancestry, boasting that he was the descendent of the “very last conquis-
tador to come to Arizona.”56 Such claims were not just about land; they 
were also about race. By claiming pure Spanish ancestry, wealthier Mexi-
can Americans also claimed whiteness and thus attempted to distinguish 
themselves from the surrounding population of mestizos and Indians.57

Industrial agribusiness would soon begin to replace this older pattern of 
landholding on both sides of the border. In Sonora, Mexican officials and 
U.S. investors alike viewed the fertile Yaqui River valley as a potential cen-
ter of commercial agriculture in northwestern Mexico. When the Mexican 
government took a comprehensive survey of Sonora in 1849, it found that 
there had been very little encroachment into the homeland of the Yaquis. 
They had been working for wages in the haciendas and mines near Alamos, 
Buenavista, and Hermosillo but still maintained a largely autonomous po-
litical and cultural existence along the river. In the next couple of decades, 
Mexican officials began to work concertedly toward ending this older pat-
tern of communal landholding in favor of private ownership.58

The Yaquis resisted this federal privatization project as best they could. 
Throughout the latter nineteenth century they periodically fought armed 
battles to maintain control of their territory, while adopting new, collective 
means to manage their lands. In the 1870s and ’80s, under the leader ship 
of the military captain Cajeme, they consolidated their operation of large 
community plots, collectively stored their grain, governed themselves by 
consensus through a panvillage council, instituted the fi rst Yaqui tax sys-
tem on imports, and charged a toll (often paid in weapons) to traders and 
travelers. Thousands of Yaquis held their ground until the late 1880s, but 
a growing number of mestizos and immigrants moved into the Yaqui val-
ley. Three permanent garrisons of Mexican soldiers protected the settlers. 
The Yaquis faced increasingly miserable conditions, and many Yaqui fi ght-
ers began to give themselves up. Cajeme continued to lead attacks against 
the military forts from his base in the Bacatete Mountains north of the 
river, but the military responded with a war without quarter. By 1887 four 
thousand Yaquis had surrendered, and Cajeme was captured in April and 
executed in Cócorit.59

The Comisión Científi ca de Sonora proceeded to survey the Yaqui River 
valley and to divide it into private plots. Despite promises to the contrary, 
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little of this land went to the Yaquis. While the Yaquis fought a guerrilla 
war against the government for decades, hundreds of families began to 
leave the river permanently to work on the railroads, mines, and ranches, 
often crossing the border into Arizona.60

The Tohono O’odham also faced increasing incursions onto their lands 
to the northeast, but they were protected somewhat because their drier 
lands were not as suited to large-scale irrigation or farming as Yaqui lands. 
Still, in the 1870s and ‘80s as the Apache wars came to a close, growing 
numbers of Anglo and Mexican-American ranchers moved onto O’odham 
land. At the time, the relatively large defensive villages that the O’odham 
had formed in the eighteenth century to protect themselves against Apache 
attack were once again dispersing into clusters of smaller rancherías, to 
take better advantage of land and water resources. This resulted in thir-
teen distinct village clusters, each with somewhat different dialects and 
cultural patterns.

Euro-American ranchers from the United States threatened the O’odham 
by digging wells and raising cattle near a number of Tohono O’odham vil-
lages southwest of Tucson. These villages were inhabited by the distinct di-
alectal and cultural group of O’odham called the Ko-lo:di—a group that had 
been much closer to the Spanish missions and to Mexican settlement than 
other groups of O’odham farther to the west and north. The Ko-lo:di, along 
with some nearby villages of another group, the Aji, to the west, had al-
ready adopted elements of Spanish material and nonmaterial culture, in-
cluding cattle ranching and language. These O’odham now adapted further 
by taking some of the newcomers’ livestock for themselves and substan-
tially increasing their own herds. U.S. government officials complained 
that thousands of head of cattle disappeared from Euro-American ranches 
in the 1890s. Incursions by Euro-American ranchers stalled temporarily 
when a devastating drought struck the region in 1899, but they continued 
with the return of wetter weather after 1905.61

The threat to O’odham land was renewed with the end of the drought. 
Several wealthy Sonoran landholders expanded into Tohono O’odham ter-
ritory from the south, digging wells and grazing cattle directly adjacent 
to O’odham rancherías. By the turn of the century, the U.S. government 
had established only two small reservations for the Tohono O’odham, leav-
ing most of their lands open to exploitation by non-Indians. These were 
the 69,000-acre San Xavier reservation, founded south of Tucson along the 
Santa Cruz River in 1874, and the 10,297-acre Gila Bend reservation, estab-
lished in 1882 to protect a small, seasonal farming village along the Gila 
River. The majority of the Tohono O’odham, however, lived outside these 
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two reservations. Incursions by non-Indians had important cultural and so-
cial consequences for the Tohono O’odham. Those Ko-lo:di who lived along 
the Altar and Magdalena rivers in Sonora, and those Aji who lived east of 
the Santa Cruz, bore the brunt of the incursions. While a few responded 
with violence, most did not. Instead, hundreds of Ko-lo:di from northern 
Mexico fl ed north across the border into Arizona, where they joined exist-
ing O’odham villages or established new ones. These groups were among 
the most Hispanicized Tohono O’odham, and they often looked down upon 
other groups of O’odham who retained more indigenous cultural and eco-
nomic practices to the north and west.62

While the groups generally coexisted, these divergent cultural patterns 
would promote the development of two broad factions in future years. The 
southeastern O’odham, largely made up of Ko-lo:di and some eastern Aji, 
tended to borrow more readily from Euro-Americans, and they became 
the most economically prosperous by developing substantial cattle herds 
and engaging in the market economy. The western and northern groups of 
O’odham lived farther away from Euro-American settlement and tended to 
reject more vehemently outside infl uences. Both groups, however, whether 
they liked it or not, became increasingly entangled in the expanding capi-
talist economy, either by raising livestock for market or taking up wage 
work on the ranches and in the mines.63

By 1900 the most important region of industrial agricultural develop-
ment in Arizona lay farther to the north, in the Salt River valley. Ameri-
cans had begun to establish farms there in the mid-1860s, and at an accel-
erated pace in the 1870s, to take advantage of the new demand for produce 
by the military and the mining towns. As late as 1870, two companies had 
attracted only 240 inhabitants (of whom 115 were ethnic Mexicans) and 
had opened only fi fteen hundred acres to cultivation. That same year, how-
ever, the federal government opened the Salt River valley to homesteading, 
and in Feb ru ary 1871 Phoenix became the seat of Maricopa County, which 
encompassed the entire river basin.64

Corporate interests and speculators dominated farming in the Salt 
River valley from the beginning, building a modern infrastructure that 
linked the area to the world market and demanding an increasing number 
of manual workers. The population of the region grew steadily despite pe-
riodic and sometimes disastrous fl oods. In the 1870s promoters built the 
Maricopa and Grand canals. The passage of the Desert Lands Act in 1877 
increased the size of homesteads and thus provided a further draw to the 
region. In 1882 the Arizona Canal Company fi nanced the 41-mile Arizona 
canal by selling bonds as far away as London and Edinburgh. Finally, the 
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Maricopa and Phoenix Railroad replaced the freighting road from Phoenix 
to the Southern Pacifi c depot at Maricopa and provided a crucial link to 
national markets. By 1890 four canals irrigated fi fty thousand acres north 
of the Salt River and supported a population of eleven thousand.65 While 
some families managed to establish small homesteads, an elite class of 
investors dominated the valley, largely through their ability to control the 
limited water supply.66

The development of industrial agriculture and mining proved a devastat-
ing blow to the Pimas (Akimel O’odham) and Maricopas, who had become 
commercial farmers in their own right by the mid-nineteenth century. Be-
ginning in the 1840s, Pima and Maricopa villages had become safe havens 
for travelers en route to the Pacifi c. They supplied wheat and other produce 
and served as allies against the Apaches. By 1870 the Pimas produced over 
three million pounds of wheat per year, much of which they sold or traded 
to market.67 Their material and military aid, along with their sedentary, 
agricultural way of life, prompted many Euro-Americans to view them as 
among the “better class” of Indians and to praise them as allies who should 
be defended by the U.S. government.68 In 1872 a BIA official reported that 
“they are industrious, agricultural people, who pride themselves on being 
self-supporting.” These traits made them appear racially different from 
other Indians. Many Euro-Americans agreed that, unlike less sedentary 
groups, they could one day be incorporated into a nation of independent 
citizen-farmers and workers.69

All of this began to change, however, in the mid-1860s, when non-Indian 
settlers diverted water from the Gila River above the Pima and Maricopa 
farms. The federal government established one of the fi rst reservations in 
Arizona for the Pimas and Maricopas in 1859. Encompassing sixty-four 
thousand acres, it was far smaller than the one hundred miles of riverfront 
that these groups claimed. More important, they were not guaranteed pri-
ority water rights to the river. Soon, diversions in towns such as Florence 
and Safford, deforestation, livestock, and mining caused severe erosion of 
the watershed. In the late 1890s, in a period of drought, the hydrographer in 
charge of a geological survey noted that “the result of the diversion was to 
deprive the Indians of the greater portion of their water supply during the 
period when the water was most needed to mature their crops.”70

Euro-American depictions of Pimas and Maricopas changed dramati-
cally as conditions on the Gila reservation deteriorated, revealing how the 
process of racial formation was linked to changes in the political economy. 
In the years after upriver diversions and erosion reduced the fl ow of the 
river, BIA agent John Stout declared that “not a drop of water” reached 
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the Pima fi elds, and agent Frederick Grossman complained that Pimas 
and Maricopas began to leave the reservation to steal cattle and horses 
and destroy the crops of nearby farmers. (His report supported his proposal 
to remove the Pimas to Indian territory and therefore must be read with 
skepticism.) Newcomers in the irrigated lands of the Salt and Gila also 
began to complain, characterizing the Pimas and Maricopas as “uncom-
municative,” untrustworthy, and degenerate. When families began moving 
off the reservation in search of water and irrigable land—to the Blackwater 
district south and east of the reservation, to Gila Crossing to the west, and 
north to the Salt River valley—the complaints grew louder. Residents of 
both areas sent petitions to the Indian commissioner about their “trouble-
some and dangerous neighbors.”71

In subsequent years the Pimas and Maricopas were able to secure protec-
tion of more land, but without the protection of their water. In an attempt 
to ameliorate their problems without taking water from Euro-American 
settlers, President Rutherford Hayes created a new reservation on the Salt 
River south of Fort McDowell, and hundreds of Pimas and Maricopas set-
tled there permanently. President Chester Arthur increased the Gila reser-
vation to 360,000 acres in 1882. More land, however, did nothing to resolve 
the water problem, and Pimas and Maricopas sunk further into economic 
despair. Their cultivated acreage decreased from an average of about nine 
thousand acres per year in 1880–1889, to 6,700 per year for the following 
half decade, to 3,600 per year up to 1899. In 1904 a federal investigating 
committee determined that the Pimas along the Gila had raised no crops 
for the previous fi ve years due both to upriver diversions and drought. 
Many Pimas survived by selling their cattle and gathering mesquite to sell 
as fi rewood in Phoenix and other nearby towns. By 1905 the Pimas were 
cutting and selling nearly twelve thousand cords of wood per year.72

In 1902 federal officials had a chance to rectify the dire situation on 
the Gila reservation with the passage of the Newlands Reclamation Act, 
but they chose not to. Once again, racism and a lack of economic and po-
litical infl uence severely disadvantaged the Indians. In the 1890s Frederick 
Newell, a hydrologist for the Geological Survey who would later become 
the fi rst director of the Reclamation Service, investigated a plan to build 
a major dam either on the Gila or the Salt. Newell revealed his racial bias 
when he argued that if a dam were to be built on the Gila “several acres 
well-tilled by white men would be destroyed for the benefi t of one acre 
poorly worked by the Indians.” Due in part to such biases, the Pimas and 
Maricopas were unlikely to win a battle against the intense lobbying effort 
sustained by Maricopa County growers to locate the project on the Salt. 
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Land speculators such as A. J. Chandler organized the Salt River Valley 
Water Storage Committee to lead the charge, and in 1903 the effort paid off. 
The Salt River Project, whose centerpiece was the Roosevelt Dam, became 
the fi rst major project to be planned under the Reclamation Act. The Pimas 
and Maricopas would have to wait another three decades for a reservoir.73

The completion of the Roosevelt Dam, a part of the Salt River Project, 
capped off a dramatic transformation of south-central Arizona’s desert ecol-
ogy and political economy. The dam was completed in 1911, and water from 
the new reservoir fl owed into an extensive network of canals and onto the 
fertile soils of the Salt River valley. Combined with a new hybrid of long- 
staple cotton, federal reclamation allowed a vast agricultural industry to 
fl ourish.74 By 1920 the yearly harvest of Pima cotton in Arizona reached 
about two hundred thousand acres, with 142,322 of those in the Salt River 
valley—a remarkable 70 percent of all land irrigated via the new reclama-
tion project. While in subsequent years the proportion of long-staple cotton 
would decline as farmers planted everything from citrus and melons to 
alfalfa, long- and short-staple cotton would remain a staple of the regional 
economy for the next fi fty years.75

As competition in the agricultural market throughout south-central 
Arizona intensifi ed, and as fences were erected and ranching or farming 
required greater amounts of moveable capital and connections to national 
markets, many Mexican-American landholders found themselves with lit-
tle choice but to sell. Antonio Córdova, whose family owned a ranch in 
southern Arizona, recalled that his family sold their ranch to “an Ameri-
can” in the 1920s. “Can you imagine,” he exclaimed, “all that land, the 
house, the well and the equipment, for $3,000! A lot of people sold their 
ranches that way. . . . Then we would end up with nothing—no land, no 
cattle, no money.” Herminia Córdova, whose family owned a ranch sev-
enty miles south of Tucson, remembered that “it was hard to make it on 
the little ranches when there was not much land, especially when they be-
gan to fence the range. The big ranchers could make it, but the little ranch-
ers could not, so the little ranchers began to sell off their land.”76 Many of 
these ranchers would soon fi nd themselves working for wages alongside 
Indians and Mexican immigrants on farms owned by Euro-Americans.

r ace,  s tatehood,  and citizenship

As industrial mining and agriculture expanded at the turn of the century, 
Arizonans argued that the economy and population of the territory had 
matured enough to warrant full statehood. Without it Arizona  residents—
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Anglo and non-Anglo alike—lacked the power to elect their own governors 
or voting representatives to Congress. Yet, as Howard Lamar has shown, 
statehood was repeatedly postponed because of disagreements over the 
conservation of federal lands, political competition between congres sional 
Democrats and Republicans, and the belief, which is most important for 
this study, held by many national political leaders that New Mexico’s 
and Arizona’s populations, because they were largely made up of Mexi-
cans and Indians, were not fi t for self-government. Due largely to the terri-
tory’s ethno-racial makeup, powerful government officials such as  Indiana 
Senator Albert Beveridge hoped to maintain an imperial relationship with 
Arizona, explicitly comparing it to new overseas possessions like the 
Philippines.77

Throughout the two-decade struggle to become a state, Anglos in Ari-
zona honed an argument for an end to territorial status based on the ideas 
that the majority of residents were white, educated, and civilized and that 
the indigenous and ethnic Mexican populations would have little role in 
government. As Arizonans sat down to write a constitution, this argument 
manifested itself in explicit, exclusionary policies designed to relegate non-
whites and those who did not speak English to second-class citizenship. In 
large part, then, the quest for statehood led to the development of a clearer 
defi nition of the ideal Arizona citizen in cultural, historical, and racial 
terms. Racial inequality was not simply an unfortunate corollary to full 
statehood; it was built into the very identity of Arizona from its inception.78

Arizonans began to press for statehood in earnest in the 1880s and ’90s. 
In 1889 Congress initially included Arizona in an omnibus bill to admit 
the Dakotas, Wyoming, and Washington as states, but it soon dropped Ari-
zona from the bill due in large part to the objections of Republicans who 
did not want to admit what would likely become a Democratic state. After 
Arizona was excluded from the bill in 1891, a group of twenty-one Arizona 
men decided to move forward anyway. The spokesman for the effort was 
Mark Smith, Arizona’s delegate to Congress. When Smith presented his 
case before Congress and President Benjamin Harrison, however, the presi-
dent responded that the Republicans were “opposed to the free coinage 
of western senators.” This response, combined with the national panic of 
1893, ended the territory’s chances to achieve statehood in the nineteenth 
century.79

In the fi rst decade of the twentieth century, the statehood campaign 
picked up steam, and statehood was reconnected to the idea of the acquisi-
tion of full citizenship. In 1901 numerous editorials appeared in Arizona 
newspapers connecting statehood to “full enfranchisement” and  freedom 
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from “territorial vassalage.” As the secretary of Arizona’s Territorial Dem-
ocratic Committee said, “We are all anxious to acquire the full privilege of 
American citizenship, to increase our opportunities and to substantially 
build up the country of our choice.” He argued that territorial status de-
prived the region’s inhabitants of their full liberty as members of the na-
tional body politic: “During this struggle I am seeking citizenship, and 
I feel as though I express the heartfelt will of all democrats when I say, 
‘God speed the day.’”80 In late Oc to ber the participants in a convention 
held in Phoenix voiced a similar sentiment. Pointing out that the region 
had been in a territorial status for fi ve decades, convention attendees 
couched their quest for statehood in the discourse of liberty, citizenship, 
and self-government.81

Statehood proponents contended that the educated “American” popula-
tion—which, it became clear, did not include the indigenous and Mexican-
American populations—would dominate Arizona culturally and politically. 
When Congress considered a new bill to admit Oklahoma, New Mexico, 
and Arizona as states in 1902, congressional delegate Mark Smith declared 
before the U.S. House, “The fact is, that excluding the reservation Indians, 
who are not and cannot become citizens, Arizona has the best generally 
educated population in the United States.” Smith pointed out that most 
people in the territory had been born in the eastern part of the country—a 
fact that distinguished Arizona from neighboring New Mexico, which 
had a much larger Mexican-American population. “The large body of our 
people,” he said, “came when fully grown from the different states of the 
union. They know the duties of citizenship as well as the members of this 
house, and they have attended to those duties with a modesty and propriety 
which I am justifi ed in commending as an example for the emulation of 
eastern states.”82

Smith’s reference to Americans from eastern states served to delineate 
racial and cultural boundaries—a discourse that would manifest itself in 
a series of restrictive laws passed in the early 1900s by the territorial as-
sembly. First, the assembly passed a $2.50 poll tax, which undermined the 
right of many working-class people, and thus many Mexican-American 
people, to vote. The Daily Enterprise, a progressive newspaper, complained 
that the law opened a door that might “disfranchise all save the wealthy 
and privileged classes” to no avail. Over the next several years, the assem-
bly passed even more explicit discriminatory legislation. In 1909 it passed 
an English literacy test for voting. The Democratic governor at the time, 
Richard Sloan, protested the measure, declaring, “It is a wholesale disfran-
chisement of the respectable element of our Mexican population who, by 
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all rights of birth, ancestry, identifi cation with country and treaty rights 
as well, have a just claim to consideration in any scheme looking to the 
curtailment of the privileges of citizenship.” The measure passed despite 
his protests.83 That same year, the assembly passed a law that segregated 
“students of the African race” into their own schools. (The population of 
blacks in most of Arizona was extremely low—with the exception of black 
soldiers stationed in Santa Cruz County.) In 1914 Phoenix would put teeth 
into the ruling by establishing a separate “colored High School.” While 
Hispanic students, whom the courts generally defi ned as white, could not 
legally be segregated by race, they were often segregated by other means, 
particularly by the justifi cation that they were defi cient in the English 
language.84

Despite such measures, opposition to statehood at the federal level re-
mained strong. The most powerful opponent was Senator Beveridge, who 
served as the chairman of the Senate Committee on Territories. Beveridge 
used his position to hold up the omnibus statehood bill in the Senate. In 
part, his opposition refl ected his Republican Party affiliation, since he 
feared that Arizona would tip the balance of power in the Senate toward 
the Democratic Party.85 Beyond that, Beveridge viewed the territories of the 
Southwest in the same vein as he viewed the territories of Guam, Puerto 
Rico, and the Philippines—in short, as imperial possessions that were in-
adequately prepared for self-government. “We govern the Indians without 
their consent, we govern our territories without their consent,” he explained 
in 1898, because “it is ours to save that soil for liberty and civilization.”86

In De cem ber, due largely to Beveridge’s concerted opposition, the omni-
bus bill died in the Senate. According to the Arizona Democrat,  Beveridge 
told President Theodore Roosevelt that New Mexico and Arizona were 
similar to the “Negro section of the south,” and he suggested that the Mexi-
can population was indifferent both to democratic institutions and to the 
English language.87 He then submitted a new Senate bill to admit Arizona 
and New Mexico as a single state. Joint statehood would not change the 
racial demographics of the two territories, but it would likely subordinate 
Democrats within a Republican majority.88

In the years that followed, rather than directly challenge Beveridge’s 
characterization of Indians and ethnic Mexicans, Arizona’s political and 
economic elite argued that if the territory were admitted separately, these 
groups would have little cultural or political infl uence. The Twenty-Second 
Territorial Assembly resolved that it was “unalterably opposed to the ad-
mission of Arizona and New Mexico into the union as one state under 
any terms or conditions whatsoever.”89 Arizona was not like New Mexico, 
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 opponents of “jointure” protested. As the Arizona Democrat declared, “Its 
Mexican population is less than 51,000, for the Indians who held that por-
tion of Mexico before American annexation, never permitted Mexicans to 
get a foothold.”90

Proponents of separate statehood bolstered their case by clearly defi n-
ing, in cultural, racial, and historical terms, the ideal Arizona citizen. The 
territorial assembly told a racist and gendered story of the region’s fron-
tier history, in which manly pioneers had wrested control of the territory 
from its uncivilized and unmanly Indian and Mexican predecessors. House 
Resolution XIV stated:

In behalf of that band of pioneers who have wrung from the savage 
this fair land of Arizona, in behalf of the citizens of Arizona who have 
fought its battles and developed those conditions under which we now 
happily exist, this House resents the imputation that our members 
or the people of this territory will ever submit to the proposition that 
Arizona will consent to any scheme by which it will lose its identity 
and name and its grand history that has been marked by the expendi-
ture of blood, treasure and privation.

The territorial governor added that if the two territories were combined, 
“the delegates from New Mexico, in a convention thus constituted, could 
form and adopt a constitution repugnant in every particular to the people 
of Arizona, subversive of their interest, impeding their progress, offending 
their pride, and humiliating them to the last degree against the will and 
protest of every delegate from Arizona.”91

When a jointure bill passed the House in 1906, Arizona delegates refi ned 
their race-based argument for separate statehood and clarifi ed who would 
and would not be eligible for full citizenship. In February they presented a 
lengthy protest to the Senate. On the front page of the document they ex-
plained that they would not accept jointure because of “the decided racial 
differences between the people of Arizona and the large majority of the 
people of New Mexico, who are not only different in race and largely in lan-
guage, but have entirely different customs, laws, and ideals and would have 
but little prospect of successful amalgamation.” The protest placed the 
racial boundaries of American identity in stark relief. It maintained that at 
least certain European immigrants, who were more similar in their racial 
and cultural makeup to Euro-American Arizonans, would likely become 
good citizens. The same could not be expected of those of Mexican descent. 
“Arizona’s population is distinctly American,” the document read, “com-
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posed of people from all parts of the United States and the best type of im-
migrants from other countries. Their ideas of social conditions, Christian 
civilization, modern progress, and future development are of the highest” 
(emphasis added). By contrast, New Mexico’s much larger ethnic Mexican 
population could never be expected to assimilate fully.92

The statehood debate was ultimately decided by popular referendum. 
The Senate, which remained deadlocked on the issue, fi nally allowed Ari-
zona and New Mexico to vote on whether to accept jointure after the ter-
ritorial assembly’s 1906 protest. Arizonans soundly defeated the measure. 
Less than two years later, President Roosevelt declared in his annual ad-
dress before Congress that Arizona and New Mexico should be admitted 
separately. Finally, in 1910, Congressman Ed Hamilton of the House Com-
mittee on Territories introduced a new bill enabling Arizona and New 
Mexico to be admitted as separate states.93

Arizona’s constitutional convention and new state legislature fulfi lled 
implicit promises to limit political and economic rights along racial and 
cultural lines. During debates over the constitution, the number of Mexi-
can immigrants in Arizona grew, driven largely by the upheavals of the 
Mexican Revolution and a rising labor demand. One organizer for the West-
ern Federation of Miners complained that “the American citizen, to a large 
extent, had been driven out of these mining communities.” Sentiments 
such as this fueled the rise of a new coalition, made up of craft union mem-
bers, small farmers, and merchants, who led a nativist assault against Mexi-
cans. As the delegates met to write up a constitution, they designed more 
policies to restrict noncitizen and nonwhite workers from the right to vote 
and work.94

Ethnic Mexicans were not the only targets of the nativist assault. Many 
Anglo, Irish, and Cornish union men expressed concern about “the lowest 
type of Europeans,” referring to the newest wave of European immigrants 
who were populating the mining towns. Italian, Spanish, and Slavic work-
ers received, on average, much lower wages than did native Euro-Americans 
and northern and western Europeans. Nativist discourse and unequal wage 
structures revealed that the boundaries of whiteness itself were still un-
der contention, with some groups hovering on its margins. The idea that 
whiteness would be made less permeable over the following decades will 
be discussed in detail in Chapter 4 as will the fact that even into the 1930s, 
some Euro-Americans remained questionably white.95

Conservative craft unionists petitioned the constitutional convention 
to limit the rights of newer immigrants to work in the mining towns. In 
1910 four hundred primarily Cornish, Anglo, and Irish residents of the 
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mining town of Globe sent a petition to the convention to require employ-
ers of more than fi ve workers in hazardous occupations to hire no less 
than 80 percent “native-born citizens of the United States” and “qualifi ed 
electors.” Workers in Bisbee and Douglas fi led a similar petition. The peti-
tions were not only directed at Mexican immigrants, but also at Italians, 
Slavs, and Spaniards. Arizona’s Immigration Restriction League supported 
the measures, declaring “that some large industrial concerns have denied 
to American workingmen their God-given privilege to work in their own 
country under their own fl ag,” and that unless the government acted, “in a 
very few years Arizona will be an alien state peopled by an alien race.” In 
the end, the measure did not pass, but it would be resurrected shortly after 
the passage of the constitution (see Chapters 3 and 4).96

The new constitution also included a measure denying suffrage to Indi-
ans, more explicitly excluding them from full membership in the national 
polity than any other ethnic group. The clause read, simply, “No person 
under guardianship shall be qualifi ed to vote in any election.” This clause 
became especially relevant after 1924, when the national Indian Citizen-
ship Act granted citizenship to all American Indians, whether or not they 
had accepted allotment or continued to live on reservations. Theoretically, 
the Indian Citizenship Law, combined with the Fourteenth and Fifteenth 
amendments to the U.S. Constitution, should have protected the voting and 
civil rights of Indians. However, until the late 1940s Arizona courts would 
apply the “guardianship” clause to all of Arizona’s indigenous population, 
regardless of political and economic status.97

The new state legislature also reaffirmed the English literacy law with a 
new law in 1912 that restricted voting rights to those who could “read the 
Constitution of the United States in the English language in such manner 
as to show he is neither prompted nor reciting from memory, and to write 
his name.” It should be noted that while the law referred to men, a referen-
dum would extend full suffrage to Arizona women later that year. The law 
was designed to disenfranchise ethnic Mexicans and southern and eastern 
European immigrants, and it fulfi lled that basic goal to great effect. In 1910 
Cochise and Pima counties had the largest concentration of ethnic Mexi-
cans and European immigrants in the state. In the former, 50 percent of the 
foreign-born population was ethnic Mexican. Due to voting restrictions, 
the electorate in almost half of the precincts in both counties was not large 
enough to hold primary elections in 1912.98

Arizona’s incorporation into the national political economy relegated 
much of the state’s nonwhite (or questionably white) working population 
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to unskilled, low-wage work and to second-class citizenship. By the fi rst 
decade of the twentieth century, from the Yaqui River to the Salt River, 
most indigenous inhabitants of Sonora and Arizona had lost their ability 
to subsist without working at least part time for wages. The same corporate 
mining, railroad, and agricultural ventures that undermined their ability 
to subsist created an insatiable demand for their labor. Still, most Indians 
resisted abandoning traditional subsistence strategies for full participation 
in the developing wage economy. Pimas, Maricopas, and Tohono O’odham 
struggled to maintain other means of subsistence, whether through raising 
cattle, gathering and selling wood, marketing crafts, or farming (whenever 
conditions improved enough to allow it). Thus, as of 1912, thousands of 
indigenous people in southern Arizona survived not so much at the bot-
tom of the wage labor hierarchy as on its margins—a topic that will be 
discussed in much more detail in the next chapter.

Mexican Americans faced a different set of obstacles to full and equal 
status as citizens and workers. The decline of the Mexican-American elite 
and the infl ux of Yaqui and mestizo immigrants from Mexico helped to 
solidify an increasingly impermeable, racially defi ned class structure in 
which ethnic Mexicans, whether Arizona natives or immigrants, were 
subordinated. While some Mexican Americans continued to build a life 
around independent livestock operations or, especially in Tucson, craft and 
merchant activities, they were a small minority. Anglos had promoted an 
image of Arizona’s citizenry as white, progressive, and racially and cul-
turally homo geneous. Full political and economic incorporation was thus 
intricately tied, from the state’s inception, to racial, economic, and politi-
cal inequality. Such restrictions were not simply unfortunate aberrations 
within an otherwise free society. They were integral to the very identity 
and political economy of the new state.
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chap ter 2

from noble savage to 

second - cl ass citizen

In the 1880s the government of the United States reformed its well-worn 
policy of concentrating Indians onto reservations into a new campaign de-
signed to assimilate them into the nation. Federal officials allotted reserva-
tion lands for private property and strove to educate and detribalize Indians 
in government schools, to integrate them economically as farmers, ranch-
ers, and wageworkers, and to pave the way for them to become citizens.1 
BIA officials in Arizona soon discovered, however, that federal policies had 
to be revised to meet regional conditions, such as the aridity of the Sonoran 
desert, the labor demands of cotton growers and other employers, and the 
agency of the indigenous peoples themselves.

In Arizona the BIA also had to contend with the fuzziness of the bound-
aries between Indian and Mexican identity and the proximity to the inter-
national border. BIA officials struggled to keep the regional indigenous 
population away from ethnic Mexicans, fearing that such contact would 
degrade the Indians’ industry and purity and interfere with the process of 
assimilation. Tapping into the noble savage trope, local officials tended to 
characterize the Tohono O’odham, Akimel O’odham, and Maricopas as 
proud people who had avoided the racial and cultural “pollution” that had 
stricken the regional Mexican population. They viewed allotment of com-
munal lands into private property, as well as education and, increasingly, 
wage labor, as the most likely means to convert this innate pride and in-
dustriousness into the necessary characteristics for good citizenship.

By the turn of the century, however, the goals of the national assimila-
tion policy began to change, ironically leading to the exploitation and seg-
regation of Indians as a racialized minority rather than to their integration 
as equals. While some BIA officials remained optimistic about converting 
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Arizona’s sedentary and semisedentary indigenous groups into equal citi-
zens, others were much less sanguine, viewing them as racially inferior 
and thus incapable of ever becoming full citizens.2 As one historian has 
put it in reference to Indians in the Pacifi c Northwest, the laws and insti-
tutions that emerged after 1900 ironically “tended to perpetuate the racial 
cate gory they aimed to eliminate.”3 While the assimilation policy before 
1900 was ethnocentric, in later decades it was often unabashedly racist.

The indigenous peoples of Arizona in their diversity developed varying 
strategies to cope with the government’s assimilation policies, depending 
upon their specifi c circumstances and cultures. The Tohono O’odham, who 
had long engaged in a pattern of seasonal migration, most readily adapted 
to wage work by migrating between villages, industrial farms, railroads, 
and mines. Some managed to survive by raising cattle for market, but most 
owned only a few head. Instead, they began to move in and out of the wage 
economy while preserving kinship ties and indigenous agricultural prac-
tices on their rancherías. In so doing they followed a pattern familiar to 
peoples in other regions around the world. Indeed, what Frederick Cooper 
has found for South Africans who moved in and out of reserves to fi nd 
wage work could just as well apply to south-central Arizona. As coloniz-
ers attempted to institute a new labor regime, they had to reckon with 
“people who were themselves trying to keep the labor market from absorb-
ing their being and their communities” with “their own work ethics, their 
own conceptions of when it made sense to put out energy and when—and 
for whom—it did not.”4

Other indigenous groups in south-central Arizona developed somewhat 
different strategies. While many Akimel O’odham (Pimas) and Maricopas 
took up wage work, most tried instead to live off sporadic farming, live-
stock operations, and wood gathering. The waters of the Gila River, how-
ever inconsistent and unreliable, made this more possible than it was in 
the Tohono O’odham’s desert rancherías. (The Yaquis, who had no lands 
of their own in Arizona and were not subjected to the new assimilation 
policies, will be discussed elsewhere). While their strategies differed, all of 
these groups resisted assimilation and racial discrimination and actively 
shaped their relationships to the emerging political economy and the na-
tion. In so doing they also began to redefi ne what it meant to be Tohono 
O’odham, Pima, or Maricopa.

assimil ation polic y in south- centr al arizona

In the late nineteenth century, as the federal government began to im-
plement its new assimilation policy, many local BIA officials had high 
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hopes for the Pimas, Maricopas, and Tohono O’odham. Euro-Americans 
tended to view these groups as among the so-called better class of self-
supporting and independent Indians, in large part because they were sed-
entary or semisedentary farmers. Still, even the most generous charac-
terizations tended to depict these groups more as noble savages than as 
modern, independent citizens. Their reputed vitality, independence, and 
love of freedom was laudable, but it was also dangerous because it existed 
outside the social, political, and economic fabric of the nation. Whether 
these characteristics could be remolded to conform to the modern demands 
of citizenship and competition in a capitalist economy remained an open 
question.

One of the central tools of the assimilation policy was allotment. In 1887 
Congress officially endorsed a new policy of dividing reservation lands in 
severalty with the passage of the General Allotment Act, often called the 
Dawes Act. According to the new law, each head of family was entitled 
to a tract of land and each dependent to a smaller parcel. Any Indian who 
received an allotment would become a U.S. citizen with “equal protec-
tion under the law,” echoing the language of the Fourteenth Amendment. 
The government would hold the allotment in trust for at least twenty-fi ve 
years, or for longer periods if the president deemed it necessary. The inte-
rior secretary reserved the right to sell any lands not allotted in  negotiation 
with each tribe. At the end of the trust period, individual Indians would re-
ceive fee-simple patents. The law also authorized the Interior Department 
secretary to “secure a just and equal distribution” of water—an element of 
the law that was especially pertinent in Arizona’s arid environment, where 
irrigation was imperative for farming.5

In the nineteenth century the BIA allotted only one reservation in south-
central Arizona, the San Xavier. It seemed well suited to allotment because 
the Santa Cruz River allowed the Tohono O’odham who lived there to 
maintain relatively prosperous farms. Beginning in 1890 the BIA allotted 
41,600 acres on the reservation, leaving 71,090 as communal property. The 
fi nal step of the allotment process, however—the transfer of allotted lands 
into fee-simple property—would never occur. The aridity of the Sonoran 
desert, combined with the resistance of O’odham and Euro-Americans 
alike, would serve to alter allotment plans of Tohono O’odham lands.6

Allotment was not the only element of the federal government’s as-
similation program. The BIA also used a system of boarding schools, day 
schools, and industrial training schools to promote assimilation, often 
coercing indigenous children to attend. In 1881 the BIA established its 
fi rst boarding school in Arizona at Sacaton, on the Gila reservation, near 
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a  government-subsidized Presbyterian school that had been established 
over a decade earlier. The facility, however, proved adequate to serve only 
a small number of students. Therefore, in the 1880s and ’90s, BIA officials 
sent hundreds of Pimas, Maricopas, and Tohono O’odham to schools in 
other states. A few went to large boarding schools like Carlisle in Pennsyl-
vania and Hampton in Virginia, but most went to industrial and vocational 
schools in western cities and towns, such as Albuquerque, New Mexico, 
Genoa, Nebraska, Chilocco, Oklahoma, and Grand Junction, Colorado. 
Some also attended private institutions such as the Presbyterian school 
in Tucson. In the meantime, federal policymakers suggested that a much 
larger boarding school should be built somewhere in central Arizona to 
serve the entire territory. In 1891, after years of debate over the best loca-
tion, the Indian Office opened a school just south of Phoenix.7

While BIA officials touted Phoenix Indian School as a means to as-
similate the Indians, many of those who lobbied for the school had less-
philanthropic goals. In fact, Salt River valley growers supported the idea of 
a boarding school primarily as a potential source of Indian labor. Colonel 
William Christy and William Murphy, who owned thousands of acres of 
land and controlled much of the water supply through the Arizona Im-
provement Company, were two of the schools’ most infl uential supporters. 
An editorial in the Arizona Republican anticipated a need for workers the 
school might produce: “In a few years our lands, now being so extensively 
planted with fruit trees and vines, would give employment to many of the 
pupils.” And after the fi rst class of thirty-one Pimas and ten Maricopas 
enrolled in 1891, an official noted that “the farmers and fruit growers in 
the vicinity of the school are ready to employ these boys and girls as soon 
as their labor becomes sufficiently skillful to pay them.” Within the fi rst 
weeks of enrollment, local landholders asked Superintendent Wellington 
Rich for workers for the upcoming harvest.8

BIA agents hoped that wage labor would help to assimilate the Indians 
and train them to work in an industrial economy. It would also serve a 
cultural function, encouraging, for example, a sexual division of labor that 
approximated that of the Euro-American majority. The BIA placed women 
called fi eld matrons in communities such as South Tucson to that end, 
arguing that domestic labor would train Indian women in the domestic 
arts, preparing them for their future as wives in nuclear family households. 
Such households were deemed crucial in preparing Indians to be good citi-
zens, since women would provide a clean home and moral guidance to 
their children, while eventually the men would earn a family wage. Ac-
cording to Janette Woodruff, who served as Tucson’s fi eld matron from 1915 
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to 1930, the Indians’ position as “servants of the white employer class . . . 
was an essential steppingstone from the desert camps to a more comfort-
able life.” To help promote the formation of proper households, Woodruff 
held training sessions in children’s health and in domestic skills such as 
sewing. She also organized a “girls’ day” in which she attempted to impart 
Anglo standards of social behavior and provided marriage guidance to end 
the common indigenous practice of forming conjugal unions without legal 
sanction (see Chapter 3).9

Predictably, rather than assimilate indigenous men and women, the 
school outing system tended to segregate them permanently into specifi c 
kinds of low-paid, manual labor. In fact, Wellington Rich, the Phoenix In-
dian School superintendent, felt that Indians did not have the intellectual 
capacity of whites, and he doubted whether the students could ever “com-
pete successfully with the white youth of the community in any of the me-
chanic arts, mercantile pursuits, or professions.” He felt that it was better 
to place the Indians in unskilled and semiskilled positions than to harbor 
such lofty goals. Thus, in the spring of 1893, he agreed to hire out a few 
older boys to local farms and construction projects and eleven girls to work 
in Phoenix homes as domestic servants. Rich also supported the desire of 
Phoenix residents to maintain racial segregation and declared, “I have no 
sympathy with the scheme of diffusing the educated Indian youth among 
the whites. They should as a rule, in my opinion, return to their people and 
assist in the civilization of the latter.”10

Rich’s successor, Harwood Hall, carried on a similar program. He under-
stood that “the hiring of Indian youth is not looked upon by the people 
of this valley from a philanthropic standpoint—it is simply a matter of 
business,” but he still enthusiastically treated the school as an “employ-
ment agency, whereby the desiring pupil can secure employment as soon 
as qualifi ed.” In 1896 Hall refi ned the program so that local families would 
pay nothing other than “board, proper care and instruction” for female 
domestic workers. Over the next year, he hired out almost two hundred 
students as domestics and farm workers.11

The development of this “outing system,” as school officials called it, 
signaled a gradual shift in the goals and tactics of the assimilation policy. 
Indeed, by 1900, vocational training and wage labor recruitment would 
largely replace the older goal of converting Indians into small farmers. On 
one hand this was a pragmatic change refl ecting a national shift toward an 
industrialized, wage economy. On the other hand, it refl ected a more sin-
ister change in how government officials viewed Indians. Many officials 
publicly expressed their views that Indians were inherently inferior and 

T4257.indb   48T4257.indb   48 7/19/07   12:12:05 PM7/19/07   12:12:05 PM



from noble savage to second-class citizen 49

could never compete with whites in the capitalist economy. Francis Leupp, 
who became Indian commissioner in 1905, argued that Indians were ra-
cially inferior, and he pointed to the labor system in the South as a model 
to emulate: “Our fi rst duty to the Indian is to teach him to work. . . . Even 
the little papoose can be taught to weed the rows just as the pickaninny in 
the South can be used as a cotton picker.” He soon established a regional 
employment bureau in the Southwest to carry out the plan.12

Reforms in the allotment policy also made it more likely that even in-
dividuals who received allotments would have to work for wages. By the 
turn of the century, many policymakers began to argue that allotment was 
failing to assimilate the Indians. While some blamed the policy, others 
blamed the limited potential of the Indians themselves. Commissioner 
 Leupp explained his philosophy in his 1905 annual report: “The common-
est mistake made by his white well-wishers in dealing with the Indian is 
the assumption that he is simply a white man with red skin.” This mistake 
ignored inherent racial differences and led to the erroneous conclusion that 
Indians would all become self-sufficient farmers.13

This shifting philosophy underlay a series of laws that undermined 
federal protections of allotments just as the BIA began to target the Ari-
zona reservations for severalty. Among the most important reforms was 
the Burke Act of May 1906, introduced by future Indian Commissioner 
Charles Burke. The new law eliminated the mandatory twenty-fi ve-year 
trust period of the Dawes Act, allowing the Interior Department secretary 
to grant immediate fee-simple titles to those allottees deemed “competent 
and capable of managing his or her affairs.” Once these lands were taken 
out of trust status, they would be subject to taxation and could be sold to 
any buyer. The new law also made full citizenship contingent upon the 
transition of allotments to fee-simple status.14 These policies thus both de-
layed the granting of citizenship and made indigenous landholdings more 
vulnerable due to the new expense of maintaining them and their suscep-
tibility to unscrupulous land buyers.

In 1901 the federal government began to develop a plan to allot the rest of 
the reservations in south-central Arizona (only San Xavier had been allot-
ted). The new campaign began with a request by the Arizona Territorial As-
sembly, which hoped to absorb “surplus” Indian territory as public lands or 
for private development. Federal officials fi rst turned their attention to the 
Gila River reservation where the Pimas and Maricopas lived. William H. 
Code, the irrigation engineer on the reservation, proposed that a system of 
pumping stations might eventually furnish enough water to irrigate about 
ten thousand acres of allotments and common lands.

T4257.indb   49T4257.indb   49 7/19/07   12:12:06 PM7/19/07   12:12:06 PM



50 border citizens

The catch was, the stations would have to be paid for by selling off the 
rest of the reservation, which amounted to 180,000 acres. Code was a for-
mer employee of A. J. Chandler, one of the most successful land speculators 
in the Salt River valley, and it was not likely a coincidence that these lands 
were adjacent to Chandler’s 18,000-acre ranch. The rest of the reservation 
would be  allotted into 5-acre plots—far smaller than the 60-acre farms that 
many Pimas and Maricopas traditionally operated, or that the Dawes Act 
had intended. If implemented, the net effect of Code’s plan would be to 
drastically reduce Pima and Maricopa landholdings, transferring most of 
them to Euro-American growers like Chandler.15

While Code began to drill wells on the Gila reservation in anticipation 
of his plan being carried through, BIA officials debated how to proceed 
with Tohono O’odham lands. It bears repeating that the federal govern-
ment had designated only two small reservations for the Tohono O’odham 
in the nineteenth century, at San Xavier and Gila Bend, but the vast ma-
jority of the population (estimates average around six thousand) lived in 
desert rancherías stretching from northern Mexico to the Gila River. The 
BIA sent a special allotting agent to south-central Arizona in 1909 with the 
intention of dividing Tohono O’odham lands into 80-acre parcels of farm-
land and 160-acre plots of grazing land. The plan had the support of some 
Tohono O’odham leaders in the southeastern district, which was occupied 
primarily by the distinct cultural and dialect groups, the Ko-lo:di and the 
eastern Aji. Many were government school graduates and/or had become 
Presbyterians. They also owned most of the cattle. Most Tohono O’odham 
in other regions, however, showed little interest in allotment, and they 
pressured the government to change its plans.16

Along with the new campaign to allot Indian lands, the BIA continued 
to encourage Indians to supplement agriculture with wage work. While the 
Phoenix Indian School continued its outing system, in 1901 Indian agent 
J. M. Berger of the previously allotted San Xavier reservation arranged to 
have Tohono O’odham work on the railroads stretching from California 
to New Mexico. By 1901 as many as 180 Tohono O’odham were employed 
by the railroads, and Berger praised them for their “peaceable and quiet” 
acceptance of low-wage labor ($1.75–$2.25 per day) and for not joining labor 
unions.17

The completion of the Salt River Project in Maricopa County in 1911 
and the subsequent cotton boom dramatically expanded this nascent la-
bor recruitment program. In 1914 Commissioner Cato Sells assigned Frank 
Thackery, superintendent of the Gila River Indian School, to take “general 
supervisory charge of the Indian labor problem in the Salt River valley, 
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particularly as it relates to the growing cotton industry among the white 
farmers.” Sells directed Thackery to cooperate with the Salt River Valley 
Egyptian Cotton Growers Association to “affect a stable system in the em-
ployment of Indian labor with a view of building up a large and permanent 
market for such labor.”18

In assigning Thackery the role of labor agent, Sells simultaneously ac-
commodated politically infl uential growers and implemented an evolving 
assimilation policy. The federal government, which had already trans-
formed the regional political economy by fi nancing the massive Salt River 
Project and granting land to railroads and mining companies, now worked 
to ensure that growers would have access to labor for their newly irrigated 
fi elds. Sells explained in a letter to the superintendent of the Phoenix In-
dian School, “The growing of Egyptian cotton in the Salt River valley and 
vicinity has been developed to a point where its further success depends 
largely upon the ability of this Bureau to supply the growers with a depend-
able amount of Indian labor to assure the proper picking of the increased 
acreage.” Sells felt that accommodating the growers went hand in hand 
with the goal of assimilating the Indians.19

While many BIA officials doubted the inherent abilities of the indig-
enous population, others remained more optimistic, suggesting that wage 
labor would supplement farming on the reservations and encourage as-
similation. These officials tended to emphasize the natural independence, 
adaptability, and relatively sedentary nature of south-central Arizona’s 
indigenous population, suggesting that these qualities made them good 
candidates for eventual status as independent citizen workers.

In the multiethnic environment of Arizona’s borderlands, this optimism 
took an interesting twist. Local BIA officials frequently drew sharp dis-
tinctions between Indians and mestizos, thus helping to construct stricter 
racial boundaries between them than actually existed (see Chapter 3). Mexi-
cans, they argued, had already been degraded by centuries of racial mix-
ing and subordination by oppressive Spanish and Mexican political and 
economic systems. The Indians, by contrast, remained racially, culturally, 
and economically unpolluted, and thus had a promising future as equal 
members of the nation-state.

The boundaries between Indian and ethnic Mexican identity were quite 
fuzzy in Arizona’s borderlands, and drawing them was no easy task. Field 
matrons and other BIA officials struggled to keep the Indians away from 
the corrupting infl uence of mestizos who often lived in the same towns, 
barrios, and even households. San Xavier Superintendent Henry McQuigg 
clarifi ed this goal when he fi rst recommended that a fi eld matron position 
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be established in Tucson. According to McQuigg, the presence of Mexi-
cans, along with that of some poor whites, would threaten the purity of the 
Indian women and their chances for cultural and economic assimilation. 
In his words, “There are many worthless Mexicans and Whites who drift in 
here for a time; and with the pleasure resorts, the wide-open policy of Tuc-
son, etc., the temptations in the way of the Indian girls are pronounced.”20

The fi eld matrons worked within the barrios to identify those whom 
the government recognized as Indians, such as the Tohono O’odham, and 
those it did not, such as Yaquis from Mexico. Jannette Woodruff recalled 
in her memoir that when she fi rst moved to Tucson to take up her post as 
fi eld matron in 1915, a Tohono O’odham police officer showed her around 
the barrio, pointing out where the O’odham lived. When Woodruff asked 
about an adobe house they were passing by, he turned to her and said, “Not 
stop here . . . Mexican. Over there don’t matter neither. Yaqui. He don’t 
matter to Uncle Sam.” Woodruff found these distinctions confusing be-
cause “these foreigners were scattered all through the village, and since 
their houses were of the same style as the Papagos, I had no way of making 
distinctions. I was concerned with the Papagos only.”21 In other words, she 
recognized at least in vague terms, that “Indian” was an artifi cial racial 
distinction that overlooked the similar conditions, close proximity, and 
ties of kinship, language, and culture that many barrio residents shared.

According to certain BIA officials, Mexicans presented a special threat 
to Indians because of their supposedly degraded and immoral character 
and their propensity for interracial mixing.22 Woodruff soon caught on 
to this racial logic. She often complained about Indian girls who were se-
duced and impregnated by “half-breed Mexicans.” She encouraged them 
to escape relationships with unseemly Mexican men, and instead urged 
formal, government-sanctioned marriages with other Indians. In one case, 
for example, she complained of a Tohono O’odham woman who married an 
“uneducated and uncouth . . . swarthy half-breed” who worked and lived 
in a local graveyard. To Woodruff’s relief, the woman eventually left him.23

Frank Thackery, who had been assigned the role of Indian labor agent for 
Arizona cotton growers, also struggled to ensure that Indians kept a safe 
distance from Mexican workers. Using the trope of the degraded Mexican, 
he implied that the threat of wage labor was not so much in low pay or 
poor working conditions but in the character of the Mexican workforce. In 
May 1916, for example, acting upon a request by the New Cornelia Copper 
Company, Commissioner Cato Sells wrote to Thackery and asked if any 
Indians could be supplied for the mines at Ajo. Thackery responded, “If our 
Pima and Papagoes [sic] are to secure employment in the mines they must 
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come in contact with the very worst element of labor, which will contami-
nate and degrade them to the extent of making very undesirable citizens.” 
He suggested that of all the inhabitants of Ajo “fully eighty  percent are 
Mexicans and many of them of the very worst type, whose morals are very 
detrimental to any people who continue to associate with them.” Thackery 
felt that the O’odham would be better served if they continued to work in 
agriculture, and he pointed out that Salt River valley growers were clam-
oring for more workers. He reminded the commissioner, “Our Pima and 
Papago Indians have always been an agricultural and stock raising people.” 
He thought that sending them to the mining camps would be a step back-
ward, while training them in more efficient farming methods through ag-
ricultural wage work “will make of them a hardy and honorable body of 
people of which some day the state of Arizona will be proud to recognize 
as citizens.”24

At times the O’odham themselves manipulated such nativist, anti-Mex-
ican discourse to their own ends. Edwin Santeo, a Tohono O’odham who 
obtained a job as labor recruiter for cotton growers and the BIA, strategi-
cally deployed such rhetoric to press his case for the preservation of jobs 
for O’odham workers. Santeo complained to Thackery that some employers 
were hiring Mexicans and ignoring the rights of the Tohono O’odham 
in “their own land.” He berated the “so called U.S. Indian employment 
agents” for not adequately informing the villages of available work. As he 
put it, “We can not afford to overlook the labor question for our people . . . 
so let us join together and try to save our people and friends from hard 
times before them.” Speaking in nativist terms, Santeo explained, “I don’t 
like to see the cheap labor in the valley by foreigners. It means that the 
Indians will not be able to make their living when hard times come on.” 
 Santeo thus joined the rising groundswell against Mexicans as aliens who 
had no right to take the jobs of legitimate members of the U.S. nation, 
which, he asserted, included the Tohono O’odham.25

l and,  wage l abor ,  and resis tant adap tation : 

the tohono o’odham

In the fall of 1925, a missionary living among the Tohono O’odham wrote 
that most of the residents of Anegam, Cababi, and Santa Rosa left the vil-
lages for several months every year to work for wages on Anglo-owned cot-
ton fi elds. “So great is the demand for their labor and so poor the quality 
of their lands,” he explained, “that they are forced to leave their habitat 
 annually during November, December, and January.”26 Only a few years 
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later, ethnographer Ruth Underhill offered a seemingly contradictory pic-
ture of the very same villages, characterizing them as the most “isolated” 
and “traditional” of all the O’odham communities. Indeed, when  Underhill 
arrived in Arizona in 1931 to study the O’odham, she was attracted to the 
Santa Rosa district precisely because she perceived it to be secluded and 
culturally pristine. As she would explain, these villages were the “strong-
hold of the old morality and ceremonies.” “There,” she wrote on another 
occasion, “Papago was spoken in its ancient dialects. There I might fi nd 
parts of the past, still alive.”27

These two observations may seem contradictory on the surface, but only 
if modernization and tradition are understood as dichotomous. As com-
mercial cotton-farming boomed in the 1910s and ’20s, growing numbers 
of Tohono O’odham began to move seasonally between their villages and 
the cotton fi elds. Most returned frequently to their desert rancherías where 
they continued, when conditions allowed it, to farm, raise cattle, and re-
establish cultural and kinship bonds. The BIA policy of encouraging the 
Tohono O’odham to take up wage work thus failed to assimilate or inte-
grate them into the surrounding society, instead permitting them to create 
a unique niche within the political economy of south-central Arizona—
one that would ultimately reinforce, rather than undermine, their sense of 
themselves as a distinct people.28

Of course, long before the BIA developed a system of labor recruitment 
at the turn of the twentieth century, the Tohono O’odham had engaged 
in a pattern of rotational movement between villages, missions, and Euro-
American-owned mines and farms. The Tohono O’odham historically prac-
ticed ak chin agriculture (see Chapter 1), planting a variety of crops in the 
deltas of ephemeral desert streams in order to take advantage of summer 
rains, and then moving between mountain spring villages and desert gath-
ering camps for the remainder of the year. As early as the late eighteenth 
century, the O’odham of northern Sonora worked in mission communities 
such as San Xavier del Bac and Tumacácori, but the number of individuals 
residing at the missions never exceeded much more than one hundred at a 
time, and most lived in the missions only temporarily before returning to 
their home villages.29 Many Tohono O’odham also historically worked for 
other O’odham for payment in kind. Alonso Flores, whose family owned an 
allotment on the San Xavier reservation at the turn of the century, recalled 
how “the Santa Rosa people, that’s what they call those people out there in 
the country . . . used to come down and help us, because we raised wheat 
and barley and beans.” To reimburse them, he and his family would either 
pay them with a “share of the crops” or “if we had the money to pay them, 
we would go ahead and pay them with the money.”30
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From the Spanish occupation to the U.S. territorial period, more and 
more Tohono O’odham took up wage work. As early as the 1850s, O’odham 
men often worked in mines at Patagonia, Tubac, and Ajo.31 Hundreds also 
worked for Mexican and Anglo ranchers who lived along the San Pedro and 
Santa Cruz rivers, where women would work as domestics, grind wheat, 
and/or carry wood and water, and men would handle the cattle. By the 
end of the century, others worked on the railroads and in other capacities 
throughout the Southwest.32

Only in the southeastern districts of the Tohono O’odham territory, 
which was occupied mostly by the distinct cultural and dialect groups 
of the Ko-lo:di and the eastern Aji, did signifi cant numbers of Tohono 
O’odham manage to avoid wage work by raising large cattle herds. Around 
the turn of the twentieth century, many Mexican Ko-lo:di moved north 
to Arizona from Sonora, bringing cattle and ranching skills with them. 
Livestock would help this group avoid dependence upon the wage economy. 
Their distinct economic niche also had cultural signifi cance, since those 
families who engaged in commercial ranching were generally more recep-
tive to the prospect of private property and began to abandon the older prac-
tice of village government by consensus. By the early 1900s, many Ko-lo:di 
and eastern Aji in the district were also becoming Presbyterians, respond-
ing to missionaries who were active in the area.33

The growing divergence between O’odham who depended upon a com-
bination of ak chin farming and wage work and O’odham who had be-
come commercial ranchers in their own right led to disagreements over 
the future of Tohono O’odham lands. In the fi rst decade of the century, a 
Presbyterian missionary named Frazier Herndon persuaded some converts 
among the Ko-lo:di and Aji to press for allotment as a way to protect their 
lands from outside encroachment. Herndon hoped that allotment would 
concentrate the population and thus facilitate conversions, and he helped 
to convince the BIA to send an agent to initiate the process. Soon, however, 
the allotment agent ran into resistance from O’odham from other districts, 
including Aji villagers further to the west and north, where ak chin farm-
ing remained common. Some of these villagers actively resisted allotment 
by pulling up survey markers.34

By 1913 the BIA put its allotment plans on indefi nite hold for several 
reasons. First, those O’odham who had resisted allotment surveys made it 
clear that the process would be more cumbersome than anticipated. Sec-
ond, some local BIA officials questioned whether the arid desert lands of 
the Tohono O’odham lent themselves to severalty, since irrigable land was 
scarce and even lands along ephemeral streams were only productive for 
short periods of time before the O’odham had to move to the winter vil-
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lages. More important, however, was that in 1913 Arizona Senator Marcus 
Smith, with the support of Arizona’s newly organized state government, 
successfully added a clause to the 1913 Indian Appropriations Act declar-
ing that no more land would be allotted on Arizona’s public domain. The 
new state government argued that enough of its lands was already con-
trolled by the federal government, and it hoped to reserve Tohono O’odham 
lands for exploitation by commercial ranchers and miners.35

Still, it became increasingly clear to both the Tohono O’odham and  local 
BIA officials that something had to be done to protect O’odham lands. Many 
Mexican-American and Anglo ranchers were claiming Tohono O’odham 
lands as their own. Moreover, conditions for those who lived on previously 
designated reservations or allotted lands were rapidly deteriorating. At San 
Xavier, allottees suffered from a decreasing water supply due to overgraz-
ing, dredging, and diversions from the Santa Cruz River. The Gila Bend 
reservation was in even worse shape because of upriver diversions.36

The BIA assigned the superintendent of the Gila River reservation, 
Frank Thackery, to seek a new solution. Thackery, who already felt that the 
arid lands of the Tohono O’odham were unsuited to allotment, helped to 
or ganize a committee of eight members to study conditions in the ran-
cherías. The Committee of Eight was made up of Thackery himself, Tohono 
O’odham leaders Jose X. Pablo and Hugh Norris, and both the Presbyterian 
missionary Frazier Herndon and the Catholic missionary  Bonaventure 
Oblasser, among others. Both Norris and Pablo had been educated in gov-
ernment schools and were Presbyterian Ko-lo:di who had earlier supported 
allotment but now hoped to fi nd another way to protect O’odham lands 
from non-Indian incursions. To enlist the support of other O’odham, they 
worked through a new organization of southeastern Aji and Ko-lo:di called 
the Good Government League (GGL). The GGL called public meetings and 
convinced 111 O’odham to sign a petition asking for protection by the fed-
eral government. The Committee of Eight then presented a joint recom-
mendation to the Indian commissioner in August 1915, arguing that the 
best way to protect grazing lands and to preserve dispersed Tohono O’odham 
farmlands was to establish a new reservation. They stressed the point that 
the Tohono O’odham had always avoided dependence on government annui-
ties, and that a reservation would ensure that they could continue to do so.37

The politically savvy Thackery courted Salt River valley growers for 
support, reminding them of their dependence upon seasonal Indian labor. 
Since cotton growers only needed pickers for several months out of the year, 
the committee reasoned that the rancherías should be protected, offering 
the Tohono O’odham a place to return when the picking season ended. They 
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explicitly linked the idea of a reservation to the larger goal of encouraging 
work discipline and proper gender roles, arguing that a reservation, com-
bined with seasonal wage work, would promote the “industry, individual-
ity, and manhood” of O’odham men.38

The committee’s report persuaded Indian Commissioner Cato Sells to 
recommend the creation of a new reservation, but this was not the end of the 
story. President Woodrow Wilson established a reservation by executive or-
der in January 1916, but soon thereafter a coalition of Arizonans, primarily 
from Pima County where most of the reservation was situated, protested 
the move. Euro-American and Mexican-American cattlemen, the Tucson 
and Casa Grande chambers of commerce, and the Chamber of Mines led 
the assault, complaining both about the loss of access to O’odham lands 
and about the loss of potential tax income. Race was central to their argu-
ment. In a 61-page report they argued that “just as many white people, 
every whit as industrious and deserving as these Indians, would appreciate 
a similar princely gift from the government. . . . If this land is ever to be 
made worth a dollar for any purpose whatever, enterprising, hustling, go-
ahead white men will do it.”39

To challenge the opposition, Thackery intensifi ed his effort to enlist 
support from cotton growers who employed Tohono O’odham workers. In 
a letter to Bonaventure Oblasser he asked for assistance in recruiting “at 
least 1,000 Papago pickers by the latter part of September or the fi rst part 
of October,” arguing that “the amount of cash they will receive in wages 
is not nearly so important to their people as it will be to further establish 
a good name for themselves as morally strong people who are honest and 
efficient workers.” He concluded that “it is an opportunity to prove that 
no mistake was made in recently recognizing their landed rights by giving 
them a large reservation.”40

As Thackery had hoped, Arizona cotton growers provided decisive 
political support for a reservation. John Buchitt of the Tempe Cotton Ex-
change wrote personally to Senator Carl Hayden, arguing that without the 
reservation, “the Papagoes [sic] would be compelled to move, and as they 
are needed, in fact necessary, in the development of our cotton industry I 
sincerely hope that you will do all you can to prevent any reduction in the 
size of their holdings.”41

In 1917 President Wilson signed a compromise measure to resolve the 
confl ict over the reservation once and for all. Wilson issued a new execu-
tive order that cut the reservation into two parts divided by a 475,000-acre 
strip that was to serve as the site of a new road between Tucson and Ajo. 
He also removed several other sections from the reservation that had been 
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occupied by Mexican-American and Euro-American ranchers and left the 
reservation open to non-Indian mining patents. Even with the reduction 
in size, the new Papago or Sells reservation represented a signifi cant—if 
only partial—victory for the Tohono O’odham and their supporters. In 
their struggle to protect their lands, the Tohono O’odham had succeeded 
in establishing one of the three largest reservations in the country in the 
middle of the allotment era. Perhaps counterintuitively, it was the actions 
of Anglo cotton growers that proved decisive. In June an assistant to the 
state attorney general proclaimed that Thackery’s enlistment of support 
by cotton growers had been critical, since he had “demonstrat[ed] that the 
Papago Indians are of economic value to Arizona through getting them to 
become cotton pickers.”42

After the reservation was established, other contentious issues re-
mained. The BIA planned to make cattle ranching, rather than farming, 
the economic foundation of the reservation even though many villagers 
preferred to continue traditional forms of ak chin agriculture. Through-
out the 1910s government surveys estimated that the O’odham planted 
between nine to ten thousand acres using ak chin methods. To encour-
age a transition to ranching, the government dug twenty-nine new deep 
wells, four shallow wells, and thirty-one charcos (water tanks for cattle) on 
the Sells and San Xavier reservations between 1917 and 1933. While some 
O’odham, such as the cattle-ranching Ko-lo:di and Aji on the southeast 
portion of the reservation, encouraged this economic program, others put 
up concerted resistance.43

Some Tohono O’odham objected to the construction of wells altogether, 
since they understood that it was the fi rst step in preparing the villages 
for conversion to a livestock-based economy. For example, at the western 
Aji village of Ge Oidag (Big Fields) the O’odham complained both that a 
new well would cost too much and that it was designed to put an end to 
ak chin farming methods. Such practices had cultural as well as economic 
signifi cance. Big Fields was the location of one of the largest yearly nawait 
ceremonies, which many O’odham viewed as essential to their way of life 
(the Himdag) because it ensured that the rains fell on their fi elds every 
summer. During the ceremony, O’odham men drank saguaro cactus wine, 
called nawait, produced by O’odham women and then purged themselves 
with vomiting in order to “bring down the clouds.” The O’odham at the 
village refused to cease the practice despite persistent calls by BIA officials 
to end it, and they viewed plans to build the well as part of an attack on 
their culture. Only after persistent pressure, and after the BIA retracted its 
demand that the villagers would have to pay for the new well, did the local 
headman agree that the government could proceed to build it.44
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Because of the ephemeral nature of ak chin agriculture, which relied 
upon the rainwater runoff from later summer storms, the Tohono O’odham 
from farming villages increasingly supplemented their household econo-
mies with off-reservation wage work. Those who owned little or no cattle 
were most receptive to working for wages, but only if the work did not 
under mine the viability of the villages. As Tohono O’odham labor recruiter 
Edwin Santeo began to seek potential workers for the cotton industry in 
the mid-1910s, he found that local headmen were willing to encourage the 
residents in their rancherías to work off-reservation only if they were per-
mitted, in Santeo’s words, “enough time to make arrangements for their 
own crops before they go.”45

Tohono O’odham from Mexico also responded to the demand for wage-
workers, ignoring the international boundary that divided their homeland. 
In Mexico, Tohono O’odham lived in communities such as Sonoíta, El 
 Carrizo, and Pozo Verde, just south of the border. Johnson José remem-
bered, “O’odham would cross the boundary to the north, work and earn 
their money. There were no problems crossing the boundary. When the 
harvest was over they would return south.” Reyes Salcido, who grew up in 
 Sonoíta, remembered similarly that her father crossed the border frequently 
to work in Arizona: “The boundary meant nothing to us. We would travel 
back and forth, north to south and south to north, in wagons and later in 
cars without any problems.”46

Off-reservation wage work thus did not fundamentally undermine the 
cultural or political structure of the villages. Within families that com-
bined ak chin farming with seasonal wage work, traditional patrilocal 
resi dence patterns remained common. In Santa Rosa, which produced cot-
ton pickers in large numbers, women continued to move into or near the 
households of their husbands’ families well into the 1930s. The distribu-
tion of fi elds among the villagers was still the responsibility of all-male 
village councils. Rather than a strict division between male producer and 
female homemaker, husband and wife tended to the family fi eld together. 
Women also continued to gather cactus fruit and trade pottery, baskets, 
and other items, while other family members worked for wages in the 
cotton fi elds and mines, on the railroads, and in Tucson. These adapta-
tions defi ed the BIA’s policy of transforming the O’odham economy and 
 encouraging nuclear family households with a stricter division of labor be-
tween male breadwinners and female homemakers. They also explain why 
Ruth  Underhill could describe Santa Rosa as one of the most “traditional” 
villages on the reservation.47

James McCarthy’s family provides a good example of how off-reservation 
wage work and a fl exible, sexual division of labor could preserve rather than 
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undermine ties to the reservation villages. In the 1920s McCarthy (who had 
adopted this name as a soldier during World War I) left the reservation 
to work along the Pacifi c coast from California to Alaska, sending wages 
back to his family in southern Arizona. Meanwhile, his mother, sister, and 
brother remained in Arizona, farming and raising a few cattle on the ran-
chería while seasonally picking cotton for the Goodyear Company farms 
in the Salt River valley. Eventually McCarthy returned to his family. He 
explained that “as farm workers, we were paid $1.50 a day and board. All 
the money we made we put into one bank—my mother. Any time one of 
us needed some money, we went to her.” McCarthy supplemented his fam-
ily’s agricultural income with more lucrative work in the copper mining 
town of Ajo. Throughout the 1920s and into the 1930s, this pattern allowed 
the family to retain close ties to the reservation, and thus to resist BIA 
 attempts to assimilate them.48

Some families depended more upon the wage work of women than men. 
The records of Tucson fi eld matrons reveal that while some work was avail-
able to O’odham men in the city, almost twice as many positions were 
open to women. In 1913 the superintendent at San Xavier noted that fi eld 
 matron Lydia Gibbs had helped over sixty O’odham women to obtain jobs 
in  Tucson homes. As he explained, “There are 31 girls and 32 women work-
ing in town. The women are married and do washing at their homes and 
also work at times in private families.”49 One Tohono O’odham woman 
who lived and worked in Tucson in the 1900s and 1910s recalled, “I guess 
there was lots of work for women because everybody worked. . . . They 
worked out among the people, like I said, washing and ironing and all 
that stuff—making maybe tortillas for the Mexicans and . . . for the white 
people.”50

Janette Woodruff noted that work in Tucson was a part of a larger eco-
nomic strategy. In 1918 the O’odham population in Tucson varied season-
ally from about 175 to 275. As she explained it, “From January until along 
in the spring it is on the increase . . . many coming from the country to 
work in town. . . . All found steady work and good wages, saving their 
money and buying what they need when they return to their homes in the 
country.” As the cotton industry boomed a decade later, Woodruff noted 
that the majority of those households added a new element to this seasonal 
pattern, with entire families leaving to work in the cotton fi elds during the 
harvesting season from October through January.51

Women who lived for extended periods in Tucson and those who worked 
there only briefl y often retained close connections to their home villages, 
where extended family members remained to care for livestock and/or 
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subsistence farms. One girl who periodically moved to Tucson so that 
her mother could work as a domestic recalled that they would return ev-
ery year to Santa Rosa for All Souls’ Day and again during the August 
rainy season to help their relatives plant beans and other crops. A woman 
named Frances Manuel left her children on the reservation in the care of 
her mother-in-law while she took up domestic work in Tucson and while 
her husband worked for the railroad. As Manuel recalled, “I came back to 
the village every weekend, then pretty soon we went every two weeks. . . . 
I had my house there on the reservation; everything was the same because 
we had my mother-in-law there, and the beds were made.”52

The extra income provided O’odham women with the opportunity to 
help their families in the villages or to escape their family’s strict oversight 
of their behavior. In one case, according to Janette Woodruff, a woman “had 
saved money enough to build a house for her parents on the reservation.” 
In another a woman who “was put out of her home by her father because 
she bobbed her hair . . . came to my place and stayed with me all night. 
Her father came to try and have her return home, but she would not.” On 
the same day, “another girl went to her home in the village with the under-
standing if her people were not good to her I could put her in a home where 
she could earn good wages and have a good home.” While Woodruff’s inter-
pretations of these women’s actions must be read critically, since one of her 
goals was to loosen their ties to the reservation, it appears that domestic 
labor served as an important alternative for some O’odham women to de-
pendence upon their families or on O’odham men, and as an inroad to the 
diverse social and cultural life of the cities.53

Many Tohono O’odham women who worked in Tucson continued to 
attend seasonal fi estas and ceremonies outside of town, often to the con-
sternation of both their employers and BIA officials. One Tucson fi eld ma-
tron noted in frustration that during a December fi esta at San Xavier she 
received many complaints about Indians who did not show up for work. 
During the week of December 3–7 she found the O’odham village in South 
Tucson almost deserted. Complaining that “the Indian . . . lacks appli-
cation or ‘sticking’ qualities,” she noted that he/she “will leave a good job, 
to attend a fi esta, or picnic, regardless of the plight in which he leaves his 
employer.”54

Tohono O’odham women thus often resisted the strict work regimen 
 encouraged by BIA officials and informally negotiated the terms of their 
labor with their employers. In one case, Woodruff complained that “fi ve 
girls . . . hired an auto and went . . . to San Xavier to a dance, return-
ing at 5 o’clock in the morning” and “not one of their employers knew 
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they were gone.” Other O’odham women took frequent sick days off, 
quit without notice, or simply disappeared for several days. Exasperated, 
Woodruff exclaimed, “It is surprising what some of the white women 
take from the Indian girls in order to be nice to them so they will not 
leave.”55

While women were more likely than men to fi nd wage work in  Tucson, 
men were more likely to fi nd it in the mining towns. Men living in Mexi-
can border towns such as Sonoíta, and in the western rancherías on the 
Sells reservation, could earn some of the highest and steadiest wages 
available to them just west of the reservation at Ajo (though they earned 
lower wages there than any other ethnic group). As with agricultural or 
day labor, many men worked at Ajo only temporarily and then returned 
to their villages or left to fi nd other jobs. Into the 1930s the New Cornelia 
Company capitalized on this tenuous connection with the mining towns 
by not building homes for its O’odham workers. Instead, it leased plots of 
undeveloped land to the Indians, who had to construct their own housing 
at Ajo Indian village.56

While these conditions were highly exploitative, the availability of 
wage work outside of Ajo at least allowed O’odham men to protest with 
their feet when they no longer were willing to tolerate poor treatment. In 
the late 1920s James McCarthy was injured three times doing heavy work 
such as drilling, shoveling, and moving track. Because “the company did 
not give me any pay while I was resting,” he left to work in the San Joa-
quin Valley in California for a season before returning to Arizona to work 
on the railroad and in the cotton fi elds. Peter Blaine, who would serve as 
the chairman of the Papago Tribal Council in the 1940s, recalled similar 
experiences at Ajo. After repeatedly being denied a job as a driller, he too 
eventually left to take up wage work elsewhere.57

In at least one case, the Tohono O’odham at Ajo put up more direct 
resistance to the unequal working and living conditions. In early Decem-
ber 1916 over one hundred O’odham workers went on strike, joining Mexi-
can American and Euro-American workers to protest low wages and poor 
working and living conditions. According to the Arizona Labor Journal, 
130 O’odham joined the local union. Eventually, the strike was put down 
when 150 troops from the 14th Infantry entered Ajo on December 20 (see 
Chapter 4).58 While there is no recorded evidence that the Tohono O’odham 
participated in organized labor activism at Ajo again, in the years after the 
strike, they resumed their practice of periodically working in the mines 
while dividing subsistence and wage labor responsibilities between family 
members and preserving ties to the rancherías.
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water ,  allotment,  and resis tance 

on the gil a river reservation

The BIA’s policy of using allotment and wage labor as the best way to free 
the Indians from ward status and to promote independence and  citizenship 
was perhaps most paradoxical in its application to the Pimas and  Maricopas. 
For these groups, independence had always been based upon access to the 
free-fl owing waters of the Gila River and its tributaries. It was difficult to 
deny the role that upriver diversions in towns like  Solomonville,  Florence, 
and Safford had played in disrupting the river’s fl ow. Some Pima and 
 Maricopa leaders exploited this contradiction by directly confronting the 
federal government, and by skillfully utilizing the BIA’s own assimilation 
rhetoric to point out that it was government policy, or government inac-
tion, that was undermining their independence and industry.

As the name Akimel O’odham (river people) suggests, a certain kind of 
labor, namely, farming with the natural fl ow of the river, was an important 
element of Pima identity. George Webb, a Pima who grew up on the Gila 
reservation, remembered the critical role that the river played for the Pimas 
before upriver diversions and erosion. He explained that every morning as 
the sun began to rise, “the Pimas were out in the fi elds with their shovels. 
They would fan out and lead the water to the alfalfa, along the corn rows, 
and over to the melons.” Webb used the metaphor of a blackbird that would 
not sing without the sound of the fl owing river to explain the impact that 
the dying Gila had on his people. When the river still fl owed, “the red-wing 
blackbirds would sing in the trees and fl y down to look for bugs along the 
ditches. Their song always means that there is water close by, as they will 
not sing if there is not water splashing somewhere.”59

Even as the Gila’s waters fell to a trickle in the 1890s and early 1900s, 
most Pimas and Maricopas initially rejected wage work, choosing to re-
main on their reservations to attempt either to farm or to subsist from the 
land through other means, such as cutting and selling mesquite for fence 
posts and fuel. As early as 1905, Pimas and Maricopas were cutting and 
selling nearly twelve thousand cords of wood every year.60 Some tried paid 
farmwork only to reject it and return to the reservation. George Webb, for 
example, worked in 1917 as a ranch hand in the Glendale area of the Salt 
River valley. He soon quit his job and returned to Gila Crossing—one of 
the few places where the Gila still rose to the surface through an alluvial 
spring—to attempt to farm and raise cattle. In his memoir, while he ac-
knowledged that much of the Gila reservation had been reduced from a 
rich agricultural area “where everything used to be green” to “acres of des-
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ert” and “miles of dust,” he explained that most Pimas “had never worked 
for wages. They chose to stay on the Reservation. It was their home.”61

A few, usually those who had attended government schools, followed an-
other path, choosing to abandon the reservation altogether. Despite the se-
vere problems on the reservation, this decision was never easy. Anna Shaw, 
who had attended the Gila River Indian School, felt that the  decision she 
and her husband made to move to Phoenix in 1920 involved the rejection of 
an important part of their identity. As she would later explain in her auto-
biography, “Back in 1920 when Ross and I were hopeful young newlyweds, 
we had but two alternatives—farming in wretched poverty on the reserva-
tion or working hard to get ahead at a city job in the white man’s world.” 
Shaw recalled with regret that the economic situation on the reservation 
gave them no real option. In her own words, “We, of course, chose the lat-
ter, but in doing so we had to give up the opportunity to be with other In-
dians on our own land and share in our proud Pima-Maricopa heritage. We 
had to live like white men.”62

Still, Pima and Maricopa identity was not as infl exible as these stories 
might seem to suggest, and many reservation leaders attempted to fi nd a 
middle ground between the extremes of either wholesale abandonment of 
or persistence in an unchanging way of life. By the early twentieth cen-
tury, Pimas and Maricopas had already undergone dramatic changes. They 
had been actively engaged with the American market economy for sixty 
years through their production of wheat and other crops. Many had become 
Presbyterians, and hundreds had attended government day schools and/or 
boarding schools. Change did not necessarily imply an abandonment of 
their identity. They were asking for a reasonable federal policy that would 
preserve their access to the Gila River’s water and allow the reservation to 
remain economically viable.

Unfortunately, what the government had in mind was far from reason-
able. Throughout the fi rst decade of the twentieth century, the BIA  prepared 
to enact William Code’s 1902 plan to allot the reservation into 5-acre plots 
and sell off 180,000 acres of so-called surplus lands on the western portion 
of the reservation to pay for groundwater pumps to the east. The Pimas 
and Maricopas put up a concerted fi ght against the plan. Antonito Azul, 
who by the turn of the century had become known as the head chief of 
the Pima nation due to his visible public role as a negotiator with the 
surrounding Euro-American population, adamantly rejected the land-for-
water deal. In 1906 Azul argued that 5-acre allotments, without a substan-
tial area of common grazing land and sufficient access to river water, were 
too small to ensure independence from government support. He protested to 
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Congress in 1906, “All our people ask for is enough of water to irrigate from 
25 to 30 acres to the family and enough of desert land to supply them with 
fi rewood and some pasture, so that they, as formerly, can earn their living.” 
He also argued that if the Pimas were forced to rely on groundwater pumps, 
as Code hoped, their farms would suffer from alkali buildup and lose the 
benefi t of the river’s natural fertilizers.63

Azul and other Pima leaders skillfully used the rhetoric of early-
twentieth-century Indian policy—about the importance of avoiding depen-
dency on the government—to make their point. “Of course,” he said, “we 
want the Government to give us water, but we want good river water—a 
water that will fertilize land and produce good crops, by which we can 
make our own living and be independent. We do not want to be dependent 
upon the Government for subsistence.”64 He thus turned the rhetoric of the 
assimilation policy on its head, arguing that it was government policy, and 
not Indian laziness, that threatened to undermine the very qualities that 
Euro-Americans touted as necessary for full citizenship.

In 1911 the issue of water allocation and allotment became urgent as 
Commissioner of Indian Affairs R. G. Valentine began to enact a slightly re-
vised version of William Code’s plan. Valentine ordered Charles E.  Rioblin, 
a special allotting agent, to begin allotting fi ve acres each to heads of fam-
ily on the Gila reservation and fi ve acres to the spouse of each household 
head. Once these lands were allotted, fi ve acres would be distributed to 
single men with “preference being given to those able to utilize the allot-
ment”—a vague stipulation that Pimas and Maricopas interpreted to mean 
that some men, children, and single women might end up with nothing. 
Water would be supplied through a series of groundwater pumps, rather 
than from the natural fl ow of the Gila.65

Pima and Maricopa leaders once again sharply condemned the plan. 
Many of them farmed sixty acres or more, so fi ve-acre allotments would 
drastically reduce their holdings. In 1911 Azul wrote Congress an “appeal 
to justice” in which he directly criticized W. H. Code, the irrigation engi-
neer, and J. B. Alexander, the Indian agent who had been stationed at the 
Gila reservation between 1902 and 1911. Specifi cally, he condemned both 
men’s claims that “the east end of the reservation [was] enough for the In-
dians, leaving the west end—the best part, and that near the ranch of some 
18,000 acres belonging to Code’s friend and business associate, Chandler—
for the white people.” Azul’s claim that the western portion of the reserva-
tion had the best lands was confi rmed by Willis Lee, an engineer with the 
Geological Survey. Lee argued that pumps would best be installed in the 
west because underground water sources were closer to the surface there. 

T4257.indb   65T4257.indb   65 7/19/07   12:12:10 PM7/19/07   12:12:10 PM



66 border citizens

But Code ignored such concerns, seemingly confi rming Azul’s accusations 
that he was more interested in opening the reservation to land barons like 
Chandler than solving the water crisis on the reservation.66

The Pimas and Maricopas had the support of some Euro-Americans in 
the Casa Grande valley, who agreed that federal reclamation policy had 
primarily helped large land speculators like Chandler rather than smaller 
farmers. Thomas Weedin, a journalist in the Casa Grande valley, argued that 
the nature of the commercial agricultural boom in Arizona was a threat 
to the Indians and white small farmers alike. Moreover, he argued that, 
by usurping the Indians’ rights to the Gila, Euro-Americans in effect en-
couraged the Indians to resort to “mendicancy and vice.” Weedin correctly 
pointed out that the depressed status of the indigenous population was 
not due to racial inferiority but was rather the result of the government’s 
ill-advised policies and the nature of industrial agriculture. He reminded 
his readers that the Pimas and Maricopas had until recently been “the 
only successful irrigators in Arizona.” Their crisis, he explained, had be-
gun with the diversion of the Gila’s waters. The Reclamation Bureau had 
passed up its chance to rectify this situation when it constructed a dam on 
the Salt River rather than the Gila, largely because of the lobbying power 
of commercial growers like Chandler and the infl uence of William Code. 
In the case of the Pimas and Maricopas, then, the government was engaged 
not in “elevating a savage tribe” but in promoting “the destruction of a 
civilization already attained.”67

Some Pima and Maricopa leaders also astutely recognized that they 
would strengthen their hand by linking the interests of Euro-American 
farmers to their own. The politically savvy Azul argued that there was 
enough water in the Gila to “mak[e] thousands of happy homes for us Pimas 
and for the whites besides, at a small expense to the Government, which 
years ago was the steadfast friend of the Pimas, but not of late years.”68

Not all indigenous leaders, however, conformed to this strategy. Others 
demanded that their access to the free-fl owing river be renewed, regardless 
of the impact on Euro-American farmers. In 1908 the U.S. Supreme Court 
had decided in Winters v. the United States that Indians enjoyed “reserved 
rights” to the waters on their homelands. This decision, in theory, should 
have allowed the Pimas and Maricopas to sue upstream diverters. Follow-
ing the Winters doctrine, 444 Pimas and Maricopas signed a petition de-
manding the restoration of “our river water.” Pima leaders such as Kisto 
Morago and Harvey Cawker formed the Pima Business Committee in De-
cember 1911, arguing that the Winters doctrine guaranteed an amount of 
water equal to the free fl ow of the Gila: the water was “still ours, and such 
water would cost us nothing.”69
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In response to the outcry by hundreds of Pimas and Maricopas, the BIA, 
Arizona’s attorney general, and Senator Carl Hayden explored the possi-
bility of using the Winters doctrine to fi le suits against those who had 
diverted the Gila’s water. Both the BIA and Senator Carl Hayden, however, 
decided not to support litigation. Hayden did not want to pit the claims 
of Indians to water against Euro-American claims. He was so adamant 
on this point that he argued, despite evidence to the contrary, that it was 
solely environmental change and not upriver diversions that had disrupted 
the fl ow of the river.70

Indian resistance, however, did persuade the federal government to sus-
pend Code’s allotment plan. In 1912 the House Subcommittee on Expendi-
tures in the Interior Department began its own investigation of conditions 
on the reservation. Shortly thereafter it concluded that A. J. Chandler and 
other speculators had indeed infl uenced Code to act on their behalf. In 1913 
Code resigned. Senators Hayden and Ashurst then pushed a new, joint-use 
solution that would theoretically address the problems of the indigenous 
and Euro-American farmers alike. In June 1914 they introduced a bill to pur-
sue the construction of a major dam and reservoir on the Gila to be called 
the San Carlos Project. Hayden asserted that the interests of Euro-American 
farmers would be advanced by publicizing the Indians’ crisis on the reser-
vation. “Our best, and in fact our only avenue of approach,” he declared, 
“is by reason of the fact that the Pima Indians will be benefi ted.” He hoped 
that such an approach would win over Western politicians who might other-
wise oppose a second major federal reclamation project in Arizona.71

Meanwhile, the government initiated a new allotment program that 
would protect a far greater area of land. While Code’s plan had called for 
only 5-acre allotments totaling ten thousand acres, between 1914 and 1922 
the government divided more than ninety-six thousand acres into allot-
ments, with most Pimas and Maricopas securing rights to two 10-acre al-
lotments each. Only one of each of the  allotments had water rights, leav-
ing the other for grazing cattle. The allotments were to remain in trust for 
twenty-fi ve years, meaning that the Indians could not sell the land, and the 
property could not be taxed or mortgaged. The latter stipulation, from the 
Dawes Act, was designed to protect the allotments while the Indians be-
gan their farming operations. These allotments represented a victory over 
Code’s much less generous plan. Still, for many Pimas and Maricopas, 20-
acre tracts were far smaller than the 60-acre farms they had maintained in 
the past.72

Unfortunately, the BIA failed to secure the other crucial ingredient 
for successful farming: water. As World War I began, Congress shifted at-
tention from domestic to international concerns, and interest in the San 
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Carlos Project waned. Eventually, even Carl Hayden pressed for a more mod-
est proposal that would combine smaller dams and ditches with ground-
water pumping. Over the next ten years, the government constructed two 
new diversion dams as a part of the Florence Casa Grande Project, but up-
river diversions, fl ooding, and the failure to recognize Pima and Maricopa 
reserved water rights left only a minority able to make a living by farming 
throughout the 1920s. Only in 1924 would discussion of the San Carlos 
Project resume.73

Partly because of the new irrigation works and partly because of a period 
of increased rainfall, Pima and Maricopa allottees managed to cultivate an 
average of sixteen thousand acres between 1910 and 1914 and thirty-two 
thousand acres between 1915 and 1919. Some even began to grow their own 
long-staple cotton and sell it on the market.74 Thus, at the precise moment 
that the demand for their labor skyrocketed, many Pimas and Maricopas 
could once again subsist without resorting to wage labor in large, Euro-
American–owned cotton fi elds.75

By the early 1920s, however, declining conditions on the Gila reserva-
tion once again put new pressures on Pimas and Maricopas to work for 
wages on off-reservation farms. The decade began with an economic de-
pression (1920–1921) followed by several years of drought. The new super-
intendent of the Pima agency, A. F. Duclos, pointed out that the renewed 
water crisis resulted in the decline of the indigenous system of production 
and distribution. The Pimas and Maricopas had once operated an efficient 
system whereby “each village had a subchief, a water boss, and necessary 
assistants” who organized and oversaw fi eld production, permitting them 
to raise “thousands of bushels of grain and beans.” Now, no amount of 
exposure to the agricultural techniques of the Euro-American commercial 
growers could rectify the underlying problem: “The water of the Gila River 
that made their fi eld production possible is no longer available.”76

Predictably, without a solution to the water shortage, allotment failed 
to solve the problems of the Pimas and Maricopas—or, for that matter, to 
assimilate them. Rather than question the allotment policy and the di-
version of the Gila’s waters by Euro-Americans, Commissioner Burke ex-
plained that off-reservation cotton-picking would “very largely solve the 
problem [of] frequently recurring periods of distress”—distress that he ad-
mitted was due to the lack of water. As a warning to those who refused to 
accept his offer to make “a better living outside,” Burke explained that he 
would no longer “continue to ask Congress for relief.” He thus continued 
to follow the logic that had spurred him to sponsor the Burke Act of 1906, 
which had ended the mandatory twenty-fi ve-year trust period for recipients 
of allotments. In effect, he viewed the combination of the crisis on the 
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reservation and the labor demand on nearby industrial farms as an oppor-
tunity to convert the Indians into wageworkers, and thus to end the ward 
status of the Pimas and Maricopas.77

Despite ever-worsening conditions, many Pimas and Maricopas contin-
ued to avoid seasonal cotton-picking. In 1923 Duclos granted the Indians 
under his jurisdiction the right to cut and sell wood, “which has enabled 
them to come through the winter with very little assistance.” According 
to Duclos, only a small number of Indians were willing to work as farm 
laborers. Other Pima and Maricopa wageworkers sought better-paying jobs 
closer to home—on the new federally funded irrigation works, on the rail-
roads, or in the construction of a new smelter for the Magma Copper Com-
pany in Superior, Arizona. For the time being, then, the Pimas and Mari-
copas avoided the same kind of large-scale participation in the agricultural 
wage economy as the Tohono O’odham, maintaining a distinct niche in 
the regional political economy.78

In 1924 Congress passed the Indian Citizenship Act. Some scholars have 
viewed the law as a big step toward admitting Indians into the national 
polity as equals. As historian Frederick Hoxie has pointed out, however, 
the law did not guarantee equality; instead, it capped off a series of reforms 
that relegated much of the indigenous population to a subordinate status 
within the nation-state. The law did nothing, for example, to guarantee 
Indians the right to vote. In Arizona the courts continued to defi ne them 
as people “under guardianship” who were ineligible to participate in elec-
tions. Moreover, nothing in the law prevented states and private citizens 
from segregating Indians, or from discriminating against them as racial-
ized minorities. Quite the contrary, the net impact of the reforms associ-
ated with the assimilation policy was to relegate Indians in Arizona to 
the bottom rungs of a racial and class hierarchy. At best, then, the Indian 
Citizenship Law guaranteed second-class citizenship.79

Still, the Tohono O’odham, Pimas, and Maricopas had their own ideas 
about their future place in the socioeconomic order and the national pol-
ity—ideas that differed substantially from the blueprints drawn up by fed-
eral bureaucracies and regional employers. Most Pimas and Maricopas, for 
 example, refused to leave the reservations to take up wage work. Instead, 
they continued to eke out an existence with the increasingly unreliable 
fl ow of the Gila River and groundwater pumps, or by harvesting and sell-
ing mesquite.

Even for those who worked off the reservation, wage work did not gen-
erally lead to cultural assimilation as the BIA had hoped. Instead, most 
indigenous people found a variety of means to negotiate the shifting con-
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tours of the political economy. Those Tohono O’odham who worked in the 
mines organized the most direct resistance to the exploitation of their la-
bor, working across ethnic lines to combat poor wages and working condi-
tions. Others simply refused to engage in wage work altogether. Thousands 
of others moved annually from villages into the agricultural fi elds, mines, 
and towns. Such a pattern allowed them to return periodically into desert 
rancherías where they farmed, raised cattle, reinforced kinship bonds, and 
participated in rituals and fi estas. In each case, they played an active role 
in defi ning their place in American society, negotiating, as best they could, 
the rapidly changing economic and social terrain.
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chap ter 3

crossing borders

Rosalio Moisés Valenzuela and his older sister, Antonia, both of them 
Yaquis, were born in Colorada, Sonora, where their father worked as a miner 
in the mid-1890s. Their parents and grandparents had fl ed the  Yaqui River 
to escape the ongoing war with the Mexican army. In his memoirs  Rosalio 
recalled how “many friends and relatives from the Rio Yaqui worked in 
the Colorada and Suviete mines or at the Minas Prietas fi ve miles away 
where they dug for graphite.” Most of the boys and men over the age of 
ten worked for eight pesos a day for eight-hour shifts, which was sub-
stantially more than they might earn working on the haciendas. Men and 
women with land, livestock, or special skills contributed to the family in-
come in other ways. Some of Rosalio and Antonia’s relatives owned cattle, 
and their grandfather, Abelardo, was a full-time shoemaker. María, their 
grandmother, was a curandera, tending to the spiritual and physical health 
of the community. The Valenzuelas supported themselves in this way un-
til 1900, when war between the Yaquis and the Mexican military erupted 
once again. Many men left the mine, returning to the Yaqui River to 
help defend the villages. “From this time on,” Rosalio recalled, “our lives 
changed.”1

The events of 1900 propelled Rosalio and Antonia toward a series of 
moves that would eventually take them across the border into Arizona. 
That year they moved with their grandparents and several other family 
members to an orchard in Hermosillo. Their mother, Cecilia, left their fa-
ther, Miguel, during this tumultuous period, and both children lost con-
tact with her. Miguel obtained a new job at the Sierrita mine, while Rosalio 
began to work in the orchard, and Antonia helped to support the family 
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by selling tortillas and taking in laundry. Soon, however, their lives were 
disrupted again. In 1903 Mexican soldiers searched Hermosillo for Yaqui 
insurgents. They captured and executed Rosalio’s baptismal padrino (god-
father) and rounded up their grandfather, Abelardo, and shipped him to the 
Yucatán to work as a peón. Miguel then temporarily returned to the Yaqui 
River to resume the fi ght against the Mexican army, but fearing for the 
lives of himself and his children, he soon crossed the border into Arizona. 
Rosalio and Antonia waited in a small house in Ranchito, Sonora, as their 
father looked for work north of the border. Finally, in 1905, having found 
a job at the Silver Bell mine near Tucson, Miguel called for his children to 
join him.2

After crossing the border, Rosalio and Antonia lived in a home con-
structed by their father in Barrio Anita, a multiethnic Tucson neighbor-
hood. There, hundreds of ethnic Mexicans, Yaquis, and Tohono O’odham, 
among others, lived and worked together, attended the same churches and 
fi estas, and formed ties of kinship and culture. Miguel worked alongside 
other border crossers from Mexico on the railroads, on the farms in the Salt 
River valley, and in mines and smelters stretching from Arizona to Cali-
fornia. Eventually, Rosalio followed the path of his father, earning wages 
in the mining towns and on the railroads and industrial farms.  Antonia 
married Ignacio Villegas and soon gave birth to three children delivered by 
her grandmother, María.3

Throughout their years in Arizona the Valenzuelas retained close ties to 
Sonora. They had little sense of a national identity relative to either Mexico 
or the United States. Instead, their life histories are fi lled with references 
to kin and local communities scattered around both sides of the border. In 
Arizona they worked the same kinds of jobs and lived among a similar mix 
of ethnic groups as they had in Sonora, including mestizos and O’odham. 
Miguel occasionally supplied arms to Yaquis who fought against the Mexi-
can army in Sonora. Antonia and Ignacio eventually moved to Chandler, 
where they worked in the cotton fi elds and had more children together. 
Rosalio continued to work a variety of jobs, while making personal visits 
to Mexico for events such as the feast day of San Francisco at Magdalena. 
Finally, in 1932, after the Yaqui wars died down and the Great Depression 
seriously disrupted Arizona’s extractive economy, he moved permanently 
back across the border to the Rio Yaqui. Neither Antonia nor Rosalio ever 
applied for U.S. citizenship.4

Rosalio and Antonia’s story illustrates several important themes con-
cerning border crossing and border culture in Arizona and Sonora. First, 
it raises questions about the adequacy of the word immigration at least as 
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it was applied to the U.S.-Mexican borderlands. Historians have often sug-
gested that immigrants to the United States were uprooted or pushed out 
of their home country by poverty and/or political oppression, while be-
ing pulled by economic and/or political opportunity in the United States. 
While there is some truth in this formulation, the experiences of the 
 Valenzuelas and thousands like them reveal its shortcomings. In fact, as 
I demonstrated, the same basic forces altered the political economies of 
 Sonora and Arizona simultaneously, displacing small farmers and ranch-
ers on both sides of the border while creating a demand for their labor. 
Displaced peasants and ranchers had little choice but to travel from town 
to town working for wages. They rarely made a single, clean break with 
Mexico, making their way across in stages, while often maintaining trans-
national relationships for decades after entering the United States. Thou-
sands, like Rosalio, eventually returned to Mexico permanently.5

The story of the Valenzuelas also offers a glimpse into the rich social 
world of the Sonora-Arizona borderlands, in which many different groups 
worked the same kinds of jobs on both sides of the border, came together in 
diverse communities, and formed intimate, interethnic ties. As historian 
David Gutiérrez has written, “In response to their increasingly sharp expe-
rience of racial, cultural, and class difference, ordinary working-class ethnic 
Mexicans were forced to develop new mechanisms of adaptation—mecha-
nisms that drew on sources of collective identity and solidarity that were 
only tangentially related to notions of formal nationality or citizenship.”6 
In Arizona these identities transcended not only the international bound-
ary but ethnic boundaries as well. A transnational, inter-ethnic regional 
culture fl ourished in communities such as Barrio Anita, where Miguel 
 Valenzuela built a home for his family. Individuals constructed broad so-
cial and cultural networks through marriage, fi ctive kinship, religion, and 
reciprocal exchange, defying both the international border and strict ethno-
racial boundaries.

Still, this story should not be generalized too far. Many border cross-
ers followed a different path, expressing interest in permanent residency 
and full citizenship soon after entering the United States. Most Mexican 
Americans were sharply aware of the forces that excluded them from full 
citizenship status, and many of them worked continuously to differentiate 
themselves from recent border crossers in order to claim their rightful sta-
tus as equal citizens, even going so far as to support legislation restricting 
Mexican immigration. For them, the presence of thousands of immigrants 
who bypassed official channels to emigrate and naturalize complicated 
their own attempts to become fully American.7

T4257.indb   73T4257.indb   73 7/19/07   12:12:12 PM7/19/07   12:12:12 PM



74 border citizens

crossing the international border

In the decades after the Gadsden Purchase, many Mexicans who moved 
into what would become Arizona stayed only for brief periods. The fi rst 
substantial movement occurred in the late 1840s and early 1850s, when 
over ten thousand Sonorans moved to, or traveled through, the region on 
they way to California to fi nd gold. Most, however, failed and eventually 
made their way back to Sonora. In the 1860s, perhaps another seventy-fi ve 
hundred Sonorenses entered the United States, largely to escape civil war 
and the French invasion of Mexico. Like the fi rst wave of border cross-
ers, many returned to Mexico when some semblance of stability returned.8 
In the 1880s, however, a new network of railroads and industrial mines 
spurred a more sustained movement between nations. Moreover, the com-
pletion of the Southern  Pacifi c from Arizona to El Paso in 1880 began to 
bring Mexicans to Arizona from regions other than Sonora. Labor contrac-
tors recruited thousands from Chihuahua, Durango, and central Mexico. 
From there, they crossed through El Paso to Arizona by rail.9

Still, until about 1910, most Mexicans remained in the southern and 
southeastern parts of Arizona, from whence they could easily move back 
and forth across the border. This area included Pima, Cochise, and Graham 
counties, where most of the state’s major mines were located (Figure 3.1). 
By the turn of the century, Mexican nationals made up the majority of the 
workforce in mining towns such as Clifton-Morenci and Ray, and on rail 
lines such as the Southern Pacifi c.10 An anthropologist who has studied the 
region during this period found that “kin living in the two nations were 
not clearly differentiated by official citizenship status in their fates, their 
working opportunities, and their personal security.”11 In towns directly on 
the border, such as Nogales and Douglas, barbed wire fences were often the 
only divider between the two nations, and individuals could walk back and 
forth with ease. As a result it is impossible to determine gross immigra-
tion fi gures over this period. In 1907 Arizona Governor Joseph Kibby said, 
“What proportion of those Mexican immigrants remain here permanently 
is impossible to say. They are passing to and fro all of the time between 
Sonora and Arizona.”12

The case of Carlos Cordoba serves as a good example of such trans-
border migration. Cordoba was born in 1909 in the mining town of Cananea, 
Sonora, but in 1914, in the middle of the Mexican Revolution, he moved 
north with his family to the Sonoran border town of Agua Prieta. There 
he worked in his uncle’s shop where he learned machining, drilling, and 
the art of forging iron tools. At the age of fi fteen, after attending a voca-
tional school in Hermosillo, Sonora, he began to cross periodically into the 
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Figure 3.1. Eight Arizona Counties with Largest Mexican-Born Populations, 1910. Source: 
University of Virginia Geospatial and Statistical Data Center http://fi sher.lib.virginia.edu/
census/ (accessed August 2004).

United States, like many other young men his age. He did so because, as 
he said, in Mexico “they paid less, you had to look for work in other places, 
and jobs were scarcer.” Cordoba soon joined a Mexican friend in Douglas, 
just north across the border from Agua Prieta. His fi rst job in the United 
States was at a quarry, halfway between Douglas and Bisbee. At $2.50 per 
day his earnings surpassed what he could have made in Mexico. Because 
the quarry was so close to the border, it was easy for him to travel to Agua 
Prieta on the weekends. After three years at the quarry, Cordoba moved on 
to the Phelps Dodge Copper Queen mine in Bisbee, where he could earn 
even higher wages and still remain close to his family in Mexico.

Cordoba continued to work in Arizona through the 1920s, but like so 
many other Mexican border crossers, he never became a U.S. citizen. His 
last job in the United States was at a small mine in Cochise County near 
Bisbee. There he managed to save one hundred dollars before the mine 
closed at the beginning of the Great Depression in 1929. Like Rosalio 
 Moisés, he did not bother to notify U.S. or Mexican officials but simply 
moved back to Agua Prieta to rejoin his family.13

Many Mexican Tohono O’odham—whose homeland had been bisected 
by the Gadsden Purchase—also periodically crossed the border to live 
and work in Arizona. Julia Bustamante’s experiences were similar to 
those of many Tohono O’odham. Born in the Sonoran town of Pozo Verde, 
 Bustamente married a Tohono O’odham man from Arizona. “My husband 
was born on my Nation’s lands to the north and worked on both sides,” she 
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recalled many decades later. “I remember when there was no boundary. We 
O’odham just came and went as we pleased.” Another Tohono O’odham 
woman, Silvia Parra, was born in Pisinemo, on the U.S. side of the border, 
but her family traveled every year back to their fi elds in San Francisco, 
Sonora. “We never had problems coming and going on our O’odham lands. 
There was no fence. My grandparents had no idea of United States lands 
and Mexican lands. They only knew O’odham lands. . . . They had no 
idea of United States or Mexican citizenship.”14 Indeed, for most Tohono 
O’odham, the border meant very little, and they had no clear identifi cation 
with either the Mexican or U.S. nation-states.

Not all of those who crossed from Mexico into the United States in these 
early years did so with the intention of returning to Mexico. Many thou-
sands of Mexicans followed a different path, eventually settling perma-
nently in Arizona and calling for their families to join them. This became 
increasingly true in the 1900s as Mexico slipped into economic and po-
litical turmoil. In 1908 a railroad official noted a signifi cant change in the 
resident Mexican population. Men who had worked in the United States 
for years “began to bring back their families. . . . Most of the men who had 
families with them did not go back the following season, but some of the 
men without their families did, and some of them came back the next year 
with their families.” As the Mexican Revolution devolved into civil war in 
the 1910s, Mexican communities around Arizona took on a more settled 
character, although individual family members, particularly men, contin-
ued to move around in search of work.15

Tucson, which had harbored a substantial Mexican population since the 
eighteenth century, remained the most established ethnic Mexican com-
munity in the early years of the twentieth century. The Mexican Revolu-
tion led to a new infl ux of Mexican nationals into Tucson in the 1910s. 
Only 270 foreign-born persons with Hispanic surnames settled in Tucson 
between 1900 and 1910, but during the next ten years the population of 
 foreign-born Hispanics grew from 2,441 to 4,261—an increase of 75 per-
cent. This growth was largely confi ned to segregated areas of the city. As 
the railroads drew urban development to the north and to the east, where 
Euro-Americans dominated, most ethnic Mexicans and indigenous people 
remained concentrated in the barrios to the south and west.16

In an environment less and less friendly toward Mexicans, Tucson 
served as a refuge for a substantial ethnic Mexican elite and middle class. 
The revolutionary leaders Plutarco Elías Calles, Adolfo de la Huerta, and 
 Alvaro Obregón, for example, stayed in Tucson as a temporary place of 
exile. A small, relatively well-off class of ethnic Mexican merchants also 

T4257.indb   76T4257.indb   76 7/19/07   12:12:12 PM7/19/07   12:12:12 PM



crossing borders 77

chose Tucson as their permanent home. For this group of ethnic Mexi-
cans, crossing the border generally meant something quite different than 
it did for thousands of peasants, workers, and temporary expatriates. They 
tended to have a greater stake in establishing themselves as U.S. citizens 
than less affluent Mexicans, since doing so would help to secure crucial 
economic ties and respect from Euro-Americans.17

Federico Ronstadt’s story illustrates this point. Rondstadt, who was 
born in Sonora, was the son of a wealthy German father and a Mexican 
mother who claimed pure Spanish ancestry, in part, as a claim to white-
ness. He crossed into Arizona through the border town of Nogales in 1882 
at the age of fourteen. As he remembered it, his father told him, “Now 
you are in the United States of America, without any question the greatest 
nation in the world. You will enjoy great liberty and protection under the 
American government and you must always feel and show deep apprecia-
tion for that.” Whether or not Ronstadt recalled his father’s exact words, 
the crux of the conversation stuck with him and instilled a desire to be-
come a U.S. citizen. After negotiating with the Mexican government of 
Porfi rio Díaz concerning surveys of several Sonoran ranches owned by his 
family, he fulfi lled his desire. “When these matters were out of the way,” 
he explained, “I promptly applied for citizenship to carry out my dream 
and ambition of years.”18

Ronstadt’s wealth, light skin, education, and personal connections 
through his father earned him a level of acceptance in the United States 
that most Mexicans would never enjoy. He was quite successful at adapt-
ing to the changing economy of the early-twentieth-century borderlands. 
As he recalled in his memoirs, “By 1906, we had built up a good trade for 
custom made wagons and other lines in Southern Arizona and in the state 
of Sonora, Mexico.” He signed a contract with William Greene to provide 
wagons and transportation to Greene’s company town of Cananea, Sonora, 
and he “also had subagents in Nogales, Hermosillo, and Guaymas.” As the 
wagon trade declined, he diversifi ed his operations, building electric street-
cars and selling automobiles, auto parts, and general hardware. His suc-
cesses allowed him to establish himself as a respected citizen and business-
man, even among the Anglo community. The necessity of maintaining a 
good name for himself also gave him an incentive to declare his allegiance 
to the United States, unlike most Mexican border crossers whose loyalties 
tended to be to their families and immediate communities rather than to 
either the Mexican or U.S. nation-states.19

While a few Mexicans like Ronstadt became respected merchants, most 
were less fortunate. In the 1910s the violence of the Mexican Revolution 
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Figure 3.2. Nine Arizona Counties with Largest Mexican-Born Populations, 1920.
* Source: University of Virginia Geospatial and Statistical Data Center http://fi sher.lib
.virginia.edu/census/ (accessed August 2004).

* Graham County was divided into Graham and Greenlee counties since the previous census 
in 1910.

and an agricultural boom in the Salt River valley (spurred by the comple-
tion of the Roosevelt Dam) enticed more Mexicans into Arizona than ever 
before. In 1914 the Salt River Valley Egyptian Cotton Growers Associa-
tion hired labor recruiters to travel to the border towns to entice workers 
into the valley. These enganchadores, as they were known, arranged trans-
portation to the labor camps, where the workers reimbursed the growers 
for transportation, food, and provisions out of the wages they earned pick-
ing cotton. The newly irrigated farmlands in Maricopa County surpassed 
the rest of south-central Arizona as the primary destination for Mexicans 
by 1920 (Figure 3.2).20

The growing presence of Mexican workers sparked a rancorous, racist 
debate about immigration. Many Arizonans felt that Mexican “peons” 
threatened to “degrade” and “pauperize” Euro-American workers by under-
mining their ability to maintain an honest living.21 Ironically, U.S. em-
ployers also invoked racial stereotypes to argue that the border should be 
kept open. Mexicans, from their point of view, were docile and tractable 
and had few ambitions, making them a perfect source of cheap labor. More-
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over, the exploitation of their labor did not require that they be naturalized 
as citizens, since they could easily return to Mexico when their work was 
done. Both sides of the immigration debate thus tended to characterize 
Mexicans as racially inferior.22

The growing demand for labor during World War I at least temporarily 
tipped the balance toward those who wanted an open border. The chang-
ing opinions of Arizona Congressman Carl Hayden reveal the thinking 
behind this policy. Before the war Hayden defended Arizona’s Alien La-
bor Law, which would have restricted alien mine workers to no more than 
20 percent of the total workforce had it not been declared unconstitutional 
by the federal district court in San Francisco. As Hayden put it, “I say that 
if mining can not be carried on except by employing aliens who will work 
long hours for little wages in mines where men are cheaper than mine 
timbers, we had better let the ore lie in the bowels of the earth where na-
ture placed it.”23 Hayden revised his position, however, during Arizona’s 
wartime cotton boom. Speaking before the House Committee on Immigra-
tion and Naturalization in 1919, he explained that the labor demand in the 
long-staple cotton fi elds doubled during the harvesting season from late 
October to January. “As a practical proposition,” he argued, “the neces-
sary temporary labor can come from but one source and that is Mexico.” 
These workers would not be permitted to remain in the United States per-
manently or to naturalize as citizens. Instead, southwestern states should 
“admit temporarily seasonal laborers from Mexico, who are citizens of that 
Republic, to engage in agricultural work only.” Upon the completion of 
their work, they would be expected to return to Mexico.24

Hayden and other proponents of temporary admittance of Mexican work-
ers persuaded Labor Secretary William Wilson to exempt Latin American 
immigrants from the restrictive immigration law of 1917. The 1917 law man-
dated that immigrants pay a head tax and pass a literacy test to enter the 
country, but Wilson’s so-called ninth proviso waived these requirements for 
immigrants from the Americas. It also loosened nineteenth-century restric-
tions on recruitment of Mexican contract labor. The exemption allowed Salt 
River valley growers to recruit around thirty thousand Mexican nationals 
between 1918 and 1920 alone. As a result, by 1920 Mari copa County, where 
Phoenix is located, far outpaced all other Arizona counties in its Mexican-
born population, surpassing even Pima County, where Tucson is located, 
and mining counties like Cochise and Greenlee (Figure 3.2).25

Among those who moved into the Salt River valley were hundreds of 
Yaquis. Dozens of families moved into “Yaqui town,” soon to be known as 
Guadalupe, just south of Tempe, and in 1917 Goodyear Tire and  Rubber Com-
pany enticed hundreds of Yaquis to move to its cotton camp in  Chandler.26 
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Several years later, the Salt River Valley Water Users  Association began to 
hire Yaquis as their primary full-time labor force for canal maintenance. 
By 1920 the association established a labor camp southwest of Scottsdale 
occupied by about four hundred Yaqui men, women, and children, and a 
second southside camp with about thirty-fi ve Yaqui families. They also 
picked up Yaqui workers every morning from Guadalupe. Approximately 
four hundred men, divided into fi ve work crews, held relatively steady jobs, 
and many others worked seasonally during the summers to clear grass from 
the canals.27

By 1930 at least twenty-fi ve hundred Yaquis lived in about ten commu-
nities in south-central Arizona. Besides the Salt River valley settlements, 
Yaqui communities developed in Yuma, Marana, and Eloy, all of which 
became important centers of industrial agriculture. Near Tucson were two 
areas of Yaqui settlement. About fi ve hundred Yaquis lived in Barrio Libre, 
as a section of South Tucson was known, amid a substantial population 
of Tohono O’odham and ethnic Mexicans. Hundreds of others lived in the 
more ethnically homogeneous community of Pascua, adjacent to a primar-
ily ethnic Mexican barrio called Belén.28

Thus, the diversity of the barrios, rural towns, and labor camps of south-
central Arizona countervailed the tendency of Anglos to view their resi-
dents monolithically, through racial blinders, as Mexican aliens and peons. 
Within the camps lived not only Mexican mestizos but also families and 
individuals who identifi ed as Yaqui, Tohono O’odham, Pima, Opata, Mayo, 
or otherwise. Moreover, the residents of these communities included na-
tive Arizonans, naturalized citizens, and more recent border crossers who 
formed a dense network of economic, cultural, and kinship ties that tran-
scended both international and ethnic boundaries.

crossing e thno -r acial  borders

Most ethnohistorians and ethnographers of Arizona’s borderlands have fo-
cused their attention on individual ethnic groups (or on white/Indian or 
Anglo/Mexican relations) rather than on the bonds that tied these groups 
together. For example, the best history of the Mexican-American experi-
ence in Tucson, Thomas Sheridan’s Los Tucsonenses, provides a rich ac-
count of daily life in the city but says little about the close ties that ethnic 
Mexicans had with Yaquis and Tohono O’odham who lived among them.29 
There have also been numerous tribal histories of the Yaquis, Tohono 
O’odham, and Pimas, among other groups who lived in Arizona’s border-
lands. Most of the histories tightly focus on the persistence or evolution of 
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single tribes over time, thus underemphasizing the cultural, economic, and 
kinship ties that these groups often shared with one another. While such 
studies are important in their own right, they tend to reinforce the notion 
that ethnic boundaries and identities are natural and self-contained, if not 
static, rather than to examine these identities as historically contingent 
and relational.30

One of the most basic interethnic ties in the barrios was marriage, al-
though marriages that crossed the racial line between white and nonwhite 
were technically illegal in Arizona. The territorial assembly fi rst passed an 
antimiscegenation statute in 1865, prohibiting marriage between whites 
and Indians, Mongolians, or blacks. Over time the law was amended to be 
even more restrictive. By 1913 it said that “all marriages of persons of Cau-
casian blood, or their descendants, with negroes, Mongolians or Indians, 
and their descendants” were null and void [emphasis mine]. Finally, in 
1931 Hindus and Malays were added to the list of people “Caucasians” 
could not legally marry.31 These statutes illustrate the state’s intolerance 
for blurred ethnic identifi cations, particularly when marriage threatened 
the boundaries of whiteness.

Signifi cantly, the antimiscegenation statutes did not prevent marriage 
between Anglos and ethnic Mexicans—a testament to the ambiguous ra-
cial status of the latter. The courts generally defi ned ethnic Mexicans as 
white, regardless of social custom. This also meant that ethnic Mexicans 
could not legally marry Indians, blacks, nor any of the other groups named 
by the law.

Two court cases demonstrate the legal system’s tendency to draw strict 
racial boundaries, even in cases where social reality was much more com-
plex. In 1921 Joe Kirby, whose mother was Mexican and whose father was 
Irish, went to court to annul his marriage to his wife, Mayellen, by claim-
ing that he was white and she was “a person of negro blood.” Mayellen’s 
lawyers did not challenge the accusation that she was partly black, but 
they did challenge Kirby’s claim that he was white, since his mother was 
Mexican. If both marriage partners were nonwhite, the marriage was legal. 
The judge in the case, however, refused to accept this argument, stating 
that “Mexicans are classed as of the Caucasian race. They are descendants, 
supposed to be at least, of the Spanish conquerors of that country, and un-
less it can be shown that they are mixed up with some other races, why the 
presumption is that they are descendants of the Caucasian race.” He found 
Kirby to be white and Mayellen black and annulled the marriage.32

Two decades later, in 1942, the courts made another revealing rul-
ing when Frank Pass, an accused murderer, tried to stop his wife, Ruby 
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 Contreras Pass, from testifying against him at his trial. Arizona law did 
not allow spouses to testify against one another. To get around the law, 
Ruby’s lawyers argued that the marriage was null and void because Frank 
had one Paiute grandparent and thus was racially Indian, while Ruby was 
Mexican American and therefore Caucasian. The court agreed to annul the 
marriage on this basis and allowed Ruby to testify. When Pass appealed the 
decision, the appellate court confi rmed that the marriage was null and void 
because Frank was part Indian and Ruby was Caucasian.33 Once again, the 
courts made a complicated case of marriage between people of mixed eth-
nic heritage simple by classifying the marriage partners in starkly  binary 
racial terms, with Mexican-Americans falling into the “white” category.

Not only were marriages between ethnic Mexicans and Anglo-Ameri-
cans legal, but in the nineteenth century they were common—suggesting 
that Anglo-Americans did not yet view ethnic Mexicans as clearly non-
white. Intermarriage was particularly common in communities with large, 
ethnic Mexican populations such as Tucson and in rural areas near the 
border. Up to 1879, of all marriages in Tucson, 23 percent were between 
Anglo-Americans and ethnic Mexicans.34 Moreover, in rural areas such as 
the Tres Alamos region along the San Pedro River, interethnic marriages 
remained the norm until about 1900.35

Still, as historians such as Deena González, Al Hurtado, and  Katherine 
Benton have suggested, mixed marriages did not necessarily imply ra-
cial egalitarianism. Most were between Anglo men and ethnic Mexican 
women, and their frequency in part refl ected the high proportion of  Anglo-
American men to women. Such marriages allowed these men to gain ac-
cess to land owned by ethnic Mexican families. Some of them may have 
even viewed these marriages as a form of sexual conquest—in essence, as 
a way to solidify their own sense of racial superiority by asserting white, 
male authority over Mexican women. Yet, as Katherine Benton has argued 
in the case of Tres Alamos, “These kinds of marriages offered at least the 
potential for some kind of power balance between the Anglo husband and 
the family of his wife.” Some women owned their own land and cattle, and 
they may have viewed their marriages to Euro-American men as a way to 
secure their own economic and social status, perhaps even to secure their 
racial status as white.36

In any case, it is clear that a steep decline in marriages between eth-
nic Mexicans and Anglo-Americans between 1880 and 1910 refl ected a 
sharpening of ethno-racial boundaries. This was a period of rapid indus-
trialization, increased immigration by Mexicans, Europeans, and Anglos, 
increased competition for resources, and the emergence of a strictly racial-
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ized class structure. By 1910 only 10 percent of Tucson marriages involved 
mixed ethnic Mexican and Anglo partners.37 Interethnic marriages also 
declined sharply in rural Cochise County, where such marriages had been 
common before 1900. Katherine Benton has found that even the daugh-
ters and sons of nineteenth-century interethnic marriages tended to marry 
only ethnic Mexicans in the twentieth century, so “these intermarried 
families became more ‘Mexican’ than ‘American.’” By 1910, then, there 
was less social interaction between the two groups and more segregation 
into distinct rural and urban enclaves.38

While marriages between ethnic Mexicans and Anglo-Americans de-
clined, unions between Mexican Americans and Indians remained com-
mon and can be seen as an implicit form of resistance to Arizona’s im-
posed racial boundaries. Yet, evidence suggests that such marriages were 
sometimes prevented based on the miscegenation law. In 1930, for exam-
ple, a BIA fi eld matron complained that she was “trying to have marriage 
 consummated between an Indian woman and a Mexican man who are 
 living together.” Because of the state’s miscegenation law, she found that 
“the authorities [would] not grant them a license.” Still, because Anglo-
Americans had come to view Mexican Americans as nonwhite (socially if 
not legally), the antimiscegenation statute was only sporadically enforced 
when the respective partners were Indians and ethnic Mexicans, as evi-
denced by the fact that both the Kirby and Pass marriages went unchal-
lenged until one partner decided to seek an annulment.39

Genetic evidence, life histories, and observations by government offi-
cials and ethnographers suggest that conjugal unions between ethnic Mexi-
cans, Yaquis, and Tohono O’odham were common. Recent genetic evidence, 
for example, shows that 39 percent of today’s Tohono O’odham population 
carries nonnative, Y-chromosome markers, suggesting that a large number 
are the offspring of interethnic unions with people of European descent.40 
This research says little about when the mixing occurred, but anecdotal 
evidence suggests that such unions were frequent in the early twentieth 
century. In 1913, for example, a BIA official cited several known cases of 
“illegitimate babies . . . whose fathers [were] either white or Mexican” as a 
primary motive for placing a BIA fi eld matron in Tucson.41  Because the fi eld 
matrons were assigned the task of ensuring that Indians went through the 
proper legal channels to legitimize their marriages, their records are fi lled 
with accounts of interethnic affairs. A fi eld matron reported, for example, 
on a family that employed an O’odham woman as a domestic, complaining 
that she had “been having a Mexican come to her room.” After the fi eld 
matron called on her intending to stop the affair, she reported that “instead 
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she took an evening train and got away from me. We are trying to fi nd her 
in Phoenix.”42

Yaquis also commonly married illicitly across imposed racial bound-
aries. Spicer cited fi ve cases of intermarriage between Yaquis and ethnic 
Mexicans in Pascua in the 1930s, and these numbers would likely have been 
much higher had he also looked at ethnically mixed communities like Barrio 
 Libre, Barrio Anita, and Guadalupe.43 Another anthropologist has noted that 
“it is usual, in fact, for many Mexicans of the regions of Arizona/Sonora 
to be of Spanish/Mexican/Yaqui/Mayo/Pima ancestry.”44 Over time such 
unions created a dense network of interethnic ties—a network often over-
looked by outside observers who viewed Indians and Mexicans as members 
of sharply designated racial groups.

Marriage was not, of course, the only way to form interethnic ties. The 
system of compadrazgo, or fi ctive kinship, was often as important as were 
ties of marriage and blood. Under this system, individuals sponsored their 
neighbors as padrinos/madrinas, or godparents, for events such as wed-
dings, baptisms, and the fulfi llment of ritual vows.45 Compadrazgo of-
ten crossed ethnic lines, since the region’s ethnic Mexicans, Yaquis, and 
O’odham shared the tradition. Spicer indicated that Yaquis were “con-
stantly drawing on their Mexican-American neighbors to serve as madri-
nas and padrinos,” and he observed that probably “every family in Pascua 
[had] links with neighboring Mexican Americans through the ceremonial 
sponsorship system.” The Tohono O’odham, too, shared in the practice, 
primarily for baptisms and for blessings of santos, or fi gures of the saints. 
Compahlis or comahlis (O’odham for compadres and comadres) carried 
medals in the images of saints to be blessed by a priest for their owners. 
Compadrazgo thus inextricably linked the indigenous and mestizo popula-
tions, blurring the lines between supposedly rigid racial boundaries while 
reinforcing a shared sense of difference from the surrounding Euro-Ameri-
can majority.46

Compadrazgo often connected members of the ethnic Mexican and in-
digenous working classes to wealthier families who provided fi nancial help 
in times of need. Again, these ties often crossed ethnic lines. Lolita Ochoa, 
for example, a Tohono O’odham woman, remembered that it was very 
common for Tohono O’odham in Tucson to have Mexican-American com-
padres. Ochoa, who spoke to her interviewer through a Tohono O’odham 
interpreter, felt that many Tohono O’odham and Mexican-American fami-
lies became “like relatives, really close relatives and real good friends.” 
Joe McCarthy, a Tohono O’odham, recalled in his autobiography that “most 
of the Papago women worked for Mexican people,” and that these eco-
nomic relationships often led to more intimate ties. McCarthy’s mother 
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had a relatively well-off Mexican-American comahli who lived north of 
Tucson’s railroad tracks, and whose family owned a ranch outside of town. 
Her comahli sometimes helped provide goods such as dried meat, cheese, 
or other products from the ranch, and she would reciprocate to the best of 
her ability. In one instance, McCarthy recalled, “While I was back home, 
Mother wanted me to take some cactus syrup to her Mexican godmother, 
who lived across the railroad tracks. . . . There were a few Mexican houses 
around there, and sometimes she sent me over there to give them some-
thing.” He remembered his compadres as “very good people.”47

Interethnic bonds also developed through joint participation in regional 
parish and mission churches. In 1903 the Presbyterians established their 
fi rst permanent mission in South Tucson. While the mission was initially 
intended exclusively for the Tohono O’odham, Yaquis, ethnic Mexicans, and 
a few Chinese residents soon attended services and Sunday school classes.48 
In 1914 Catholic missionaries from San Xavier also began offering multi-
ethnic masses and classes in South Tucson. One of the priests explained 
that every Sunday afternoon a missionary from San Xavier conducted Mass 
and held classes in Tucson using “the Spanish language as his audience 
speaks one of three languages, viz., Spanish, English, and Papago. So you 
see it is a difficult task, requiring the patience of Job.”49 In 1926 the  Catholic 
missionaries built the San José mission, which became a meeting place for 
ethnic Mexicans, Yaquis, and Tohono O’odham alike.50

Of course, other institutions and cultural practices served to reify, rather 
than break down distinctions between ethnic groups, such as the Tohono 
O’odham nawait ceremony described in Chapter 2. Yaquis also continued to 
hold the ethnically exclusive Lenten and Pascua ceremonies in the barrios. 
Since Arizona Yaquis were not physically separated from the surround-
ing ethnic Mexican population as they had been in Sonora, their seasonal 
ceremonies became an important public affirmation of their distinct cul-
tural values and identity. While they often received the sacraments in eth-
nically mixed churches, they also constructed their own separate church 
buildings and plazas where they housed the santos and carried out various 
seasonal rituals. They expressed their religious devotion by serving in a 
number of different ceremonial institutions—as maestros (lay prayer read-
ers), koparim (ritual singers), matachin dancers who dedicated their work 
to the Virgin Mary, and fariseos, who were responsible for organizing the 
annual Pascua ceremonies. They also served as deer and pascola dancers at 
Yaqui ceremonies and at multiethnic events.51

Besides such ethnically exclusive institutions, an array of seasonal fi -
estas and institutions brought Yaquis, Tohono O’odham, and ethnic Mexi-
cans together. In Tucson, for example, a fi esta honoring St. Augustine, the 
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patron saint of the town, began on August 28 and ended on September 16, 
Mexican Independence Day. The festival drew hundreds of Indians and 
ethnic Mexicans from Tucson and elsewhere. Among other interethnic 
seasonal ceremonies and events was All Souls’ Day on November 2 and 
the Fiesta of San Isidro on May 15. During that event, ranchers and farm-
ers marched in a procession and then offered vegetables at an altar to San 
Isidro to ensure a bountiful harvest. Jacinta Jacobo Carranza, who was 
born in 1902, remembered, “On St. Isidro’s Day, May 15, all of the farmers 
in the area where we lived made a procession through the milpas—they 
made the procession praying and singing praise so that God and San Isidro 
would help them—that a year’s planting might be successful so that they 
might have crops to sell.”52

One of the most important and persistent transnational and transeth-
nic rituals in the Sonora-Arizona borderlands was—and remains to this 
day—the feast day of San Francisco in Magdalena, about sixty miles south 
of the Arizona-Sonora border. The festival’s origins refl ect a long history 
of colonialism and intercultural exchange. As designated by the Francis-
can order, October 4 is the feast day of Saint Francis of Assisi, yet the fo-
cal point of the annual pilgrimage to Magdalena was an image of Francis 
Xavier, the Jesuit patron saint. The Jesuit missionary Eusebio Francisco 
Kino founded the mission in the late seventeenth century, but the town 
gained its signifi cance as the center of Franciscan rather than Jesuit mis-
sion activity after the Jesuits were expelled from what was then called New 
Spain in 1767.53 Thousands of ethnic Mexican and indigenous Sonorenses 
and Arizonans made an annual pilgrimage to this holy center to marry or 
have their children baptized there, or in the hope that it would cure their 
illnesses. Others simply went to participate in the festivities, which in-
cluded music and dancing with performances by deer and pascola dancers 
from both sides of the border.54

The festival drew thousands of ethnic Mexicans and Indians from both 
Sonora and Arizona to Magdalena. In her memoir about life on her father’s 
ranch near the Arizona-Sonora border at the beginning of the twentieth 
century, Antonia Wilbur-Cruce remembered that many Yaquis, Tohono 
O’odham, and Mexicans passed by her father’s ranch “on their way to Mag-
dalena, Mexico, to visit San Francisco.”55 According to Alberto Alvaro 
Ríos, a Mexican American who lived in Nogales, the festival was alive and 
well fi fty years later. As he described it, “Starting late in September, for 
two weeks, I remember seeing hundreds and possibly thousands of native 
Indians, Mexicans, and Arizona residents as they walked, along the river 
and along the road, the sixty-fi ve miles from Nogales to Magdalena. It was 
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a show of penance or devotion, and timed so that they would all arrive 
there on October 4, the feast of San Francisco.”56

The Magdalena festival also carried political signifi cance. Because those 
who attended the festival generally crossed the international border with-
out proper authority or documentation, government officials repeatedly 
tried to end the practice. In 1913 a BIA official warned Frank Thackery, the 
superintendent of Pima Indian School, that hundreds of Tohono O’odham 
planned to make the trip despite the dangers posed by the Mexican Revolu-
tion. He explained, “Their trips are mostly made for debauchery anyway, 
and most any year they go they only lose their money, but this year they 
may lose everything they love.” Thackery responded quickly, writing, “I 
have decided to forbid their going, and I wish you would please advise them 
to that effect, saying further that in case any of them should attempt to 
go, it would be necessary for me to ask the authorities of the emigration 
or other Government Service to bring them to trial for their conduct in 
disobeying our instructions and the laws governing.”57

Despite repeated warnings and restrictions, hundreds of Tohono O’od-
ham, Yaquis, and ethnic Mexicans continued to make the trip. In 1919, for 
example, a BIA fi eld matron noted that she had tried to obtain passports 
for three Tohono O’odham who wished to attend the festival, but “as they 
only permitted them forty miles on the other side of the border, and the 
distance they wished to go would be about sixty-fi ve miles . . . the Indians 
have decided that . . . passports will not be needed.” Indeed, many  Tohono 
O’odham continued to attend the festival without state sanction, and there 
was little government officials could do to intervene.58 Eventually, employ-
ers and state officials would recognize that they could not stop the an-
nual pilgrimage. Henry Dobyns, who conducted fi eldwork among Tohono 
O’odham cotton pickers around 1950, noted that the O’odham “made plain 
to growers . . . that the Magdalena pilgrimage took precedence over even 
national patriotism and personal gain. Faced with Papago intransigence, 
most growers decided to haul their Indian pilgrims to Magdalena in trucks 
rather than let them spend time making the trek in slow horse-drawn 
wagons.”59

The Magdalena festival thus illustrates, in the most direct way, how 
the persistence of certain transnational and interethnic cultural practices 
challenged U.S. laws designed to solidify both national and racial borders. 
Scholarship that focuses solely on the histories of individual ethnic groups, 
while important, can also reinforce a tendency to overlook the intimate 
bonds that tied these groups together. Examining these interethnic ties 
reveals that the process of mestizaje (intercultural and biological  mixing) 

T4257.indb   87T4257.indb   87 7/19/07   12:12:15 PM7/19/07   12:12:15 PM



88 border citizens

continued despite both legal and social prohibitions. Such processes could 
work to blur ethnic margins and defy racial boundaries. It was therefore un-
certain whether separate group identities such as Yaqui, Tohono O’odham, 
or Mexican would persist over time. Rather than presume that people within 
these groups identifi ed along such rigid lines, we need to understand how 
and why these identities emerged, endured, and/or evolved through history.

family economies ,  gender ,  and identit y

A fl exible division of labor between men, women, and children sustained 
indigenous and ethnic Mexican families in the rapidly evolving economy of 
the Arizona/Sonora borderlands. Most men held a wide variety of jobs out-
side the barrios and rural towns during their lifetimes, and even over the 
course of a single year. Men might work in urban construction, in the yards 
of city households, on railroad maintenance crews (commonly known as el 
traque), in nearby mines or smelters, and in agriculture all over the span 
of a couple of years. Women generally bore the primary responsibility for 
caring for their homes and their children, and often took care of  milpitas 
(small garden plots) nearby. They also earned income by working as domes-
tics, by producing and selling tortillas, tamales, and crafts and, increas-
ingly, by picking cotton. Over time such adjustments led to cultural shifts 
in the meaning of manhood and womanhood. They also changed the rela-
tionship between various ethnic groups in the barrios, affecting the way 
those groups defi ned themselves and each other.60

Many families who lived in Mexico supplemented their income with 
wages earned by husbands and sons in the United States. The family of 
Carlos Cordoba, whose story I introduced earlier, provides a good example. 
Carlos worked periodically in mining towns, smelters, and quarries in Ari-
zona while his family tended to their household in Agua Prieta, Sonora. 
He handed much of his earnings, after paying for his own room and board, 
to his mother and sisters in Mexico. Over the years he earned enough to 
purchase and install a new fl oor and roof for his mother’s house. He also 
was able to buy her a variety of appliances, including a sewing machine and 
a cast-iron stove.61

Cordoba’s experiences were quite common. Katherine Benton has found 
that, in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, Mexican men 
in Arizona sent as much as 40 percent of their wages to support families, 
households, and farms in Mexico. Their employers often assumed that these 
were single, unattached men, and they justifi ed paying them less by sug-
gesting they did not need a family wage. Anglo-American workers, they ar-
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gued, required higher wages to support their wives and children, who more 
often lived with them in the mining camps. In the process, employers and 
Euro-American workers alike reinforced the racial notion that Mexicans 
were inherently unsettled and transitory—a racial stereotype that would 
endure even after more Mexican men brought their families with them 
across the border.62

For those indigenous and ethnic Mexican families who lived within 
Ari zona, a similar division of labor was common. For example, the Yaqui 
men of the Savala family, after moving to South Tucson, continued a pat-
tern that had begun in Sonora, working outside the barrio for the railroads, 
mines, and industrial farms. Women and children contributed to the fam-
ily income through an alternative economy, largely controlled by non-An-
glos, in  Tucson and the surrounding region. As Refugio Savala recalled, 
“My mother [Thomasa], being so active, soon found a way to put us two 
younger boys to work to bring in food. She made tortillas and tamales and 
we sold them among the people in the neighborhood. With the money, she 
bought the material to keep her laundry business going.” Members of the 
 Savala family also harvested wheat seasonally on the Tohono O’odham 
San Xavier reservation south of Tucson. They were often paid in kind and 
sold the wheat to a local Mexican-American merchant for cash.63

Although many ethnic Mexican and indigenous women worked for 
wages, the male-operated, Spanish-language press encouraged an idealized 
patriarchal household in which men should serve both as the breadwinners 
and the fi nal decision makers. Spanish-language newspapers such as Las 
Dos Repúblicas and El Tucsonense featured frequent articles that urged 
women to retain “a more sedentary life” and to keep charge of “the interior 
arrangement of the house, the purchase of provisions, the care of animals, 
the maintenance and cleaning of the furniture, the supervision of domestic 
help and the early education of the children.” Women’s only “weapons” in 
the household should be their “sweetness, persuasion and cunning.” Ac-
cording to this conservative ideal, the daughters of ethnic Mexican fami-
lies should remain home until married, engage in social activities only in 
the presence of chaperones, and preferably not engage in wage work outside 
the home.64

Only a minority of prosperous ethnic Mexican farmers and merchants 
could approach this ideal. And in reality, pronouncements about proper 
gender roles were a response to changing circumstances, rather than accu-
rate descriptions of the structure of most ethnic Mexican households. In the 
early decades of the century, most working-class families could not sustain 
themselves without taking advantage of all potential wage earners.
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Among poorer families, entire households often participated in seasonal 
cotton-picking from October through January. By the mid-1920s, many 
working-class barrios witnessed an almost wholesale exodus to the cotton 
fi elds during the picking season. Janette Woodruff witnessed this phenom-
enon in the 1925–1926 season, when most of the homes in South  Tucson 
were closed because “the people were working in the cotton fi elds.”65 
 Edward Spicer observed a similar practice in the village of Pascua, fi nding 
that men, women, and children alike moved to the labor camps in family 
units in September to pick cotton. As he explained, “This is cotton-picking 
season, and most of the families leave the village to take up residence on 
cotton ranches. They return at certain times for ceremonies, such as All 
Souls’ Day in November, and a few families drift back before the cotton-
picking is fi nished because they are tired of it or because of illness, but 
during this period of three or four months, the village has the air of being 
deserted.”66

By the 1920s, growing numbers of women, particularly unmarried 
daughters who still lived with their parents, worked outside of the home 
year-round as domestics, saleswomen, laundresses, telephone operators, 
and dressmakers. In sixty-one contiguous ethnic Mexican households in 
a Tucson barrio enumerated in the 1920 manuscript census, seventy-eight 
men and nineteen women worked regularly for wages outside of the home. 
The majority of these women, thirteen in all, still lived with their fami-
lies. Three were unmarried household heads, while two were unmarried 
and living with their siblings rather than their parents. Only one of the 
women was married, indicating that the ideal of nonworking wives held 
substantial sway. Yet the census tells us nothing about other income-
producing work these women might have performed, such as petty trade or 
seasonal wage work in the cotton fi elds.67

Ethnic Mexican daughters worked outside the home for both economic 
and sociocultural reasons. As Mexican-American women took up wage jobs 
and participated in urban social life and consumer culture, they also began 
to challenge the gender roles prescribed for them by their parents and by the 
Spanish-language press. The decline of chaperoning was one manifestation 
of these changes. Traditionally, many ethnic Mexican families expected 
young women to be accompanied by male kin when they attended dances 
or other social functions with men. In interviews of Mexican-American 
women who came of age between the two world wars, Vicki Ruiz found 
that “every informant who challenged or circumvented chaperonage held a 
full-time job, as either a factory or service worker. In contrast, most women 
who accepted constant supervision did not work for wages.”68
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Anecdotal evidence from Arizona is consistent with this larger pattern. 
For many families, particularly in smaller rural towns, chaperoning re-
mained common well into the twentieth century. For Ruby Estrada, who 
lived in a small, rural Arizona town, chaperoning “wasn’t devastating at 
all. We took it in stride. . . . It was taken for granted that that’s the way it 
was.”69 In contrast, Livia León Montiel, who lived near Tucson and who 
participated often in the social life of the city, felt that her parent’s insis-
tence on chaperones had become “old-fashioned” by 1930. Montiel recalled 
feeling that her mother “was very strict and straitlaced. . . . She felt that 
we had to be chaperoned, but at that time chaperones were already a thing 
of the past.” Montiel’s parents also refused to allow her to attend Tempe 
Teacher’s College in 1931. As the Great Depression dragged on, however, 
Montiel eventually persuaded her parents to allow her to go to school and 
obtain a job. In 1933 she attended Cox Commercial School in Tucson to 
learn clerking and stenography, then began working as a secretary for the 
Alianza Hispano-Americana, a Mexican-American mutual aid society. Al-
though her taking on a full-time job diverged from idealized gender roles, 
her decision to work with the Alianza reinforced her connection to the 
ethnic Mexican community in a new, public way.70

While gender roles among ethnic Mexican families were slowly chang-
ing, Yaquis generally maintained a stricter sexual division of labor, and 
the adherence to this gendered ideal became an important indicator of 
Yaqui identity. In Yaqui households in the early decades of the twentieth 
century, the primary wage earners were men. In the forty occupied Yaqui 
households in Pascua enumerated in the 1920 manuscript census, not a 
single woman held a nonseasonal wage job. Because the census was taken 
in January during the cotton-picking season, these numbers do not refl ect 
the fact that by 1920 Yaqui families, including men, women, and children 
alike, seasonally left the barrios to engage in farmwork. Yaqui women also 
earned money by selling tortillas or occasionally taking in laundry. Still, 
very few worked for wages year-round.71

Spicer noticed this persistent trend in the mid-1930s. While conduct-
ing fi eldwork in Pascua, he found that during most of the year, with the 
exception of the picking season, “remunerative labor is engaged in almost 
exclusively by men, the women occupying themselves only with house 
work.” He found only a few exceptions to this rule, as four women who 
were “all under thirty” worked as maids and laundresses for other Tucson 
families.72

Yaqui women who strayed too far from this ideal might fi nd their very 
identity as Yaquis questioned by the surrounding community. Revisiting 
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the story of Antonia Valenzuela provides one such example. Valenzuela 
was living in Chandler (in the Salt River valley) when her husband,  Ignacio, 
became ill and died. Now a widow with three children, she decided to move 
to Pascua after learning that she might fi nd employment as a housemaid. 
According to an ethnographer who recorded her life history, Valenzuela 
worked “in Mexican homes washing and cleaning” while her brother’s 
wife cared for her children and her own family in a one-room house. Free 
from the oversight of her husband and her mother-in-law, and for the fi rst 
time earning her own income, Valenzuela soon began to exercise here new-
found independence. “For the fi rst time in her life, Antonia had no older, 
dominant woman or hard husband to direct her behavior. She exercised 
her freedom by discarding the traditional skirt and blouse, adopting in-
stead one-piece cotton dresses with full, gathered, shorter skirts. Rebozos 
were replaced by handkerchiefs tied over her hair. She retained this style of 
dress until she died, noting that if [Ignacio] had lived, she could not have 
done so.”73

Soon, however, Antonia learned through the grapevine that a woman 
named Josefa González “began talking badly about her and her children, 
saying they had ‘become Mexicans.’” When Antonia confronted her, J osefa 
criticized her for wearing “modern dress” and scolded her children for 
speaking Spanish, rather than Yaqui, in public. Antonia responded that her 
children spoke Yaqui in the household, but Josefa continued to talk badly 
about her for years. Antonia’s adoption of a nontraditional role for Yaqui 
women, and her use of her wages to purchase nontraditional clothing, 
made her susceptible to accusations that she was adopting the identity of a 
Mexican. Even this small rebellion proved to be temporary because, within 
a couple of years, Antonia married another Yaqui man with “a good job”; 
thus, according to the ethnographer, “of course, [she] immediately stopped 
working.”74

In the cities, Tohono O’odham practiced a gendered division of labor that 
was different from that of either the Yaquis or ethnic Mexicans.75 BIA fi eld 
matrons actively recruited Tohono O’odham women from the reservations 
to work in the cities—something they did not do for Yaquis, who were not 
recognized by the federal government to be an American Indian tribe. This 
distinct, federal classifi cation had a very real impact on the sexual division 
of labor in O’odham families. Often it was women who could best support 
their families in the cities, while men remained on the reservation to farm 
or raise cattle or traveled to fi nd work on railroads, ranches, and in the 
mines. By contrast, without a reservation, most Yaqui and ethnic Mexican 
men had no alternative but to work for wages.76
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By the 1940s these factors helped to create the racial stereotype in  Tucson 
that O’odham women were particularly fi t to work as domestics. Just after 
World War II, one researcher found that O’odham women made up the bulk 
of the domestic service workforce for local businesses and private homes, 
while a smaller proportion of ethnic Mexican women, and very few Yaquis, 
held such positions. In fact, by that time many felt that Tohono O’odham 
women had an inherent affinity for domestic labor. Employers chose to 
explain the overrepresentation of these women in paid domestic work as a 
natural phenomenon, suggesting they were “much superior” to other eth-
nic groups in such positions. But, for O’odham women, recruitment by the 
BIA had encouraged a situation in which domestic wage work was becom-
ing an accepted occupation, while it remained a questionable way to earn 
a living for Yaqui women.77

In sum, for the Tohono O’odham, Yaquis, and ethnic Mexicans in the bar-
rios, distinctly gendered patterns of wage work—patterns that emerged only 
as they became entangled with the developing wage economy—became 
markers of ethno-racial identity. Over time these differences became, along 
with religion, kinship, and ethnic institutions, social markers of ethnic 
difference. Those who strayed too far from established patterns (such as 
Antonia Valenzuela) risked accusations of improper behavior; or worse, of 
forsaking their kin in order to achieve status in the eyes of another ethnic 
group.

me xic an-americ an responses to immigr ation

Not all ethnic Mexicans were immersed in the transnational folk culture 
of the Arizona-Sonora borderlands. By the 1910s many Mexican Americans, 
particularly those from the middle class, hoped to distinguish themselves 
from the growing population of Mexican nationals in order to secure a 
cultural and social status as fully American. Since Anglo-Americans often 
failed to differentiate between Mexican Americans and Mexican nationals, 
the tenuous higher social position that some middle-class Mexican Ameri-
cans had established seemed threatened. These Mexican Americans worried 
that the new immigrants might undermine their own struggle to achieve 
acceptance and national belonging.78

Mexican Americans were sharply aware of the growing threats to their 
own social, economic, and political status. After 1880 intermarriage be-
tween Anglos and Mexican Americans became less common. Between 1900 
and 1910 ethnic Mexicans became a numerical minority even in Tucson. 
By the beginning of World War I, they no longer served as mayors, sheriffs, 
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or legislators and experienced many kinds of institutional discrimination. 
They were rarely called to serve on juries, were the fi rst to be laid off during 
economic downturns, and when tried in the courts were more often con-
victed and served longer sentences than Anglo-Americans. To many Mexi-
can Americans the presence of thousands of Mexican nationals seemed to 
threaten any chance that they had of reversing these trends.79

Indeed, some Mexican Americans placed much of the blame for their own 
precarious social status on Mexican nationals. In Arizona an ambivalent 
stance toward immigration was particularly apparent within the mutual-
istas, or mutual-aid societies. Historically, the mutualistas had embraced 
the principle that ethnic Mexicans shared a cultural heritage and a mutual 
responsibility to come to one another’s aid, regardless of national citizen-
ship. The oldest and largest mutualista in the state, the Alianza Hispano-
Americana, was formed in 1894 by members of Tucson’s declining elite, but 
its members included both a newer class of small businessmen and a large 
number of immigrants. In time the Club Latina, Club Azteca, Sociedad 
Mexicana-Americana, and the Liga Protectora Latina joined the Alianza 
in organizing social events, offering low-cost life insurance, and providing 
fi nancial aid. Still, in their struggle to be accepted as respectable, patriotic 
citizens, many Mexican-American members of these mutualistas grew to 
resent Mexican nationals who lived in the rural towns, mining centers, and 
barrios. As one historian has explained, while the mutualistas agreed on 
the importance of uplifting the dignity of “those of our race,” most also held 
fi rm the principle of self-improvement and the “love of work,” and persis-
tently encouraged the Mexican working class to “moderate its customs.”80

Certain mutualistas more than others actively served the interests of 
Mexican nationals. In 1915, for example, Mexican Americans in the Salt 
River valley organized the Liga Protectora Latina (often called simply the 
Liga or LPL) as a direct response to the alien labor bill passed by referen-
dum the previous year. Pedro G. de La Lama, an educated immigrant who 
had crossed the border in 1886, was the driving force behind the LPL and 
its resistance to the proposed legislation. In February 1915 he and a few 
other infl uential ethnic Mexicans in Phoenix called a mass meeting to 
voice their opposition to the law. Hundreds of Mexican miners signed a 
petition opposing the new legislation and subsequently began forming lo-
cal lodges of the Liga in their own communities. Like most mutualistas, 
the Liga provided health and funeral benefi ts and encouraged the ethnic 
Mexican population to become educated. But its more inclusive rhetoric, 
refl ected in its slogan Uno para todos, todos para uno (One for all, all for 
one), and its more explicitly confrontational stance attracted discontented 
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working-class immigrants more successfully than other mutualistas. As a 
result, in only two years, the Liga grew to rival the Alianza as the second 
largest mutualista in the state, with thirty lodges. Ultimately, the Liga’s 
opposition failed to overturn the Alien Labor Law, but the federal district 
court subsequently declared it unconstitutional.81

An internal struggle within the Liga revealed how the growing infl ux of 
Mexican nationals forced Mexican-American members to take a clearer po-
sition on immigration in the Salt River valley. On May 15, 1919, Pedro de la 
Lama sent a written complaint to Arizona Governor Thomas E.  Campbell 
charging the Arizona Cotton Growers Association (ACGA) with manipu-
lating, exploiting, and mistreating thousands of Mexican farmworkers. de 
la Lama claimed that the ACGA and the growers were not fulfi lling the 
stipulations of their contracts and of the regulations under the ninth pro-
viso. Most of the pickers, he charged, lived in tents clustered in unsanitary 
camps, and they were paid less than had been promised in their contracts. 
He also claimed that many growers had either deducted wages from the 
workers to pay for their provisions or had paid the workers with purchase 
orders at company stores.82

Ironically, two of the stores singled out by de la Lama as the worst per-
petrators were those owned by the Mexican-American founders of the fi rst 
Liga lodge in Tempe, the Estrada family. Rafael Estrada was a Pima County 
native who owned a substantial amount of farmland in the Salt River val-
ley. He and his sons had founded Liga Lodge No. 1 in Tempe in 1914. The 
Tempe lodge had become one of the most active in the state, providing 
fi nancial assistance and serving as an employment agency. In fact, the 
 Estradas had become full-time enganchadores for the ACGA. Rafael trav-
eled to Sonora, Sinaloa, Nayarit, and sometimes Zacatecas, earning four 
dollars for each worker he recruited. His sons, Pedro and Ramón, managed 
two family stores from which they sold food and provisions to the workers 
once they arrived in the Salt River valley.83

In 1919 de la Lama accused the Estrada family of engaging in dishon-
est recruitment tactics and forcing workers to buy overpriced goods from 
their stores. Euro-American ranchers and farmers near Tempe had come to 
depend on the Estradas as important mediators with their Mexican work-
ers. Pedro Estrada would later explain that his father was well liked by the 
Anglo community in Maricopa County, who affectionately referred to him 
as Guero because, according to Pedro, he had ruddy skin and sandy hair. 
In early-twentieth-century Arizona, the name also implied that Estrada’s 
status as a landowner and a contractor whitened him in the eyes of the 
regional elite. To de la Lama and others, however, he was a power-hungry 
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sellout. The Mexican consul from Los Angeles, who conducted an investi-
gation of the Estradas upon de la Lama’s request, criticized Rafael Estrada 
for exploiting Mexican nationals in order to achieve personal status. As he 
put it, Estrada was a “renegade Mexican” and a “blond Christ who is the 
epitome of a cacique” (a boss/tyrant).84

The accusations signaled a growing rift among Mexican-American lead-
ers in the Salt River valley. In 1919 and 1920 the Liga was hobbled by an 
internal struggle for control between those who wished to serve as advo-
cates for the immigrant poor and those who wished to promote an image 
of middle-class respectability and patriotic citizenship. Those in the latter 
group were especially concerned about the growing nativism and fear of 
radicalism that was sweeping the nation after World War I. By the end of 
the year, they emerged victorious, and the LPL took a decidedly conserva-
tive turn. An increase in its initiation fees resulted in a predictable exodus 
of the poorer, largely immigrant members. When José Castelán, a mem-
ber of Tucson’s Lodge No. 8, protested the change, the lodge expelled him. 
With the new leadership in control, Liga membership rapidly dropped, and 
by the mid-1920s it ceased to function as an active organization.85

The Liga’s demise left the immigrant working class with little effec-
tive support among the Mexican-American leadership of the mutualistas 
in their battle against systematic discrimination and labor exploitation. 
Throughout the 1920s the Alianza Hispano-Americana and other mutual-
istas suggested that Mexicans could best gain acceptance and citizenship 
through hard work and education, rather than through organized protest. 
Refl ecting this belief, the Alianza worked with the Phoenix American-
ization Committee to establish a new social center, called Friendly House, 
in south Phoenix. Its purpose was primarily to turn Mexicans into Ameri-
cans by instilling civic virtue and teaching home economics, hygiene, and 
English. As Adam Díaz, a Mexican-American board member, recalled, 
Friendly House “was for teaching the immigrants how to cope with a coun-
try as strange as America. . . . They would take them in and orient them, 
and help them with the Constitution and help with their English” in order 
to make them “ready for their citizenship.”86

Perhaps the majority of Mexican immigrants had no desire to as similate. 
Manuel Gamio, in a series of interviews conducted in the latter 1920s, found 
this to be a common perspective among Mexicans in Arizona and through-
out the Southwest. Among those he interviewed was Carlos  Morales, who 
had been born and raised in Sonora in the 1880s and ’90s before moving to 
Tucson during the Mexican Revolution. Morales told Gamio, “I haven’t 
wanted to, nor do I want to learn English, for I am not thinking of living in 
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this country all my life. . . . I don’t like anything about this country, nei-
ther its customs nor its climate, nothing, that is to say.” Like many border 
crossers, Morales had fi rst entered Arizona to escape the violence of the 
revolution, and he had remained because of the economic opportunities 
he found there. Some day soon, however, he hoped to return to Mexico to 
rebuild his life as a Mexican citizen.87

Indeed, for those Mexican nationals who had no intention of  becoming 
naturalized American citizens, Americanization was both undesirable and 
irrelevant. Thousands either held on to their national identity and citizen-
ship as Mexicans or felt little loyalty to either the Mexican or the U.S. 
nation-states. For many, connections to kin and to multiethnic  local com-
munities of O’odham, Yaquis, and ethnic Mexicans remained more salient 
than national belonging. Instead, they maintained their own ethnic and 
inter ethnic cultural and social networks in barrios and rural towns, shel-
tering themselves from or struggling against discrimination and exclusion.

In the early decades of the twentieth century, both the territorial border 
between the United States and Mexico and the ethnic boundaries between 
indigenous peoples and ethnic Mexicans remained fuzzy and permeable. 
Movement back and forth across the border and transnational cultural 
practices defi ed in the line on the map separating the two nations, while 
intermarriage, compadrazgo, interethnic cultural and religious practices, 
and shared language (Spanish) and class status, among other factors, belied 
stark ethno-racial classifi cations.

During this same period, however, the U.S. government began the po-
lice the territorial border, restrict immigration, and prevent interethnic 
mixing through miscegenation laws and other policies directed at specifi c, 
racialized ethnic groups. The government, for example, viewed the Tohono 
O’odham as American Indians, but not the Yaquis, dramatically affecting 
each group’s place in the regional order (as “American Indians” with a res-
ervation versus landless refugees from Mexico). Moreover, some Mexican 
Americans defi ned themselves as fully American and/or as white to dis-
tinguish themselves from Indians and Mexican nationals. Even variations 
in gendered patterns of wage work became markers of ethno-racial iden-
tity. Over time, divergent positions within the regional political economy, 
along with emerging racial ideologies and state policies that were intoler-
ant of blurry ethnic categories, infl uenced how the residents of Arizona’s 
borderlands defi ned themselves—albeit, as will become apparent, often in 
unanticipated ways.
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chap ter 4

defining the white citizen-worker

As the Great Depression descended on south-central Arizona in June 1930, 
the Arizona State Federation of Labor (ASFL) called for new restrictions 
on Mexican immigration to protect “white citizen-workers of Arizona 
and other Southwestern states.”1 Such explicitly racial calls for shutting 
the border were nothing new, dating back to the early part of the century. 
Arizona’s trade unions had long confl ated national identity with race, us-
ing white and American citizen interchangeably. From the time Arizona 
became a state, many native Anglo, Irish, and Cornish Americans fought 
to restrict full citizenship rights to white Americans and English speakers. 
They lobbied for the 1909 English Literacy Law and the 1914 Alien Labor 
Law in order to protect the boundaries of the white citizen-worker and to 
ensure their own inclusion within those boundaries.

Still, the defi nition of white citizen-worker remained permeable as 
employers, politicians, Mexican nationals, Mexican Americans, Euro-
pean immigrants, and Anglos negotiated and struggled over the cultural 
and racial meaning of citizenship. In the years leading up to World War I, 
Italian, Spanish, and Slavic immigrants fought to ensure that they would 
be counted as industrious white citizens. They did so, in part, by join-
ing Euro-Americans in fi ghting to defi ne Mexican immigrants—and not 
themselves—as nonwhite aliens. However, when ethnic Mexican workers 
actively challenged their own subordinate status by organizing and strik-
ing, European immigrants and Euro-Americans were forced to reassess 
their own racial exclusionism.2

The boundaries of whiteness remained somewhat permeable, although 
less so, into the 1930s. The Depression amplifi ed fear that Mexican work-
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ers were degrading the economic and social status of the Euro-American 
working class. Pressure from Arizona and other southwestern states com-
pelled the Labor Department to restrict Mexican immigration and ini tiate 
a nation wide repatriation campaign in the 1930s. Ironically enough, after 
the Mexican workforce thinned out, Euro-American migrants from the 
Plains states began working under the same substandard conditions (often 
for even lower wages) familiar to Mexicans and Indians. The boundaries 
of whiteness blurred once again as incoming migrants were labeled Okies 
and white trash, were shuttled into poor neighborhoods, and faced the con-
tempt of many native, Anglo Arizonans.3

While scholars such as Noel Ignatiev, David Roediger, and Linda  Gordon 
have focused on how various groups of European immigrants “became 
white” in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, this chapter 
demonstrates that, rather than making unidirectional progress toward 
whiteness, some groups would move into and out of its circle.4 Still, by 
the end of World War II, the boundaries of whiteness would become more 
fi xed as Mexican immigrants grew to far outnumber other immigrants, as 
many Okies moved into more skilled positions or out of agricultural work 
altogether, and as the Bracero Program reinforced the idea that migrant 
farmwork was nonwhite, noncitizen labor. Historian Neil Foley has argued 
that, in Texas, whiteness remained fractured when white yeomen farm-
ers lost status by falling off the agricultural ladder to become “off-white” 
farmworkers.5 In Arizona, however, there was a relatively small class of 
Euro-American family farmers and no comparable ladder from which to 
fall. By the end of the war, the boundaries of whiteness would become less 
permeable than ever.

copper and the limits of intere thnic organizing

As World War I raged in Europe, Mexican, Spanish, Italian, Slavic, and in-
digenous miners throughout southern and central Arizona organized a se-
ries of strikes, initially without the support of Anglo, Irish, and Cornish 
(referred to collectively here and known as Anglo) trade unionists. These 
workers directly confronted both their unequal treatment by the mining 
companies and a racialized discourse that labeled them as lazy, tractable, 
and degenerate. For Anglo trade unionists, recognition of the new labor 
movement would imply a rejection of the principle that so-called foreign-
ers were the source of their own precarious economic status and an accep-
tance of an identity based on the shared experience of class exploitation. 
The implications of these strikes thus reached well beyond the mining 
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towns, since they would help to defi ne white citizen-workers throughout 
the state for decades to come.

Since the late nineteenth century, the boundaries of whiteness had been 
in fl ux. Linda Gordon’s study of turn-of-the-century Clifton-Morenci, a 
mining town in southeastern Arizona, convincingly demonstrates that 
Spaniards, Italians, and eastern Europeans “were not (yet) clearly white 
or nonwhite.” Anglo-Americans viewed Catholic “Euro-Latins,” to use 
Gordon’s term, as alien because of their religion, language, darker skin, 
and lower economic status. When a local police officer referred to a crowd 
of workers as consisting of “Dagoes, Bohunks, and foreigners of different 
kinds—no whites at all,” he was expressing a common sentiment that 
some Europeans were not quite white.6

Anglos viewed Euro-Latins and Slavs in other mining towns similarly. 
In Globe the editor of the Arizona Silver Belt suggested in 1902 that east-
ern and southern Europeans were excessively “clannish,” and “ignorant of 
our language, of our customs and of our laws.”7 Others referred to them as 
“less intelligent whites” who, like Mexicans and Indians, did not have the 
character to make good unionists or citizens.8 Katherine Benton found the 
same to be true in Bisbee: “Children who grew up in Bisbee remembered 
the stinging epithet of ‘Bohunk’ heard in the street and schoolyard.”9 As 
these examples suggest, Anglo-Americans often identifi ed themselves as 
white in opposition to Mexicans, Indians, and to recent southern and east-
ern Europeans alike.

The wage structures in the mines were clearly biased against those 
deemed foreigners and/or nonwhite. In Clifton Morenci, for example, 
both native Anglos and immigrants considered “old-stock” (a racial term 
referring primarily to the Cornish, English, Irish, and Germans) earned 
the highest wages, while Italian immigrants earned substantially less (see 
Figure 4.1, page 110). In Bisbee, Slavs and Italians were in the middle of a 
multitiered wage scale. In what were called white men’s camps like Bisbee, 
Anglo work ers came to an agreement with management to retain such a 
wage structure, making organizing between these groups unlikely.10

Gender in the mining camps was also intertwined with the racializa-
tion of those thought of as foreigners. Anglo workers claimed that they 
had families to support and homes to maintain but that Mexicans, Slavs, 
and Euro-Latins could survive on lower wages because they were suppos-
edly more transitory. By about the turn of the century, many Mexican and 
Italian men had left their families in their home countries, sending their 
wages back to support them. Even when these groups began to bring their 
families with them, however, the myth persisted. As a Bisbee resident de-
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clared, “The foreign element can live on a mere pittance to what a white 
man can. . . . All that is necessary [to demonstrate this fact] is for a man to 
go up north of the Catholic Church and in an oblong building he will fi nd 
a bunch of Italians living as no white man can.” Comments such as this 
implied that all Italians were single men with no desire to improve their 
condition or raise families in their own homes.11

Early in the twentieth century, southern and eastern European im-
migrants occasionally joined with Mexican workers to protest unequal 
wages and working conditions. In June 1903, for example, the Arizona 
and Detroit Copper Company in Clifton-Morenci reduced the workday 
for underground miners to eight from ten hours—a move that might have 
been welcomed had it not meant a decrease in the daily wage from $2.50 to 
$2.25. In response, thirty-fi ve hundred Mexican, Italian, and Slavic workers 
walked out and demanded a return to the higher wage, better safety, health 
benefi ts, a closed (union) shop as well as, more broadly, igualdad (equal-
ity) and justicia. Neither the Anglo-dominated trade unions nor the state 
government offered support. Territorial Governor Alexander Brodie dis-
missed the strikers as members of an amorphous “foreign element among 
the miners,” while press reports blamed the strike on “Mexicans, Italians 
and other foreigners.”12 The West ern Federation of Miners (WFM) offered 
verbal encouragement but no material support. Just when the strikers ap-
proached a showdown with the Arizona Rangers and the territorial militia, 
the town was fl ooded by a downpour of rain and hail in which thirty-nine 
people died and because of which the strike ended.13

Linda Gordon has identifi ed the Clifton-Morenci strike as a turning 
point in the history of Arizona’s racial order. Intimidated by the nativist 
rhetoric against the strike, many Italians, Slavs, and others not from west-
ern Europe attempted to disassociate themselves from the ethnic Mexi-
can population. Some Italians married into established Anglo families and 
worked their way into Anglo fraternal lodges and craft unions to distin-
guish themselves from the ethnic Mexican population. Women as well as 
men found ways to prove themselves to be white citizens. Gordon uses 
the example of Luisa and John Gatti, who attempted to enhance their own 
social positions during a local dispute concerning the adoption of Irish-
American orphans by Mexican-American families. After the families ad-
opted the children from a New York orphanage, Louisa Gatti, manipulat-
ing the discourse of both race and motherhood, protested that the children 
were white and did not belong in Mexican homes. The Gattis helped to 
organize a vigilante effort to “rescue” the children and to challenge the 
adoptions in court. Eventually, the dispute was resolved in the Supreme 
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Court, and the Gattis won custody of one of the children. By 1905, Gordon 
argues, “the Gattis were unquestionably Anglos.”14

It would be a mistake, however, to overstate the extent to which Euro-
Latins and Slavs became white after 1905. Rather than there being a strict 
Anglo/Mexican racial binary, “Americans” (including English-speaking 
immigrants), “foreigners,” including Slavs and Euro-Latins, Mexicans 
and, at the bottom, Indians all were separated. Anglo, Cornish, and Irish 
organizers dominated the craft unions, which were associated with the 
American Federation of Labor (AFL), as well as the Western Federation of 
Miners (WFM). Philip Mellinger has shown that at mining towns such as 
Bisbee, “labor peace was based upon an understanding between the older, 
settled mining workers” and company officials. Managers tolerated Anglo 
union membership only if unskilled eastern and southern European work-
ers were kept out. Thus, when Slavic workers at Bisbee demanded to be 
admitted into the WFM in 1907, most Anglo workers refused to join them. 
When Slavic and Italian workers went on strike anyway, they were quickly 
defeated.15

More than a decade after the 1903 Clifton-Morenci strike, Euro-Latins 
still had not been fully accepted as white. In 1915, for example, in the min-
ing town of Ray about one thousand Spanish immigrants lived segregated 
in a neighborhood called Barcelona, adjacent to the Mexican section known 
as Sonoratown. Wages for Mexican and Spanish workers alike were only 
$2.25 for muckers and $3 for machine workers, signifi cantly lower than 
wages for Anglos in “white men’s camps” such as Miami where, due to the 
efforts of the WFM, muckers and machine workers earned $3.75 and $4.15, 
respectively.16

Anecdotal evidence suggests that Anglo workers were more likely to 
classify Spanish immigrants as akin to Mexicans than as white because 
of the similarities in language, religion, and cultural and kinship ties be-
tween the two groups. In Miami, Enrique Pastor’s experiences serve as an 
example. He was born in 1915 to a Spanish father, Antonio, and a Mexican 
mother, Isabel. Antonio, despite being Spanish, had moved with his new 
wife into what was known as Mexican Canyon. There, Enrique recalled, 
Anglo employers restricted both Spanish and Mexican workers to one side 
of the local Catholic Church. “You would go into the church, and the left 
side was [for] the Mexican peo ple. The Anglos [sat] on the right. . . . You 
have to remember that my father came from Spain, a very religious coun-
try. Yet, any Spaniard you might not see in church.”17

Their often-intimate relationships and the similarities in the patterns of 
discrimination against Mexicans, Spaniards, Italians, and Slavs provided 
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an impetus for these groups to form alliances and, at times, to protest col-
lectively. An incident at Ray began two years of sustained labor activism 
throughout the southern half of the state. The Ray Consolidated Copper 
Company and the local sheriff’s department was keeping a strangle hold 
on the workers, intimidating, ejecting, or jailing purported trouble makers. 
In 1914, when the mining companies slashed wages throughout south-
ern Arizona by 10 percent, the workers began to organize. Copper prices 
rebounded dramatically the next year due to wartime demand, and the 
mostly Anglo/Irish/Cornish WFM local at Miami won a wage increase in 
the form of a sliding scale that tied their wages to the rising price of cop-
per. Euro-Latin and Mexican workers at Ray soon decided that they should 
benefi t similarly. Despite lacking the support of the WFM or of local Anglo 
workers, about one hundred ethnic Mexican miners went on strike. Span-
iards soon joined them to form a workingman’s committee, demanding 
that they be placed on the higher wage scale and that the company conduct 
a “proper inspection and an amount of repair work sufficient to render the 
mine safe.”18

The mainstream press declared that the strike was mostly the result of 
racial tension, and historians have accepted this view all too readily. Dur-
ing the strike, the conservative Arizona press fought an ideological battle 
to appeal to Anglo perceptions of the strikers as degenerate “bandits” and 
“revolutionaries” who were “easily swayed by radical orders.” Newspaper 
accounts raised fears about the possibility of an imminent “race war.” 
These accounts capitalized on violence between a few Mexican and An-
glo workers, border skirmishes associated with the Mexican Revolution, 
and rumors of impending war with Mexico. In particular, they raised fears 
about the Plan of San Diego, a document found by authorities in Texas 
that called for an uprising against the United States. Yet, in stark con-
trast to these reports, the Ray strikers remained orderly and peaceful, while 
demanding higher wages, better working conditions, and equality. I have 
found nothing other than these newspaper accounts to suggest that the 
workers intended to engage in a revolution.19

The activism of Mexican and Spanish workers at Ray challenged the na-
tivism of Anglo union leaders. The national leadership of the AFL had been 
particularly guilty of alarmist, racist rhetoric, and the recently organized 
Arizona State Federation of Labor ASFL followed suit. In the WFM, mean-
while, a new group of organizers struggled against older leaders to make 
the union more inclusive. In 1915 these younger, regional leaders actively 
supported the Mexican and Spanish workers, discounting claims that the 
strikes were solely a matter of racial strife. Even the ASFL, in a marked 
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shift in its rhetoric, refused to endorse press reports that blamed the Ray 
strike on racial antagonism and Mexican nationalism. Contributors to the 
ASFL’s Arizona Labor Journal ridiculed accounts in the Silver Belt and the 
Arizona Republican that blamed the strike on interracial confl ict, suggest-
ing instead that “the spreading of the rumor that racial trouble had arisen 
in Ray” was merely a strategy to delegitimize the strike. They argued fur-
ther that the press was trying to “appeal to American ‘patriotism’ to ‘de-
fend’ the country against Mexican conquest.” ASFL and WFM organizers 
thus explicitly rejected a nationalist and nativist justifi cation for crushing 
the strike, implying—at least for the time being—that workers’ rights tran-
scended lines of race, culture, and citizenship.20

Some Anglo organizers, in fact, viewed the Ray strike as an opportu-
nity to press for higher wages and working conditions in all of the min-
ing camps, for all ethnic groups. Anglo representatives from the Globe-
Miami WFM local, in their words, “found conditions much as they had 
been described by the visiting Mexicans.” Unlike in previous years, the 
WFM took concrete steps to aid the strikers, granting a local charter to 
eight hundred mostly Mexican and Spanish workers. Even the ASFL de-
cided to support the strike, listing the workers’ fi ve demands in its news-
paper. The demands included the adoption of the Miami wage scale, an 
eight-hour day, lunch breaks, an end to labor contracts, and the “right to 
speak freely on all subjects at meetings held at their own pleasure.”21

The Ray strike ended after two weeks with only a partial victory, but 
the support from the Anglo-dominated unions that had been adversarial 
before the strike made it much more signifi cant than the immediate gains 
might suggest. The company agreed to a new wage scale, but at only sixty 
cents above the current wages, rather than the $1.50 increase for muckers 
and $1.15 for machine men originally demanded. It offered a vague promise 
not to discriminate against union men in the future, provided that the Ray 
workers agree not to form their own WFM local. Instead, seven hundred 
mostly Spanish and Mexican workers joined the overwhelmingly Anglo lo-
cal at Globe-Miami. The workers also won the right to hold meetings with-
out company interference, and underground workers won thirty-minute
lunch breaks. This was clearly only a partial victory, but the ASFL con-
sidered it an important step forward. An ASFL organizer declared in the 
Arizona Labor Journal, “Great credit should be given to the Mexican strik-
ers who closely followed the advice of their committee, which discounte-
nanced all forms and attempts at disorder.” Such descriptions were a direct 
refutation of claims in the mainstream press of an imminent, revolution-
ary race war, or of an anarchical Mexican population that was “easily 
swayed” by radical orders.22
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The Ray strike, and a strike at Clifton-Morenci a few months later, dem-
onstrated that interethnic industrial unionism had taken hold, directly 
challenging the enforced racial divisions between ethnic groups in the 
mining towns. At Clifton-Morenci, fi ve thousand ethnic Mexican, Span-
ish, Italian, and Anglo workers went on strike together. The WFM locals 
at the Anglo-dominated Globe and Miami districts offered $15,000 in sup-
port.23 Like the strike at Ray, it remained mostly peaceful, and in the end 
the strikers won a minimum wage of $2 per shift and a sliding wage scale. 
In return, however, the company demanded that the workers abandon their 
new WFM locals and receive a much smaller wage increase than they had 
demanded.24

The importance of these strikes in ethno-racial terms is apparent in 
union membership roles. In Globe-Miami, for the fi rst time, Italian, Slavic, 
and Mexican workers together made up the majority on the local WFM 
board. Some local union men protested that the board was now “alien,” and 
Samuel Gompers of the AFL accused the leadership of the union of harbor-
ing “pro-German” and IWW (Industrial Workers of the World) sympathies. 
In reality, in 1916 the IWW had a substantial presence only in Bisbee. The 
local WFM and the ASFL had themsleves become more confrontational and 
inclusive. The ASFL increased its power relative to other unions, particu-
larly after internal disputes within the WFM in 1916. That year the more 
radical members of the WFM branched off from the union and changed 
their name to the International Union of Mine Mill and Smelter Workers 
(Mine-Mill) to send a message that the union would no longer fi ght only 
for those workers deemed fully American. The new level of cooperation 
between workers of various national and ethnic backgrounds signaled the 
emergence of a powerful, multiethnic labor movement.25

Middle-class Mexican Americans in Phoenix and Tucson found their 
own loyalties tested by the strikers. Much of the Spanish-language press 
and many mutualistas disapproved of the strikes, insisting on the impor-
tance of order and patriotism at a time of international crisis. Having 
come to resent the lack of distinction that many Anglo-Americans made 
between Mexican nationals and Mexican-American citizens, some tried 
to distance themselves from the strikes.26 One mutualista—the Liga Pro-
tectora Latina—initially bucked the trend by offering moral and material 
support to the strikers. A local lodge of the Liga in Ray, while apparently 
not directly involved in planning the strike, provided some fi nancial sup-
port for the strikers.27

In early December 1916 the wartime labor movement became even more 
inclusive when Tohono O’odham laborers joined a general strike at Ajo—an 
important fact that existing accounts of strikes in the World War I era have 
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overlooked. The Ajo strike began after the local carpenters and electrical 
workers sent a petition to the company demanding that they be placed 
on the sliding-wage scale. When the company offered only a 50-cent in-
crease, the carpenters and electricians appealed to the unorganized, largely 
ethnic Mexican and indigenous workers for their support. Hundreds of 
ethnic Mexican and Tohohno O’odham workers joined the strike the next 
week. Ed Crow, a Mine-Mill organizer, traveled to the district and helped 
to form a strike committee which demanded full recognition of the union 
and wages equal to those paid at Miami and Douglas. The ASFL urged all 
Arizona locals to support the strikers, optimistically predicting that “the 
prize, if we do this and put all our strength and resources behind the strike 
at Ajo, will be the fi rst closed camp in the state.”28

Over one hundred Tohono O’odham participated in the Ajo strike, de-
fying contemporary stereotypes of Indians as passive, pliant, and depen-
dent. Shortly after the strike began, Mike Curley, the superintendent of 
the New Cornelia Copper Company, complained to Rev. T. Wand on the 
 Tohono O’odham reservation that “the majority of the men working for 
this company went out on a strike. Among them were the Indians and the 
Mexicans.” Curley requested that Wand persuade the O’odham to return 
to work, but there is no evidence that Wand fulfi lled his request. Instead, 
according to the Arizona Labor Journal, 130 O’odham joined the union, 
representing “perhaps the fi rst instance on record where any body of Indi-
ans has ever joined a labor union.”29

The sheriff again intimidated the strikers with arrests, and the company 
and the mainstream press fed fears of racial violence, Mexican bandits, and 
revolutionaries in order to persuade the federal government to intervene. 
Purportedly to protect the American residents of Ajo from these impend-
ing threats, 150 troops from the 14th Infantry entered Ajo on December 20. 
The publisher of the company-run Ajo Copper News justifi ed the move in 
an editorial the following Saturday, invoking the Villista raid on Colum-
bus, New Mexico, several months earlier. “It would be an easy matter for 
a few hundred Mexican bandits to surprise the camp at any time and loot 
it, or worse, and get away before U.S. troops could possibly reach the camp. 
The News does not expect a raid, but, for that matter, neither did the peo-
ple of Columbus, N.M.—it came, nevertheless. Preparedness is wise.” Ed 
Miller of the ASFL ridiculed the claim that the military was there to pro-
tect the camp from Mexican bandits. He pointed out that the soldiers were 
not stationed in a position to protect the town from an external threat, 
but rather “right between Superintendent Curley’s house and the company 
boarding house.”30
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Unlike the Clifton and Ray strikes, the Ajo strike was a complete fail-
ure, brought about by the strategic use of rhetoric by the press about Mexi-
can “bandits” and intimidation by the sheriff’s department and the U.S. 
Army.31 Once the troops were in place, the company published a notice that 
all workers who desired to return to work would be permitted to. Many 
strikers held out for a while, but by the end of January, all had either left 
town or trickled back to work.32 The company continued to capitalize on 
fears of a Mexican raid in order to persuade the army to remain encamped 
in town. In March the Ajo Copper News suggested that “any person, com-
pany or corporation having infl uence should use every means possible to 
have the company of soldiers here now remain.”33 By July, Anglos in the 
town had organized the Citizens’ and Property Holders’ Protective Asso-
ciation and the Workman’s Loyalty League. The Copper News was happy 
to announce that “there is intense earnestness manifest and grim deter-
mination that does not augur well for any disturbers in our midst.” The 
members of these organizations painted themselves as the true citizens of 
the mining town, while characterizing Mexicans, in particular, as radical, 
disorderly aliens.34

By April 1917 the entrance of the United States into World War I put a 
new premium on national loyalty and patriotism, prompting many support-
ers of the labor movement to reverse their positions. Middle-class Mexican 
Americans, particularly after the recent nativist assault in the mainstream 
press, were under the greatest pressure to reassert their loyalty as citizens. 
Even the Liga Protectora Latina, which had supported the 1915 strike at 
Ray, printed a pro-war, antistrike message on all of its stationery: “Help our 
country by co-operating in all industries without giving any cause of any 
disturbance between capital and labor. . . . It will help win the war.”35

Wartime demands for patriotism contributed to the most egregious in-
stance of union busting in the World War I era: the Bisbee deportation. IWW 
organizers had decided to make Bisbee a test case of industrial unionism in 
Arizona, and for six months after the Ajo strike they catalyzed worker dis-
content. In July 1917 the strike began. Ethnic Mexican and Slavic workers 
at the mines called for a substantial increase in wages for surface workers 
and an end to the blacklisting of union members by Phelps Dodge. While 
the IWW was more concerned with national worker solidarity than local 
circumstances at Bisbee, the Mexican, Slavic, and Finnish workers at the 
Copper Queen saw the strike as an opportunity to end the inequalities in 
Bisbee’s so-called white man’s camp. About 90 percent of the workforce 
joined the strike.36

The strike explicitly aimed not only to equalize wages but to challenge 
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the racialized and gendered ideology of Bisbee’s white man’s camp. Non-
Anglo workers were no longer willing to tolerate the fact that white men 
received higher wages—a practice justifi ed by their supposedly higher 
standard of living and greater need to care for their families. In short they 
rejected the notion of a superior white manhood and sought to challenge 
Anglo perceptions that they were irrational and unmanly transient work-
ers. The strike was thus about race, gender, and class simultaneously.37

Phelps Dodge refused to tolerate the challenge to its racially ordered 
camp. In a scene comparable to Ajo, the local Workers’ Loyalty League 
and Citizens Protective League, along with the local sheriff and company 
manag ers, were determined to be rid of local agitators. The sheriff deputized 
hundreds of Anglos in these organizations who then invaded the workers’ 
homes at dawn and marched twelve hundred of them onto twenty-three 
boxcars, deporting them to Columbus, New Mexico. Most of the deported 
workers would never return to Bisbee. More than twenty years would pass 
before mine workers in Arizona would successfully begin to organize a 
new series of strikes to challenge the racialized class hierarchy.38

Despite the defeat, Euro-Americans from eastern and southern  Europe 
had taken a large step toward acceptance by Anglo workers as white 
 citizen-workers through their growing involvement in the regional unions. 
From 1915 to 1917 strikes improved wages and chipped away at racial in-
equalities. The Miami sliding-wage scale became common in many of Ari-
zona’s copper towns, and Euro-American workers in select camps, such 
as Bisbee, enjoyed higher wage scales. The gap between the pay for Euro-
Latins and Anglo workers narrowed. In certain camps, such as Clifton-
Morenci,  Spanish-surnamed men retained their positions as officials of 
ASFL union locals, and Spanish-surnamed workers made up half of the 
union rolls. Still, the copper companies continued to enforce segregation 
and discrimination against ethnic Mexicans. Moreover, both in the ASFL 
and Mine-Mill organizations, anti-immigrant forces pushed their agenda. 
Eastern and southern European immigration declined substantially in the 
years after the strikes—particularly after the national origins laws in 1921 
and 1924 initiated restrictive quotas on the number of people that could 
emigrate from these countries. In the meantime, Mexican immigration 
continued to climb.39

From 1915 to 1917 Mexicans had made convenient scapegoats, both be-
cause the radicalism and violence of the Mexican Revolution helped to 
justify a hard line against the strikes and because Mexican immigration 
was far outpacing that of any other group. In 1910 Mexican immigration 
to Arizona already outpaced immigration from all other nations combined 
(Figure 4.1). A decade later the federal census indicated that the number 
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of Mexican nationals had doubled to about sixty thousand, a number that 
certainly undercounted undocumented Mexican immigrants (Figure 4.2). 
This infl ux made Mexicans appear to be a far greater threat than other 
national and/or ethnic groups. In 1925 one ASFL organizer complained 
that Arizona’s mining camps had come to be dominated by “campesinos 
and peons from the farms and haciendas” of Mexico, who depressed the 
wages of the American workers. A Mexican/Anglo dichotomy was becom-
ing clearer than ever before, while racial distinctions between eastern and 
southern Europeans and Anglos were becoming much less common.40

The fact that some Mexican Americans attempted to pass as eastern 
or southern Europeans to avoid discrimination demonstrates this point. 
Carlos Contreras, who grew up in Tempe before he took a job in Ajo, re-
called that in the 1930s he and his family almost managed to enter a public 
swimming pool by claiming to be southern European. “Our parents told 
us we couldn’t go swimming because we were Mexicans but if we tried we 
might pass for Italians or Greeks. Well we almost made it. Two or three of 
the family had gone thru when I came up to pay. The man asked me if I was 
Mexican and I answered no, then he said ‘Como te llamas?’ I answered im-
mediately without thinking, ‘Carlos.’ You can imagine how low my heart 
sank.” Contreras’s mistake marked itself indelibly in his consciousness, 
clarifying for him on what side of the boundary between white and non-
white he fell.41

This is not to suggest that an Anglo/Mexican dichotomy was so hege-
monic that other ethno-racial distinctions disappeared. Indians still found 
themselves relegated to a third-tier position in both the mining and agri-
cultural sectors. And many Spaniards in places like Ray-Sonora-Barcelona 
continued to live segregated within their own neighborhoods or together 
with ethnic Mexicans. Many of them, due largely to linguistic and religious 
affiliation, identifi ed more with ethnic Mexicans than Anglos.42 Only in 
the 1930s would rising fears about Communism lead some Arizonans to 
become suspicious once again of eastern Europeans, but this was generally 
no longer a racial designation. After 1920 the brunt of nativist sentiment 
fell on the backs of ethnic Mexicans alone.

nativism,  repatriation,  and me xic an americ ans

In the three years after the 1917 defeat of industrial unionism in the min-
ing towns, south-central Arizona saw the greatest infl ux of Mexican work-
ers yet. While some crossed to work for the mines or the railroads, the ma-
jority came to work in the agricultural economy, which boomed after the 
completion of the Salt River Project. The rapid increase in the importance 
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Figure 4.1. National Origin of White Immigrants in Arizona, 1910. Source: University of Vir-
ginia Geospatial and Statistical Data Center http://fi sher.lib.virginia.edu/census/ (accessed 
August 2004).

of industrial agriculture forced everyone, including Arizona’s politicians, 
Mexican Americans, and the labor unions, to re-evaluate their stance on 
Mexican immigrant labor. Cotton growers promoted the stereotype of the 
tractable Mexican sojourner who had no interest in American citizenship, 
wishing instead only to earn a little money by doing work that Anglos 
shunned. For ethnic Mexicans, this argument created a new ideological 
obstacle to full membership in the nation-state, since Mexicans were ex-
pected to return to Mexico, not become citizens. And for Arizona’s mostly 
Euro-American trade unionists, the new infl ux created yet another period 
of crisis, in which union leaders had to decide whether to organize Mexican 
workers or redouble their efforts to restrict immigration. Their decisions 
were infl uenced by fears that Mexican workers threatened the manhood of 
yeoman farmers and white citizen-workers.

In 1920, when cotton prices, cotton acreage, and Mexican immigration 
peaked, the ASFL briefl y experimented with organizing Mexican farm-
workers. It did so not simply out of empathy for the Mexicans but to ensure 
that white farmers and farmworkers, most of whom were employed in su-
pervisory and semiskilled positions, did not sink into the barbarous condi-
tion of the Mexicans. An editorial in the Arizona Labor Journal declared, 
“Officers of the Arizona State Federation of Labor realized that American 
labor must either lift the Mexican laborer somewhere close to its own stan-
dards or it would be dragged down to the level which the cotton companies 
have attempted to establish for this farm labor, which is an unthinkable 
condition.”43

Even as some ASFL leaders supported Mexican workers, others contin-
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ued to argue that Mexicans were themselves the source of the problem. 
An editorial in the Arizona Labor Journal suggested that “by adding thou-
sands of an inferior race to our population, every form of vice and crime is 
promoted that a few rich men may grow richer.” ASFL officials complained 
that Mexicans recruited under the ninth proviso had “been farmed out 
to other farmers and miscellaneous employers . . . in violation of federal 
agreement,” rather than being “sent back to their own country.” 44

Still, in 1920 ASFL leaders began to organize in the Salt River valley 
during the late spring and summer. They timed the campaign so that most 
of the workers in the fi elds were year-round employees rather than  seasonal 
laborers. In May, after a six-week campaign, ASFL organizer Lester B. Doane 
(who had helped to organize Mexican miners three years earlier) claimed 
to have enrolled thousands of men into union locals in “practically every 
town in Maricopa County.” To allay growers’ fears, Doane assured them 
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that the workers were not planning to strike. Rather, he hoped that com-
mon “business principles” would convince the “reasonable majority” of 
growers of the need for “fair prices for the necessities of life.” The ASFL 
planned to establish cooperative stores so that the workers would no longer 
have to buy goods at infl ated prices from labor contractors.45

Rather than cooperate, the growers fought back, and they generally had 
the courts and the local police on their side. Police responded to grower com-
plaints by jailing and deporting Mexican organizers. According to the Ari-
zona Labor Journal, when six Mexican farmworkers in Glendale asked the 
Arizona Cotton Growers Association for higher wages, they were quickly 
arrested, sent to a Tempe jail, and then deported the next morning, leaving 
the eight-year-old son of one of the workers behind. In July another worker 
was deported from Tempe without his family, after he complained that he 
earned inadequate wages. Finally, in November the local police arrested 
R. M. Sánchez, the secretary of the Phoenix Federal Labor Union, on charges 
of avoiding Selective Service. The police held Sánchez in Nogales without 
a hearing until the end of the picking season in February and then released 
him without comment. An editorial in the Arizona Labor Journal drew a 
direct connection between the ACGA’s tactics and those of Phelps Dodge 
three years earlier: “If the people of Arizona think that the deportation of 
nearly twelve hundred miners from Bisbee on July 12, 1917, was an unusual 
case, they are very much mistaken. It was unusual only in the point of 
numbers and brutality displayed.”46

A national recession and a precipitous fall in cotton prices struck the 
fi nal blow to the 1920–1921 organizing campaign—a blow that would ef-
fec tively end interethnic union organization in Arizona’s fi elds for over 
a decade. That year, cotton growers were shocked to fi nd that sales fell 
$20 million below the previous year’s level. Since cotton acreage in the Salt 
River valley had doubled over the previous year, the bust hit valley growers 
especially hard. As one historian has explained, “Many growers, unable to 
sell their crops except at a great loss, merely cut their pickers adrift, often 
without fi nal pay.” The Tucson Daily Citizen reported that thousands of 
Mexicans were stranded in the Salt River valley, and the Nogales Chamber 
of Commerce reported that thousands more were returning to the border, 
causing overcrowding and unsanitary conditions in the city. The ASFL es-
tablished a breadline to help feed the stranded workers until the Mexican 
government could arrange for their transportation back to Mexico, but the 
crisis decimated the union locals in the fi elds.47

After the failure of the 1920 campaign, most ASFL leaders abandoned 
hopes of organizing Mexican farmworkers, instead renewing their gen-
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dered and racist calls for immigration restriction. In 1920 John Bratton of 
the ASFL suggested that Mexicans threatened the independence and man-
hood of the family farmer. Not unlike the Anglo workers in the mines, 
he suggested that Mexican immigrants undermined the white farmer’s 
ability to provide for his wife and his family, and thus deprived him of the 
“one thing above all others that distinguishes the civilized man from the 
savage . . . his habit of looking ahead and making provisions for the future.” 
Since “the Mexican” supposedly had little inclination to plan for his future 
or for his family, but instead was content with “only enough to clothe, 
feed and shelter himself,” he supposedly lacked the character necessary to 
become a good citizen-worker. He also endangered white Americans who 
had larger ambitions.48

The demand for seasonal workers remained relatively weak in the early 
1920s. Between 1921 and 1924 the price of Pima cotton fell, and acres in 
production declined from two hundred thousand to nine thousand. Many 
growers switched back to alfalfa, barley, wheat, citrus, melons, and lettuce; 
others, to short-staple cotton. In 1921, when Secretary of Labor Wilson 
failed to renew the ninth proviso for the fi rst time since 1917, growers did 
not put up much of a fi ght. Throughout the fi rst half of the 1910s, the regu-
lar fl ow of Mexican immigrants, combined with out-of-state workers and 
indigenous workers, provided enough workers to handle the newly diversi-
fi ed fi elds. Only in 1924–1925, when acreage planted in short-staple cotton 
climbed to over 150,000, did the demand for labor increase once again.49

Calls for the restriction of Mexican immigration intensifi ed once again, 
however, as the economy stagnated in 1927 and especially in 1929, when 
the Great Depression dramatically impacted both the cotton and the min-
ing industries. The acreage planted in cotton soon fell to about 113,000, and 
cotton prices fell once again. As prices plummeted, standard picking rates 
declined from $1.50 to 50 cents per hundredweight. Mining was also hit 
hard. Early in the Depression many copper mines, including those at Ray 
and Ajo, shut down entirely, and copper sales declined to only about $10 mil-
lion. Only thirty-three hundred workers remained employed in the mines.50

The Great Depression amplifi ed long-standing fears that Mexicans would 
compete for jobs and degrade the economic, cultural, and racial status of 
the Anglo working class. The Central Labor Council of the Globe-Miami 
mining district wrote to the president of the AFL that the “industrial, so-
cial and educational standards of Americans” were being dramatically un-
dermined by the “Mexican infl ux.” J. H. Francis, an Arizona legislator, ex-
pressed the feelings of many of his constituents when he complained about 
“the terrifi c drain imposed upon Arizona taxpayers through the admission 
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of thousands of indigent Mexicans annually into this state.” The ASFL, in 
turn, repeatedly called for greater enforcement of the border.51

Nativist rhetoric again transcended economic concerns to imply that 
Mexicans could not be assimilated and that nationality was determined 
not only by birthplace but also by race. In March 1930 the Arizona La-
bor Journal printed what it called a “splendid article,” using infl ammatory 
language to support immigration restriction. The article suggested that 
“American standards of citizenship” were threatened by “the permanent 
addition to our population of a great mass of the least intelligent and the 
least assimilable of all the alien groups which have settled among us.” The 
author complained not only about job competition and low wages but more 
generally about the “further Mexicanization of the Southwest.”52

Arizona politicians who had once supported temporary admittance of 
Mexican nationals changed their minds in response to the growing cry 
for restriction. U.S. senator Carl Hayden stated in April 1930, “No large 
number of aliens should be permitted to become permanent residents of 
the United States, whose children will not look the same, act the same, 
and have the same ideals, as other Americans.” In December Hayden in-
troduced a resolution to appropriate funds for a full count of the undocu-
mented Mexicans who remained in the country. He enthusiastically en-
dorsed President Herbert Hoover’s nomination of William Doak to be 
secretary of labor, embracing Doak’s promise to intensify immigration 
restrictions.53

Hayden’s actions were part of a growing national groundswell in support 
of federal action. In March 1930 the United States stopped issuing visas al-
together to “common laborers” from Mexico, and the Congress made ille-
gal entry a misdemeanor punishable by jail time. An active campaign was 
begun to deport undocumented border crossers, while cities and states took 
it upon themselves to encourage and intimidate even legal immigrants to 
return to Mexico. Under Secretary of Labor Doak, immigration agents car-
ried out raids in cities across the country, entering into communities and 
workplaces to arrest and deport those without proper documentation.54

Thousands of Mexican nationals were either forcefully deported or chose 
to leave “voluntarily,” though even such repatriations were often the result 
of employers’ active intimidation or discriminatory treatment. Maximo 
Alonzo, who lived in the mining town of Miami in 1931, remembered the 
deportations well. “There was no work, no nothing here,” he recalled. “The 
government brought trains to haul people away—at that time there was 
mainly Mexican people here—and they were loading them in boxcars and 
trains, putting them back out to El Paso to the frontier.” Alonzo acknowl-
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edged that mining employers and government officials did not force Mexi-
cans onto the trains, but the hostile atmosphere and the lack of work gave 
them little choice but to return to Mexico.55 Between 1930 and 1932 it is 
estimated that 18,520 Mexicans were deported from Arizona.56

Whether or not they were U.S. citizens, people of Mexican descent were 
treated as unwanted aliens. Rosalio Frolian Muñoz, a Mexican-American 
student at the Arizona State Teacher’s College, wrote in 1938, “The atti-
tude toward Mexicans changed very decidedly after 1929, and repeatedly 
one hears politicians, miners, and farmers who previously justifi ed the 
contracting of Mexican labor at starvation wages denouncing the children 
or grandchildren of those immigrants and demanding that they be sent 
back to Mexico ‘where they belong.’” Muñoz contrasted this anti-Mexican 
sentiment with attitudes toward European immigrants and their children: 
“Members of other nationalities are considered Americans after the second 
generation, but the Mexicans seem to be discriminated against and labeled 
with derogatory terms on all occasions.” His comments suggest that the 
Anglo/Mexican dichotomy was much clearer than it had been earlier in 
the century when immigrants from southern and eastern Europe had often 
been lumped together with Mexicans as foreigners and aliens.57

Mexican Americans struggled over how to respond to the rising nativ-
ist tide. El Tucsonense, a Spanish-language newspaper, published frequent 
editorials condemning the treatment of Mexican nationals. In 1937, when 
Arizona stopped providing emergency aid to unnaturalized immigrants 
(except for those with dependent children born in the United States), El 
Tucsonense called the action “cruel, brutal, anti-social, and un-Christian.” 
It also applauded the resolution of the local Club Democrático Hispano 
Americano to gather funds for “nuestra raza” (our race/people) to make up 
for the withholding of aid. In so doing, the editorial acknowledged Mexican 
Americans’ cultural and kinship connections with Mexican nationals.58

Other Mexican Americans chose instead to draw a clear line between 
themselves and Mexican nationals, often asserting that they were white. 
Mexican Americans worried about the negative stereotypes that new, un-
educated, working-class immigrants reinforced in the minds of the Anglo 
majority.59 One researcher found that, for the most part, Tucson’s Mexican 
Americans objected when “Mexican” was used “in contrast to the term 
white for the English-speaking group.” They accepted Mexican as a desig-
nator of culture and national origin, but not as a marker of race. Mexican-
American claims to whiteness sometimes took even more explicit forms. 
A prominent Mexican-American businessman in Tucson explained that 
he preferred to be called Spanish American because, in his words, Mexican 
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was appropriate only for “Mexican nationals or for the pure Indians from 
Mexico.” Claiming pure Spanish descent had long served as a way to gain 
entry into the circle of whiteness, and the rise in anti-Mexican nativism 
made such claims seem urgent.60

Some Mexican Americans organized politically to secure their status 
as citizens. In 1932, for example, Luis Cordova, a Southern Pacifi c Railroad 
worker, organized the Latin American Club in Phoenix to encourage voter 
registration and to endorse political candidates. Adam Díaz, who played 
an important role in the Phoenix registration drive, remembered walking 
“from house to house, door to door [to] explain to people what we were 
trying to do.”61

Voting restrictions and intimidation, however, limited the effectiveness 
of the registration efforts. A 1937 case from South Tucson is instructive. 
That year, local property holders and entrepreneurs incorporated the  barrio 
as an independent municipality. Ethnic Mexican leaders in the barrio hoped 
to elect a majority to the council in the fi rst election of April 1937. Thirty 
Mexican-American residents organized the Club Hispano-Americano In-
dependiente de la Municipalidad de Sur Tucson. They walked door-to-door 
to register voters. The editors of El Tucsonense asked that South Tucson 
residents “unen fuertemente (strongly unite)” to elect members of “nuestra 
raza” to the city council, and the Club Hispano-Americano hosted gather-
ings that included free food and dancing to encourage voting.62 Ultimately, 
these tactics failed. In the election only one in fi ve of the winning candi-
dates was a Mexican American. The results illustrate how obstacles to vot-
ing limited the ability of Mexican Americans to achieve political change 
through voter registration alone.63

Many middle-class Mexican Americans saw naturalization and self-
improvement, rather than political activism, as the best way to help Mexi-
can immigrants. The Alianza Hispano-Americana argued that ethnic Mex-
icans could best gain acceptance and citizenship through hard work and 
education. Refl ecting its belief in this principle, it joined forces with the 
Phoenix Americanization committee to establish Friendly House in the 
early 1920s. Friendly House’s primary motive was to encourage the Ameri-
canization of Mexican immigrants and to help them fi nd jobs. In the 1930s 
Friendly House attempted to instill civic virtue and to teach home eco-
nomics, hygiene, and the English language to Mexicans who lived in the 
Salt River valley.64

Ironically, its emphasis on Americanization eventually evolved into ac-
tive support for repatriation. In 1931 the Mexican consul in Phoenix re-
ported that seven thousand Mexicans were being processed for deporta-
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tion. Rather than protest the move, Friendly House helped to repatriate 
some 130 Mexican families to Mexico in 1933.65 Its support for deporta-
tion reveals that, in the struggle to be considered American and/or white, 
Mexican Americans sometimes accepted discriminatory policies against 
Mexican nationals. It also reveals how difficult it was for ethnic Mexicans, 
except for a few who were light-skinned and/or middle class, to follow in 
the footsteps of European immigrants who had gained acceptance as white 
citizens.

the ques tionable whiteness of okies

Ironically, while the deportation of Mexicans was designed, in part, to pro-
tect white citizen-workers from a further slippage in their economic and 
social status, for some it had precisely the opposite effect. In the years fol-
lowing deportation, migrant workers from the south-central plains increas-
ingly found themselves working under the same substandard conditions 
their Mexican and indigenous forebears had experienced. Most of the new-
comers refused to see Mexican and indigenous workers in the labor camps 
and barrios as their equals, holding on to the notion that their whiteness 
made them superior. Many, if not most, viewed their unfortunate circum-
stances as temporary; they held onto their faith that they could work their 
way up the agricultural ladder or into new occupations altogether. Their 
experiences, and their attitudes toward Mexicans and Indians in Arizona, 
expose how the boundaries between white and nonwhite functioned in 
midcentury Arizona.66

An infl ux of workers from the south-central plains began in the 1920s. 
Arizona growers began recruiting in the plains as early as 1924, when high-
way construction linked Arizona to the region for the fi rst time. Most of 
the migrants ended up in Pinal and Maricopa counties, where four-fi fths of 
the state’s cotton crop was produced. Between 1929 and 1933 many of these 
newcomers were disappointed to fi nd relatively little work available after 
the dramatic cut in cotton prices and acreage. By 1933, however, Arizona 
cotton production was on the rebound, and regional growers who no longer 
had access to the thousands of Mexicans who had been deported once again 
were searching for a cheap labor source.67

One reason the cotton industry in Arizona recovered early was that the 
Coolidge Dam on the Gila River was completed. Combined with a prolifer-
ation of groundwater pumps, it led to an expansion of irrigated acres in the 
Casa Grande valley from about fi fty-fi ve thousand to eighty thousand in a 
few short years. Ironically, another cause of its recovery was the  federally 
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subsidized crop reduction measures of the Agricultural Adjustment Act. 
The act resulted in higher prices for cotton, so it also led to an increase 
in acreage under production. By 1937 Arizona growers had planted almost 
three hundred thousand acres of cotton, breaking a state record.68

While workers from Arizona’s reservations, towns, and barrios still 
fi lled some seasonal jobs, Anglos came to make up the largest farm labor 
force for the fi rst time in the state’s history. In 1936–1937 about two thou-
sand Tohono O’odham moved from their reservations into the cotton fi elds 
every picking season and twenty-fi ve hundred to three thousand ethnic 
Mexican and Yaqui workers came from towns and cities within Arizona. 
Two thousand Anglo workers traveled to Arizona from California, where 
the peak season occurred earlier, ending by November. The greatest num-
ber of seasonal workers, however, came from Texas, Arkansas, and Okla-
homa, totaling some eighteen thousand. A 1941 study found that 90 per-
cent of those who migrated to Arizona in the 1930s and remained over the 
course of the decade were “white,” while only 6 percent were from Mexico 
and 4 percent were black.69

Repatriation succeeded in opening up jobs for white citizen-workers, 
but such jobs represented a jolting decline in their economic and social 
status. As white tenants in the plains and the South became wageworkers, 
their status as white came into question.70 The process of moving out of 
the south-central states and into Arizona had a similar effect. A study of 
migrant workers in Arizona by the Works Progress Administration noted 
negative attitudes toward the newcomers. It found that residents through-
out southern Arizona “universally applied . . . the term poor white trash” 
to the incoming migrants. Just as they had historically viewed Mexicans as 
inherently degraded, many Arizonans viewed the new migrants’ poor con-
dition to be the result of their innate inferiority. According to the report, 
“In the cotton towns where the pickers go on Saturdays to buy their sup-
plies, the permanent residents—merchants, restaurant waiters, delivery 
boys, police officers, etc.—regard the cotton pickers with a feeling closely 
analogous to racial prejudice. Though there appears to be no overt social 
segregation in the cotton towns, the pickers are thought of as naturally in-
ferior, particularly when they have no money to spend—as they frequently 
do not.”71

While the WPA study found no “overt social segregation,” there was 
de facto segregation. Many impoverished migrants had no choice but to 
move into the poor areas of the small towns and cities. Father Emmett 
 McLoughlin, a Catholic priest who lived in Phoenix at the time, has sug-
gested that residents encouraged this pattern of social segregation in order 
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to present Phoenix as a modern, clean city and to shed its image as a “cow-
town.” Phoenix “was trying to bolster the social status of its citizens by 
shunting across the tracks the immigrants from Oklahoma, Arkansas, and 
Texas and by veneering itself with the gloss of a symphony orchestra, a 
Little Theater, and necklace of resort hotels.” While the newcomers moved 
into shoddy neighborhoods fi lled with “shacks . . . without electricity, 
most without plumbing and heat,” most Phoenix residents chose to ignore 
the problem. “Phoenix did not know—or pretended not to know—that it 
had slums. But in them lived the Negroes, the Mexicans, and the ‘white 
trash.’”72

Many black migrants also made their way into central Arizona to work 
in the fi elds during the 1920s and 1930s. In 1920 there were fewer than 
two thousand blacks in Maricopa, Pima, and Pinal counties combined. By 
1930, however, that number rose to 6,364 and by 1940, to 10,402. Most of 
these newcomers came to Arizona for reasons similar to those of the Anglo 
migrants—because they, too, had lost their position as tenants or share-
croppers and were in search of a better life in the West.73

The status of black workers, when compared with that of the  incoming 
Anglos, says much about where the boundaries of whiteness lay in the 
years between world wars. In Arizona, black newcomers faced much clearer 
and more explicit forms of discrimination and segregation than those faced 
by Anglo migrants. African Americans had no choice but to move into 
completely segregated communities, such as south Phoenix, Mobile, and 
Randolph. Deed restrictions in Randolph explicitly reserved all of the lots 
on the west side of Highway 87 for whites and lots on the east side for 
nonwhites. In the schools black children were completely segregated from 
white children. A resident of Randolph who suggested that the black side 
of town was “just like an Indian Reservation” was using Indian/white seg-
regation as a reference point for understanding black/white segregation, 
which was relatively new. In any case, white Arizonans made ample dis-
tinctions between black and white migrants, a fact that suggests that Ok-
ies remained white, if not fully equal.74

The depressed status of the incoming migrants proved disturbing to 
many Anglos. In Arizona many of the farm operators had origins in the 
south-central states, and some even had relatives among the Depression-
era migrants.75 Moreover, many native Anglos felt an ideological impera-
tive to ensure that white citizen-workers did not sink to the degraded level 
of nonwhite workers in the fi elds. Mexican repatriation, it turned out, had 
failed to secure the status of Arizona’s Anglo population, and in fact had 
the opposite effect once the cotton market rebounded. As a result, the 
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 perceived line between respectable white citizens and nonwhite Mexican, 
Indian, and black workers seemed at risk of dissolving.

Stanley Rider, a member of the Citizens’ Civil Liberties Committee of 
Arizona, expressed the views of many Anglo-Arizonans concerning the de-
graded socioeconomic status of the incoming migrants. In a Tucson radio 
address toward the end of the decade he declared, “Now the foreign racial 
groups are gone, or rapidly going. In their places have come the people from 
the ‘Dust Bowl,’ native white Americans, who trace their ancestry back to 
the patriots of revolutionary days.” Their poverty, he insisted, unlike the 
poverty of the nonwhite population, was not the result of natural inad-
equacy, but of economics and technology: “‘Tractored off’ their places at 
home, as Steinbeck so graphically describes it in The Grapes of Wrath, 
they faced destitution, when, lo, they were offered manna in the promised 
land.” While he exaggerated the degree to which “foreign racial groups” 
had disappeared, his point was clear. Mexicans were foreign not simply 
because they were from another country, but because they were racially 
different. On the other hand, the newcomers from the plains, due to their 
whiteness and their former status as farm owners and operators, were true 
Americans. As such they did not deserve to withstand the poor treatment 
that had been acceptable when it primarily affected the Mexican and in-
digenous populations.76

As the decade progressed, it became clear that race and culture worked 
to the benefi t of the incoming migrants. Historian Marsha Weisiger has 
found that most of the newcomers eventually worked their way into more 
permanent, well-paid positions. She accounts for this success by suggest-
ing they benefi ted from “gumption, hard work, perseverance, and a bit of 
luck.” In making this argument, however, she overlooks the fact that many 
ethnic Mexican and indigenous workers worked just as hard, yet most of 
them failed to achieve the same results. The best explanation for that dis-
crepancy is racial discrimination.77

Employers maintained a double standard in the treatment, hiring, and 
promotion of their workers. Growers often segregated Mexicans and Indi-
ans in the camps from the Okies and were less likely to promote the former 
into positions such as timekeeper or weigh boss. The son of one farm owner 
recalled that his family employed Mexicans, Indians, and Anglos alike, but 
they promoted only the latter into better-paying, year-round positions. He 
drew distinctions between those he judged to be responsible farmworkers 
and those he called the “dregs of humanity,” including Mexicans and In-
dians and some transient Okies. Over time, he suggested, “the good ones 
integrated in the community and raised families, and they became part of 
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us.” The bad ones, implicitly, did not fulfi ll their manly responsibilities as 
citizens to settle down and provide for their families.78

Many Anglos enjoyed quick promotions and integration into their com-
munities. Among these was Dennis Kirkland, who was recruited by Casa 
Grande landowner Pete Ethington. Kirkland recalled that “there was a lot 
of segregation” in the cotton camp in which he fi rst lived, and that there 
were a couple rows of cabins “for the Mexicans . . . in the backside.” The 
Indian workers, he added, “were treated the worst, in terms of working 
conditions.” Kirkland was promoted to weigh boss, and his father, who had 
only a third-grade education, was soon promoted to timekeeper. This was 
not unusual among the Anglo newcomers. Lloyd Hamilton, who arrived 
in 1937 to pick cotton, secured a job with the Buckeye Irrigation Com-
pany within a year after his arrival and was soon operating his own 40-acre 
farm. Sam Cambron, who moved into Arizona in 1936, was hired by C. O. 
Vosburgh as a weigh boss, and eventually became Vosburgh’s superinten-
dent. Vosburgh later granted Cambron 120 acres of land, which the latter 
expanded to some two thousand.79

As Arizona’s economy began to improve, Anglo workers also received 
the most stable, skilled, and best-paying jobs on vegetable and fruit farms. 
In 1933 the vast majority of the packing-shed workers in south-central 
Arizona were Anglo. According to a contemporaneous study by Stuart 
 Jamieson published by the Department of Labor, “White shed workers . . . 
generally refused to work beside members of a nonwhite race or even to 
allow them to work inside a packing shed.” Shed workers feared that al-
lowing “one or a few to work in a shed . . . would be a ‘thin edge of the 
wedge,’” thus jeopardizing their monopoly on such better-paying jobs. An-
glo agricultural workers used race to explain why ethnic Mexicans made 
up the majority of workers in the vegetable fi elds surrounding the sheds. 
One worker from Oklahoma argued that Mexicans and other nonwhites 
were racially better suited for work in vegetable fi elds because they “could 
stoop down better” and thus “go right through the fi eld.”80

Some Anglos managed to overcome such racism and tried to organize 
unions with the state’s Mexican and indigenous populations. Other work-
ers’ insistence upon racial exclusion and separation, however, partly ex-
plain why Arizona’s modest labor movement had only limited effective-
ness. As shed workers began to unionize in 1933, they did so separately 
from the fi eldworkers, refl ecting their own anxieties about their occupa-
tional and racial status. The National Industrial Recovery Act (1933) had 
excluded farm laborers from the right to engage in collective bargaining. 
Shed workers were protected under the new law as processors, and they 
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feared that farmworkers would jeopardize their status. Jamieson observed 
at the time that this refusal refl ected “racial as well as occupational differ-
ences.” Anglos insisted upon a separate union not only to avoid the “lack of 
legal protection suffered by fi eld workers” but also to avoid the “discrimi-
nation” and “low social status” suffered by Indians and Mexicans.81

There were exceptions to this rule. Organizers from California’s Can-
nery and Agricultural Workers Industrial Union (C&AWIU) made inroads 
among the fi eldworkers in 1933–1934, when wages failed to refl ect the re-
bound in the cotton market. That year, picking rates reached a nadir of 
50 cents per hundredweight. C&AWIU organizers made regular visits to 
the migrant camps around Maricopa and Pinal counties, and they estab-
lished an office in Coolidge. The union had organized a successful strike 
in Yuma (on the border between Arizona and California) in September, and 
since there was little doubt that the 50-cent wage was no longer justifi able, 
the state arbitration board was able to negotiate a 10-cent increase for the 
1933 season. Since this wage was still far below what the union and the 
pickers felt was adequate, many pickers still refused to work.82

Unfortunately, by the spring of 1934, the C&AWIU pulled out of Ari-
zona to counter a campaign of violence and intimidation in California by 
the growers’ association there. In its absence the ASFL attempted to con-
tinue the organization campaign, but aggressive recruiting by the Arizona 
Farm Labor Service in the southern plains and the out-migration of thou-
sands of workers to California undermined the effort.83

Organizers again made ephemeral progress in 1937–1938. Arizona grow-
ers had recruited a surplus of workers, and fl ooding in California prevented 
them from moving west. Recognizing their chance to make inroads into 
Arizona, California’s United Cannery, Agricultural, Packing and Allied 
Workers of America (UCAPAWA) signed up many of the stranded pickers 
onto the union roles and organized a march in Phoenix to demand commod-
ity aid. Lacking the support of Arizona’s more stable, mostly Anglo shed 
workers, however, the unskilled, seasonal workforce could not maintain 
an effective movement. While the shed workers made some compromise 
gains in the following year, by the end of the decade, UCAPAWA lost its 
foothold altogether in Arizona. In the postwar period, only the sheds would 
remain unionized, and the highest paying shed jobs would remain the ex-
clusive domain of Anglo workers. Ammon Hennacy, who began working 
in the Arizona fi elds in the 1940s, verifi ed Jamieson’s earlier observations 
in saying, “In the packing sheds here I never saw a Negro, Mexican or In-
dian have a good paying job.”84

Such racial favoritism was not limited to agriculture. Employers in other 
industries were more likely to hire migrants from the south-central states 
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than longtime Mexican and indigenous residents. As early as 1931, BIA 
fi eld matrons in Tucson began to notice that Tucson residents were hiring 
unemployed Anglo workers for odd jobs such as lawn work instead of the 
Mexicans and Indians who had held such jobs for decades.85 Such favorit-
ism remained widespread during World War II. Tucson’s Brotherhood of 
Locomotive Firemen and Enginemen, for example, explicitly barred Mexi-
cans and Indians from the union in its 1941 constitution.86

Federal New Deal agencies also practiced racial discrimination. In the 
Civilian Conservation Corps, recruitment was disproportionately swayed 
toward Anglos. The Pima County Welfare Board was given a quota of one 
thousand CCC recruits in 1933. According to the Club Hispano-Americano, 
most of them were Anglos, while only one-fi fth were of Mexican descent. 
These fi gures were vastly out of proportion with the Mexican-American 
population in the county. When the mutualista criticized the uneven fi g-
ures, county officials responded that it would be socially disruptive to raise 
the standard of living of Mexicans while allowing that of whites to de-
cline.87 Blacks and Mexican Americans were segregated into separate bar-
racks in the camps. According to federal policy, Mexican Americans were 
not to be segregated, but when local whites insisted that they live in sepa-
rate quarters, segregation of Mexicans became standard in Arizona’s CCC 
camps.88

The federal government responded to the poor working conditions of the 
nation’s farmworkers more directly in 1935 by establishing the Resettle-
ment Administration, which within a year was renamed the Farm Security 
Administration (FSA). The FSA began to construct and operate labor camps 
throughout the country to ameliorate the poor living conditions of migrant 
farmworkers, restore order to the nation’s industrial farming areas, and 
resolve the ongoing confl icts between growers and organized workers. To 
this end it instructed its camp managers to discourage union activity.89

Anglo reactions to the camps reveal much about the identities of white 
migrants and how the boundaries of whiteness functioned. Ironically, the 
new level of federal aid made Anglo residents, and especially Anglo men, 
especially sensitive to charges that they were not behaving like good citi-
zens. Federal guardianship might be appropriate for nonwhites, but it was 
not an acceptable position for Arizona’s white male citizens. In response, 
Anglo workers insisted that they were self-reliant, manly, and independent 
and did not need government handouts.

Decades later many would deny that they ever received federal help. 
One man who eventually established his own farm insisted with pride, “I 
tell you, my folks never got any welfare, or any commodities. It was just 
against their principles, they wouldn’t do it.” Another explained that his 
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family had little choice but to accept public assistance, and to live in an 
FSA camp but that they always felt “really, really bad” about their position. 
He explained further that despite the fact that “all of us at that time had 
to take it . . . the minute we could all get off of it, we got off of it.” Another 
former cotton-picker explained that he had never accepted public assis-
tance and felt that most people who wanted to work could do so. Many, he 
argued, were simply lazy. “They preferred to stand in that line and get it,” 
he explained, “and I’d rather work.”90 Each of these men defi ned the white 
citizen-worker as one who was highly industrious, could provide for one’s 
own family, and would avoid dependency at all costs, thus emulating the 
mythical ideal of the yeoman farmer or craftsman.

Gender was inextricably linked to the concept of the white citizen-
worker. Aware of the stigma attached to cotton picking, many of the new-
comers drew distinctions between themselves and other workers, sug-
gesting that because their own condition was purely circumstantial and 
temporary, they did not fi t the profi le of the typical Okie, who was usually 
described as a single, transient man or as a man incapable of caring for his 
family. One woman whose family had operated tenant farms in both Okla-
homa and Texas before moving to Arizona to pick cotton explained that 
she and her family had never really been Okies because that term referred 
to “people that moved around from job to job; they never stayed anywhere 
any length of time.” In contrast, her father was able to build a house for 
his family so that they could move out of the tents. Within two years her 
husband secured a job at a cotton gin so that she wouldn’t have to pick cot-
ton anymore. In her telling, men had to achieve fi nancial independence to 
secure the social status of the women in the family, allowing the women 
to take on their proper roles as homemakers. As another ex-farmworker ex-
plained, only “transient laborers,” not those families who settled down to 
stake new roots, were the true Okies. In his words, “a lot of them, that’s all 
they ever wanted, they wanted a job for a few days and then they wanted to 
move someplace else and they didn’t want any responsibility. Those were 
really the Okies.”91

Self-consciousness about accusations of dependency was an important 
cause of the ultimate failure of one particularly ambitious FSA project in 
Arizona—a 3600-acre cooperative farm in the Casa Grande valley. Founded 
in 1935, the farm was occupied by up to sixty families on contiguous 2-acre 
tracts. Each family earned wages and split the annual profi ts after deduc-
tions for capital, management, and nonmember employee expenses. The 
FSA revealed its own racial biases by selecting fi fty-six Anglo families—no 
ethnic Mexican or indigenous families—in the fi rst two years of the project.
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From the outset, residents of Pinal County expressed concern about the 
character of the migrants, about the government’s overt role in establishing 
such a venture, and about its cooperative nature. Some Pinal County resi-
dents called the farm Little Russia, and derided the settlers, calling them 
Reds. The local press derisively described the settlers as “cotton pickers” 
who lived in “shacks,” and the editor of the Casa Grande Dispatch asked, 
“Are these people Americans or do some of their names end in ‘-vitch’ or 
‘-insky’?”92 The comment reveals how the ideal of the independent family 
farmer remained closely linked to defi nitions of good American citizen-
ship—even if fewer and fewer families actually met such an ideal.

Sensitivity about their status bred a deep resentment among many of 
the settlers, which in turn led to factionalism and to a defensive expres-
sion of their own whiteness. While the farm was initially conceived as a 
self-contained venture in which women and children would aid the male 
household heads in certain tasks like the cotton harvest, by the third or 
fourth year, many of the men refused to allow their wives and children to 
engage in manual labor. According to political scientist Ed Banfi eld, who 
personally interviewed many of its participants, “Cotton-picking was as-
sociated with a class status which the settlers wished to escape,” and so 
the settlers “used Indians, Mexicans and other ‘Okies’ for low-caste jobs 
almost exclusively [by] 1942.”93

Banfi eld also found that the settlers preferred to keep a social distance 
between themselves and resident Mexicans, Indians, and Okies who still 
worked as cotton pickers. Instead, they preferred to associate with the more 
stable class of resident Anglos. For this reason, he suggested, they were 
most comfortable in the town of Florence, where “the underlying popula-
tion of farm laborers . . . was Mexican,” while the “Anglo-Saxons” were 
“teachers, prison guards, highway employees, and county office clerks.” 
Growing increasingly dissatisfi ed with government interference and the 
social stigma attached to manual labor (particularly the manual labor of 
women and children), many had abandoned the farm by 1943. In 1944, with 
little support from the residents, the FSA put the land up for sale.94

By 1942–1943 so many Anglo farmworkers found new jobs in war indus-
tries or joined the military that growers once again faced a labor short-
age. As many Anglos abandoned the FSA camps, ethnic Mexicans took 
their places. Once again, a castelike distinction between unionized, white 
 citizen-workers, and seasonal, nonunionized, nonwhite and largely non-
citizen workers emerged. No longer did Arizonans view people of Slavic 
and Italian ancestry as distinct races. Since the end of the copper strikes 
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in 1917 and the boom in Mexican immigration that followed, such distinc-
tions hardly seemed relevant.

While the Okies seemed to lose some of their whiteness in the 1930s, 
a reemerging, racialized class structure was bolstered in 1942, when the 
War Department initiated the Emergency Farm Labor Program, the Bracero 
Program, to import Mexican workers. The Bracero Program would help to 
fi rmly reestablish the notion that farm labor was a job for Mexicans and 
other nonwhites, and not for white citizen-workers.95

Decades later a farmer in Buckeye, in Maricopa County, recalled that 
when he had fi rst arrived in the 1930s “it was mostly people from Okla-
homa and Texas and Arkansas. Then, as things began to get better after 
the Depression, and those people that had any ambition went on to better 
things, why they started using more coloreds and Mexican laborers.” Im-
plicit in his narrative was the idea that blacks and Mexicans lacked ambi-
tion and were thus to blame for their own failure to achieve upward mobil-
ity. This thinking, as it turned out, had only temporarily been threatened 
in the 1930s by the appearance of Okies. After World War II, seasonal la-
bor continued to be labeled as a natural occupation for Mexicans, Indians, 
and, increasingly, African Americans. White workers, so the myth went, 
had demonstrated their greater worthiness for better jobs and for fi rst-class 
citizenship by independently working their way out of poverty. It was pre-
cisely this myth that would remain at the heart of the racially ordered class 
system in Arizona for years to come.96
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chap ter 5

the indian new deal and 

the politics of the tribe

In 1902 Peter Blaine was born to a Tohono O’odham mother and a mestizo 
father (part O’odham) in South Tucson. In the early years of his life, his 
mother, like many other urban O’odham women, supported her family by 
cleaning houses. When Blaine was six his mother died, and he moved into 
the home of his aunt Josefa and her husband, a Yaqui. He grew up speaking 
both Yaqui and Spanish, only later becoming fl uent in the O’odham lan-
guage his mother had spoken. In his memoir he recalled the neighborhood 
he was born in thus: “In the scattered houses, not only were there Papagos, 
but also Yaqui and Mexican families. The Spanish word barrio was used 
to describe those houses south of 17th Street. No whites lived there, just 
a mixture of Mexicans and Indians.” From an early age, his environment 
and his identity were clearly multicultural, as illustrated by his trilingual-
ism, his interethnic family, and his intimate ties to the diverse peoples of 
Tucson and southern Arizona.1

Eventually, Blaine moved from the multiethnic barrios of Tucson to the 
relatively homogeneous Tohono O’odham reservation at San Xavier. There 
he came to see himself unequivocally as Papago rather than Yaqui or Mexi-
can. Still, this was a localized identity, and his sense of himself as a mem-
ber of a tribe was tenuous. Blaine retained close ties to Tucson while he 
moved from job to job around southern Arizona. In the latter half of the 
1920s he served as the “delegate . . . for the Mexican people” on the Tuc-
son Trades Council—a position he obtained through his involvement with 
the construction workers’ union. Only during the 1930s, when he began 
to work with the Indian branch of the Forest Service, a centerpiece of the 
Indian New Deal, did Blaine’s conception of belonging to a larger tribal 
community solidify.2

T4257.indb   127T4257.indb   127 7/19/07   12:12:25 PM7/19/07   12:12:25 PM



128 border citizens

This brief account of Blaine’s life demonstrates how the development of 
a tribal identity was not simply the product of biology, language, kinship, 
or cultural tradition but also of engagement with the multiethnic regional 
community, the political economy, and the nation-state. For the Yaqui- and 
Spanish-speaking child of a mixed marriage there was no guarantee that 
he would identify unequivocally as Tohono O’odham. In the mid-1930s, 
though, while working under the Forest Service’s Indian branch, Blaine 
was propelled into a position of leadership among the Tohono O’odham be-
cause of his trilingualism and experience with the union. As he explained 
in an oral history, “The people didn’t know nothing about organizing a gov-
ernment. There was only the chief’s organization in each village. There 
were no elections. What the chief said was law. The people had accepted 
this way of village government for who knows how long.” Blaine began to 
direct the organizing skills that he obtained as a unionized worker and For-
est Service employee toward the creation of a new tribal government.3

The Indian New Deal was designed, in part, to encourage tribal co-
hesion—in many cases among peoples who had never conceived of them-
selves politically as tribes. Under the direction of Commissioner John Col-
lier, the Bureau of Indian Affairs relaxed its policy of forced assimilation, 
ended and even reversed the allotment process, reformed its education 
program, and encouraged economic development on the reservations. It 
also created a process whereby Indians would vote within one year to reor-
ganize politically and then write constitutions, elect tribal councils, and 
form tribal governments. Most of these reforms were passed by Congress 
as the Indian Reorganization Act (IRA) in June 1934.4

The implementation of the IRA was often far more complicated than 
Collier had hoped and was contradictory in its outcomes. In Arizona the 
economic programs of the Indian New Deal, which were intended to make 
tribes more self-sufficient and reservation economies more viable, tended 
instead to make growing numbers of Indians dependent upon wage labor. 
The reforms also often presumed a level of homogeneity among indigenous 
groups that had never existed. According to one historian, the IRA “ignored 
Indian socio-historical realities,” and “formalized a political unity super-
imposed on cultural and political diversity within single reservations.”5 It 
also often ignored intimate ties, such as Peter Blaine’s, that transcended 
both ethnic boundaries and those of the reservation.

In Arizona’s borderlands the Indian New Deal included an extra level 
of complexity. Because the international border had artifi cially divided 
peoples of similar cultures, languages, and traditions and because Indians 
lived with, worked alongside, and frequently married non-Indians, deci-
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sions about who would or would not be eligible for reorganization seemed 
arbitrary. Were the Yaquis, for example, who had origins in Mexico and 
who spoke Spanish, to be recognized as American Indians or should they 
be defi ned as Mexican immigrants and thus be subject, as other Mexicans 
were, to the repatriation program of the 1930s? And what would become of 
Tohono O’odham who still lived on the Mexican side of the border? How 
the U.S. government chose to defi ne these groups, and how the Indians 
responded to and/or attempted to infl uence those decisions, would pro-
foundly shape their place in the United States and their sense of them-
selves as peoples.

the indian ne w de al ,  economic reform, and wage l abor

The economic centerpiece of the Indian New Deal was the Indian Emer-
gency Conservation Relief Program established in 1933 by Congress and 
later renamed the Indian Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC-ID). The pro-
gram was intended not only to promote economic self-sufficiency but also 
to integrate Indians fully into the national political economy while promot-
ing tribal cooperation. According to Commissioner Collier, the primary 
architect of the program, emergency conservation work would improve 
reservation lands while providing jobs for many thousands of Indians. In-
dians were trained in what were called leader camps (two of which were in 
Arizona) to work as group leaders, foremen, and project managers. In addi-
tion, a branch of the federal Civil Works Administration employed Indians 
in jobs ranging from clerical work to various types of skilled and common 
labor. Others worked for the Works Progress Administration, the Public 
Works Administration, and the Forest Service. Collier hoped the programs 
would foster self-reliance by training Indians in management skills and 
would encourage rather than condemn reservation-wide cooperation and 
organization, thus preparing the way for political reorganization and the 
formation of tribal governments.6

In practice, however, the most immediate result of these economic pro-
grams was to integrate thousands of Indians into the wage economy, of-
ten to the detriment of their economic self-reliance. In the early years of 
the Depression, many indigenous people who had come to depend on wage 
work had lost their jobs. In Arizona, cotton agriculture and mining were 
devastated after 1929. Mining towns such as Ajo, which had employed hun-
dreds of Tohono O’odham, shut down. Moreover, wages for picking cotton 
declined from $1.50 per hundredweight to a mere 50 cents, and even those 
Pimas,  Maricopas, Tohono O’odham, and Yaquis who continued to work as 
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pickers could no longer rely on this income as they had in the 1920s. Unem-
ployment was also severe in Tucson and Phoenix. In 1931 BIA fi eld matrons 
began to notice that residents of these cities were hiring unemployed white 
workers for day labor instead of indigenous workers who had held such jobs 
for decades. In February a fi eld matron in Tucson complained, “Four men 
here for work, but I have no calls for them. There are about 1800 hundred 
men and women in Tucson and vicinity seeking employment, and many 
jobs that formerly went to Indians are now given to whites.”7

In the cities, indigenous women were often the hardest hit by the De-
pression. Many indigenous families, both in the cities and on the reserva-
tion, had come to depend upon the relatively steady work done by young 
women in Phoenix and in Tucson. The fi les of fi eld matron Gracie S. Tay-
lor, who served in both Phoenix and Tucson in the early 1930s, contain doz-
ens of letters from women seeking work as well as replies from Taylor that 
no work was available. A letter written in March 1933 by Agnes  Vavages is 
representative of the desperate circumstances many Indians faced.  Vavages 
had worked as a domestic for two families over the course of the previous 
four years in Coolidge, but had recently lost her job. Because her father had 
just passed away, she needed a job more than ever to support her family. As 
she explained, “I have just lost my father and so I have to work again and 
support my mother, and little sister. . . . I don’t care if I get six or seven dol-
lars a week for cooking and house work it is alright so please write and let 
me know if you can help me.” Despite her pleas, Taylor could do nothing to 
help her. “At present I have nothing, but if I should have would be glad to 
send for you,” she replied. “Times are so hard that many people are doing 
their own work and those who are hiring do not want to pay very much.”8

In response, beginning in 1933 the new federal work relief programs pro-
vided many Indians with desperately needed wage jobs. Over the next two 
years, hundreds applied for emergency conservation work.9 On the Pima, 
Maricopa, and Tohono O’odham reservations, the government’s public 
works program included the “remaking” of the reservations and the im-
provement of transportation and communication. By October 1933 on the 
Tohono O’odham reservations, 891 men were already working under the 
direction of the Sells agency. They constructed telephone lines, fi re look-
out houses, charcos, wells, horse and foot trails, fences, and cabins. They 
dug new wells and charcos in many of the reservation villages, continu-
ing a program initiated over a decade earlier and rendering the movement 
between summer and winter villages obsolete. The BIA built a new road 
from Tucson through Sells to Ajo in 1929, making travel from the reserva-
tion to these two towns much easier. Seventy miles of new primary roads 
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facilitated contact and communication between villages. Two hundred 
miles of truck roads provided access to areas that could previously only be 
reached on horseback. BIA official Harwood Hall declared that these im-
provements, and the experience Indians from different villages had work-
ing with one another, would not only improve economic conditions but 
would help to promote tribal cooperation and acceptance of political reor-
ganization under the IRA.10

Government-directed relief programs on both the Salt and Gila River 
reservations were extensive as well, substantially altering the political 
economies there. Federally directed programs had perhaps their most dra-
matic impact on the Gila River reservation community and were intri-
cately linked to the completion of the San Carlos Reclamation Project. On 
June 7, 1924, Congress fi nally passed a law approving the construction of a 
major dam and reservoir on the Gila River—a project that was billed as a ri-
val to the Salt River Project constructed two decades earlier. Between 1925 
and 1929 the Pimas and Maricopas had farmed only between fi ve thousand 
and twelve thousand acres of land along the Gila. Now they hoped that the 
new project would enable them to become prosperous farmers once again. 
Pima leader Hugh Patton exclaimed optimistically at the dedication of the 
new Coolidge Dam on March 4, 1930, that the project’s completion was the 
“brightest page in the long, varied history of the Pima people.”11

The settlement in 1934 of a lawsuit by the Justice Department against 
upriver diverters seemed, at fi rst, to provide even more reason for the Pimas 
and Maricopas to be optimistic. Under the agreement the Gila reservation 
was to receive enough water to irrigate fi fty thousand acres, nearly match-
ing the 49,896 acres that had been allotted to individual Indians.12 The BIA 
felt that Pimas and Maricopas would enthusiastically take up farming 
once the project was completed. A local BIA official expressed this view in 
essentialist terms, declaring that the Pimas had a “natural instinct to till 
[the soil.]” Ironically, though, the work programs on the reservation would 
remove agriculture further from “nature.” BIA officials paid little heed to 
the recommendations of Pima and Maricopa leaders, rendering knowledge 
and farming techniques developed over centuries largely obsolete.13

Rather than permit a return to widespread farming, the San Carlos Proj-
ect and the New Deal work-relief programs made the Pimas and Maricopas 
increasingly reliant upon wage labor, much as the Tohono O’odham now 
were. In the late 1920s some Pimas and Maricopas had worked for wages on 
the construction of the San Carlos Project itself. In the 1930s the BIA over-
saw the construction of an extensive network of canals and deep wells and 
the clearing and leveling of over thirty thousand acres of what government 
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officials referred to as raw desert land (land that had once been irrigated by 
small diversion dams and the natural fl ow of the river). Pimas and Marico-
pas provided most of the common labor on the project as well as a portion 
of the skilled labor, working as foremen, carpenters, mechanics, and truck 
and tractor operators. According to C. C. Wright, an agricultural exten-
sion agent, the Indians were beginning to rely on the steady wages they 
obtained through such work. As Wright explained, “Any man could make 
a better living at $2 a day on a job than he could by farming his land in the 
ordinary way.” The disappointing performance of the dam itself contrib-
uted to this growing reliance on wage labor. The reservoir could not reach 
its total capacity because of silt buildup and a permeable riverbed. Even 
within the San Carlos irrigation district (which provided water for both 
Indian and non-Indian farms), from 40 to 69 percent of the water (96,225 
acre-feet) came from the ground rather than from the reservoir.14

Indigenous farming of traditional crops such as corn, native cotton, and 
wheat was also complicated because the new project wrought dramatic 
changes on the reservation’s ecology and encouraged the leasing of land to 
outsiders. To prepare the land for modern agricultural methods, work crews 
used steel drags to completely remove the indigenous fl ora. They burned 
the brush piles, leaving the ground completely bare, and operated about 
thirty rotary fresnos and hydraulic dirt-movers to level the ground to an 
irrigable grade. Finally, they constructed new borders and ditches and cut 
and hauled fence posts to completely enclose previously allocated allot-
ments. The result was an increased level of government control over Pima 
and Maricopa agriculture.15

High operating expenses and debt also prohibited most Pimas and Mari-
copas from making a living by farming. Under the government’s program, 
the Indians were to purchase seeds and tools and pay for the maintenance 
of their wells and for the operation of the Coolidge Dam itself beginning 
in 1937. As one BIA official admitted, “The chief weakness of the method 
was that it left the Pima in debt for his equipment.” The new reservation-
wide Pima-Maricopa council, which was formed in 1934 after the passage 
of the IRA, refused to pay the expenses for the operation of the dam when 
payments of $2.80 per acre were scheduled to begin in 1937. BIA agents 
explained that the payments were not for the water itself but for operating 
expenses. Such a distinction was irrelevant to most Pimas and Maricopas 
who argued that they should not have to pay for what had already been 
theirs. To get around the problem, the BIA took control of twelve thousand 
acres of unallotted farmland and used the profi ts to pay for the mainte-
nance of the reclamation project.16
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The new level of federal involvement meant that Pimas and Maricopas 
had little control over decisions about agriculture on the reservation. They 
had almost no modern farming equipment, and prices for crops such as cot-
ton were at their lowest ebb. In 1932 BIA and agricultural extension experts 
decided, without the Indians’ consent, that alfalfa would be a preferable 
alternative to wheat and cotton. C. C. Wright felt that alfalfa would help 
revitalize the productivity of the soil and that it would “enable the Indian 
farmer to hold down his job and farm his land at the same time.” Like the 
concurrent, BIA-directed reductions of sheep on the Navajo reservation in 
northern Arizona, decisions about what would be planted and how it would 
be grown and marketed were made by government officials.17

Class divisions on the reservation grew deeper as a select few Pimas and 
Maricopas managed to prosper under the new conditions. Juan Patterson, a 
Phoenix Indian School graduate, for example, returned to the reservation, 
opened a store, and soon was operating a commercial ranch with about six 
hundred cattle.18 The majority, however, owned very few cattle, having sold 
herds to survive the diversion of the Gila’s waters. Hundreds grew alfalfa 
and leased their allotments or charged grazing fees to non-Indian cattle 
companies, while working for wages for the same companies on their own 
land. By 1935 there were sixty-nine hundred cattle owned by non-Indian 
ranchers on the allotments, with more than 450 families participating in 
leasing and working for the companies. This produced income of about 
seventy thousand dollars. To pay for alfalfa seed on their own lots, Pimas 
and Maricopas often had to take out loans from the same companies who 
fed their cattle on the reservation, which further increased their debt.19

With little access to capital and little say in the decision making regard-
ing agriculture on their lands, many Pimas and Maricopas grew cynical 
about the Indian New Deal. Nathan Allen, who grew up on the Gila reser-
vation during this era, recalled that “there were not many of the O’odham 
farming during the time I was growing up because farming had become 
very expensive. . . . Most of the people had jobs off the reservation, mostly 
farm laborers because this was the only skill they knew. The purchasing of 
fuel-powered farm machinery was next to impossible. . . . There was noth-
ing to put up for collateral, no cattle, no horses, and no land because it was 
held in trust by the federal government.” Rather than directly condemn 
the BIA for these problems, Allen said simply that “the days of horse-drawn 
farm equipment were long gone, fond memories in the minds of the elders 
of our community. Perhaps this will give you a clue as to my feelings.”20

These problems also led many Pimas and Maricopas to reject the author-
ity of the new reservation-wide councils. The diverse population of Pimas, 
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Maricopas, and a few Tohono O’odham on the Gila reservation formed one 
tribal community, and those on the newer Salt River reservation formed 
another—an example of how the Indian New Deal often ignored traditional 
ethnic boundaries, while creating clear divisions where none had existed. 
Those on the Gila reservation voted to approve a new constitution and by-
laws in March 1936; shortly thereafter they received a corporate charter for 
what became known as the Gila River Pima-Maricopa Indian Community. 
Most Pimas and Maricopas, however, paid little attention. Their lack of 
interest was exacerbated by the fact that Congress did not grant the Pima 
and Maricopa council the right to attend hearings and defend Pima water 
rights in the courts. For this reason and because the IRA economic policies 
failed to revitalize farming on the reservation, the council “lost prestige 
with the Pimas [and] was not regarded by Indians as an effective represen-
tative organization.”21

Meanwhile, BIA officials encouraged Indians who could not live off of 
their land to take up wage work off the reservation. During the 1936–1937 
picking season, “considerably more than two thousand O’odham” moved 
into the labor camps to pick cotton from October though January.22 Peter 
Blaine, who worked as a recruiter for the BIA in the latter part of the decade 
(after cotton production had rebounded), recalled, “In those years we used 
to have a lot of calls from cotton farmers, clear up to Buckeye and all the 
way down to Sahuarita. . . . I was sent out [by the BIA] to see this village 
and that village and tell them about cotton-picking jobs.”23 Myrtle Jordon, 
a Pima, remembered, “Indians picked cotton. Oh, yeah, they picked cotton. 
. . . I always wondered why they had to go out and pick.” Ironically, then, 
the New Deal economic policies, which had purportedly been designed to 
promote economic self-dependence, instead increased reliance on leasing 
and low-paid wage labor on farms and ranches off the reservation.24

tribal reorganiz ation : 

the c ase of the tohono o’odham

The Tohono O’odham offer a particularly interesting example of tribal re-
organization because, for them, the concept of a tribal political body had 
no precedent. The scattered villages and rancherías were each tradition-
ally governed by a headman and a council of village men. Still, as Peter 
Blaine’s story suggests, political reorganization would begin to accelerate a 
process whereby the Tohono O’odham would view themselves as a whole, 
as a more united group distinct from nearby peoples such as the Akimel 
O’odham (Pimas) with whom they were closely related. The new institu-
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tions would also sharpen ethnic lines between the Tohono O’odham and 
the diverse mestizo population with whom they had historically worked, 
worshipped, and intermarried.

By the early 1930s, the idea of a tribalwide political body had the open 
support of only a small number of mostly Presbyterian Aji and Ko-lo:di lead-
ers in the southeastern districts of the Sells reservation. This group, which 
had formed the Good Government League (GGL) in 1911, often claimed to 
speak for the Papago tribe as a whole. Many other O’odham, however, such 
as the Ko:adk in the northwest and most of the Aji, remained suspicious 
of the federal government’s plans. For them the concept of a tribal govern-
ment remained foreign, since no legitimate political body had ever gov-
erned above the village level. Moreover, the economic interests of the some 
seventy villages varied widely. Some relied primarily on livestock, while 
others had come to depend on a combination of wage labor, petty trade, 
and subsistence farming. Divisions between those who owned cattle and 
those who did not were particularly salient. In 1930 the average herd con-
sisted of about twenty-fi ve to thirty cattle, but many owned far fewer and 
some owned far more. In the southeastern districts, for example, José Pablo 
owned 250 and the Toros family owned two thousand. Class thus com-
pounded religious and cultural differences and intensifi ed the debate over 
the federal government’s plan for the formation of a tribal government.25

Outside observers labeled as progressive those Tohono O’odham who 
were most entangled with the BIA bureaucracy, particularly those in the 
largely Presbyterian, cattle-rich sections in the southeast, to differentiate 
them from those they labeled conservative, who generally hoped to retain 
village autonomy. Progressive and conservative were heavily biased terms, 
refl ecting the imposed idea that those who accepted Anglo ideas and in-
stitutions were more advanced. The issues dividing these groups were, in 
fact, far more complex. Factions formed around a combination of issues, 
including religion, degree of education in government schools, class, and 
geographical proximity to the agency at Indian Oasis, which had come to 
be known as Sells after the former Indian Commissioner.26

Those villages and rancherías that outsiders labeled conservative or tra-
ditional tended to identify primarily with their own, kin-based local com-
munities much more than with a tribe. Most sustained themselves through 
a combination of subsistence agriculture, seasonal wage labor, gathering 
and selling wood, petty trade, and perhaps by raising a few cattle. Children 
from these areas attended nearby Catholic mission day schools or did not 
attend school at all, thus retaining close ties both to their families and 
villages. They tended to resist BIA attempts to recruit their children into 
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government schools and to put an end to native rituals such as the nawait 
ceremony. (The BIA periodically arrested leaders who made saguaro cactus 
wine.) Many O’odham in these villages, unable to afford the larger cattle 
herds of the southeastern districts, maintained their own farms. In fact, as 
late as 1936, Tohono O’odham farmers cultivated about 12,900 acres on the 
San Xavier and Sells reservations, with 80 percent practicing some form of 
subsistence agriculture.27

Still, it would be inaccurate to suggest that the Tohono O’odham who 
were labeled traditionalists or conservatives were isolated from the modern 
world. Since farming was not sufficient to sustain them, most of these fam-
ilies relied increasingly upon wage labor. The O’odham of the Santa Rosa 
district, for example, in the central to northeastern part of the reservation, 
had fully adapted seasonal migration to the cotton fi elds into village life by 
the mid-1920s, without abandoning their historic sociopolitical structure 
in their village. Those in the western reaches of the reservation also worked 
for wages in agriculture, and hundreds of men from this sector worked in 
nearby mines such as Ajo—except when the mines temporarily closed in 
the early 1930s. Families brought cash earned through picking or mining 
back to their villages, made periodic trips to Tucson for material goods or 
bought from local traders on the reservation.

Residents of these villages were also politically creative, and not simply 
wedded to static traditions. In 1928 they formed their own intervillage orga-
nization, the League of Papago Chiefs (LPC), which was headed by a Catho-
lic Aji named Juan Joaquín, to counter the infl uence of the GGL. Ironically, 
then, headmen who had insisted on village autonomy and had resisted the 
authority of one panvillage organization now decided to form another, sig-
naling a new level of regional cooperation even among so-called tradition-
alists. They were especially concerned about the GGL’s claims to speak for 
all Tohono O’odham and its willingness to become deeply entangled with 
Anglo institutions. They worked closely with Catholic mission aries such 
as Bonaventure Oblasser to help them oppose the largely Protestant GGL’s 
claims of tribal authority.28

The LPC had other concerns as well. Perhaps the most important of these 
was its disapproval of federal plans to make livestock, rather than farming, 
the basis of the O’odham economy. In 1928 Juan Joaquín explained in a 
letter to Commissioner Charles Burke that the LPC chiefs wanted the gov-
ernment to stop building so many charcos for cattle, which the O’odham 
would have to pay to maintain. He wrote, “The rich Papagos get their own 
bulls, to make their cattle better. The rest of us are too poor to pay for so 
many. . . . We do not want to be like the Pimas. They have many things 
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that they have to pay for and they are going to lose all their land to the 
Americans.” The LPC also wanted the BIA to return lands to the O’odham 
that had been removed from the reservation in 1917, including the 475,000-
acre strip that divided the reservation and that had since been occupied by 
Anglo and Mexican-American ranchers. It also protested BIA interference 
with cultural rituals such as the nawait ceremony.29 In fact, the LPC was so 
successful at stirring up opposition that by 1930 the GGL, which supported 
the federal government’s plans, had lost most of its infl uence. In its place, 
however, some of its members formed a new organization called the Papago 
Council, again without the consent of most Tohono O’odham.30

Disagreements over these issues revealed how complicated the process 
of weaving many dozens of disparate villages into a unifi ed tribe would be. 
The villages had long governed themselves as independent units, and each 
had its own traditions, dialect, religious practices, and economic base. Ang-
los, including many BIA officials, often presumed that the Tohono O’odham 
already thought of themselves as a unifi ed tribe. In reality, the BIA was ask-
ing for a substantial reconceptualization of Tohono O’odham identity as 
a single people, rather than as a more loosely associated group of autono-
mous villages. Many Tohono O’odham would continue to fi ght to protect 
village autonomy, and in the process they would substantially revise the 
BIA blueprint for tribal reorganization.

New concerns, such as non-Indian mining claims on the reservation, 
also contributed to divisiveness there. Families in cattle-poor villages de-
pended not only on wage work in nearby industrial cotton ranches or in Ajo 
and Tucson, but also upon reservation mining. In 1932 C. J. Rhoads, com-
missioner in the land office, reported that 122 patents for reservation mines 
had been issued to non-Indians, each covering about twenty acres. Fifty-
eight more were under consideration.31 The Papago council hoped to gain 
authority over the reservation’s mineral rights—an authority that had been 
excluded from the executive order creating the reservation in 1917. O’odham 
workers who depended upon wage income, however, were concerned that 
such a change might lead to the closing of the mines. The LPC, distrusting 
the motives of the Papago Council, also challenged the move. Ignoring its 
concerns, the council hired three lawyers to seek control over reservation 
mineral rights. In October 1932, after extensive lobbying and pressure by 
their lawyers, the Interior Department secretary responded by withdraw-
ing all Tohono O’odham lands from mineral entry until further notice.32

The mining issue compounded the distrust that many Tohono O’odham 
felt for both the BIA and the Papago Council. Peter Blaine stressed the fact 
that those who relied upon wage labor had different interests than cattle 
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owners who controlled the council. “A lot of old people hardly had a way of 
earning a living,” he said. “No cattle, only a little farming when it rained. 
So they worked the mines.” More broadly, he criticized what he called the 
“so-called council” for supporting the mining moratorium, arguing that 
“there was no such thing as an official council representing the people.”33

As the IRA was being considered in Congress, confl icts over mining and 
the direction of economic development on the reservation became inter-
twined with debates over political reorganization. In 1934 Peter Blaine trav-
eled to Washington, D.C., with a delegation to protest the moratorium on 
reservation mining. While there he learned about the Indian Reor ganization 
Act for the fi rst time. Not surprisingly, he was wary of it, since the mining 
moratorium seemed to illustrate perfectly how a reservation-wide tribal 
council might threaten the interests of individual villages. Blaine spoke 
about the issue in a hearing before Congress, and he submitted a petition 
with some four hundred O’odham signatures in support of his position. He 
also had the backing of Arizona’s mining interests, the Tucson Chamber of 
Commerce, and Arizona Senators Hayden and Ashurst. While the Arizona 
delegation was less concerned about the O’odham than they were about 
pleasing powerful mining interests, they did share a common interest with 
those O’odham who wanted to keep the mines running.34

To ensure that the mining moratorium did not create a stumbling block 
to O’odham acceptance of the Wheeler-Howard bill, Congress wrote lan-
guage into it that revoked the 1932 moratorium. The new language was 
enough to persuade Blaine, among others, to back away from his objection 
to political restructuring.35 Still, Congress offered a small fi g leaf to the 
Papago Council, demanding that miners compensate the O’odham for any 
damage done to reservation lands and permitting the O’odham to charge 
fi ve cents per acre per year for use of the lands. Leasing would remain a 
central issue in reservation politics for years to come.36

Several other factors helped to reduce O’odham opposition to the Indian 
Reorganization Act. By 1934 hundreds of Tohono O’odham were participat-
ing in work-relief programs on the reservation. These programs helped to 
alleviate the crisis brought about by the Depression. Moreover, the federal 
government, responding to a lobbying campaign by the LPC and following 
a shift in policy toward a reconsolidation of tribal territory, had begun to 
purchase much of the land that had been excluded from the Sells reserva-
tion in 1917. By 1933 the government had already purchased 360,000 acres, 
reuniting the southern and northern sections of the reservation. Over the 
next few years, more purchases were made. In 1940 the new boundaries of 
the reservation were fi nalized with the purchase of the San Joaquín and 

T4257.indb   138T4257.indb   138 7/19/07   12:12:28 PM7/19/07   12:12:28 PM



the indian new deal and the politics of the tribe 139

Romero ranches. The purchases made the Tohono O’odham reservation the 
second largest in the country.37

Combined with the federal relief program, the land purchases helped 
to build support among the O’odham for tribal reorganization. In 1934, 
after the government had reunited the southern and northern parts of the 
reservation, the BIA sponsored a referendum on reorganization. A major-
ity of 1,443 approved the formation of a tribal government, while only 188 
voted against it. These numbers, however, must be considered skeptically. 
Those who participated in the referendum represented a minority of the to-
tal  Tohono O’odham voting population (about 47 percent), indicating a lack 
of interest in the whole affair by many and/or a physical inability to par-
ticipate in the election. Many hundreds, in fact, were living and working 
away from the reservation when the vote took place, but only ten people 
sent in absentee ballots.

An analysis of the election returns reveals that majorities in the eastern 
part of the reservation voted for reorganization, while support in the west 
was slim. Almost all of the districts to the east supported reorganization 
with majorities of 80 percent or better. By contrast, the western sections had 
both the least participation and, among those who did participate, the larg-
est number of votes in opposition. In the Hickiwan district in the north-
western section of the reservation, only nineteen people voted. In Gu Vo, 
the southwestern district, not a single person cast a ballot. Directly east of 
Gue Vo, in Pisinemo, sixty-seven ballots were cast, but forty-seven of the 
sixty-seven, or 70 percent, were against reorganization.38

Over the next two years, a debate ensued over what shape a new tribal 
constitution would take. One of the biggest issues remained the BIA’s  desire 
to make cattle ranching the major economic enterprise on the reser vation. 
Superintendent Hall wanted to construct reservation fences, prepare the 
range for cattle operations, and control the size of reservation herds in or-
der to reduce erosion possibly through livestock reductions. Many  Tohono 
O’odham, however, resisted. Some wanted to continue farming and resented 
interference by the BIA in their affairs. Some commercial cattle ranchers 
feared Hall’s plan to institute grazing fees, fence the range, and possibly en-
gage in a reduction program. Hall’s insistence on linking the issue to tribal 
reorganization thus threatened to unravel support. John Collier advocated 
decoupling the two issues. In the end the O’odham themselves, with sup-
port from Collier, managed to expunge Hall’s range management plan from 
the constitution, removing a signifi cant obstacle against its acceptance.39

Perhaps the most important effect of the Indian work relief programs was 
that they facilitated intraethnic cooperation between villagers who had in-
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teracted with one another infrequently, creating more support for the idea 
of a tribal government. About twelve hundred men (including many Indi-
ans from other reservations) worked on the various relief programs on the 
Tohono O’odham reservations. The expanding infrastructure that resulted 
served to connect distant villages, dialect groups, and districts. The new 
roads also facilitated movement between villages and to towns outside of 
the reservation, such as Tucson and Ajo. Equally important was the experi-
ence of working alongside hundreds of others from villages throughout the 
O’odham territory. Henry Dobyns, an ethnohistorian who conducted fi eld-
work among the O’odham around 1950, wrote, “The psychologically re-
warding CCC work experience conditioned most of those Papagos who par-
ticipated in it toward seeking reservation-wide solutions to what they could 
perceive as reservation-wide problems, using forms of social organization 
and technology novel to Papago historic experience up until that time.”40

Indeed, the camps became centers of interaction between residents of 
the various districts, blurring divisions between distinct dialects and cul-
tural groups. Peter Blaine, who worked with the Indian branch of the Forest 
Service on the reservation, personifi ed this process. As he recalled, “Every 
camp had boys from different villages. . . . I had been around and pretty 
well knew all the dialects of the reservation.” Blaine had come a long way 
from his childhood in a Yaqui-mestizo household to become a leading ad-
vocate of a new, panvillage, Tohono O’odham identity. His experiences 
made him an avid promoter of the idea of a tribal government, and he used 
his position in the Forest Service “to travel and to talk to the people” about 
the idea.41

Deep disagreements remained over how much authority the new tribal 
government should have. Many of those who participated in the  writing 
of the constitution were concerned that the new government would under-
mine village autonomy, and they worked diligently to protect it. José Anton 
of the Pisinemo district—the only district that had emphatically rejected 
reorganization in 1934—decided that because reorganization was inevi-
table, he would actively participate in the process to protect the authority 
of the villages. Anton promoted a federation of reservation districts, with 
separate governing bodies for the eleven districts of the three reservations. 
Each district, in addition to choosing a representative and alternate to the 
new tribal council, would also elect its own fi ve-member council. This 
resolution—“Each district shall govern itself in local matters in accor-
dance with its old customs”—became article IV, section 2 of the proposed 
constitution.42

The 1936 referendum on the constitution revealed that the efforts of 
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Anton and others to preserve village and/or district autonomy paid off be-
cause 58 percent of eligible Tohono O’odham voted—an increase of over 10 
percent from the vote in 1934. The new constitution was approved by 1,340 
voters; 580 voted against. Many villages that had distrusted the idea of a 
tribalwide political body supported the new constitution. In Anton’s vil-
lage of Pisinemo, which in 1934 had soundly rejected reorganization, forty-
nine people, or 53 percent, favored the new constitution. In the purportedly 
traditional Aji village of Santa Rosa, 128 votes were cast, and eighty-two, or 
64 percent, supported the constitution. Still, on the reservation as a whole, 
it is important to note that 42 percent of eligible Tohono O’odham did not 
vote, and more O’odham voted against the constitution than had voted 
against reorganization two years earlier. Because the election took place 
during the cotton harvest on December 12, hundreds of Tohono O’odham, 
including many from Santa Rosa, were working off the reservation at the 
time. And yet relatively few votes were cast from agricultural regions out-
side the reservation (about thirty from the polling station in Eloy).43 It ap-
pears, then, that many O’odham remained alienated from the process.44

Still, many leaders who had once doubted the efficacy of reorganization 
embraced the constitution and became active in tribal politics. Rather than 
supersede the authority of local village headmen, the Tohono O’odham 
elected many traditional village leaders onto the councils. Superintendent 
Hall noted that village headmen were elected to the district councils “in 
practically every instance.” At the tribal level, Ida N. Wilson, an O’odham 
woman who served as the fi rst secretary to the Papago Tribal Council, 
claimed in 1939 that “since January 30, 1937, the date of its fi rst meeting, 
the Papago Tribal Council has assumed a defi nite place in the handling of 
tribal affairs, and under the leadership of its officers, the Council has made 
great progress in welding the Papagos into a tribe which is now closely con-
solidated. . . . It is learning the values of cooperation, of following through 
on its aims and goals with a singleness of purpose which no one previously 
thought possible.” While such claims were too sanguine, they indicated a 
desire among some O’odham to embrace the political and cultural concept 
of the tribe.45

That a woman serving in a position of power would make such a 
 statement demonstrates that the O’odham were adapting in other ways as 
well. Into the 1940s, ethnographers such as Ruth Underhill and Rosamund 
Spicer noted that, in many villages, patrilocal residence patterns, patriar-
chal families, and all-male village councils remained standard. The new 
tribal council, however, began to counter the authority of village patriar-
chal councils, and in the process provided a new avenue for women to be-
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come active in public affairs. Even though she was relegated to the highly 
gendered position of secretary, Ida Wilson became the fi rst of a growing 
number of women who would serve in tribal government.46

Tohono O’odham who remained in Sonora, Mexico, remained alienated 
from the debates over tribal reorganization in the United States. As Bernard 
Fontana has explained, “Mexican law . . . did not recognize any special ‘In-
dian’ status. Indians were, and are, regarded as Mexican citizens on par 
with everyone else. Papagos received no reservations or land titles by vir-
tue of their ‘Indianness.’” As early as 1900, hundreds of Mexican O’odham 
had either moved to the United States, particularly to the Chukut Kuk 
district of the Sells reservation, or had begun to identify more as Mexican 
than Indian. Mexico encouraged this process through its post revolutionary 
ideology of mestizaje, which held that Mexicans were a greater people be-
cause of rather than despite interethnic mixing. Carl Lumholtz counted 
twenty-three occupied O’odham villages in Mexico in 1910, consisting of 
approximately nine hundred people, but he found that most O’odham were 
“no longer able to keep up their native feasts and are rapidly disappearing 
into the body of Mexican laborers.” By 1930 perhaps fi ve hundred to seven 
hundred individuals who continued to identify as Tohono O’odham lived 
in Sonora.47

By the 1930s the geopolitical border between the United States and Mex-
ico began to have a more profound effect on Tohono O’odham communi-
ties. Beyond the growing efforts of the U.S. government to police the border, 
O’odham on different sides of the line found themselves negotiating with 
two very distinct political systems. In 1928 Mexican President Elías Calles 
proclaimed the creation of an ejido, an area of communally held land, for 
the Tohono O’odham at Pozo Verde, thus recognizing a small portion of 
traditional O’odham lands in Mexico (7,675 acres). This land, however, was 
not a reservation in the way that term was used in the United States. In-
stead, the government of Mexico treated the O’odham just like any other 
group of peasants and small farmers. Over several decades the O’odham 
land base in Mexico would continue to face incursions by non-Indians, 
threatening their viability as a people. Mexican O’odham received little to 
no help from the tribe in the United States to challenge such incursions. 
While many Mexican O’odham traveled frequently across the border to 
take advantage of economic and educational opportunities in the United 
States, not until many years later would the U.S. tribal council reach out 
to those who lived on the other side of the border.48

Even in Arizona the infl uence of the new tribal institutions was lim-
ited. In the short term, the Indian New Deal’s economic policies, including 

T4257.indb   142T4257.indb   142 7/19/07   12:12:29 PM7/19/07   12:12:29 PM



the indian new deal and the politics of the tribe 143

the expansion of wage jobs, had a far greater impact than did political re-
organization. Into the postwar period, a growing number of O’odham par-
ticipated in seasonal agricultural labor. An economic study by the tribal 
council in the 1940s found that while wage labor had provided less than 
30 percent of total income on the reservations in 1937, it provided 56 percent 
of total O’odham income only a decade later. Ethnographer Henry Dobyns 
estimated that 50 percent of wage income was derived from picking cot-
ton in 1950. Until picking machines began to replace manual workers late 
in the 1950s, many villagers, including some from Mexico, continued a 
pattern of moving into the fi elds during the picking season and then back 
to their home villages to farm or to towns and mines off the reservation 
for the remainder of the year. For thousands of O’odham, such a pattern 
became a primary marker of the passing seasons, impacting their lives far 
more than the new, remote tribal institutions. Only in the longer term 
would the tribal government begin to take on greater relevance.49

Nevertheless, tribal reorganization began to promote a greater sense of a 
unifi ed “tribal” identity while reinforcing ethnic boundaries between the 
Tohono O’odham and other ethnic groups in Arizona’s borderlands. For 
Peter Blaine, who would soon be elected as the second chair of the tribal 
council, it drew attention away from the multiethnic world of his child-
hood in South Tucson and toward the new institution of the tribe. This is 
not to suggest that the adoption of a more coherent tribal identity was a 
smooth process. To the contrary, many challenged the BIA’s concep tion of 
a tribe every step of the way, and in the end what they would develop was 
not what the BIA bureaucrats had intended. The tribal government would 
eventually begin to challenge certain BIA policies head-on and promote 
greater political, cultural, and economic self-determination for the Tohono 
O’odham as a whole.

not fit  to be a  tribe :  the c ase of the yaquis

In 1930 the relationship between the Yaquis and the U.S. government re-
mained far more ambiguous than that between the government and the 
Tohono O’odham, Maricopas, and Pimas. U.S. law unequivocally defi ned 
Indians as nonwhite, so Indian immigrants were ineligible for naturaliza-
tion. Because citizenship (or the intent to become a citizen) was required 
in order to apply for a homestead, the fi rst generation of Yaqui immigrants 
also had very little chance of acquiring their own land.50 As immigrants 
from Mexico, they constantly faced the threat of deportation, especially 
during the repatriation campaigns of the early 1930s. At the same time, the 
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federal government refused to recognize them as a tribe or to establish a 
reservation for them, since they were not indigenous to the United States. 
This ambiguous legal and social position had a signifi cant impact on how 
Yaquis came to defi ne themselves.51

In the 1930s a group of Anglos in Tucson attempted to persuade the gov-
ernment to recognize the Yaquis as an American Indian tribe so that they 
could benefi t from new protections under the Indian New Deal. A Baptist 
missionary who visited the Yaqui community of Pascua in the 1930s “did 
not see why these people had to pay taxes when the Pimas and Papagos 
didn’t, and he thought that he might, through the proper sources, have their 
taxes exempted.”52 Ruby Haigler Wood, who worked in the  Yaqui com-
munity of Guadalupe as a teacher and social worker in the same  decade, 
was also perplexed about the status of the Yaquis. As she put it, “Because 
they’re born here, although they are Mexican Indians . . . it looks to me like 
they should be classed as Indians.”53

Requests for federal recognition of the Yaquis as an Indian tribe were 
ironic. Before 1924 Indians had been required to disassociate from their 
tribal communities and communal lands in order to become U.S. citizens. 
Now some Anglos perceived tribal recognition to be the best means to 
make Yaquis full American citizens. To understand the implications of 
these efforts, it is necessary to look back at how Yaqui identity and socio-
political organization had changed in Arizona before 1934 and the passage 
of the IRA.

The Yaquis, like the Tohono O’odham, historically lacked permanent 
tribal organization. Moreover, for complex reasons, some Yaquis identi-
fi ed more with their Mexican than with their Indian heritage. At times, 
intermarriage and inter cultural ties with mestizos led to acculturation—a 
continuation of a process of mestizaje that had proceeded for centuries 
in Mexico. Other Yaquis, however, shed their Indian identities for more 
strategic reasons. Before 1930 Yaquis were reluctant to divulge their identi-
ties due to fear of reprisal by the Mexican government. As Evelyn Hu-De-
Hart explains, “Yaquis quickly learned not to divulge their true identities, 
claiming, instead, to be Opatas, Pimas, or Mexicans.”54

In the United States there were other reasons to claim to be either Mexi-
can American or a member of some other indigenous group. During the 
repatriation era in the 1930s, fear of deportation led some Yaquis to claim 
they were O’odham. Still others hid their identities to avoid racial discrim-
ination from Anglos and Mexican Americans alike. While BIA officials 
often declared that Indians were more “pure” than ethnic Mexicans and 
thus more capable of becoming citizens, many Anglos placed Indians at the 
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bottom of the race hierarchy. While many Anglos viewed Mexicans as ra-
cially degraded through miscegenation, many paradoxically viewed them 
as superior to Indians because they were at least partly white. Moreover, 
because Mexican Americans were defi ned as Caucasian by the courts, 
claiming to be Mexican American could have legal advantages for Yaquis.

The story of the Chavarría family provides more intimate insight as to 
why some Yaquis publicly shed their Yaqui identities. Born in 1884 in the 
community of Pueblo Viejo near Solomonville, Arizona, Pablo Chavarría 
grew up and married Dolores Amado, a Mexican American whose ancestors 
had lived in Arizona since before the U.S.-Mexican War. In  Solomonville, 
Pablo and Dolores had two sons, Paul and Ralph, whom Pablo supported by 
working on nearby ranches and as a musician. Around 1920, as the cotton 
boom attracted tens of thousands of Indians and Mexicans from Sonora and 
southern Arizona into the Salt River valley, the family joined the migration 
by relocating to Tempe. Dolores died there, and Pablo continued to support 
his two sons by working on nearby ranches and farms. They lived in Los 
Arribeños, one of the two largest ethnic Mexican barrios in Tempe.55

Pablo mostly disassociated himself from other Yaquis in Los  Arribeños, 
but he made close connections to the surrounding Mexican-American com-
munity. He supported his family fi nancially by working as a musician in 
the rural towns scattered around Maricopa and Pinal counties. He and his 
sons also worked periodically for wages on commercial farms until Pablo 
was able to buy a small ranch of his own just west of Tempe. Eventually, he 
met Rita Moreno, a Chiricahua Apache, and the two soon married. Pablo 
and Rita had fi ve children together—Roberto, Rodolfo, Ray, Josephina, and 
Antonio.56

Throughout this period, Pablo’s children, including those from his sec-
ond marriage with Rita, grew up identifying themselves as Mexican Amer-
icans rather than as Indians. According to Ray, who was born in 1927, Rita 
and Pablo kept their Indian heritage secret even from their own children. 
Not until many years later did Ray discover his true family background. 
Looking back at his childhood, he recalled that his father rarely associated 
with Yaquis who lived in nearby Guadalupe. “Knowing that Guadalupe 
consisted more of the Yaqui Indian, they stayed away. So they—what would 
you say?—ostracized the barrio completely out.” As he grew older, Ray 
asked his father why he had disowned his Yaqui ancestry. His father an-
swered that Mexican Americans did not want to associate with the Yaquis 
because “they were ashamed of their own race, they didn’t want to mingle 
with the Indian, with the Yaqui, because then people would say that they 
were also Indian.” Refl ecting on his father’s decision, Ray thought that 

T4257.indb   145T4257.indb   145 7/19/07   12:12:29 PM7/19/07   12:12:29 PM



146 border citizens

“the reason that we didn’t fi nd out ’til later that we were American Indian 
was due to the discrimination of races. The Indian was looked down upon, 
like today. And Dad didn’t want us to suffer through any of that. So he 
would always say that he was a Mexicano.”57

The Chavarrías, in fact, became well-known and well-respected mem-
bers of Tempe’s Mexican-American middle class. Paul eventually became a 
member of the leading mutualista in the state, the Alianza Hispano-
Americana, and played in its orchestra. Over the years he played frequently 
at fi estas patrias (patriotic festivals). Later he became a leading organizer 
of the Sociedad Mutualista Porfi rio Diaz—ironically, a mutualista named 
after the Mexican dictator who bore much of the responsibility for dispos-
sessing the Yaquis in Sonora.58

While others certainly followed a similar path as the Chavarrías, thou-
sands continued to identify as Yaquis, and they gained the support of some 
infl uential Anglo-Americans in their attempts to secure a distinct rela-
tionship with the U.S. government. Many Anglos saw the Yaquis as Ameri-
can Indians, and they drew sharp distinctions between them and other im-
migrants from Mexico. They were especially impressed by their religious 
ceremonies, particularly with their indigenous pascola and deer dances. 
According to Edward Spicer, who lived among and studied the Arizona 
Yaquis in the 1930s, “The prompt and concrete result of the reintroduction 
of the old ceremonies was the Anglo-American recognition that Yaquis 
were different from Mexicans. . . . It resulted very soon in the establish-
ment of an identifi cation of Yaquis with other American Indians in the 
minds of a number of Anglo-Americans. This, in turn, was associated with 
reservations, and so we see Anglo-Americans attempting to develop a sort 
of reservation system for all Yaquis in Arizona.”59

Anglo recognition of the distinct Indian cultural practices among the 
Yaquis helped lead to the founding of two of the largest Yaqui settlements 
in Arizona: Pascua, near Tucson, and Guadalupe, south of Tempe. In Gua-
dalupe, Lucius Zittier, a Franciscan priest, helped to secure an area of trust 
land for about thirty Yaqui families who worked on nearby ranches and 
railroads in the 1910s. Zittier hoped to protect Guadalupe, then known 
only as Yaqui Town, as “a pure Indian settlement without any admixture 
of whites or Mexicans.” He invoked the discourse of Indian purity and 
Mexican impurity, warning that any infl ux of Mexicans would “ruin the 
settlement.” With the proper guidance and insulation from the other farm-
workers around them, the Yaquis might successfully be converted into 
good Roman Catholics and good citizens.60

Salt River valley employers also drew racial boundaries between Yaquis 
and ethnic Mexicans. Some explained the willingness of the Yaquis to 

T4257.indb   146T4257.indb   146 7/19/07   12:12:30 PM7/19/07   12:12:30 PM



the indian new deal and the politics of the tribe 147

work on their farms with mythical ideas about their cultural and racial pu-
rity as Indians, and their legendary resistance against the Mexican army. 
Invoking the trope of the noble savage, they suggested that the Yaquis had 
a unique reverence for independence and freedom, and thus had a drive 
that mestizo workers supposedly lacked. In the starkest of racial terms, 
one cotton grower commented, “The Yaquis aren’t as much like niggers as 
the Mexicans, because they haven’t been peons and had to act that way.”61

Ironically, such characterizations served the interests of employers who 
could argue that because the Yaquis were strong and warriorlike, they were 
perfectly suited to dangerous and physically demanding manual labor. 
 Howard Ruppers, a foreman for the Salt River Valley Water Users Associa-
tion (SRVWUA) in the 1920s and ’30s, characterized the Yaquis as one of 
the “last tribes of unconquered Indians.” He drew an explicit connection 
between their Indian status and their purportedly superior work habits. In 
his words they “possessed a skill along with a dexterity unexcelled” and 
they were “not only good soldiers in a military sense, they are also most 
reliable in times of emergencies such as fl ash fl oods and storms.” Such 
qualities made them “the fi nest type of labor obtainable.”62 Others went so 
far as to suggest that the Yaquis were immune to hot weather and scorpion 
stings.63

Anglo perceptions of and actions toward the Yaquis were colored by their 
preconceived notions about Indians in other ways as well—ways that, over 
time, infl uenced how the Yaquis would defi ne themselves. Anglo officials 
sometimes called certain prominent Yaquis “chief,” refl ecting their as-
sumption that Yaqui social and political organization was similar to that 
of other American Indians. Some Yaqui leaders, in turn, adopted the term. 
This is not to say that the concept of chief was entirely foreign to the Yaquis. 
In part, it built upon the tradition of village headmen and  gobernadores in 
Mexico and upon the title of military captain, which had taken on greater 
power under the Yaqui leader Cajeme in late-nineteenth-century Mexico. 
The term was thus a syncretic blending of Anglo expectations about how 
Indians should behave and of leadership positions long recognized by the 
Yaquis in Sonora.

The political discourse of tribes and chiefs became most signifi cant for 
those Yaquis who lived in the barrios near Tucson, especially in the largely 
homogeneous community that would come to be known as Pascua. Juan 
Muñoz, better known as Juan Pistola, was the fi rst in Arizona to take Chief 
of the Yaquis as a title. Pistola established his leadership during the na-
tional recession of 1920–1921, when he helped to obtain federal relief and 
jobs for Yaquis living near Tucson. He was instrumental in working with 
a real-estate agent so that Yaquis could rent property in Pascua. As a result 

T4257.indb   147T4257.indb   147 7/19/07   12:12:30 PM7/19/07   12:12:30 PM



148 border citizens

some Yaquis recognized him as the leader of the village.64 Refugio Savala 
explained that his family favored Pistola’s leadership in large part because 
“he got employment for us during this period of depression after the war” 
and because he helped to send Savala and his siblings to school.65

By 1930 Pascua and Guadalupe were the two largest and most stable 
Yaqui settlements in south-central Arizona, and they served as the pri-
mary sites for the practice of annual fi estas and ceremonies such as Holy 
Week. The word “Pascua” came from the Spanish term for the ceremonial 
processions of Easter weekend. The Lenten and Easter ceremonies played 
a signifi cant role in shaping the distinct relationship between Yaquis and 
Anglo-Arizonans. Beginning in the 1920s, for example, the Tucson Cham-
ber of Commerce promoted the Pascua ceremonies as a tourist attraction. 
According to a newspaper article in 1925, “Their religious devotions are 
performed with a sincerity that is unquestionable, even to the most casual 
observer.” It went on to suggest that Yaquis had a natural love of indepen-
dence: “The Yaqui Indian is a Mexican Indian driven from his native land 
by a long series of wars and persecutions because he has steadily refused to 
subdue an inherent independence and love of liberty. . . . Like all children of 
nature these people worship God in the great open spaces.” The Chamber 
of Commerce capitalized on this reputation, promoting the event as “one 
of the outstanding folk festivals of the Southwest” and providing chairs 
and assistance with managing the large crowds that fl ocked to  Pascua to 
observe the ceremonies every year.66

Guadalupe was also a relatively stable community, but it was less ethni-
cally homogeneous than Pascua. Local missionaries such as Lucius Zittier 
had hoped that Guadalupe would remain an exclusively Yaqui commu-
nity, but growing numbers of ethnic Mexicans settled in and around the 
original 40-acre town site and the 92-acre Biehn colony, which was held in 
trust by the Presbyterian Church. Some of the ethnic Mexican residents 
were immigrant agricultural workers who simply squatted on unoccupied 
land around the forty acres. Others, such as A. C. García, Maximo  Solarez, 
and Louis Gastello, purchased substantial areas of land (totaling 280 acres) 
in the immediate vicinity of the original Yaqui Town in the 1920s and 
’30s. Over time, they sold individual plots of land to other ethnic Mexi-
cans, who eventually surrounded the Yaqui settlement in several new 
neighborhoods.67

Still, Guadalupe Yaquis managed to retain an identity distinct from the 
growing ethnic Mexican population. Every year they practiced the Lenten 
and Easter ceremonies on a plaza at the center of the original 40-acre town 
site. They continued to maintain their own ritual sodalities (organizations 
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responsible for certain ritual tasks) and to hold their own seasonal cer-
emonies. Eventually, they constructed their own separate church building 
directly next to the Catholic mission—a building that housed the images 
of saints and became the focal point of religious processions.68

By the 1930s Guadalupe served as the most important anchor com munity 
for Yaqui farmworkers who lived and worked in the Salt River valley. Hun-
dreds of Yaqui men worked as full-time employees for the SRVWUA, liv-
ing in Guadalupe and in two labor camps, one in Scottsdale (the northside 
camp) and one in Chandler (the southside camp). In all three communi-
ties, men generally worked year-round while women and children often 
participated in seasonal cotton chopping and picking. This arrangement, 
while highly exploitative, was also conducive to continued participation 
in important cultural events in Guadalupe. Every year, hundreds of Yaquis 
from the two SRVWUA camps, as well as those who were scattered among 
some seventy other camps throughout the valley, converged in Guadalupe 
for the Easter ceremonies.69 Ruby Wood, a social worker who moved into 
the community in the 1930s, recalled how “a lot of them, during that week, 
would get off if they happened to be head of the ceremonies, and they’d 
give them that time, that could be their vacation period.” While employ-
ers sometimes protested the practice, it became clear that any attempt to 
crack down would result in an exodus from the fi elds. Thus, the Yaquis, in 
at least one small way, forced the hands of the growers, giving them little 
choice but to accede to their insistence that they continue certain sacred 
practices. As Wood put it, their employers would “take it that way so they 
didn’t just quit.”70

The Yaquis selected their own local leaders in Guadalupe, Pascua, and 
similar towns, continuing in a less organized form a long tradition of 
village-level autonomy. In Pascua, after Juan Pistola’s death in 1922, other 
Yaqui men attempted to take up the mantle of chief. In the late 1920s and 
early 1930s, the state district attorney, the INS, Arizona’s governor, and the 
Pima County sheriff all referred to Cayateno López as chief of the Yaquis. 
Many Yaquis, however, adamantly contested the claims of anyone to speak 
for them as a collective whole—a fact that was consistent with the Yaqui 
tradition of government by village headmen selected through consensus.71

Nevertheless, leaders such as Pistola and López played important roles 
in helping the regional population adapt and defend their interests in Ari-
zona. López helped to protect Arizona Yaquis from deportation. In 1927 a 
Yaqui from Sonora named Guadalupe Flores encouraged Arizona Yaquis 
to buy up plots of land in Sonora and take up farming there. Most Arizona 
Yaquis rejected the plan. Cayateno López traveled from settlement to set-
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tlement to build up resistance to Flores. With the backing of both Pascuans 
and  Guadalupanos, López wrote letters to the governor and to President 
 Herbert Hoover explaining that most Arizona Yaquis wished to remain in 
Arizona. He pointed out that a majority of them had been born in the state, 
and that “there wasn’t anything to do in Sonora. This is the only country 
we know.”72

Fortunately, into the mid-1930s most local and federal officials tended 
to view the Yaquis as political refugees and did not seek to deport them. 
In 1932, in the midst of the national repatriation program, Arizona Gover-
nor George Hunt declared that those Yaquis who had secured steady work 
would not be deported. In his words, those who demonstrated “their fi tness 
for citizenship and did not become a burden on public systems” would 
not “become subject to deportation.”73 Edward Shaughnessy of the INS ex-
plained several years later, in a letter to Senator Hayden, “As they were not 
in possession of the documents required by the Immigration Act of 1924, 
their presence in the United States was considered to be illegal for immi-
gration purposes, but this Department took no steps looking to their depor-
tation because of their status as refugees.”74 Still, these were not unequivo-
cal guarantees of federal protection. What would happen if government 
officials did, in fact, decide that the Yaquis had become a burden on public 
systems? By the late 1930s, the INS provided an answer by actively pursu-
ing a deportation plan, just as it had deported over half a million Mexicans.

Mexican President Lázaro Cárdenas and the governor of Sonora encour-
aged the return of both mestizos and Mexican Indians to help revitalize the 
Mexican economy and strengthen the Mexican state. To reassure Arizona 
Yaquis, Cárdenas established a zona indigena (communal ejido land) along 
the Rio Yaqui in 1937. The governor of Sonora informed U.S. officials that 
the Yaquis would not be subject to reprisals if they returned to their home-
land along the river. Whether the Sonoran government could guarantee 
these claims, however, was unclear. According to the Spanish-language 
newspaper El Tucsonense, Mexicans who had taken up landholdings along 
the Yaqui River in Sonora pleaded with the government not to permit the 
Yaquis to return, fearing that they might raise a “series of problems for 
small farmers in the Yaqui River valley.”75

Some Yaquis returned to Mexico voluntarily as the Depression dragged 
on. Rosalio Moisés, for example (see Chapter 3), decided in 1932 to return 
to the Rio Yaqui while eking out an existence on $1.80 per day working for 
the SRVWUA. As he remembered it, “I got to thinking about the Rio Yaqui 
in Sonora and all the stories I had heard about the place. The valley lands 
were rich, and there was gold in the mountains. The lands needed little 
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water; all kinds of seeds would grow very fast. . . . A man could live there 
without working for wages.” In early October he sold a gallon of bootleg 
whiskey in the Salt River camps, and he used the profi ts to cross back into 
Sonora. He then hopped a train for Nogales and hitched a ride with a truck 
driver to Magdalena, where the feast day of San Francisco was under way. 
There, after praying and lighting a candle in front of the statue of Saint 
Francis, he took a train to Vicam station, in the Yaqui River valley. Sadly, 
despite his dreams of life as a farmer, he soon found himself working for 
meager wages in someone else’s bean fi elds. Many other Yaquis whose sto-
ries remain unrecorded must have followed a similar path with similarly 
disappointing results.76

To certain concerned Anglos in the United States, federal recognition as 
an Indian tribe seemed a perfect way to protect the Yaquis from deporta-
tion, since it would secure their status as U.S. citizens. In 1934 Arizona 
Congresswoman Isabella Greenway and University of Arizona Professor 
John Provinse wrote letters to BIA Commissioner John Collier requesting 
federal aid for the Yaquis under the Indian New Deal. Collier responded, 
“It has long been the opinion of our legal advisors that this office has no di-
rect legal authority to make provision for these Indians, and that the situa-
tion would have to be met by a special act of Congress.” While Collier’s re-
sponse was disappointing, it at least left open the possibility that Congress 
might consider a law to recognize the Yaquis as American Indians.77

Simultaneous with these new efforts, INS officials began deporting 
Yaquis, though doing so proved difficult. While government officials still 
tended to view the Yaquis as foreign nationals and permanent aliens—or, 
as Senator Carl Hayden put it in 1936, “Mexican citizens in this country 
under sufferance”—by the late 1930s many hundreds of Arizona Yaquis 
had been born in the United States and were automatically U.S. citizens.78 
As Edward Shaughnessy of the INS explained in a letter to Carl Hayden, 
“It is only when we have some defi nite information that they have gone 
to Mexico and returned unlawfully that deportation proceedings can be 
successfully instituted.” To encourage Yaquis to move to Sonora, the INS 
developed a strategy of deporting certain leaders who had crossed the bor-
der in recent years. Over the next several months they deported thirty-four 
Yaquis.79

For some Anglo supporters of the Yaquis the need for securing Yaqui 
citizenship now seemed more urgent than ever. In 1937 a group of Tucson 
residents protested the deportation efforts and lobbied to secure an area of 
trust land for the Yaquis. Thamar Richey, an elementary school teacher in 
Pascua, headed the effort. Richey urged the government to resettle Tucson’s 
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Yaquis on irrigable land away from the Tucson city limits, and away from 
the supposedly corrupting infl uence of the urban Mexican population. 
There they could once again take up farming and become stable citizen 
farmers, rather than be further degraded by low-wage day labor and agricul-
tural work. Although the Resettlement Administration had already estab-
lished a collective farm exclusively for Anglo workers in Casa Grande, it 
refused to establish a similar settlement for the Yaquis, claiming it did not 
have adequate funding.80

The Tucson group then tried another angle, arguing that the Yaquis 
should be formally recognized as an American Indian tribe. Mrs. J. R. 
Fitzgerald of Tucson, who became the spokesperson for the group after 
Richey’s death, requested that “the Yaquis now in this country be brought 
in under the Indian service and given the benefi ts of protection of our 
government” so that they would have “an equal chance with their neigh-
bors round about to become American citizens.” The Yaquis, according to 
Fitzgerald, were experiencing difficult times because of the Depression, 
but they were “freedom-loving, independent people who have always made 
their own way.” With the right economic opportunities, which she believed 
federal acknowledgement as Indians would assure them, the Yaquis would 
make ideal, productive citizens.81

Again federal officials denied the request, leaving the status of the 
Yaquis unresolved. When Senator Hayden forwarded Fitzgerald’s requests 
to  Collier, his response was more emphatic than it had been in 1934. Ignor-
ing the fact that many Yaquis had been born in Arizona, Collier wrote, 
“Since under existing law these people may not be naturalized” (because 
they were nonwhite immigrants), such an action would “raise many ques-
tions and would require a careful study of the situation.” Collier used 
such complexities and his preoccupation with implementing the Indian 
New Deal among already recognized tribes to justify his statement that 
he did “not feel that we should with our limited funds undertake such an 
investigation.”82

While the Yaquis received no benefi ts from Collier’s Indian New Deal, 
they did receive marginal benefi ts from other New Deal programs. Relief 
funds did make their way into Guadalupe and surrounding communities. 
Ruby Wood found conditions in Guadalupe to be “terrible” when she ar-
rived in the early 1930s to be a social worker. She wrote, “There wasn’t any 
relief or any welfare or anything and a lot of those people were just freez-
ing to death.” In 1934, however, Wood began to work as an adult education 
teacher as a part of the Emergency Education Program funded through the 
Federal Emergency Education Act. As a teacher and a volunteer worker at 
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the clinic, she taught classes in health, sanitation, and homemaking and 
made regular visits to Guadalupe homes. Many Yaquis began to receive 
direct relief from the government, while others worked for the CCC.83

Without federal tribal recognition, however, the Yaqui villages and bar-
rios, unlike the villages of the Tohono O’odham, continued to develop 
without an overarching tribal structure or reservation. In the postwar era 
each community maintained its own distinct nexus of social, political, 
and economic relationships. Guadalupe remained a primarily agricultural 
village of farmworkers and irrigators, with relatively little interaction with 
Anglos other than their employers. Pascuans, on the other hand, because 
of their proximity to Tucson and the University of Arizona, engaged in 
a wider range of economic activities and developed a closer connection 
to nearby Anglos, including anthropologists such as Ed Spicer and insti-
tutions such as the Tucson Chamber of Commerce, which continued to 
refer to the Yaquis as an “Indian tribe.” Spicer played an important role in 
recording Yaqui traditions, writing down their history and generating au-
tobiographies, life histories, and ethnographies that reinforced the notion 
in the Anglo mind that the Yaquis were an Indian tribe. Decades later, his 
histories would serve as evidence when the Yaquis once again sought tribal 
recognition by the federal government.84

The Pascuans’ relationship with Spicer and with other Anglos who 
viewed the Yaquis as a tribe would, in time, infl uence their sense of them-
selves as a people. Thus, it is not surprising that it would be Pascuans who 
would once again seek federal recognition as a tribe in the early 1960s with 
the help of a group of Anglo Tucson residents. In contrast, many of the 
Yaquis who had been raised in Guadalupe, and who therefore had fewer 
daily interactions with Anglos and more with Mexican Americans, would 
question whether they wished to be classed as American Indians. Some 
like Pablo Gonzalez shed their identities as Yaquis altogether, while most 
held onto a distinct identity that did not easily conform to imposed ethno-
racial categories such as Indian and Mexican. Yaquis thus remained border 
citizens, living on the margins of both the ethno-racial and geopolitical 
boundaries of the U.S. nation-state.

In south-central Arizona, the most immediately pertinent impact of the 
New Deal was to expand Indian participation in, and dependency on, wage 
labor. Despite the reforms of the 1930s, in economic terms the emergency 
relief programs and labor recruitment practices of the New Deal repre-
sented continuity with rather than a change from earlier policies. By the 
time the Indian New Deal began to be replaced by new programs to termi-
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nate and relocate tribes after World War II, more Indians in south-central 
Arizona than ever would work for wages. Unfortunately, this economic in-
tegration was not matched by new political or civil rights. Into the postwar 
era, Arizona Indians could not vote. With the new policies of termination 
and relocation after the war, pressures against political sovereignty also 
would be greater than they had been since the early twentieth century. In 
this context, ironically, the new tribes and tribal councils that had begun 
largely as federal impositions would increasingly become vehicles to ob-
tain a greater degree of economic, cultural, and political autonomy.

Over the longer term, then, another effect of the Indian New Deal was 
to create clearer divisions between indigenous groups, which were desig-
nated by reservations and tribes and not just by historical ethnic affilia-
tion, and to demarcate more clearly divisions between Indians and ethnic 
Mexicans. Thus, Akimel O’odham (Pimas) and  Tohono O’odham, who were 
closely related by culture and language, now had separate tribal councils 
and membership roles, encouraging further ethnic differentiation between 
the two peoples. Those Tohono O’odham who still lived in Mexico were 
alienated from those in the United States more than ever, since they could 
not elect representatives to the tribal council or benefi t from fi nancial re-
sources through the tribe. In this way the international border took on a 
new signifi cance, threatening to disrupt transnational ties of kinship and 
culture. The Pimas and Maricopas, who shared two reservations (at Salt 
River and Gila River), were now united under their own reservation-wide 
governments, providing a new institutional basis to work together as col-
lective entities—although in both cases they decided to refer to themselves 
as communities rather than as tribes. Over the course of the next several 
decades, these new institutional divisions would have a very real impact 
on the way these groups defi ned themselves, and on the ways they negoti-
ated with the federal government for resources, cultural autonomy, and 
their rights as U.S. citizens.
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chap ter 6

shadows in the sun belt

Phoenix Mayor Samuel Mardian Jr. testifi ed before the U.S. Commission 
on Civil Rights in 1962 that ethnic minorities in Phoenix faced little or no 
discriminatory treatment. “Indians are not discriminated against in em-
ployment, services, or housing,” he said, and offered an even more sanguine 
assessment of Mexican-American prospects: “These people hold high posi-
tions in the city government, in industry, and in the professions.” To prove 
the point he noted that one Mexican American held a seat on the Phoenix 
City Council and that others had recently been elected to the state legisla-
ture. Only when discussing the status of the growing population of blacks 
did Mardian admit to a few lingering problems, noting that certain private 
businesses avoided hiring them and that “the purchase of homes by  Negroes 
in areas previously all-white meets with resistance.” Still, he claimed 
that “Negroes have made great progress toward complete integration.”1

These advancements, Mardian concluded, resulted largely from the An-
glo community’s generosity and civil stewardship, which precluded any 
need for the federal government to intercede. He maintained that Anglos 
in Phoenix were imbued with “Yankee self-confi dence, southern hospi-
tality, western friendliness, and Midwestern conservatism.” It was these 
traits, inherited from Anglo “pioneers” and settlers from elsewhere in the 
United States, that defi ned the essence of citizenship in Arizona and that 
made federal intervention in civil rights unnecessary. “Minority groups,” 
he declared, “would accomplish more on a voluntary basis than by looking 
to legal remedies.”2

Shortly after Mardian’s testimony, Herbert Ely, president of the Phoenix 
Council of Civil Unity, directly challenged his claims. Ely criticized the 
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assertion that a spirit of civility had led Anglos to graciously dismantle dis-
criminatory policies. To the contrary, a series of court cases and  protests 
had forced the desegregation of schools, housing, swimming pools, and 
other public facilities. Moreover, many employers still would not volun-
tarily hire “a member of a minority group—a Negro and, in many in-
stances, a Spanish-American.” Residential segregation remained rampant 
and racial discrimination persisted in many forms. “In conclusion, I think 
it is an illusion to suggest that Phoenix has progressed in the fi eld of civil 
rights and human relations because, or in spite, of the fact that there have 
been laws. The antithesis of this statement is closer to the truth.”3

As this chapter will show, Ely’s analysis was indeed more accurate than 
Mardian’s, which was a defensive attempt to keep the federal government 
out of local civil rights affairs, much like the claims made by local officials 
in the South as a response to the civil rights movement.4 But in the twenty 
years after World War II, ethnic Mexicans, indigenous people, and other 
subordinated ethno-racial groups found that they could not wait patiently 
on the sidelines for the cities, the state, or even the federal government to 
pass ordinances and laws ending segregation and discrimination. These 
groups faced not only a continuing system of discrimination and segrega-
tion but also an array of new challenges, as the region entered a phase of 
rapid economic, political, and cultural change. For Indians, blacks, and eth-
nic Mexicans alike, urbanization and mechanization rapidly undermined 
the pattern of seasonal farmwork that had sustained their communities for 
decades. Some were able to fi nd jobs in the new manufacturing sector, but 
discriminatory hiring and promotion were still widespread. At the same 
time, large-scale recruitment of Mexican braceros—yet another example of 
the state’s shaping of the regional political economy—reinscribed the no-
tion that so-called stoop labor was a job for an “alien” Mexican race. This 
raised new barriers for Mexican Americans who hoped to be accepted as 
white or, at least, as patriotic citizens.5

From the mid-1940s to the early 1960s, Mexican Americans, Indians, 
and blacks began to organize in new ways to achieve equal citizenship 
and chip away at the racialized class structure. Yet, the interests of these 
groups often differed, and at times they worked at cross-purposes. Mexican 
Americans who fought to end segregation and gain full citizenship some-
times reinforced racial boundaries between themselves and the regional 
black and indigenous populations, both of whom the government had of-
fi cially designated as nonwhite. Indigenous and black activists of the era 
also tended to focus on integration, but generally without challenging the 
Anglo-defi ned cultural foundation of citizenship. Indeed, the myth that 
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true Arizona citizens were those descended from Anglo pioneers—white 
citizens who had wrested the territory from their Mexican and Indian pre-
decessors—would survive this era largely intact.

r ace and the ( sub ) urban politic al economy

World War II’s impact on the Southwest was dramatic, spurring rapid 
growth in population, urbanization, and economic change that led contem-
porary boosters to call the region the Sun Belt to distinguish it from the 
so-called Rust Belt in the upper Midwest.6 In the decade after the war, most 
of Ari zona’s population would settle primarily in the urban or suburban 
centers. By 1950 two-thirds of the population lived in metropolitan Tucson 
and Phoenix. The largest and most infl uential city in Arizona, and perhaps 
even in the desert Southwest as a whole, was Phoenix. Its total population 
soared from 65,414 in 1940 to 439,170 in 1960—growth of 670 percent over 
two decades. Its surrounding satellite cities of Glendale, Tempe, and Mesa 
also grew so substantially that by 1970 the population of Maricopa County 
approached one million.7

Phoenix boosters outdid promoters of other cities in the desert South-
west in their drive to attract industry and people in the years following the 
war, and thus to reshape the state’s political economy. Sun Belt cities vied 
with each other for contracts with the federal government and competed 
to attract new companies by changing tax structures, passing antilabor 
laws, and stressing their balmy climate. Phoenix took the lead over El Paso 
through its aggressive reforms of tax and labor laws. Companies special-
izing in light, high-tech industries, such as Motorola, General Electric, and 
Sperry Rand, moved to Arizona after 1946 because the state’s right-to-work 
law severely restricted the power of the unions. These companies helped to 
triple employment in the manufacturing sector and to stimulate a demo-
graphic shift from rural areas to the cities.8

As the population of Phoenix grew, thousands of acres of farmland dis-
appeared under new suburban subdivisions, and the agricultural industry 
employed a declining percentage of the region’s total labor force. Before the 
war Phoenix covered 9.6 square miles and was surrounded by thousands 
of acres of irrigated farmland. Two decades later, through annexation and 
real estate development, it had expanded to 187.4 square miles of the Salt 
River valley. In 1955 agriculture lost its place to manufacturing as the city’s 
most important employer. In the 1970s suburban development removed ten 
thousand acres from agricultural production every year, so that by 1980 
agriculture slipped to third place, behind manufacturing and tourism.9
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Map 6.1. Urban Areas in South-Central Arizona, ca. 1990

For Arizona’s ethnic Mexican, indigenous, and African-American popu-
lations, the effects of this economic boom were mixed. World War II vet-
erans were in the best position to benefi t from the booming economy. Sta-
tus as a veteran could often make the difference for applicants looking for 
steady, unionized jobs. Joe Torres, for example, who had been an unskilled 
worker before the war, found a job with Arizona Public Service, a local util-
ity that had long had a reputation for discrimination against non-Anglos. 
For the fi rst time, Torres also became a member of a union affiliated with 
the American Federation of Labor (AFL). As he recalled, “When I came 
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back, my father-in-law got me in the union right away, ’cause you know 
every veteran had fi ve points to begin with on any job application.” The 
GI Bill helped hundreds of Mexican Americans in Arizona obtain educa-
tions and fi nd better-paying jobs. Torres suggested that the GI Bill was “the 
most important part of our history.” Adam Díaz, a local activist turned 
politician, recalled that “many of our youngsters went into the service, 
and came out, had GI rights, and that helped a lot. And they took advan-
tage of it, because they went to school, and they were able to go all the way 
through college and do quite well.” Ironically, Torres himself was unable 
to fi nish his course in electronics because he had to go back to work to 
support his family. Many other veterans no doubt discovered that free col-
lege tuition was not enough to overcome other obstacles to education and 
upward mobility.10

Many failed to enjoy the fruits of the boom. Low wages, unemployment, 
and poor living conditions continued to plague the barrios, reservations, 
and towns. By 1970 in Phoenix and Tucson, about 20 percent of all Hispan-
ics, 30 percent of all Indians, and well over 30 percent of all blacks lived 
below the poverty line, compared with only 10 percent of the Anglo popu-
lation. Non-Anglos remained mostly segregated into distinct residential 
areas. In Maricopa County, endless new suburban subdivisions expanded 
into the desert and into farming areas, but south Phoenix, where most of 
the non-Anglo population was concentrated, languished. The population of 
blacks in Phoenix grew from 4,263 in 1940 to 20,919 in 1960—making up 
over half of the total population of blacks in Arizona. In the early 1960s, 
according to a study by the Phoenix Urban League, 97 percent of all blacks 
in the city lived south of Van Buren Street, in the “worst housing areas in 
the city.”11

Federal, state, and municipal policies had long encouraged residential 
segregation. In 1924 the Phoenix Real Estate Board ordered all realtors to 
refrain from “introducing into a neighborhood members of any race or na-
tionality, or any individuals detrimental to property values in that neigh-
borhood.”12 In 1938 the Federal Housing Authority (FHA) reinforced such 
restrictions by developing an underwriter’s manual encouraging builders 
to segregate non-Anglo residents. The manual remained in effect into the 
1960s. An investigation by the Phoenix Urban League found that between 
1938 and 1960 three builders had constructed thirty-one thousand homes 
in northern Phoenix, all with “FHA commitments, or savings and loan 
associations that had Federal insurance.” According to Lincoln Ragsdale, 
a member of the NAACP and the Urban League, “Not one of these new 
houses . . . [had] been sold to a Negro when new.”13
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Government officials promoted residential segregation in even more di-
rect ways. The Phoenix Housing Authority was created in April 1939 to 
provide cheaper public housing under federal directives and fi nancing. In 
1941 it constructed three racially segregated housing projects: the Frank 
Luke project for Anglos, the Marcos de Niza project for ethnic Mexicans, 
and the Mathew Henson Homes project for blacks. Others followed. It was 
not until November 1955 that the U.S. Supreme Court condemned the con-
struction of segregated public housing. By then Arizona’s postwar urban 
boom had already followed a pattern of strict residential segregation.14 In 
1962, seven years after the Supreme Court decision, Lincoln Ragsdale noted 
that none of these projects had been truly desegregated. Of seven such proj-
ects, “Two of the projects are all-Negro; one project happens to be all white, 
and in three of them, one has one Negro, another has two Negroes, and a 
third has three Negroes.”15

Tucson, which did not grow nearly as fast as Phoenix, faced similar prob-
lems. The Southern Pacifi c Railroad, which bisected the city diagonally 
from the northwest to the southeast, continued to separate the city’s resi-
dents according to race. Mexican Americans, Indians, and other non-Anglo 
groups remained concentrated in the southern and western portions of the 
city, while Anglos generally lived to the north and the east.16 A study done 
in the early 1970s by the University of Arizona found that the Tucson bar-
rios suffered from poor housing and a lack of economic opportunity. Ac-
cording to the report, household heads in 19 percent of ethnic Mexican 
homes were unemployed. Those who had jobs worked mostly in “some type 
of labor, i.e., construction work, gardening, operatives, semiskilled work, 
and other jobs which occur outside the district.” The report also noted that 
between 1960 and 1970 a growing percentage of barrio residents no longer 
owned their own homes, increasingly renting from absentee owners.17

Public facilities in south-central Arizona also remained segregated well 
into the 1950s. Lincoln Ragsdale remembered that “Phoenix was just like 
Mississippi. People were just as bigoted. They had segregation. They had 
signs in many places, ‘Mexicans and Negroes not welcome.’” As with the 
FHA housing projects, segregation was not simply a binary phenomenon in 
which Anglos were segregated from all nonwhites. Instead, ethnic Mexi-
cans, Indians, and blacks faced different forms of segregation. For a 1941 
“kiddies picnic,” for example, the city of Phoenix set aside three separate 
days and two separate parks for its white, ethnic Mexican, and black popu-
lations. There was no separate day for Indians, probably because the city did 
not think enough Indians lived in Phoenix to warrant it. According to the 
Arizona Republic, Riverside Park was reserved for “white kiddies” on Mon-
day afternoon and on “Tuesday the colored children will gather for frolic at 
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Eastlake Park while the Mexican kiddies will have their  picnic Wednesday 
at the same park.”18 Joe Torres recalled that similar, tri partite segregation 
policies were common at the swimming pools and local  theaters. At the 
Orpheum Theatre in downtown Phoenix, for example, Mexican Americans 
were relegated to the balcony, while blacks could  enter only on Thursdays. 
At the Riverside swimming pool, Torres recalled, blacks were excluded 
altogether, while ethnic Mexicans could use the pool on Sunday only.19

The forms of segregation faced by different ethno-racial groups also 
varied in the schools. Black students, whom government agencies clearly 
defi ned as a distinct race, had been entirely restricted from white schools 
and other public facilities since the fi rst decade of the century.20 The ex-
perience of ethnic Mexicans was somewhat different. In some cases, par-
ticularly in rural areas, Mexican Americans attended completely separate 
schools. In others they attended the same schools as Anglo students but 
faced discrimination and segregation within the schools and classrooms. 
Torres recalled that in Phoenix “they either put us way in the back of the 
class, or way in the front of the class . . . right in front of the teacher. There 
was a lot of segregation.”21

Some Mexican-American students found that, unlike blacks and Indi-
ans, they could pass as white. Josie Ortega Sánchez, who grew up in Barrio 
al Altito in Tempe, recalled that when the children at her school had a day 
off to go on a picnic “the teacher gathered all the Mexican kids and told us 
that we could join the picnic, but . . . we weren’t allowed to go swimming 
at the old Tempe Swimming Pool.” However, one girl was exempted from 
the restriction because, according to Sánchez, “she was very, very light-
complected and her hair was kind of blondish, reddish-blonde—he told her 
that she could go swimming if she wanted to, but the rest of us, because 
we were dark-skinned, we couldn’t.” Although Mexican Americans with 
light skin could sometimes duck the segregation policies, discrimination 
at an institutional level persisted, except when Mexican-American activ-
ists brought the issue before the courts.22

Urban Arizona’s conservative political culture limited the ability of 
Mexican Americans, Indians, and blacks to challenge such discrimination. 
Phoenix, with at-large elections and a council-manager charter, was simi-
lar to other Sun Belt cities. Phoenix politicians claimed that its system was 
more progressive and efficient because it dispensed with the corruption 
of machine party politics in the eastern and midwestern United States. 
But this efficiency came at the expense of the rights of large sectors of 
the population. As a historian has suggested, “The chief benefi ciaries of 
this government were the upper-income groups in the city, the great ma-
jority of them Anglo. Led by businessmen and professionals who lived in 
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the wealthier sections of the city, the reformers advocated ‘true’ commis-
sion–city manager government, featuring fi scal conservatism, the ideals of 
individualism, and the goal of ‘taking politics out of city hall.’”23

In the thirty years after the war, a group of elites known as the Phoenix 
Forty largely controlled both urban and state politics. Among this group, 
which dominated the Charter Government Committee, were newspaper 
mogul Eugene Pulliam, real estate developer Del Webb, and the Goldwater 
brothers, Barry and Robert. This unelected committee was such a potent 
force in local politics that between 1950 and 1975 every mayoral candidate 
that it endorsed won election and only two city council members were 
elected without its endorsement. This elite also greatly infl uenced state 
politics, rivaling an older mining and agricultural oligarchy. Members of 
the committee controlled the major newspapers and offered patronage to 
major Phoenix corporations. They helped send John Rhodes to Congress as 
their fi rst Republican representative and elect Paul Fannin governor three 
times and U.S. senator in 1964. They propelled Barry Goldwater, who began 
his political career on the Phoenix City Council before becoming a U.S. 
senator in 1952, to a national campaign for president.24

Restrictions on the political participation of non-Anglos allowed con-
servative Anglo elites from Phoenix to dominate state politics. Blacks, 
Mexican Americans, and Indians alike continued to face major voting ob-
stacles in the postwar era. Indians, whom the Arizona courts still defi ned 
as “under guardianship” until 1948, could not register to vote in Arizona 
elections. Arizona’s literacy test undermined the political power of other 
minority populations, remaining on the books until 1972, seven years after 
Congress passed the Voting Rights Act.25 Such laws were actively exploited 
to curtail the Mexican-American and African-American vote. In fact, ac-
cording to many witnesses, a group of young Republican lawyers who func-
tioned under the name Operation Eagle Eye in the early 1960s systemati-
cally visited the polls in south Phoenix to intimidate nonwhite voters. One 
of the primary leaders of the operation purportedly was Phoenix lawyer 
and future Supreme Court Chief Justice William Rehnquist.26 This kind 
of intimidation, combined with Arizona’s literacy test and poll tax, were 
quite effective in disenfranchising much of the non-Anglo population.

r ace and l abor in agriculture and mining

Because ethnic Mexican and indigenous veterans continued to face job dis-
crimination in Arizona’s segregated cities, many had little choice but to re-
turn to their old jobs in mining and agriculture after the war. Those mines 
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that had closed in the early years of the Depression recovered dramatically 
early in the war when the War Department signed a contract with Phelps 
Dodge to supply it with forty-fi ve thousand tons of copper ore per day.27 
The new demand for mine workers, coupled with discriminatory hiring 
policies in the cities, encouraged non-Anglos to move back to the mining 
towns.  Carlos Contreras recalled being “a ship fi tter in the Navy, and when 
I got out I couldn’t comprehend why I couldn’t get a job here in Phoenix. . . . 
I was so dumb about everything that I didn’t really realize they didn’t want 
me! I fi nally had to leave Phoenix to get a job. I was married with one child 
and unemployed. I got one at Ajo, Arizona, at the Phelps Dodge mines.”28

Ethnic Mexicans, Indians, and, increasingly, blacks made up the ma-
jority of the state’s agricultural workforce. Thousands of Mexicans were 
imported through the Bracero Program. After the war, grower associations 
such as the Arizona Cotton Growers Association and the Salt River Valley 
Water Users’ Association pleaded with the government to extend the pro-
gram into the postwar period.29 Responding to such lobbying efforts, the 
federal government did extend it into the 1960s.30

The Bracero Program restricted Mexican nationals to manual labor, thus 
helping to reestablish a racialized class system in the fi elds. Richard H. 
Salter, the chief of Arizona’s Farm Placement Bureau, made this explicit 
when defending the program before the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights 
in 1962. As he put it, “These Mexican workers are prohibited from working 
on machines or operating machinery. They are to be used only for stoop 
labor, or seasonal activities.”31 Ironically, the program seemed to stimu-
late undocumented immigration rather than to curtail it. In response the 
Arizona press often published alarmist articles about an invasion of “wet-
backs” who were streaming over the border. Periodically, such as in 1954 
under Operation Wetback, the INS deported thousands of Mexican workers 
even as growers continued to import braceros seasonally.32

Growers also recruited Indians from northern Arizona. The BIA had 
attempted to recruit Apaches, Navajos, and Hopis early in the century but 
had been unable to attract more than a few. The superintendent of the San 
Carlos reservation had explained in 1914 that the Apaches were unwilling 
to work alongside Pimas because “they have a natural antipathy to the Pima 
Indians, and do not like to work with them.”33 In the 1920s another BIA 
official explained to Commissioner Charles Burke that despite concerted 
efforts by cotton growers, only nineteen Hopis and seven Navajos had been 
enticed to the fi elds.34 The cotton growers responded by encouraging the 
BIA to refi ne its system of recruitment and transportation. They claimed 
that such a program would expose the Indians to “civilized surroundings” 
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and “modern methods of industry,” and provide “the rudiments of a com-
mon school education.”35 Still, before World War II, only the Yavapai from 
north-central Arizona worked in signifi cant numbers, perhaps about one 
hundred, in the southern half of the state.36

During and after the war, hundreds of Navajos fi nally began to work in 
the fi elds of south-central Arizona. John Jacobs, a spokesman for the Ari-
zona Vegetable Growers, imported between 140 and 250 Navajo workers 
every year beginning in 1942, the same year that the Bracero Program be-
gan. Other vegetable growers followed suit. Navajos generally worked from 
November to June, living in small frame houses they built themselves. 
Others were recruited during and after the war to work in the Morenci 
mine where, according to the director of the state employment service, 
“Indian labor practically saved the mine from closing.” In 1948 BIA of-
fi cials met with growers to stabilize and standardize the practice of re-
cruiting  Navajos as a part of its relocation program. BIA officials hoped to 
fi nd a way to employ Navajos and Hopis year-round, rather than only from 
November to June.37

Their efforts ultimately failed. Instead, Navajo families joined the mi-
grant labor stream, moving yearly from northern Arizona into the fi elds, 
much as Mexican braceros from the south were doing. A spokesman for the 
cotton growers explained in 1948 that while an additional fi fteen thousand 
workers were required during the cotton and lettuce harvest from October 
through December, year-round farmworkers simply were not needed. “By 
the end of January we have no further interest in them,” he said.38 By 1962 
Navajos worked mostly in seasonal jobs, moving back and forth from the 
reservation as their labor was needed. As John Jacobs put it, “Many of them 
take back rather substantial savings as they return to the reservation for 
the summer months, which they prefer doing, as many have small farms, 
herds of goats, sheep, and other livestock, as well as other summer work on 
the reservation.”39

Indians from south-central Arizona also worked in the fi elds in greater 
numbers than ever. A special report of the U.S. census in 1953 indicates that 
of 11,176 Tohono O’odham living in Pima, Maricopa, and Pinal  counties, 
6,399 lived outside the reservations for at least part of the year. Up to two 
thousand Tohono O’odham lived in Tucson and Ajo, while the remainder 
lived at least part time in rural towns and labor camps and depended either 
upon seasonal agricultural work or, increasingly, on more permanent ag-
ricultural work near the reservation. A researcher estimated in 1950 that 
half of all wages earned by the Tohono O’odham came from off-reservation 
cotton harvesting.40
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The federal government’s postwar “relocation” and “termination” pro-
grams attempted to coerce Indians to take up more permanent jobs off the 
reservation. The relocation program was in part a response to legitimate 
concerns about poor health conditions on the reservations and to the con-
tinuing problem of families taking their children out of the schools so 
that they could earn extra income as farmworkers. More broadly, though, 
relocation was a step toward termination. Secretary of the Interior J. C. 
Krug made this clear when he stated that the objective of the 1949 Papago 
Development Program was “their integration into the social, economic 
and political life of the Nation and the termination of federal supervision 
and control special to Indians.” Much as in the late nineteenth and early 
twentieth centuries, termination defi ned national belonging in monolithic 
terms. To achieve equality and integration, Indians would have to take 
up permanent jobs off the reservation. Management of reservation lands 
would eventually pass from tribal councils to corporations “owned by all 
of the enrolled members and created to manage the property of those mem-
bers held in common.”41

Ultimately, none of the tribes in south-central Arizona was terminated, 
and plans for relocating hundreds of families to cities like Los Angeles and 
Chicago were undermined, in part, by the availability of jobs near the reser-
vations.42 The demand for seasonal cotton pickers within Arizona reached 
an all-time high in 1953 when about one million acres were under irrigation 
in the state. Most Indians chose to work in adjacent farms or in nearby ur-
ban centers like Tucson and Phoenix. The Arizona Commission of Indian 
Affairs explained in 1956 that the “trend toward industrialized farming in 
Arizona’s irrigated areas . . . has meant a source of seasonal employment, 
which has been utilized by thousands of Pimas, Papagos, and Navajos in 
recent years.” The commission noted its frustration that agricultural work 
made it extremely difficult to encourage the Tohono O’odham and other 
groups to accept “permanent Indian settlement off the reservation.”43

While seasonal agricultural work permitted south-central Arizona’s in-
digenous population to maintain close ties to the reservations, it remained 
a precarious and unhealthy way to earn a living. Such jobs were highly 
exploitative and underpaid, and conditions in the labor camps ranged from 
substandard to miserable with only a few exceptions. It was estimated in 
1950 that 95 percent of the housing in south-central Arizona’s labor camps 
would not pass the state’s labor code but that none of the growers “would 
ever be convicted by a jury of his peers—for the peers in this area are all 
just as guilty.” While regulations demanded that parents and children be 
provided their own rooms, most families lived in tiny one-room cabins that 
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lacked water, furnishings, electricity, or gas and had substandard fl oors or 
no fl oors at all. The camps provided “almost no provision for laundering or 
bathing,” so the residents generally used the same outdoor hydrants from 
which they obtained their drinking water.44

Perhaps the most poignant personal story illustrating the continuing 
plight of Arizona’s indigenous farmworkers is that of Ira Hayes, a Pima 
World War II veteran. Hayes won a Congressional Medal of Honor during 
the war, and his participation in the raising of the fl ag on Mount Suribachi 
during the battle of Iwo Jima was captured forever by a famous photograph 
and a seventy-fi ve-foot bronze statue in Washington, D.C. After the war 
Hayes eventually made his way back to the Gila River reservation, where 
he had few options but to take up work as a cotton picker. Like thousands 
of other Pimas and Maricopas with no access to sufficient water or capital 
to develop their allotments, Hayes and his family worked on neighboring 
industrial farms for about three dollars per day. During a radio interview 
in Chicago, he revealed his frustration. “I was out in Arizona for eight 
years and nobody paid any attention to me,” he explained. “They might ask 
me what I think of the way they treat Indians out here, compared to how 
we are treated in Chicago. I’d tell them the truth and Arizona would not 
like it.” In 1955, not long after the interview, Hayes died of alcoholism.45

Just days after his funeral, Harold Fey, the editor of the Christian Cen-
tury, reported that his death was the result not simply of alcohol but of en-
vironmental degradation and exploitation. On a visit he made to the Hayes 
home on the Gila reservation, Fey found “a typical Indian house, made of 
wood posts and mud bricks, 25 or 30 feet square.” He found few Indians 
actively farming. “Although the soil was said to be fertile, the surround-
ings of the Hayes’ home presented a picture of dust and desolation, since 
no water was available for irrigation. After seeing this place, it was easier 
to understand why Ira Hayes drank his way to oblivion and death; why al-
coholism is a major affliction to a frustrated and discouraged people.” Fey 
was particularly struck by the contrast between the reservation and nearby 
industrial farms. “A few miles away water runs in the irrigation ditches 
and the desert produces cotton, barley, wheat and alfalfa, to say nothing of 
citrus fruit.” The agricultural boom brought little benefi t to the reserva-
tion, except through low wages earned by Pima and Maricopa families.46

A new threat developed in the mid-1960s when the mechanization of 
cotton-picking dramatically lowered the demand for seasonal farmwork-
ers in Arizona. During the fi rst half of the decade, machines rapidly re-
placed human pickers in the cotton fi elds. In the mid-1950s the total de-
mand for farm labor more than doubled between the off-season and the 
harvest  between October through early January, when some forty-eight 
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Figure 6.1. Seasonal Farm Labor Demand in Arizona, 1950–1965. Source: Arizona State 
Employ ment Service, Agricultural Employment in Arizona since 1950 (Phoenix, 1968), 9–132.

thousand pick ers joined the forty thousand or so year-round workers. By 
1963, however, Arizona’s cotton growers required only fi fty-three hundred 
additional workers for the harvest. Mechanization fl attened the seasonal 
cycle so that no more than thirty thousand to forty thousand farmworkers 
were needed throughout the year (Figure 6.1).47 Lee Athmer of the Arizona 
Farm Bureau noted this trend in 1962: “In Pinal County, there were 19,000 
migrant workers at the peak of the growing season ten years ago. . . . This 
past growing season there were no more than 1,000 migrant workers in 
Pinal County at any time.”48 Seasonal farmworkers had to seek new ways 
to earn income (see Chapter 8).

The much lower demand for seasonal labor played a critical role in end-
ing the Bracero Program in 1964. Nationally, both nativist Anglos and di-
verse Mexican-American organizations such as the League of United Latin 
American Citizens (LULAC), the GI Forum, and the National Farm Labor 
Union led the charge to end the program. In California, Ernesto Galarza, 
Dolores Huerta, and César Chávez argued that braceros lowered the wages 
of citizen workers while undermining efforts to unionize. Nationally, 
LULAC and the GI Forum, which did not promote union organizing, at 
least agreed with labor activists that braceros lowered the wages and living 
standards of U.S. citizens.49

Mexican Americans, labor activists, and politicians in Arizona raised 
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similar concerns.50 Manuel Peña Jr., a former migrant worker, testifi ed be-
fore the Civil Rights Commission in 1962 that “there has never been a 
genuine shortage of U.S.-born farmworkers, except during World War II.” 
He requested that the program be terminated immediately: “It is ironic 
that the agreement between the United States and Mexico is careful to 
state that the employer shall not practice social or economic discrimina-
tion in condition of employment against the imported worker, and at the 
same time is responsible for the economic discrimination against the U.S.-
born farmworker.” In 1964 such calls to end the program, combined with 
the mechanization of agriculture and the resulting decrease in demand for 
seasonal farm labor, led to its being canceled.51

Peña’s comments revealed both dissatisfaction with the Bracero Program 
and tensions between Mexican-American citizens and Mexican nationals. 
Many Mexican Americans who expressed similar sentiments were not 
simply worried about wages and worker protections. They also feared that 
Mexican immigrants threatened to reinforce the racial stereotype of the 
Mexican peon. Ironically, critiques such as Peña’s would help to reify the 
notion that Mexicans had no just claims to civil rights or federal protec-
tions. Such tensions would emerge frequently throughout the postwar era, 
undermining the ability of Mexican Americans to speak with a unifi ed 
voice.52

pos t war s truggles for equalit y 

and full legal citizenship

In the fi fteen years after World War II, activists in south-central Arizona 
would make important gains in civil and workers’ rights without funda-
mentally redefi ning the culture or meaning of citizenship. In the legal 
arena especially, postwar activists made substantial progress despite en-
trenched opposition by Anglo politicians who touted a supposedly volun-
tary civil stewardship while upholding the existing racial order. At times, 
Mexican Americans, Indians, African Americans, and progressive or left-
ist Anglos worked together, forming new interethnic coalitions. At other 
times, however, these groups manipulated rather than challenged the ra-
cially exclusive national ideology of citizenship to their own advantage. As 
a result the postwar struggles for equality often manifested themselves as 
interethnic and intraethnic struggles over identity.

One of the fi rst and most effective postwar movements for racial and 
economic equality emerged in the mining towns. Mexican and indigenous 
miners and their families continued to face discriminatory treatment af-
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ter the war, and they once again turned to labor unions to challenge such 
treatment. Máximo Alonzo recalled that when he fi rst began working in 
Miami, the racially ordered wage system was alive and well, and public fa-
cilities remained staunchly segregated. As a result, when Mine-Mill la-
bor organizers appeared, Alonzo was eager to join. “The bosses were mean 
then,” he recalled. “They treated us Mexican people like we were noth-
ing. . . . The white man would get three or four dollars a day, but us Mexi-
cans, us bunch of people, only $2.75—that was it. Until the unions came in 
here, and then we stuck it to them.”53 Enrique Pastor, who also worked in 
Miami, agreed: “There were no rights or anything. We had none. When the 
gringo boss came along, you literally bowed down to him. That’s the way 
it was. Until we got our union in the early ’40s.”54

While it has become commonplace to credit returning veterans for the 
revitalization of Arizona’s mining unions, the unions began to make a 
comeback well before the United States entered World War II. This time 
they were aided by New Deal legislation such as the Wagner Act, which al-
lowed workers to elect labor unions with a majority vote and to collectively 
bargain with their employers.55 Still, the National Labor Relations Board 
(NLRB) was slow to act, and only under persistent pressure by the unions 
did it serve the interests of Arizona’s workers. Workers began to apply such 
pressure in 1935, shortly after the passage of the Wagner Act, when Mine-
Mill broke from the AFL to join the newly formed Congress of Industrial 
Organizations (CIO). The CIO and Mine-Mill were determined to organize 
skilled and unskilled workers alike, regardless of race or ethnicity.56

Soon thereafter, union organizers began to enlist workers in Bisbee, the 
site of the infamous deportation of twelve hundred workers twenty years 
earlier. Workers affiliated with Mine-Mill went on strike in June 1935 and 
remained on the picket lines for the next two months. Phelps Dodge retali-
ated by fi ring thirty-eight strikers, but the union, which had little other 
recourse in 1917, quickly responded by fi ling a complaint before the NLRB. 
It took fi ve years for the board to decide that Phelps Dodge had engaged in 
unfair labor practices. Then it demanded that the company stop interfer-
ing with the Mine-Mill local, dismantle the company union, reinstate em-
ployees who had been fi red, and reimburse them for lost wages. When the 
company refused, the case went before the U.S. Supreme Court. In its 1941 
decision, the Court agreed with the NLRB, declaring that Phelps Dodge 
had acted “against the whole idea of the legitimacy of organization.” The 
decision armed the union to expand its efforts into mining towns through-
out the region.57

Much as in the 1910s, attitudes among most middle-class Mexican 
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Americans toward Mine-Mill ranged from lukewarm to hostile. In 1937 an 
editorial in El Tucsonense accused John L. Lewis, the head of the CIO, of 
being “drunk with power,” and it labeled both the tactics and the industrial 
unionist ideology of the CIO “Communist.” While the editors acknowl-
edged that ethnic Mexican miners faced exploitation and discrimination, 
the only solution they offered was for them to sit down with the companies 
as “collaborators in the same work.”58

Still, the union began to achieve piecemeal victories in the early 1940s, 
be-fore war veterans made their way back to the mines. In 1942 the NLRB 
ordered that elections take place in Globe-Miami so that workers could 
choose, by majority vote, whether they wished to be affiliated with the 
AFL or Mine-Mill. In May 1943, with both Mexican-American and Anglo 
support, Mine-Mill won the majority of votes in the district. Soon there-
after, the workers won an increase in pay of twenty-six cents per shift and 
paid, one-week vacations.59 That same year, ethnic Mexicans at Clifton-
Morenci formed their own Mine-Mill local, while in other mining and 
smelter towns, including Bisbee, Ajo, and Douglas, both AFL craft union-
ists and Mine-Mill workers fought successfully for higher wages.60

By 1945, returning veterans found a revitalized labor movement well 
under way. Many felt empowered by their war experiences, and they as-
serted that their patriotic efforts overseas had earned them the right to 
fi rst-class citizenship. Ed Montoya, a miner at Clifton-Morenci, was one of 
them. He remembers how “I would say to myself here after I came back, 
in 1946, ‘Hey! Somebody’s been lying to me all these years. How come I 
went in as a private and I came out as a leader? If that can happen in the 
army, why can’t it happen in the smelter?’”61 Such reasoning proved effec-
tive. As Mexican-American miners organized in places like Ray, Clifton-
Morenci, Ajo, and Miami, a 1946 editorial in the Arizona Labor Journal 
entitled “Dark Men Fighting for White Liberties” asked, “If a man is good 
enough to fi ght a war, is he good enough to participate in the opportunities 
of peace? . . . It will be left to our hearts and spirits to allow the blacks and 
yellows to be included within the realm of the white man’s privileges.” 
From that perspective, veteran status, regardless of one’s race, should guar-
antee full equality and national belonging.62

The patriotic rhetoric of Mexican-American workers did not always serve 
the interests of other ethnic Mexicans. During the strikes in 1946, Mexican-
American union members sometimes emphasized their status as Ameri-
can citizens at the expense of Mexican nationals who also worked in the 
industry. The Arizona Labor Journal reported that Mexican-American vet-
erans in the smelters at Douglas, directly adjacent to the Mexican town 
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of Agua Prieta, “claim that they are being given the run-around by lo-
cal employers in that the residents of Agua Prieta are given preference 
for jobs. . . . The returned soldiers are very bitter about the alleged discrimi-
nation against them.” Mexican-American workers criticized the INS for 
permitting Mexican nationals to work with six-month visas. According to 
the article, the union members “allege that the Mexican workers receive 
all the benefi ts which their organizations have obtained but share none of 
the burdens of maintaining the unions.” These concerns would be repeated 
in future years, when some Mexican-American unionists and civil rights 
activists would lay part of the blame for their own subordinate status on 
Mexican nationals.63

Still, with Anglo support, Mexican-American miners and a smaller 
number of indigenous miners in places such as Ajo made great strides in 
1946. Between late March and July, workers throughout Arizona, from all 
ethnic backgrounds, struck for higher wages. The Mine-Mill local at Clif-
ton-Morenci, for example, known locally as the Mexican union, demanded 
equal wages and health benefi ts regardless of race. After holding out for 107 
days, the union won an agreement with Phelps Dodge, ending the racially 
ordered wage system at least in its most blatant manifestation. Mexican-
American workers successfully made use of their veteran status to con-
vince enough Anglo workers of their worthiness for equal treatment, and 
as a result they won a substantial victory.64

The 1946 strikes were pivotal in Arizona labor history, but opposing 
forces blunted their impact. Unionized mine workers faced entrenched op-
position from the mining companies, the Arizona Farm Bureau, and govern-
ment officials. In the midst of the 1946 victories, the state legislature passed 
a right-to-work law, which permitted nonunionized members to work in 
unionized mines and allowed unions from outside Arizona to challenge 
the authority of other democratically elected unions. Effective unioniza-
tion and collective bargaining became more difficult. In response ASFL 
organizers put aside their resentment toward the CIO-affiliated Mine-Mill 
to contest the measure. They described it as a “nefarious scheme” sup-
ported by “sweat shop employers” against “all liberty-loving citizens” and 
lobbied intensely to defeat it. In the end the bill passed over the protests of 
the unions. Just when the union movement was at its peak, it suffered one 
of its greatest blows.65

With the new law in place, relatively conservative craft unions success-
fully challenged the hegemony of Mine-Mill and weakened its ability to 
bargain collectively. Enrique Pastor of Miami said that “we [Mine-Mill] 
were raided by a number of unions. The Steelworkers wanted to come in 
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and take over. . . . We were branded as a Communist union.”66 The anti-
Communist tenor of the early cold war, combined with the right-to-work 
law and the appearance of competing unions, persuaded many workers to 
turn away from Mine-Mill. The pressure on the ethnic Mexican commu-
nity to do so was particularly intense, because expressions of patriotism 
and national loyalty just after the war had served as a weapon to achieve 
economic equality. Any hint of socialist sympathies could be perceived as 
the gravest treachery and would threaten the gains ethnic Mexicans had 
made since the war. According to Máximo Alonzo of Miami, “We started 
with an organization here, the CIO . . . but then we found out that they 
were affiliated with Communistas y todo eso [Communists and all that], 
so we kicked them out. We got rid of them and we got another union.”67

Although the postwar labor movement had dismantled the racially or-
dered wage system in its most blatant manifestation, non-Anglo miners 
continued to face social segregation and less formal, discriminatory hiring 
practices. Carlos Contreras, who worked at the Ajo mines in the late 1940s, 
recalled that “there weren’t any Mexican foremen or Mexican supervisors. 
I was put on the railroad crew. Four Mexicans and two Indians—no Anglo 
of any sort, except the foreman.” Peter Blaine, the former chairman of the 
Papago tribal council, has described his four years as a worker in Ajo in 
the early 1950s. He was repeatedly denied a promotion as a driller, while 
a white man he knew “never started at the bottom. He was a driller right 
away.”68 Throughout the 1950s the unions continued to struggle for higher 
wages, better working conditions, and an end to other forms of discrimina-
tion. Segregation in the mining towns, however, remained common. The 
labor movement was unable to end such persistent discrimination.69

Indian veterans took on leadership roles in their communities like those 
assumed by Mexican-American veterans, but they had less infl uence in the 
unions largely because of their smaller numbers and their being relegated 
to often temporary, low-wage jobs. Instead, they focused on sovereignty and 
full political rights. Nationally, war veterans dominated the National Con-
gress of American Indians (NCAI), established during a pan-Indian con-
ference in Denver in November 1944. Veterans who led the organization 
“brought with them new skills, a broadened experience of the non-Indian 
world, a growing disposition to act on a supra-tribal basis, an impatience 
with the poverty and powerlessness of the reservations, and an eagerness 
for action.” Most relevant for this study was the NCAI’s campaign to end 
Indian voting restrictions in New Mexico and Arizona.70

In Arizona, veteran Frank Harrison, a Yavapai, brought the voting is-
sue before the NCAI after the Maricopa County recorder refused to reg-
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ister him for the upcoming election. When he attempted to fi le suit, the 
 Maricopa County Superior Court refused to hear the case. Two NCAI law-
yers, James E. Curry and Felix Cohen, appealed the case to the Arizona 
Supreme Court. Cohen and Curry argued that because Harrison had served 
in the military and because he paid taxes and owned property, “some of 
which” was “located at various times outside the boundaries of said Fort 
McDowell Indian reservation,” the constitutional clause restricting the 
right of persons under guardianship to vote did not apply. Had the court 
decided the case on this basis alone, it would have done little for Indians 
who did not own property and still lived on the reservations.71

The court made a much broader ruling in 1948. Justice Udall went be-
yond the argument that veteran status, property holdings, or payment of 
taxes were essential prerequisites for the right to vote. Instead, he con-
demned the court’s previous interpretations of the guardianship clause 
as a “tortuous construction by the judicial branch” and proclaimed that 
because the government had recognized American Indians as citizens in 
1924, the guardianship clause could no longer be applied to them.72 More 
than one hundred years after the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo, Arizona 
Indians had fi nally gained the right to vote.

Mexican Americans and blacks faced somewhat different forms of dis-
crimination from both Indians (e.g., they were not so explicitly barred from 
voting) and from each other, and thus the immediate goals of their post-
war struggles varied. The NAACP, the Alianza Hispano-Americana, and 
 Phoenix’s chapter of LULAC, founded in 1941, were integrationist. In pro-
testing segregation they stressed their patriotism and loyalty to the United 
States and did not raise questions about generally accepted cultural pre-
requisites for citizenship. Most Mexican Americans in these organizations 
did not, for example, assert their right to speak Spanish rather than En-
glish nor did they resist the notion that they should assimilate into Anglo-
American society. In Phoenix, the Alianza’s Committee for Better Ameri-
canism (CBA) encouraged ethnic Mexicans to become better Americans, 
to prove that they were worthy to be equal citizens. Some Mexican Ameri-
cans also continued to argue that their whiteness entitled them to equal 
treatment—an argument that held little promise for blacks and Indians.73

Even before the war ended, a small number of Mexican Americans 
managed to enter politics by tying their fates to the Democratic Party and 
winning elections to city councils and the state legislature. In Phoenix 
the Latin American Club, founded in 1932 by Southern Pacifi c Railroad 
worker Luis Cordova, spearheaded a drive to elect a Mexican American to 
the legislature. Adam Díaz, who was an early member of the club and of 

T4257.indb   173T4257.indb   173 7/19/07   12:12:36 PM7/19/07   12:12:36 PM



174 border citizens

the Alianza, recalled that he and other members walked door-to-door to 
register voters and that they lobbied the legislature for, in his words, “a 
little more recognition. . . . We were very anxious to uplift our people and 
point out to the authorities that they were capable of doing other than just 
digging ditches.” The club managed to register enough voters in 1941, and 
to appeal to the patronage of the Democratic Party, to elect James Carreon 
as the fi rst Mexican American to serve in the state legislature. Carreon 
subsequently fought for federal guarantees for fair employment in war in-
dustries and to improve relations with Mexico through the Office of the 
Coordinator of Inter-American Affairs.74

Adam Díaz also benefi ted from voter registration and the patronage of 
the Democratic Party. Phoenix businessman George Luhrs had hired Díaz 
in the mid-1920s to work as an elevator operator for his new skyscraper in 
downtown Phoenix. While working at the Luhrs building, Díaz made, in 
his words, “marvelous connections with some great lawyers, and many 
fi ne businesspeople.” Among them was the future Democratic governor, 
Sidney Osborn, who lived on the fourth fl oor. Eventually, Díaz became 
superintendent of properties owned by Luhrs. Osborn and other Democrats 
encouraged Díaz and the Latin American Club to register voters, recogniz-
ing that Mexican Americans usually voted Democratic. After World War 
II, when the Republican Party increasingly dominated Arizona politics, 
Democratic patronage of Mexican Americans became even more impor-
tant. In 1948 Díaz became the fi rst Mexican American to be elected to 
the Phoenix City Council. After four years he was appointed vice-mayor, 
and he personally recommended Val Cordova, the son of the founder of the 
Latin American Club, to take his place on the council. While this was a 
real achievement, the council seat remained essentially a token position 
that was used to back up Anglo claims that Mexican Americans were mak-
ing progress in Arizona.75

Indeed, the few electoral seats that Mexican Americans won served not 
only their own interests but the interests of both Republican and Demo-
cratic Anglos as well. Recall that Phoenix Mayor Samuel Mardian defended 
the city’s civil rights record before the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights in 
1962 by pointing out that there were Mexican Americans on the city coun-
cil and state legislature. Frederic Marquardt, the editor of the conservative 
Arizona Republic, offered a similar defense. “There are many Americans 
of Mexican extraction in our legislature,” he said. “There is one on our city 
council.” Their presence in government positions proved, in his view, that 
“there is no discrimination in elected public office” and thus that federal 
intervention in the realm of civil rights was unnecessary.76
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As they began to achieve some limited political victories, many middle-
class Mexican Americans in organizations such as the Latin American 
Club distanced themselves from Mexican immigrants, blacks, and Indians. 
As the Latin American Club registered Mexican-American voters in 1935, 
club leaders sent a resolution to the city of Phoenix requesting that South-
side Park, which was in an ethnic Mexican neighborhood near Second Av-
enue and Grant Street, be made off-limits to blacks.77 Members of the club, 
like those in LULAC and in mutualistas such as the Alianza Hispano-
Americana, generally opposed industrial unionism. They did little to help 
Mexican nationals beyond encouraging education, naturalization, and self-
improvement. Instead, they focused on enhancing the image and political 
clout of American citizens of Mexican descent. Adam Díaz later declared 
that “Mexico is just sending hordes of people over here . . . all at the ex-
pense of the local taxpayer. . . . I think Mexico should try to do a little bit 
better, help their own.”78

In the 1950s a new organization called Vesta aimed to change the pub-
lic image of those it called Spanish Americans. Eugene Marín, a Phoe-
nix teacher and World War II veteran, founded Vesta with a group of pro-
fessionals and business leaders in 1954. Their avoidance of Mexican as 
a term was a strategy designed to distance the Mexican-American com-
munity from newer immigrants, and to claim whiteness. According to 
Marín, the purpose of the club was to encourage “individual effort of self-
improvement” and to “change the image, in the public eye, of the Spanish-
speaking citizen.” The biggest problem facing “Spanish Americans” in 
Marín’s view was the lack of “educational achievement” and the lack of 
an able leadership. “For generations,” he explained in 1962, “these people 
have been subjected to this conditioning process of unacceptability, inse-
curity, and semi-citizenship status.” Vesta accepted only college students 
and graduates as members, and it held banquets and benefi t dances to raise 
money for scholarships. Its motto, Progress through Education, summed 
up its ideology. Vesta did not directly challenge discrimination or segrega-
tion in the courts or through voter registration, placing most of the onus 
instead on Mexican Americans to become better citizens.79

Some Mexican-American organizations were less conciliatory in their 
ideology and became decidedly more assertive in the postwar era. In the early 
1950s the Alianza Hispano-Americana extended its campaign to achieve 
fi rst-class citizenship directly into the political and legal realm, organizing 
voter registration drives and challenging segregation in schools and other 
public facilities. Many returning veterans joined this struggle, refusing to 
settle back into their prewar status as second-class citizens. As one ex-
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plained, “Fighting for your country doesn’t give you the feeling of a second-
class citizen. It really gives you the feeling that you did as much as the next 
guy did, so this is as much your country as it is anybody else’s.” Working 
through the Committee for Better Americanism (CBA), the Alianza hoped 
to educate Mexican Americans to be become better citizens, while dis-
mantling the most egregious legal obstacles to equal citizenship.80

The Alianza’s and CBA’s earliest postwar desegregation case occurred 
in rural Tolleson in western Maricopa County. The effort began through 
a grassroots movement within Tolleson to desegregate the elementary 
school. In 1947–1948, Manuel Peña, who had grown up in the town before 
being drafted into the army, led a group of community members to organize 
a voter registration drive. After registering 750 voters, Peña helped to form 
the Comité Movimiento Unido Mexicano Contra La Discriminación (the 
Committee of the United Mexican Movement against Discrimination). Its 
use of Spanish in its name was a decided turn away from the embrace of 
English made by many other organizations of the era, such as Vesta, the 
CBA, or LULAC, and was a sign of things to come. The committee con-
tacted the head lawyer for the Alianza, Ralph Estrada, and wrote a letter 
to the school superintendent demanding that the school be desegregated. 
On May 5, after the superintendent refused, they fi led a class action suit in 
federal district court.81

The Alianza’s lawyers based their initial case in Gonzales et al. v. 
 Sheeley on the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. 
Ralph Estrada cited a number of precedents involving both ethnic Mexican 
and black students in California and Texas. Among them was Mendez v. 
Westminster, in which a federal judge in California had determined that 
segregation against Mexican Americans was unconstitutional in part be-
cause it instilled a sense of psychological inferiority. Alianza lawyers also 
cited Sweatt v. Painter, in which a black law student at the University of 
Texas had successfully sued the university to demand equal accommoda-
tions. The Tolleson petitioners pointed out that in the Sweatt case “much 
less substantial inequities of accommodations were ruled in violation of 
the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution.” They had little trouble 
proving that the school facilities in Tolleson were physically unequal. The 
Anglo school had a modern gym, benches and trees, a playground with 
swings and slides, and a cooling system while the Mexican school was a 
much smaller building constructed of “chicken wire and stucco” with no 
gym, no play equipment, and no shades or screens.82

In the midst of the court proceedings, Alianza lawyers wavered in their 
commitment to a racially inclusive argument. When the respondents ar-
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gued that segregation in Arizona was legal, pointing to two Phoenix statutes 
permitting and/or requiring the segregation of African Americans, Alianza 
lawyers fell back on the strategic argument that Mexican Americans were 
white. They suggested that because the statutes singled out blacks they 
were not meant to apply to children of Mexican descent, who were of the 
“Caucasoid” race. The respondents attempted to refute this argument by 
pointing to a previous case, Pass v. State, in which the Supreme Court had 
concluded that “Mexican-Americans are not necessarily of the same race 
as the Anglo-Americans insofar as it is common knowledge . . . that there 
exist varying degrees of Indian blood in the so-called Mexican-Americans 
of the Southwest.” The petitioners, however, convinced the court that 
while Pass v. State may have raised questions about the purity of Mexican-
American whiteness, this was not sufficient grounds to segregate them. In 
the words of the court, “While Pass v. State may have decided that Mexi-
can Americans are not necessarily of the same race as Anglo-Americans, 
it does not decide that Mexican Americans are of African descent.” This 
argument, had it been the sole basis for the court’s decision, would have 
implicitly confi rmed the segregation of blacks and Indians, whom the U.S. 
government considered nonwhite.83

In the end Judge Dave Ling based his decision on the petitioners’ origi-
nal argument, fi nding that the very act of separating certain students based 
upon their ethnic or racial status served as a mark of inferiority, much as in 
Mendez v. Westminster. He declared that “the methods of segregation prev-
alent in the respondent school district foster antagonisms in the children 
and suggest inferiority among them where none exists.” This argument, of 
course, would successfully be used again in future cases, including Brown 
v. Board of Education less than two years later. Ling also defl ated the argu-
ment that ethnic Mexican children could be segregated because they spoke 
Spanish. While temporary separation for pedagogical reasons might be ap-
propriate, language differences could not justify “general and continuous 
segregation in separate schools of children of Mexican ancestry from the 
rest of the elementary school population.”84

In May 1951, following the success of the Tolleson case, leaders from 
the Alianza joined with members from the Texas-based G.I. Forum and 
LULAC and the California-based Community Service Organization to 
form the interstate American Council of Spanish-Speaking Organiza-
tions. The purpose of the organization was “to eliminate public school and 
housing segregation, to increase participation in juries and public offices, 
and to end discrimination in employment.” In Arizona, Gregorio García 
from Tucson and Ralph Estrada from Phoenix encouraged the Alianza to 
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adopt more assertive, confrontational tactics. In addition to the Tolleson 
case, they helped to fi le appeals for convicted Mexican-American prison-
ers and threatened to bring legal action against segregated public facilities 
throughout Arizona.85

African-American lawyers simultaneously initiated a number of suits 
against segregation. The obstacles to their struggle were more clear-cut, 
since the federal government clearly viewed blacks as nonwhite and be-
cause a number of laws in Arizona had explicitly made the segregation 
of blacks legal. In 1947 black leaders joined with progressive Anglos in 
Phoenix to form the Greater Phoenix Council for Civic Unity (GPCCU) 
to eliminate “discrimination in Phoenix and surrounding communities, 
and to cooperate with local, state, and national groups working toward the 
same ends.” In 1951, through persistent lobbying, they persuaded Arizona’s 
legislature to pass a statute permitting Arizona’s school boards to desegre-
gate their schools on a voluntarily basis. While some schools desegregated 
in response to the statute, many others—including schools in Tolleson and 
Phoenix—volunteered not to act. This fact clearly contradicts the Phoenix 
mayor’s 1962 claims that the city had desegregated its schools without the 
interference of the courts or that, as he put it, “minority groups would ac-
complish more on a voluntary basis than by looking to legal remedies.”86

After the failure of the Phoenix schools to act, activists from the 
NAACP and GPCCU jointly fi led a suit in Arizona Superior Court to force 
the admission of three black students from the segregated Carver High 
School into white high schools in the Phoenix Union district. Local black 
leaders, such as Lincoln and Eleanor Ragsdale, and Arizona’s only two 
black legislators, Hayzel B. Daniels and Carl Sims, cooperated with Anglo 
lawyers such as William P. Mahony Jr. to lead the effort. Justice Fred C. 
Struckmeyer heard the case in the Maricopa County Superior Court. The 
lawyers for the Phoenix case again crossed racial boundaries by citing a 
number of California precedents involving Mexican-American students, 
including Mendez v. Westminster. Whether these cases could become the 
basis for a challenge to the segregation of black children remained an open 
question.87

Struckmeyer ruled that state laws permitting segregation on a volun-
tary basis were an unconstitutional delegation of power to school boards. 
His decision ridiculed the doctrine of separate but equal by pointing out 
that it could be used to justify the segregation of any group of people, not 
just those deemed to be members of another race. “If such unlimited and 
unrestricted power can be exercised on the basis of ancestry,” he declared, 
“it can be exercised on such a purely whimsical basis as the color of hair, 
eyes, or for any other reason as pure fancy might dictate.”88
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The Tolleson and Phoenix Union decisions rendered the Mexican-
American legal strategy of claiming whiteness obsolete and opened the way 
for a new level of cooperation between African-American and Mexican-
American leaders. As a symbol of this new willingness to cooperate, in 
1954 the Alianza inducted jazz trumpeter Louis Armstrong while he was 
visiting Tucson on a national tour. Previously, blacks had not been permit-
ted to become members. The next year, Ralph Estrada announced the es-
tablishment of the Alianza civil rights department to be directed by Ralph 
Guzman in East Los Angeles. Alianza lawyers fi led suits in Miami, Doug-
las, and Glendale in Arizona. In 1954, for example, they sued the town of 
Winslow for excluding Mexican Americans, Indians, and blacks from local 
swimming pools. The following year, Winslow officials recognized that 
the tide had turned against segregation, and with no legal basis to defend 
their segregation policy they settled out of court.89

A series of class-action suits in the 1940s and 1950s had successfully 
torn down the explicit legal foundation for racial segregation in Arizona. 
By the end of the decade, however, the struggle for inclusion seemed to 
have taken civil rights activists as far as they could go. Soon, a younger 
group of activists would point out that while many legal obstacles to full 
equality had been overturned, whiteness remained the standard for full 
citizenship and belonging at a cultural and social level. Even if equality 
were to be achieved, it would not be enough to tear down legal barriers to 
opportunity. Instead, the very defi nition of what it meant to be an Ameri-
can citizen would have to be changed.
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chap ter 7

the chic ano movement 

and cultur al citizenship

At the end of World War II, Mario Suárez returned from serving in the U.S. 
Navy to fi nd that the barrios of Tucson where he had been born and raised 
had barely changed. In a short story he wrote in 1947, Suárez compared the 
El Hoyo barrio to capirotada, a traditional Mexican dish made with a base 
of “old, new, stale, and hard bread.” One could add any number of ingredi-
ents, including “raisins, olives, onions, tomatoes, peanuts, cheese, and gen-
eral leftovers,” and then season it with “salt, sugar, pepper, and sometimes 
chili or tomato sauce.” The dish would be topped off with tequila or sherry 
and baked so that the ingredients melted together. Each family made the 
meal in its own way, varying the recipe from day to day. “While in general 
appearance it does not differ much from one home to another, it tastes dif-
ferent everywhere. Nevertheless it is still capirotada. And so it is with El 
Hoyo’s Chicanos.” Explaining the metaphor, he said, “While many seem 
to the undiscerning eye to be alike, it is only because collectively they are 
referred to as Chicanos. But like capirotada, fi xed in a thousand ways and 
served on a thousand tables, which can only be evaluated by individual 
taste, the Chicanos must be so distinguished.”1

Suárez, the son of immigrants from the Mexican border states of  Sonora 
and Chihuahua, is recognized as the fi rst writer to use Chicano in a pub-
lished work to refer to ethnic Mexicans. Mexican Americans themselves 
had generally used the term in a derogatory manner to refer to the poorest 
class of ethnic Mexican workers. Suaréz used it in a new way to challenge 
stereotypes and celebrate the diversity of the ethnic Mexican community. 
He implicitly criticized the romantic image of so-called Spanish Ameri-
cans promoted both by Arizona boosters and by certain Mexican Ameri-
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cans themselves, writing that “it is doubtful that the Chicanos live in El 
Hoyo because of its scenic beauty.” Finally, he suggested that loyalty to the 
United States did not require that Chicanos abandon their reverence for 
Mexico. “On Mexican Independence Day,” he explained, “more than one 
fl ag is sworn allegiance to.”2

His stories about Chicanos were a tribute to the border culture of south-
central Arizona. In the decades that followed, ethnic Mexicans began to 
build upon this cultural identity as a source of pride and strength. For 
many, U.S. citizenship no longer required the rejection of one’s cultural or 
ancestral connections, whether or not they referred to themselves as Chi-
canos. Activists in the 1960s and ’70s generally moved away from the inte-
grationist politics of the 1940s and ’50s, having come to resent the notion 
that full political participation required the adoption of Anglo standards of 
national belonging. Instead, they promoted cultural pride and used more 
confrontational tactics to achieve their goals.

The Chicano and farmworker movements in Arizona, which were closely 
related, were not simply imported from other states, as some scholars have 
suggested or implied.3 Arizona’s Chicano movement was distinct from 
those in other communities such as Los Angeles, south Texas, and Den-
ver in its relative absence of separatist sentiment and its deep connections 
to the state’s history of labor activism in the mining towns.4 One of the 
few scholars of Arizona’s Chicano movement has characterized its goals 
as “militant integrationism” rather than nationalism.5 Arizona activists, 
however, did not attempt to integrate simply through militant means nor, 
conversely, to form a separate community or nation. Instead they tried to 
change the very culture and meaning of American citizenship by celebrat-
ing their distinct language and cultural heritage while simultaneously de-
manding full membership in the body politic.

Borrowing from William V. Flores and Renato Rosaldo’s idea that cul-
tural citizenship may be defi ned as a “process that involves claiming mem-
bership in, and remaking, America,” this chapter examines how Chicano 
activists in Arizona went beyond a struggle for legal inclusion to engage 
in a cultural and political struggle for dignity, identity, “belonging, en-
titlement, and infl uence.” Arizona presents an interesting case study be-
cause of its large indigenous population. The Chicano emphasis on indig-
enous rather than Spanish roots had the potential to provide an impetus 
for Chicano-Indian cooperation. Arizona thus tested whether the Chicano 
movement’s ideology of indigenismo could provide a foundation for true 
inter ethnic coalition building (discussed here and in Chapter 8).6
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origins

Arizona’s Chicano movement—more accurately, its array of intercon-
nected movements—emerged gradually through a dialogue between old 
and new activists from Arizona and other southwestern states. It was 
rooted, in part, in the state’s long tradition of labor activism in the mining 
towns. Arizona activists also retained a central focus on citizenship rather 
than separation, though they attempted to revise what it meant to be a full 
member of the body politic.

In the mid-1950s old forms of collective action began to evolve through 
new interstate connections. In 1956 César Chávez and Fred Ross, who were 
members of California’s Community Service Organization (CSO), were in 
Phoenix to organize barrio residents and register voters. Chávez had been 
born in Arizona and so was familiar with the plight of Mexican Americans 
and farmworkers in the state. Ross, too, was familiar with Arizona, since 
he had worked there in the 1930s with the Farm Security Administration. 
Once in Phoenix, Ross and Chávez located Manuel Peña, one of the com-
munity’s most respected leaders, who had helped to desegregate schools 
in Tolleson a few years earlier. Peña became head of the state’s fi rst CSO 
branch.7

The CSO built upon older forms of activism such as voter registration 
and citizenship training, while using new, more intimate and versatile 
strategies that, in their ideal form, allowed local communities to defi ne 
their own needs and agendas. In certain respects CSO leaders echoed the 
rhetoric of earlier organizations such as LULAC because of their focus on 
voting and citizenship training. A CSO pamphlet that asked “What makes 
a nation indivisible?” answered thus: “Citizenship, with its assurance of 
protection of home and family when it assures justice and a voice in the 
government.” The CSO also moved away from earlier, assimilationist mod-
els of organizing. Whereas Vesta and LULAC had focused almost entirely 
on the concerns of U.S. citizens, the CSO actively recruited immigrants. 
It also defended the interests of Mexican nationals by contesting, for ex-
ample, the mass deportations during Operation Wetback in 1954. Finally, 
it conducted citizenship and health training in Spanish as well as English 
and encouraged local communities to identify the issues most important 
to them, rather than imposing a top-down agenda.8

CSO activists from California provided crucial training for future leaders 
of Arizona’s farmworker and Chicano movements. As Manuel Peña re-
membered, with the help of Chávez and Ross he and the Phoenix CSO ini-
tiated “projects for learning English, becoming citizens, improving neigh-
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borhoods, and registering to vote.” Between September 12 and the closing 
of voter registration for November elections on October 1, 1956, they signed 
up 1,556 voters in Phoenix barrios. They also held a series of house meet-
ings to discuss the CSO and to determine which issues Arizona’s ethnic 
Mexicans felt were most important. Soon, CSO chapters emerged through-
out south-central Arizona, in Tempe, Mesa, and in the rural towns of Casa 
Grande, Chandler, Coolidge, and Glendale.9

The Yaqui/Mexican-American town of Guadalupe serves as a good ex am-
ple of how CSO-style politics functioned and how CSO activists attempted 
to keep local needs and goals at the forefront. In 1960 Guadalupe was typi-
cal of other rural, farm-worker communities in south-central Arizona. It 
lacked basic services and infrastructure, had no sewer system, paved streets, 
stop signs, or garbage pickup, and a single county sheriff’s car serviced the 
community of about fi ve thousand.10 As an unincorporated town, it had no 
access to state or federal aid for cities, to state or federal revenue-sharing 
funds, or to state sales and gasoline taxes.11 By the mid-1960s, according to 
one researcher, seventy-nine Yaqui families, along with thirty-three fami-
lies of varying indigenous origins (mostly O’odham), lived on the original 
40-acre site that had been placed in trust for the Yaquis in 1914. About ten 
Mexican-American families also lived on what had become known as the 
forty acres, but most lived either in the newer neighborhoods on the town’s 
outskirts or in the 92-acre Biehn colony, still held in trust by the Presby-
terian Church. Mexican Americans made up about two-thirds of the local 
population.12

The Catholic and Presbyterian churches, which had long served as im-
portant meeting places for Yaquis, O’odham, and ethnic Mexicans, were 
catalysts for interethnic coalition building. In June 1960 Father Fidelis 
 Kuban, a member of the progressive Arizona Council of Churches’  Migrant 
Ministry, invited Lauro García, a student at Arizona State University, to 
move to Guadalupe to teach catechism classes and to help organize commu-
nity members to address problems related to poverty, unemployment, and a 
lack of health care.13 García helped establish the Guadalupe Health Coun-
cil shortly after his arrival. Members of the council cleaned and painted 
the local health clinic and lobbied the county to double the number of 
monthly clinics to two. Soon they expanded their activities into politics. In 
1962 there were only 180 registered voters in Guadalupe partly because of 
the state’s literacy test and the absence of a local polling place. The health 
council gathered enough signatures to create a new Guadalupe precinct, 
dedicated in June of that year.14

As the health council began to have more infl uence in the community, 
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the minister at the local Presbyterian church contacted Fred Ross in order 
to enhance existing organizing efforts. When Ross arrived in Guadalupe 
in April 1964, he located community leaders associated with the health 
council and the Young Christian Workers, including Lauro García. He ar-
ranged a series of house meetings so residents could voice their opinions 
on community problems.15

Women were instrumental in these early efforts. They played a cen-
tral role as hosts of the house meetings, bringing their experience as home-
makers and community caretakers to politics, while bringing politics into 
their homes. Esther Cota recalled that she and other women associated 
with the Young Christian Workers helped compile a list of grievances re-
lated to the safety of their homes and their neighborhoods. Women also 
worked alongside men as voter registrars, increasing the number of voters 
to 715 from 180. Ross accompanied Lauro García to visit a county supervi-
sor to explain how many voters had registered. As a result of that meeting, 
according to García, Guadalupe soon received funding for a resident dep-
uty sheriff, and the county began to install pavement and stop signs on the 
main roads. The health council then changed its name to the Guadalupe 
Organization (GO) to refl ect its increasingly broad political and economic 
goals.16 Guadalupe thus served as a small but important example of inter-
ethnic, grass-roots organizing between Yaquis and ethnic Mexicans.

The CSO was not alone in inspiring grassroots activism in Arizona. The 
American Coordinating Council on Political Education (ACCPE) also grew 
out of a combination of homegrown and out-of-state infl uences. It began as 
a local branch of the interstate Political Association of Spanish-Speaking 
Organizations (PASO) founded in Victoria, Texas, in 1961. In Texas, PASO 
paid the poll taxes of Mexican Americans, registered voters, and worked 
with the Democratic Party to campaign for Mexican-American candidates. 
José Angel Gutiérrez, who would eventually become the leader of the Raza 
Unida Party in Texas, has suggested that PASO’s efforts in the summer of 
1962 represented “the beginnings of Chicano power.” As a young man not 
yet of voting age, Gutiérrez was drawn to PASO because it “stated up front 
that the group was political,” because its name expressed pride in the Span-
ish language, and especially because “they spoke of gringo injustice and 
implored us as Chicanos to do something about it.”17

PASO took on a more moderate form in Arizona. Hoping to extend 
its infl uence beyond Texas, it held its fi rst interstate meeting in Phoenix 
in 1961, inviting leaders from the city’s Vesta organization, the Alianza 
Hispano Americana, and local chapters of LULAC and the CSO. Carlos 
McCormick of the Alianza became the executive secretary of PASO, and 
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Eugene Marín became one of four local vice presidents. Marín and others 
instilled Arizona’s branch with a different agenda and ideology than the 
Texas branch had, refl ecting their belief in self-improvement and accom-
modation—ideals that Marín had fi rst promoted through Vesta. Arizona 
organizers soon decided to change the name of their local chapter to the 
American Coordinating Council on Political Education, in part because 
they did not agree with the priority PASO placed on preserving the Span-
ish language and engaging in confrontational politics. Marín became the 
ACCPE’s president. Speaking to the U.S. Civil Rights Commission in 1962, 
he described the council’s strategy as a “program of intense political educa-
tion” intended to “give these citizens broader perspective and higher aspi-
rations to compete in all of the fi elds of endeavor in our country.”18

Arizona’s ACCPE thus turned away from PASO’s emphasis on reinforc-
ing Chicano culture and language. Its leaders endorsed political candidates, 
just as PASO did in Texas. Marín, however, felt that Mexican Americans 
had to change themselves more than Arizona’s political culture. In the 
process, he argued, they would improve the public image of Hispanics and 
earn acceptance as equal U.S. citizens. He declared, “Neither Phoenix, nor 
this Nation, can any longer afford the luxury of second-class citizenship. 
Our survival as a free society is being tested on this very point.” To empha-
size the importance of citizenship training, the ACCPE adopted the slogan 
Helping to Make Citizens Citizens.19

For a brief period, the ACCPE was successful in helping elect  Mexican-
American candidates. Tapping into existing networks such as Vesta, the 
Alianza Hispano-Americana, Viva Kennedy clubs, and labor unions, the 
ACCPE expanded to about twenty-fi ve hundred members in ten different 
chapters throughout the state. Marín personally traveled from town to 
town to help establish many of these locals, having come to the conclu-
sion that Mexican Americans were “being used” by both the Democratic 
and Republican parties. Still, rather than form an independent party, the 
 ACCPE worked to infl uence the two-party system from within.20

Chapters of the ACCPE evolved into unique variations depending upon 
the cultures of local communities. In the mining town of Miami, for exam-
ple, union members worked with the nascent local chapter of the  ACCPE to 
run a slate of Mexican-American candidates to the town council. The new 
chapter became an amalgamation of the ACCPE and of preexisting net-
works associated with the mining unions. Immediately before the ACCPE 
arrived in the community, a police officer had beaten a Mexican-American 
resident. As Otto Santa Anna, a member of the Teamsters Union, later ex-
plained, “Police brutality, intimidation, and violations of one’s civil rights 
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was the order of the day in 1962. . . . The beating this man took was the last 
straw.” Because of a history of intimidation and voting restrictions, Santa 
Anna found that “we fi rst had to convince the Hispanic that the right to 
register to vote was guaranteed by the U.S. Constitution. Many knew this, 
though they also knew that opposition to local authority mean[t] walking 
in fear of verbal or physical retaliation.” They managed to register 1,056 
voters, and then ran a slate of six candidates, among whom were Santa 
Anna and the local union president. The ACCPE slate won three of seven 
seats on the council.21

By the mid-1960s, however, more and more Mexican Americans were 
voicing their dissatisfaction with the assimilation strategies of the ACCPE 
and similar organizations. In the same year as the Miami election, a radio 
broadcaster in Phoenix, Grace Gil Olivarez, criticized ACCPE President 
Eugene Marín while testifying beside him before the Civil Rights Com-
mission. Olivarez felt that Marín’s self-identifi cation as Spanish American 
was a rejection of his Mexican heritage. In fact, she placed much of the 
blame for the continuing poverty and discrimination of the working class 
on middle-class Mexican Americans such as Marín. As she put it, “Person-
ally, I feel that the Mexican Americans are to blame—that group of the 
Mexican Americans that has acquired a professional or semi professional 
status; that group that resents being called the Mexican American and 
claims they are Spanish American, Spanish-speaking, or of Spanish origin; 
that group that takes pride in saying that neither they nor their children 
speak Spanish, and are quick to admit this because they are ashamed of 
their heritage.”22

Her comments refl ected the opinions of a growing number of young 
Chicanas/os in the 1960s. Many felt that Mexican Americans who deem-
phasized their Mexican heritage and refused to speak Spanish implicitly 
accepted Mexicans’ lower status. As Olivarez put it, “By admitting that 
they do not speak Spanish they are admitting that being a Mexican is the 
equivalent of being inferior.” To the contrary, she asserted, the protec-
tion of Mexican culture was critical to the struggle for equality. Mexican 
Americans, she argued, should fi ght to preserve their “very rich culture,” 
rather than leave it behind in their struggle for full citizenship. “A failure 
to do so,” she concluded, is “harmful to this Nation or, should I say, ‘our’ 
Nation because, regardless of how anyone feels about us, we are American 
citizens.”23

Ironically, even Olivarez partly based her claim for being fully American 
on her whiteness. As she said, “I sure hope this small group of prejudiced 
Anglos learn[s] to know us, and start[s] out by fi nding out what race we be-
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long to. We happen to belong to the white race; yet we fi nd people talking 
about Orientals, Negroes, whites, and Mexican Americans as if we were a 
race all by ourselves.” She did not mention Arizona’s indigenous popula-
tion alongside these other racialized groups, perhaps because she feared re-
minding the commission of the Indian ancestry of most ethnic Mexicans. 
Not until later in the decade would a new group of young activists dispense 
altogether with this equation of whiteness with citizenship.24

Because the ACCPE and the CSO remained focused on citizenship, job 
training, and voter registration, many people who had begun their activist 
careers within these organizations grew frustrated with them and began to 
branch off to organize in other ways. The founder of Phoenix’s CSO chap-
ter, Manuel Peña, followed in the footsteps of Fred Ross and César Chávez 
in California and abandoned the organization in 1963. Peña, like Chávez, 
felt that the CSO did not adequately address class issues such as wages, 
working conditions, and the right to bargain collectively. In the months 
that followed, he attempted to organize a farmworkers union in Maricopa 
County. Soon, however, he wrote to Chávez that after signing up 212 mem-
bers, some of his union officers had undermined the effort through poor 
management. Frustrated, he turned to other issues in 1964, saying that 
“there just does not seem to be enough hours in the day to work at it.”25

Others took up union organizing in the years that followed. In 1965 the 
Migrant Ministry of the Arizona Council of Churches spearheaded a new 
labor organization from which a more effective unionization drive would 
emerge. That year Rev. Jim Lundgren of the Migrant Ministry applied for 
a grant from the Labor Department to establish the Migrant Opportunity 
Program (MOP). The federal government prohibited MOP leaders from 
union organizing as long as they received funding from the Office of Eco-
nomic Opportunity (OEO). Instead, they provided adult education and job 
training to help farmworkers adapt to the changing economy and were 
soon operating in Maricopa, Pima, Pinal, Cochise, and Navajo counties. 
In May, MOP organized a training session in Tolleson at which Fred Ross 
and César Chávez were the featured speakers. They brought with them an 
ideology that challenged the limited role the program was permitted to 
take in offering aid to farmworkers.26

While the Migrant Opportunity Program steered clear of direct union 
organizing, it provided early experiences for women and men who would 
become leaders in Arizona’s interrelated United Farm Workers (UFW) and 
Chicano movements. Carolina Hernández and Gustavo Gutiérrez attended 
the early sessions with Ross and Chávez and helped form the Stanfi eld 
labor organization, which provided basic services to farmworkers. In 1965 
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Gutiérrez made several trips to California where he observed the early 
stages of the famous Delano strike and participated in the 1966 Easter 
march to Sacramento. The march, with its combined symbolism of labor 
protest, folk Catholicism, and political empowerment, had a profound ef-
fect on him. After returning to Arizona, he continued to correspond with 
Chávez. His experience with the UFW made him grow increasingly frus-
trated with the federal guidelines that did not allow the Migrant Opportu-
nity Program to organize a union.27

Gutiérrez and a number of other Arizona activists soon formed their 
own union. Working from Tolleson and utilizing CSO tactics, they held 
house meetings and walked door-to-door in rural neighborhoods and labor 
camps. Because Chávez and other UFW activists in California were ab-
sorbed with the fi ve-year strike in Delano, they provided little direct help 
to Arizona’s organizers before 1969. They did, however, enlist activists 
such as Gutiérrez to participate in the nationwide boycott against grapes in 
Arizona stores which, in turn, inspired a growing number of Arizonans to 
become activists. The boycott and picketing also fostered new connections 
between rural and urban activists who were concerned with poor housing, 
education, political representation, and urban poverty.28

By 1968 a diverse network of Mexican-American leaders in Arizona 
formed a rough consensus that political inclusion, economic opportunity, 
and cultural pride were equally important, interrelated goals. Mexican 
Americans from around the state, including Lauro García of the Guadal-
upe Organization and Gustavo Guttiérrez of the UFW, among others, gath-
ered for a meeting in Phoenix in January which they called the “Statewide 
Consultation on Mexican-American Concerns.” Attendees agreed upon a 
list of fi fteen needs. They prefaced the list by saying that “the entire com-
munity, especially Anglo culture, needs to understand the background, 
history, and culture of Mexican Americans, and to accept the culture and 
language, to the extent of becoming bi-lingual.” To achieve this goal, they 
pledged to promote an “improved self-image by Mexican Americans, lift-
ing up cultural heritage to discover better self-cultural identity.” The state-
ment suggested not only that ethnic Mexicans should preserve their own 
culture but that all citizens should work toward bilingualism and multi-
culturalism. Mexican Americans were now demanding that long-held cul-
tural prerequisites for full citizenship be changed.29

The attendees went further, listing a number of very specifi c goals. To 
“overcome Anglo and English language bias” they vowed to revise laws 
such as the Arizona literacy test (which remained on the books despite the 
1965 Voting Rights Act) and a state law that prohibited bilingual educa-
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tion. With the help of external pressure from the federal government after 
the passage of the Bilingual Education Act, they paved the way for the fi rst 
bilingual education pilot program at Phoenix Union High School in the fall 
of 1968. They also hoped to reform the Wagner Act to protect agricultural 
workers, while encouraging the development of new institutions to provide 
better job training and placement services. Finally, they called for better 
“indigenous leadership” by local Mexican Americans, cooperation among 
various Chicano institutions, “greater concern for youth,” counseling in 
Spanish for those seeking public services, and comprehensive health care 
for the poor.30

There were, however, cracks in the consensus. One of the most forceful 
critiques came from a member of Phoenix’s LULAC chapter. Narcisa Espi-
noza criticized the patriarchal rhetoric of male activists at the conference, 
the relegation of women to the background in Mexican-American organi-
zations, and the absence of specifi c references to women’s concerns in the 
list of needs. According to the conference minutes, only she broached the 
subject of women’s roles. As she put it, “Since so much of this reference 
has been made to the machismo I have not heard very much about the 
madrecita [a term of endearment for a mother]. After all, is this a forgot-
ten role?” When she asked, “Can a woman become a leader?” there was no 
response from the mostly male participants, as recorded in the minutes of 
the meeting. The silence refl ected a broader failure around the Southwest 
to acknowledge the distinct problems women experienced, and to permit 
women to speak out publicly for the Chicano movement.31

Silence also greeted the possibility of reaching out to other ethnic 
groups. Only briefl y did conference attendees mention the possibility of in-
terethnic mobilization, but when they did the discussion was infused with 
a contradictory spirit of resentment toward ethno-racial groups perceived 
to be favored by federal agencies. Polo M. Rivera at fi rst seemed to offer a 
foundation for interethnic coalition building when he declared that the ba-
sic needs of Mexican Americans were “in reality no different than the Ne-
gro or the Indian or any other disadvantaged group.” Rivera followed this 
up, however, by declaring that “war on poverty” programs were “biased to-
ward Negroes” and were designed “to cater to and pacify” them. Mexican 
Americans, he argued, did not need to be pacifi ed, as blacks perhaps did: “I 
can take you into neighborhoods in Phoenix and have you talk to people 
and they will tell you, ‘We do not want to get involved in riots; we are proud; 
we have a heritage; we fi ght for our freedom, we came here as settlers and 
explorers, we did not come here as slaves.’” Rivera thus echoed the politi-
cal rhetoric common to Arizona’s Anglos that made one’s ancestors’ status 
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as settlers or explorers a prerequisite for full citizenship, relegating those 
of presumably less noble or indigenous origins to second-class status. The 
comments did not bode well for interethnic coalition building.32

Other disagreements emerged when many of the same activists con-
verged for a second consultation six months later. During that meeting 
some attendees, including Lauro García, emphasized the importance of col-
lective grassroots activism, while others, such as Eugene Marín, continued 
to stress education and self-improvement. Marín also raised concerns that 
identity politics might lead to the creation of “an apartheid system by our-
selves and for ourselves.” Gustavo Gutiérrez of the UFW once again made 
a call for labor activism, and he was the only member of the conference to 
question the Vietnam War publicly. He also felt that education was impor-
tant, but unlike Marín he argued that the educational system itself had to 
be seriously reformed to better serve a diverse society.33

Finally there was disagreement about political party affiliation. Some 
members sympathized with efforts in South Texas to create a third party 
called El Partido de La Raza Unida (Party of the United People/Race). Most, 
however, rejected the idea. Rev. Trinidad Salazar, for example, suggested 
that “if this movement, La Raza Unida, is going to become a political 
movement, well it is death because immediately there will be division. 
. . . So La Raza Unida will become La Raza Desunida (disunited people/
race).” Most attendees expressed loyalty to the Democratic Party, although 
Marín, who would eventually declare himself a Republican, complained 
that many Democratic leaders “used the vote of the Mexican American as 
if they were a bunch of sheep.” At one level, then, the conference showed 
that much work had to be done to reach agreement over the direction of 
Chicano activism. And yet, from another angle, the meeting evinced a new 
vitality of debate among Mexican Americans—a debate that would spawn 
more assertive grassroots activism in the years to come.34

the s tudent movement and chic anos por l a c ausa

The years 1967–1969 were pivotal to Arizona’s Chicano movement. In 
1967 students at the University of Arizona formed the Mexican Ameri-
can Student Association; the next year, a group of Chicano students at 
Arizona State University formed the Mexican American Student Organi-
zation (MASO). Not long thereafter, activists from college campuses, the 
United Farm Workers, and Phoenix barrios began to meet in south Phoe-
nix homes, forming the core of a new organization called Chicanos por 
La Causa (CPLC). Among the participants were Gustavo Gutiérrez of the 
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UFW, Richard Zazueta of MOP, Lauro García of the Guadalupe Organiza-
tion, and Alfredo Gutiérrez and Manuel Marín of MASO.35 These organiza-
tions would serve as the heart of the regional Chicano movement for the 
next several years. They would adopt new, often confrontational tactics to 
achieve their goals, while proclaiming more clearly than ever that cultural 
difference could serve as the basis for, rather than an obstacle to, full and 
equal citizenship.

The rise of these groups corresponded with the increasing urbanization 
of Arizona’s Chicano population. By 1970 fully 81 percent of Arizona’s 
Mexican Americans lived in cities, closely corresponding to the 82 per-
cent of the Anglo population who did and far greater than the 29.6 percent 
of  Indians who lived in cities. (In considering why Chicanos and Indians 
tended not to organize together, this demographic disparity is important.) 
Urbanization resulted in new opportunities in work and education. Mexi-
can-American men in cities became twice as likely to work as profession-
als (from 3.5 percent to 7.5 percent) and were nearly three times as likely to 
have clerical jobs (3.7 percent to 9.1 percent). Women experienced similar 
changes in employment, surpassing men in acquiring professional jobs, 
largely as teachers. Male urban professionals and clerical workers earned a 
median income of $8,559 and $7,516 respectively, signifi cantly higher than 
the average of $3,413 in rural areas and $4,766 in the mining towns.36

Beyond seeking more skilled and better-paying jobs in Phoenix, Tucson, 
and their satellite towns, many young people moved to the cities to attend 
universities and community colleges. In general, education levels among 
urban Chicanos substantially surpassed those in rural towns and farm 
 areas. Chicanos in the cities completed, on average, 9.7 years of formal 
education, one year more than those in smaller towns and three years more 
than those who lived and worked on the regional farms. The differences 
for women were not as great but were still signifi cant. Urban Chicanas 
attended school on average for 8.8 years in the city, as opposed to 7.9 in 
regional farming areas. More dramatically, Mexican Americans in urban 
areas (Phoenix and Tucson) were twice as likely to attend college than were 
those in rural areas.37

Maricopa was Arizona’s most populous county, and by 1970 it had the 
largest ethnic Mexican population (140,607) in the state, surpassing the 
combined populations of ethnic Mexicans in the three other counties 
in south-central Arizona—Pima (82,667), Pinal (24,813), and Santa Cruz 
(10,792). Phoenix was both an agricultural center and an urban metropolis, 
and thus the ideal arena in which to examine the connections between 
the  urban and rural movements and to explore how the diversity of the 
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 Mexican-American population impacted the cultural and civil rights strug-
gles of the era.38

Young men and women from the mining towns had much to offer their 
urban counterparts in Phoenix, particularly as union organizers. Alfredo 
Gutiérrez, for example, frequently attended union meetings with his father 
while growing up in Miami before he moved to Tempe to attend Arizona 
State. He recalled that “there weren’t classes in union organizing, there 
wasn’t indoctrination, but the whole town was an organizational tool.” 
Growing up in a mining town helped to prepare him to become a cam-
pus activist. “You understand at a very young age why you were striking, 
why you didn’t cross the picket line,” he said. Other Chicanos, including 
 Geneva Duarte Escovedo and Manuel Marín, also credited their experi-
ences in the mining towns for their early education as activists. Joe Eddie 
López, a Phoenix native who would work closely with these newcomers 
from the mining towns, felt that “los mineros became among the articu-
late leaders” of the Chicano movement. “It was destined to happen,” he 
explained, “but how long it would have evolved . . . it may have been a lot 
longer in coming.”39

Chicano students at Arizona State were also infl uenced by activists in 
Tucson and from outside the state. In 1967 Sal Baldenegro led Chicanos 
at the University of Arizona to form the Mexican American Student As-
sociation. Baldenegro had lived in Los Angeles while attending El Camino 
College; he had returned to Tucson with a commitment to start an organi-
zation similar to those he had observed in California. Soon thereafter, in 
1968, Alfredo Gutiérrez helped to organize the Mexican American Student 
Organization (MASO) at Arizona State.40 Among the other early leaders 
were Arturo Rosales, an Arizona native and veteran who already had ex-
perience with the UFW, and Ed Pastor, who like Gutiérrez had grown up 
in the mining town of Miami. Gutiérrez later estimated that 90 percent of 
Arizona State students who initially decided to form the chapter of MASO 
“were from mining towns.” Pastor remembered that their familiarity with 
labor unions allowed them to feel “very comfortable with the idea when 
people were talking about organizing at ASU.”41

Not surprisingly, students from the mining towns initially focused their 
attention on labor. On November 20, 1968, MASO members wrote a for-
mal letter of grievance to the administration at Arizona State, asking for a 
cancellation of its contract with Phoenix Linen and Towel Supply because 
of its pattern of subjecting ethnic Mexicans to “racial discrimination, sub-
standard wages and inferior working conditions.” The students pointed out 
that while 83 percent of those working for the company were Chicanos, 
“in the past 36 years one Chicano has been promoted to a supervisory posi-
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tion.” MASO worked alongside other campus organizations, including a 
local chapter of the Young Socialist Alliance (YSA), an offshoot of Students 
for a Democratic Society, to form the Student Coalition for Justice. The co-
alition jointly collected about fi ve thousand signatures in support of their 
cause and then led three hundred students in a march on the administra-
tion building to meet with President G. Homer Durham. A week after a 
two-day sit-in, officials from the university declared that they would not 
renew the contract the following year. The apparent success of the protest 
rapidly raised MASO’s stature in the eyes of many students.42

Soon, MASO extended its activism beyond campus boundaries into Phoe-
nix and the rural areas of Maricopa and Pinal counties. Alfredo Gutiérrez 
helped to organize urban laundry workers in Phoenix, and he and other 
student activists worked closely with UFW organizers such as Gustavo 
Gutiérrez. The students helped to set up pickets in front of Phoenix stores 
that sold Delano grapes.43 The MASO newsletter often put farm labor is-
sues at the top of its agenda. As one issue put it, “MASO has . . . pledged 
itself to continue helping the Huelga [the strike] in any way that it can and 
has recently cooperated with the newly formed Phoenix-Tempe chapter of 
the Friends of the Farmworkers organization. This organization is dedi-
cated to helping with the picketing of stores and raising money for food 
for the striking laborers.” Their participation in the boycott persuaded the 
Arizona State Food Service to stop purchasing grapes.44

Even as they helped to organize workers on campus and off, many MASO 
members expressed discomfort with the socialist and/or nationalist lean-
ings of other campus organizations like Young Socialist Alliance (YSA) 
and Chicano student organizations in other states. Alfredo Gutiérrez, the 
primary founder of MASO, distanced himself from the rhetoric of more 
radical activists. In 1968, before MASO was formally established,  Gutiérrez 
had invited San Francisco activist Armando Valdez to visit the campus and 
encourage Chicanos to become politically active. While Gutiérrez cred-
ited Valdez for helping to spur the movement, he later admitted, “I just 
couldn’t relate completely to his notion that Ho Chi Minh was a fi gure 
that we should emulate.” Arturo Rosales also recalled that many members 
were uncomfortable with nationalism and Marxism. As a result, in late 
November, only weeks after the victory over the linen contract, MASO 
voted 42–3 to dissociate from the YSA by dissolving the Student Coali-
tion for Justice. Nevertheless, most members took from YSA a dedication 
to democratic principles and decentralization of leadership, and members 
of the two groups often found themselves participating together in future 
protests—especially as part of the movement against the Vietnam War.45

MASO activists asserted pride in Chicano culture, but for the most part 
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they did so without invoking separatist language. Their central concerns 
remained racial inequities in the workplace, ASU’s poor record of admit-
ting Chicano students, obstacles to political participation, and cultural 
pride.46 They arranged a Chicano cultural week and pressured the univer-
sity to  establish a Chicano studies program. Even when discussing cul-
tural issues, however, most MASO leaders emphasized the need to change 
mainstream institutions to be more inclusive and pluralistic, rather than 
demanding the formation of a separate Chicano nation. As Arturo Rosales 
explained to a student journalist in 1968, “Through the Chicano studies 
program, the Chicano people themselves can become aware of their own 
position and achieve cultural pride, which has been robbed by a society 
where, if you are a Chicano, you are inferior.” When Arizona State refused 
to establish such a program, students grew less patient and more aggressive 
in their  rhetoric. In 1970 a student activist suggested in an interview with 
the campus newspaper that “for years society neglected and raped our cul-
ture. . . . This university has not allowed the barrio people and the Chicano 
students here to initiate or have any input into university programs.”47

MASO’s goals were reformist rather than revolutionary, even if its tac-
tics, including marches, protests, and sit-ins, were often provocative and 
confrontational. Still, it differed from earlier Mexican-American activ-
ism in Arizona with its greater emphasis on labor rights and culture. One 
MASO student conference featured workshops that encouraged the sup-
port of the grape boycott by harnessing what it called student power po-
tential. Two faculty members from the Spanish Department spoke about 
preserving the cultural heritage of Chicano students, while Noel Stowe, a 
professor of Latin American history, spoke in favor of a Chicano studies 
program. Lauro García closed the meeting by discussing community orga-
nizing tactics among Yaquis and ethnic Mexicans in Guadalupe, elaborat-
ing on the strategies of earlier organizations like the CSO. García encour-
aged the students to follow similar tactics in the barrios.48

In late 1968 and early 1969 as some organizers graduated, several Ari-
zona State students and alumni decided to branch off from MASO in order 
to focus on issues of discrimination off-campus, and they soon began to 
work with activists in south Phoenix to form the core of Chicanos por La 
Causa. By April 1968, Joe Eddie López, a steamfi tter and member of Phoe-
nix’s construction workers union, Local 469, emerged as one of the pri-
mary leaders of the new organization. A diverse group of activists attended 
the early meetings. Participants elected Rosie López and Gustavo Gutiér-
rez president and vice president, respectively, of the executive committee.49 
An early CPLC proposal criticized the top-down approach of existing OEO 
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programs and argued that “to be effective, efforts must come from within 
the barrios.” Women and men alike played important roles in the CPLC, 
but as with many other Chicano organizations, it was the men who held the 
most visible positions as leaders and spokesmen. As Rosie López, who was 
married to Joe Eddie López, recalled, “We [women] did a lot of the work, 
we did the cooking and the calling. We did the mobilizing and the guys, 
once everybody was in place, the guys would get up there and speak.”50

Labor rights and urban living conditions occupied most of CPLC’s atten-
tion in its early months, refl ecting the experiences of its members.51 Soon, 
however, a crisis at Phoenix Union High School turned attention toward 
the issue of education in inner-city schools. In August and September a 
series of fi ghts broke out between black and Chicano students at Phoenix 
Union (Anglos were a minority at the school). Members of the downtown 
and south Phoenix Mexican-American community met to discuss the is-
sue, and CPLC took the lead in urging the school administration to re-
solve the problems that had led to the confl icts. When the administration 
did little, CPLC helped to organize a protest march on September 15. The 
march, involving about three hundred protesters, began at the Santa Rita 
Center, the home office of the CPLC, and ended at the Phoenix Municipal 
Building.52

The protesters presented a list of nine demands to city officials. First, 
they asked for more security guards at the high school, “with equal rep-
resentation from the Chicano community,” and that any student who in-
fringed on the rights of other students be “promptly dealt with.” The other 
demands, however, focused on broad concerns related to general inequi-
ties in the school system and stressed the need to reform the curriculum 
to address cultural concerns. Although the high school had recently in-
stituted a small, pilot bilingual education program according to the 1968 
Bilingual Education Act, CPLC members felt much more had to be done. 
They demanded that the school hire more Chicano counselors and teachers 
(only one of eighteen counselors was Chicano) and that Chicano teachers 
be hired to teach in the Minority Studies Program. They created their own 
citizen’s curriculum committee to press for the implementation of the pro-
gram. They also demanded that no student be faced with recrimination for 
participating in “Chicano leadership and social awareness.” They viewed 
all of these steps as part of a larger goal to ensure that Chicano students 
and parents be recognized as “fi rst-class citizens.”53

School officials fanned the fl ames of discontent with their lackluster 
and at times racist responses. Certain administrators explicitly blamed 
the problems Mexican Americans faced in the schools on the students and 
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their families. A 1962 report by the superintendent of Phoenix  Elementary 
School, District One, had listed four problems faced by “minority children.” 
These included their “cultural handicaps,” their propensity for speaking 
Spanish, the “tendency of minorities to concentrate in their own separate 
residential areas,” and the “failure of minority groups to recognize the im-
portance of education.” None of the issues placed any of the blame on insti-
tutional segregation or on the schools themselves, creating little impetus 
for reform.54 Seven years later, as CPLC protested against Phoenix Union 
High School, little had changed. One month after the September march, 
Donald Covey, a consultant to the social studies program, echoed the ear-
lier assessment that Chicanos had failed themselves: “Being oriented by 
passion and subjectivity, the Spanish-speaking person lacks continuity and 
perseverance in attaining the same goals as the man of action symbolized 
by the Anglo-American.”55

Phoenix Union Principal Robert Dye dragged his feet in response to 
most of the demands by parents and students. Beyond agreeing not to pun-
ish students who had engaged in the protests, Dye addressed only the is-
sue of campus security by saying, “If it’s security they want, it’s security 
they’ll get.” The mainstream press did not help matters, blaming the pro-
tests on “racial strife” and reinforcing the widespread belief that the real 
problem was the tendency of Chicanos and blacks toward irrationality and 
violence.56 A fl urry of newspaper editorials criticized the activists for en-
gaging in uncivil protest. The Phoenix Gazette, for example, commented, 
“Demands which approach the force of ultimatums—the non-negotiable 
demand, for example—are avoided by wise and sober men for the reason 
that when the answer is no, there is nothing left but to fi ght or run.”57

The response by school administrators energized parents and students 
to demand reformation of the school district from the inside out. Chicano 
students and community leaders organized a parent-student boycott com-
mittee and carried out a series of new protests and walkouts. They com-
plained of “rotten curriculum, incompetent administration, and a lack of 
community involvement in policymaking decisions.”58 School adminis-
trators met on several occasions with representatives of the boycott com-
mittee, forming a citizens advisory committee to analyze problems. Once 
again, however, the only real solution administrators offered was to in-
crease security. In response, Joe Eddie López ran in the 1970 election for the 
school board; he was defeated.59

The Phoenix Union boycott propelled the CPLC into the center of Ari-
zona’s developing Chicano movement. CPLC opened its doors to all members 
of the ethnic Mexican community, rarely engaging in the kind of se paratist 
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rhetoric that was common in organizations like the Crusade for Justice 
in Denver or the Centro de Acción Social Autónomo in Los Angeles. Rather 
than criticize those who refused to identify as Chicanos, CPLC leaders 
welcomed them, declaring that “Chicanos, La Raza [Unida], Mexican 
Americans, the Spanish-speaking—these are the people of Chicanos por 
La Causa.” By 1970, having gained federal tax-exempt status and fi nancial 
support from the southwest council of La Raza, they developed separate 
branches to engage in barrio planning, housing improvements, economic 
development, and education. They also actively supported Chicano-owned 
businesses.60 To keep in touch with residents of the barrios, they held regu-
lar, CSO-style house meetings. They worked with the Department of Hous-
ing and Urban Development to provide more low-income housing and orga-
nized conferences to “help Chicano families better manage their fi nancial 
and personal commitments in order to be able to buy their own home.” 
Their economic development division provided advice to develop a “sound 
economic base” for the Chicano community, conducting market surveys, 
feasibility studies, and fi nancing assistance among other services.61

CPLC also initiated a variety of cultural programs. Its leaders were 
highly critical of mainstream, Anglo-dominated political culture and were 
“dedicated to supporting the Chicano community in its struggle to bring 
about systematic change in those institutions which continue to oppress 
Chicanos.”62 Indeed, its programs were designed not only to educate Chica-
nos to become good citizens but also to change the very meaning of citizen-
ship and national belonging. The Barrio Youth Project, for example, which 
was started in October 1969, worked to “develop and implement creative 
and educational programs for and by barrio youth,” and to promote youth 
services and seminars. Alfredo Gutiérrez initially directed the program. 
Infl uenced by California’s farmworker and student movements, the youth 
project also helped youth write and perform their own brief actos (skits), 
including “satirical attacks on those institutions which have oppressed the 
Chicano community,” and reenactments of events important “to the Chi-
cano culture and heritage.”63

In October 1970, a year after the fi rst protests at Phoenix Union, CPLC 
boycotted the school, condemning the lack of sufficient action by officials. 
This time the boycott committee demanded that Superintendent  Seymour 
and Principal Dye resign. Half of the twenty-fi ve hundred students at the 
school stayed home during the peak days of the boycott in October. Joe 
Eddie López warned that Chicanos would pull their students out perma-
nently and establish their own schools if the administration failed to ad-
dress their demands, and Alfredo Gutiérrez suggested that they would begin 
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a recall of the school board. The CPLC received the endorsement of about 
one hundred teachers belonging to the Arizona Association of  Mexican-
American Educators and enjoyed direct encouragement by Chicano leaders 
from around the Southwest. At the height of the boycott, Corky González 
of Denver’s Crusade for Justice visited Phoenix to lend his support, and 
members of the Teatro Popular from UCLA read poetry and performed sa-
tirical skits.64

Some school officials grudgingly acknowledged the need for reform. 
School board member Don Jackson cited the success of the pilot bilingual 
education program: while the average Chicano dropout rate for the  district 
was about 20 percent, only 1 percent of the one hundred Chicanos enrolled 
in the bilingual program had dropped out during the previous year. Oth-
ers, however, pointed out that bilingual education was not the only so-
lution. At the height of the boycott, on October 16, Mexican-American 
educators held a bilingual education awareness institute in Phoenix in 
which Thomas Carter, a resident scholar at the U.S. Civil Rights Com-
mission, gave a speech entitled “Way Beyond Bilingual Education.” He 
called it a “feeble fi rst step,” stressing that the entire curriculum needed to 
be changed. “Any history that omits a realistic portrayal of the Mexican-
American and Spanish involvement in past and present society is not only 
false but dangerous,” he explained. He then offered his own defi nition of 
American citizenship, suggesting that those who participated in boycotts, 
sit-down strikes, and marches were “citizens in the best democratic tradi-
tion of the United States and Mexico.” The comment earned loud applause 
from conference attendees.65

The boycott lasted officially until November 2, at which time school 
officials agreed to cooperate in a study to be conducted by members of the 
parent-student boycott committee. In response CPLC leaders backed away 
from the demand that the school superintendent resign.66 A new commit-
tee conducted an investigation of the school, and it issued its report in May 
1971. The report emphasized the familiar theme that the schools “are unre-
sponsive to the needs of these citizens,” and it offered thirty-seven specifi c 
recommendations. Among them were that counseling should be improved; 
students should no longer be tracked into vocational programs; security 
and other staff should refl ect the “ethnic patterns of student population”; 
all written reports from school officials should be available in Spanish as 
well as English; teachers and staff should attend workshops on inner-city 
life; and the school should maintain an active dialogue with the commu-
nity it served. When school administrators accepted the recommendations, 
at least in principle, CPLC activists agreed to stop engaging in mass pro-
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tests. While it was unclear precisely when and how the recommendations 
would be implemented, CPLC had taken a step toward asserting its own 
defi nition of citizenship: it should be active, vigilant, participatory, and 
culturally inclusive.67

As CPLC pursued its agenda in the barrios, MASO evolved as well. In 
March 1971 MASO changed its name to refl ect its new affiliation with 
California’s Movimiento Estudiantil de Chicanos de Aztlán (MEChA). A 
trip to a Chicano student conference in Long Beach, California, in the 
summer of 1970 inspired the change. As Jerry Pastor, the co-chair of the 
new MEChA branch at Arizona State, recalled, “That summer we went to 
Long Beach and that is where we heard about MEChA. We wanted to con-
nect somewhere because the isolation was difficult here on campus. We felt 
we were vulnerable, we were recognized in our classroom as activists, and 
felt that our degrees could be held back.” As one scholar has put it, the stu-
dents who attended the meeting “were captivated by the reappropriation of 
Spanish, the defi ant anti-assimilationist stance and the urgent need to gain 
political control of the barrio.”68

At Arizona State the MEChA chapter soon began to publish a news-
letter, Voz de Aztlán, which rejected the relatively moderate language of 
MASO and CPLC by directly invoking the rhetoric of Chicano national-
ism. The fi rst issue explained the signifi cance of Aztlán, a mythical place 
of origin to the north of the Aztec empire in central Mexico. For Chicanos, 
the Plan Espiritual de Aztlán (spiritual plan of Aztlán), which had fi rst 
been adopted in March 1969 during the Chicano Liberation Youth Confer-
ence in Denver, represented a unifi cation of identity and a common con-
nection to the Aztec past (real and imagined) and to the indigenous roots of 
Chicanos in the Southwest. The article explained that Chicano national-
ism was a “prerequisite to assert our proper role on our communities and 
be given the respect we deserve.” The newsletter criticized the reformist 
politics of other organizations, and a poem entitled “Tío Tomas” (involving 
Spanish wordplay on the African-American stereotype of the Uncle Tom) 
accused those who called themselves Mexican Americans of bowing to 
Anglo authority.69 In the second issue, Ruben Salazar, a well-known jour-
nalist in Los Angeles, wrote that “a Chicano is a Mexican-American with 
a non-Anglo image of himself. He resents being told Columbus discov-
ered America when the Chicanos’ ancestors, the Mayans and the Aztecs, 
founded highly sophisticated civilizations centuries before Spain fi nanced 
the Italian explorer’s trip to the new world.”70

While MEChA activists ideologically embraced their indigenous  heritage 
(indigenismo), it is important to note that they emphasized mostly the Az-
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tec antecedents to Chicano culture rather than connections to the tens of 
thousands of Indians, among them Yaquis, Tohono O’odham, Pimas, and 
Maricopas, who lived in contemporary Arizona. As Salazar’s article sug-
gests, the Aztecs were an alluring symbol largely because they represented 
the historical presence of a powerful, “highly sophisticated civilization” 
before Europeans arrived in the Americas. Somewhat paradoxically, this 
brand of indigenismo drew upon a rather narrow, ethnocentric defi nition 
of civilization characterized by urbanization, centralization, hierarchical 
government, and empire. This ideology attracted little direct interest from 
the mostly rural indigenous population of Arizona.71 With the exception of 
some small, local movements, such as in South Tucson and Guadalupe, Chi-
canos and Indians maintained mostly separate institutions and focused on 
divergent goals. This separation refl ected the limitations of Chicano indi-
genismo, the demographic differences of the indigenous and Chicano popu-
lations (mostly rural/mostly urban), and the distinct location of each group 
in the regional political economy (see Chapter 8). Chicanos, then, even while 
embracing their indigenous past, held onto their ethnic distinction from 
Indians in the present.

This separation occasionally expressed itself as outright resentment. 
In October 1974, for example, MEChA at Arizona State sent a letter to the 
administration protesting that Indians were being treated more favorably 
than Chicanos on campus. They complained of “preferential treatment of 
one minority over the other,” citing the fact that the Native American 
Club had its own operational center for which it paid no rent, and that the 
university fi nanced a coordinator to deal with Indian but not with Chicano 
issues. MEChA’s goal was reasonable enough: to establish benefi ts similar 
to those that Indian students received. In doing so, however, it painted 
itself as a competitor to (rather than a collaborator with) Native students, 
and it adopted a rhetorical opposition to racial preferences that potentially 
played into the hands of those who were against affirmative action and 
other progressive policies. On occasion, Chicanos and Indians on campus 
worked together, and in the 1990s, they would form what they referred to as 
the Xicano indigenous movement to put the ideology of indigenismo into 
direct practice. But for the most part, the ideological and institutional gulf 
between the two remained profound.72

At the same time, MEChA’s sometimes hostile critiques of “hyphenated 
Americans” alienated longtime Mexican-American activists who might 
otherwise have provided more support. Eugene Marín, for example, who 
served as ASU’s director of fi nancial aid beginning in 1972, had always sup-
ported a moderate-to-conservative agenda in which education and self-help 
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would lead to fi rst-class citizenship, but he also remained open to new, pro-
gressive strategies of coalition building. As he put it, “Perhaps the time is 
right when the blacks, the Indians, the Mexican Americans as minorities 
are going to get together politically.” He pointed out that while the ideol-
ogy of Chicano nationalism might successfully raise the consciousness of 
students and inspire organizing, it failed to provide an ideological founda-
tion for a broad-based coalition for change.73

Still, the rhetorical turn in Voz de Aztlán should not be accepted at face 
value as the voice of the majority of MEChA students at Arizona State. In 
fact, MEChA leaders continued to adopt an agenda similar to that of their 
predecessors at MASO—one that focused primarily on eliminating ob-
stacles to equal employment, the education of Chicano youth, and ethnic 
pride and union organizing.74 In 1972, for example, after the university ad-
ministration refused to rectify inequities in the employment of Chicanos 
in the housing administration, between eighty and one hundred students 
protested during the inauguration of the new university president, John 
Schwada. They demanded, as MASO had, an end to discriminatory hiring 
practices along with a commitment to recruit more Chicano students, to 
establish a Chicano studies program, and to dismiss plans to raise admis-
sion standards. Some members of the YSA and the Student Koalition of 
Indian Natives (SKIN) showed up for the protest, but the latter steered clear 
of MEChA activists. One Indian graduate student who attended the protest 
told a reporter for the campus newspaper, “We don’t mix with socialists 
or Chicanos. We’re Indians and we’ve got our own problems.” Indeed, the 
SKIN students were there to assert a separate and distinct agenda, includ-
ing a Native American equal opportunity program and improvements to 
the existing Native American studies program.75

MEChA continued to engage in confrontational tactics into the mid-
1970s, but the results of its activism were mixed. In March 1973 MEChA 
fi led a complaint against Arizona State University before the Equal Em-
ployment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) for perpetuating a “pattern of 
discrimination” against Chicano employees. They followed this in 1975 
with a complaint before the Office for Civil Rights of the U.S. Depart-
ment of Health, Education, and Welfare and with a suit against ASU in 
federal district court to force it to follow its affirmative action program and 
initiate an aggressive recruitment policy.76 In May the EEOC determined 
that the university “had engaged in a pattern of discrimination based on 
national origin against Chicanos or Mexican Americans.” Because of the 
added pressure, President Schwada agreed, in principle, to enhance recruit-
ment of Chicanos, and he began a search for a new, full-time affirmative ac-
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tion officer (it had been only a part-time position).77 While Schwada permit-
ted MEChA members to make recommendations for the position, however, 
he ultimately ignored them, hiring the assistant of the former part-time 
affirmative action officer over their vehement objections. It would take 
another fi ve years for the university to institutionalize a Minority Student 
Recruitment and Retention Program.78

MEChA also continued to press for a Chicano studies program. The 
group succeeded in encouraging faculty to offer new Chicano studies 
courses and successfully pushed for the establishment of a Chicano section 
of ASU’s Hayden Library. Not until 1995, however, would ASU establish 
its own Department of Chicana and Chicano Studies. Meantime, MEChA 
continued to work in cooperation with the CPLC and the United Farm 
Workers to fi ght for worker rights and equality off campus.79

One scholar has argued that Chicanos at ASU were moderate in their 
goals, compared with many student activists in California: “They were 
driven by practical concerns of political empowerment and economic ad-
vancement. Although some MEChA students employed revolutionary rhet-
oric to articulate their views, their goals at best refl ected a militant integra-
tionist perspective.” This view needs revision because the integration was 
to occur on Chicano rather than Anglo terms. Chicano students refused to 
shed their culture, language, and identity in the struggle to achieve fi rst-
class citizenship and economic advancement. In effect, they demanded 
that the prerequisites and culture of citizenship be changed. This position 
was signifi cantly different from that of earlier Mexican-American organi-
zations, but it was not a complete reversal.80

the uf w,  elec tor al politics ,  and decline

The United Farm Workers was more active in 1972 than at any other time 
in Arizona history, and yet that year also marked the beginning of its de-
cline. In a battle over a new antilabor bill, the plight of Chicanos in the 
state was briefl y cast into the national spotlight, bringing César Chávez, 
Dolores Huerta, and other well-known activists to Arizona to combat the 
measure. In the years that followed, the more radical rhetoric of the grass-
roots Chicano movement would subside, but in the process some of the 
more moderate goals and aspirations of the Chicano and farmworker move-
ments would be achieved.

Arizona’s legislature passed the antiunion Agricultural Employment 
Relations Act (HR 2134) with bipartisan support in May 1972. The law al-
lowed courts to issue ten-day restraining orders to halt work stoppages dur-
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ing harvests, forbade workers to strike without fi rst voting by secret bal-
lot under the observance of a board appointed by the governor, prohibited 
unions from recruiting in the fi elds, limited primary boycotts to single 
growers, and outlawed secondary boycotts. It established criminal penal-
ties for those who violated its provisions. Some of these were later altered 
by the courts (allowing, for example, a small number of picketers to engage 
in secondary boycotts) but for the most part, the law put up an enormous 
barrier against union organizing. Secondary boycotts and strikes during 
harvest season, when workers had the most collective bargaining power, 
had been the UFW’s most powerful weapons in California. Without such 
weapons the union would be hobbled.81

Arizona’s farmworkers and their supporters refused to accept defeat. Lo-
cal activists associated with the UFW, CPLC, and MEChA worked directly 
with national leaders such as Chávez and Huerta to organize a large-scale 
protest against the new law and to support a drive to recall Governor Jack 
Williams. Opponents of the law targeted Williams in large part because 
of the unorthodox manner in which he signed the bill. He had ordered the 
Highway Patrol to deliver the bill to him within two hours after it was 
passed. This violated the custom of waiting at least one day to allow the 
attorney general to review new legislation. In protest, Chávez began what 
he called a fast of love. As he later explained, “We didn’t want to keep fi ght-
ing similar bills in other states. So we thought if we recalled this governor, 
got him voted out of office, the others would get a little religion.” He also 
hoped to revitalize the farmworker struggle in the state. Chávez recalled 
that “in Arizona, the people were beaten. You could see the difference. Ev-
ery time we talked about fi ghting the law, people would say, ‘no se puede, 
no se puede’—it’s not possible. It can’t be done.” To combat the growing 
pessimism, Dolores Huerta coined the phrase Si, se puede (Yes, we can), 
which became the UFW’s rallying cry.82

The recall campaign ultimately failed, but it raised the political con-
sciousness of many Arizonans. The three-and-a-half-week fast by Chávez 
ended on June 4 after his doctors discovered that he had an erratic heart-
beat. Arizona activists, however, continued to collect signatures and reg-
ister voters. Chávez and other UFW organizers toured the state, “visiting 
Chicanos, Indians, farmworkers” and walking door-to-door “in the old CSO 
method.” Eventually, they gathered 168,000 signatures. The state attorney 
general declared sixty thousand of those signatures invalid, but months 
later a federal court ruled that they were legal. Unfortunately, as Chávez 
recalled, “by that time it was too close to the general election to make a 
special recall election worthwhile.”83 Many activists continued to defy the 
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new antilabor law. In October 1973, for example, over 125 workers from 
the UFW picketed Safeway stores in Phoenix, ignoring a court injunction. 
Many wore gags around their mouths to protest the injunction, which lim-
ited the number of picketers in front of any one store to fi fteen and made it 
illegal to ask patrons to shop elsewhere.84

While the recall effort failed, it would provide long-term leverage in lob-
bying efforts and help elect a signifi cant number of Mexican Americans 
into political office. Leaders of the campaign registered thousands of vot-
ers. One of its directors in Pima County claims to have registered close 
to one hundred thousand voters. While it is impossible to verify exactly 
how many new voters were registered as a direct result of the campaign, a 
comparison of overall registration numbers before and after 1972 provides 
some insight. Between 1970 and 1974, according to the secretary of state, 
the number of registered Arizona voters increased from 618,411 to 890,794. 
Certainly, this increase was not solely due to the registration drive, but 
evidence suggests that the campaign had played a meaningful role.85

It is important to acknowledge that injunctions and antilabor legislation 
were not the only threats to the union. The growers’ practice of recruiting 
undocumented immigrants also interfered with organizing efforts. One 
source estimates that Arizona growers hired up to one hundred thousand 
Mexican nationals over the course of the decade. Most new immigrants 
had scant knowledge of the UFW, and after having traveled hundreds of 
miles to help provide for their families in Mexico, or having brought their 
families with them, they were not inclined to rock the boat. Still, some did 
join; among them was Demetrio Díaz. According to Díaz, a man named 
Alberto recruited him in his hometown, Cuamil, Michoacán, to work in 
the Arizona fi elds. Díaz borrowed fi fteen hundred pesos from his grand-
father, part of which he paid to a coyote who brought him and about twenty 
other men across the border to Casa Grande, Arizona. From there, labor 
recruiters from Arrowhead Ranch near Phoenix paid, in Díaz’s words, 
“$80 per worker to several contractors who drive workers from a pick-up 
point in Casa Grande to the ranch”—a story that was confi rmed by at least 
two other Mexican workers. Upon reaching the ranch, undocumented 
workers labored for “ten hours a day, six days a week” with wages averag-
ing $30–$60 per week.86

Díaz was one of about two hundred Mexicans hired to break a UFW 
strike at Arrowhead Ranch in 1974. The day after Díaz arrived, the fore-
man ordered him and the others to work. When he protested that his feet 
were swollen and he was tired from the trip, the foreman responded that 
he would contact la migra (the INS) and have him shipped back to Mexico. 
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Díaz would hear many such threats in subsequent weeks. “The boss does 
all the work with illegals,” he explained. “He never hires any others be-
cause we can’t do anything to him. He kept us against our will. There’s 
not one of us who doesn’t have debts to the contractors.” Debt, the fear of 
retribution and deportation, and the need to support their families kept 
most Mexican nationals from protesting. Díaz, who joined the UFW, was 
an exception.87

Thousands of Mexican-American farmworkers refused to join the UFW 
for reasons ranging from fear of retribution to the need to provide for their 
families. Manuel and Eva Acuña—a married couple who worked near Casa 
Grande—explained that while they had little respect for the growers and 
foremen, they chose to protest with their feet rather than join the union. 
Eva explained that her husband “never put up with a foreman, you know, 
trying to tell him this or that. So we moved a lot.” Manuel took pride in 
his ability to provide for his family, boasting that he could pick a thousand 
pounds of cotton and earn thirty dollars per day. While Eva was more open 
to the UFW, she consented to her husband’s wishes not to join. As she ex-
plained it, “I thought a lot of [César] Chávez, but my husband and I don’t 
see the same things. . . . People would say that he was leading the migrant 
workers. He was fi ghting for ’em, you know, going through a lot. . . . But 
people didn’t see it that way. In Chandler they kicked him out of there. 
They told him they were making good money.”88

These stories demonstrate that antilabor laws and injunctions were not 
solely responsible for the relatively weak presence of the UFW in Arizona. 
The ethnic Mexican working class was diverse, consisting of new and 
old immigrants and of American citizens with varying ideologies. Mexi-
can nationals were often preoccupied with maintaining a basic level of 
subsis tence. Many held onto the hope that they could fi nd their way out of 
farmwork altogether or return to their families in Mexico rather than ex-
pend their energies collectively protesting. Nevertheless, state organizers 
 carried on the struggle throughout the 1970s with varying degrees of suc-
cess. They continued to boycott California grapes and wines, and in 1977 
they attempted to revitalize the farmworker movement through the forma-
tion of the Maricopa County Organizing Project followed by the Arizona 
Farm Workers Union (AFW) in 1978. These organizations led a few success-
ful strikes but soon faced court injunctions and arrests for misdemeanor 
charges ranging from trespassing to disturbing the peace. The AFW signed 
contracts for approximately fi fteen hundred workers by the end of the dec-
ade, but that number was too small to have much of an impact.89

Still, union organizing, especially the 1972 recall, left a lasting legacy 
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on voter registration and electoral politics. The Chicano and farmworker 
movements created a new voting bloc of Mexican Americans and trained 
a new cadre of elected leaders. In 1965 only six Mexican Americans had 
run successfully to become state senators. After 1972, however, Chicano 
activists benefi ted greatly from the registration of thousands of new vot-
ers. In the years of the recall effort, MASO founder Alfredo Gutiérrez won 
election to the state senate, and Joe Eddie López, the former CPLC chair-
man, successfully ran for the Maricopa County Board of Supervisors. In 
1991 he would become a state representative and in 1996 would be elected 
a state senator. Jerry Pastor also eventually ran successfully to become a 
state senator, and Manuel Marín, a state representative. In 1976 Ed Pastor, 
another member of CPLC, was elected to the Maricopa County Board of Su-
pervisors. He would serve three terms before running successfully for U.S. 
Congress in 1991.90 As early as 1974 there were eleven Mexican Americans 
in the state senate.91

The success of Democratic Chicano candidates helped to undermine the 
development of La Raza Unida Party in Arizona, but it did have a signifi -
cant, albeit short-lived, presence in Tucson. Activists Sal Baldenegro, Raúl 
Grijalva, and Lupe Castillo, among others, believed that the Democrats 
there were insensitive to Chicano issues. Because Tucson had an Anglo 
majority and citywide voting, Raza Unida had few illusions about win-
ning elections. As Grijalva put it, “We decided to go into elective politics 
more in the sense of an educational tool rather than an opportunity for 
winning.” The Tucson activists formed a branch of Raza Unida in Febru-
ary 1971, and for the next three years they worked to infl uence the po-
litical process there. According to one of its national leaders, José Angel 
 Gutiérrez, some Tohono O’odham in Tucson supported the party, but the 
extent of their involvement is unclear. Their platform included progressive 
measures such as national health care, community control of local institu-
tions, and a federally guaranteed income. It also stressed the importance 
of bilingual and bicultural education and the formation of Chicano studies 
programs.92

Most Tucson Latinos supported the Democrats rather than Raza Unida. 
In a run for the city council in 1971, Baldenegro received 5,862 votes, los-
ing by a wide margin to another Mexican American, Ruben Romero, who 
ran as a Democrat. The following year, Raúl Grijalva unsuccessfully ran 
for the Tucson school board. In 1974 he ran again as a Democrat for the 
same position and won, having abandoned Raza Unida because he felt that 
most Chicanas/os viewed it as too radical. Raza Unida made one more un-
successful bid in electoral politics, this time in the municipality of South 
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Tucson. Even with the town’s Chicano, Yaqui, and O’odham majority, how-
ever, it failed to garner any victories and dissolved after 1974. The party 
did leave behind a legacy of social services, including the Centro Aztlán, 
which provided a bilingual preschool, counseling, and other community 
services.93

Historian Armando Navarro offers a sanguine assessment of Raza Unida, 
suggesting that “as a result of its work, changes occurred that enhanced the 
Mexicano’s struggle for political empowerment.” It is important to note, 
however, that the Democratic Party, the CPLC, and the UFW proved to be 
more successful springboards into electoral politics.94 Of those who had 
been involved in Raza Unida, only Raúl Grijalva had a signifi cant career 
as a politician and then only after he became a Democrat. In 2002 Grijalva 
would be elected as an Arizona representative to the U.S. Congress.95

Chicano politicians who had emerged as leaders during the grassroots 
movement generally continued to support its goals. As a U.S. congress-
man, Ed Pastor persistently supported affirmative action, higher funding 
for public education, the preservation of social security, and the expan-
sion of funding for other social services. He worked to expand the issu-
ance of visas to immigrant workers and to permit undocumented workers 
to apply for citizenship or legal residency. He strongly opposed Arizona’s 
antibilingual education initiative, Proposition 203, declaring, “I think it 
is an extension of an English-only movement by Anglos somehow afraid 
that Americans are going to lose part of their culture.” In 2002 his voting 
record earned him a rating of 93 percent from the American Civil Liber-
ties Union, and 0 percent from the Federation for American Immigration 
Reform (FAIR), an organization that has sought to intensify border security 
and to stop undocumented immigration.96 Grijalva took comparable stands 
on immigration, labor, taxation, and social services. He received a rating 
of 0 percent from FAIR, and 100 percent from the Leadership Conference 
on Civil Rights.97

Not all Mexican-American politicians, however, so consistently sup-
ported progressive policies. In 1974 Raúl Castro was elected the fi rst 
Mexican-American governor of Arizona. Castro was an immigrant, hav-
ing been born in Cananea, Sonora, before moving with his parents to 
Douglas in 1916 where he worked in the copper smelters. In 1939 he earned 
a bachelor’s degree from Arizona State Teachers College, and over the 
next three decades he worked in various public positions—as an official 
in the U.S. Foreign Service, as a judge in Agua Prieta, Sonora, as Pima 
County attorney, and as ambassador to El Salvador and Bolivia. He fi rst 
ran for governor as a Democrat against Republican Jack Williams in 1970 
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but lost the election with 49.1 percent of the vote. Four years later he ran 
again, this time benefi ting directly from the UFW’s 1972 voter registra-
tion drive. He ran as a moderate, declaring support for bilingual education 
and desegregation while maintaining a probusiness stance. By doing so he 
gained the support of the majority of the Latino and Native American vote 
(90 percent of the Mexican-American vote) and a signifi cant percentage 
of the Anglo vote. Castro frequently capitalized on his image as an im-
migrant Horatio Alger. He explained in a 1977 speech before the Arizona 
Mexican-American Political Conference, “I never have believed that I have 
been excluded from anything I wanted to work hard enough to achieve 
simply because of my ethnic heritage. We cannot expect the door to op-
portunity to open automatically for us. We must try and try again to gain 
success.”98

As governor, Castro supported certain measures deemed important by 
Chicano activists, but his moderate stance turned off many movement 
leaders. In 1975 he pleased his Mexican-American supporters by signing 
an executive order creating an affirmative action task force. He also served 
as a co-chair at a 1975 conference in Washington, D.C., that created the 
National Hispanic Caucus, which demanded a larger voice in drafting the 
Democratic platform for the 1976 election and which helped organize a 
 national drive to register Hispanic voters. Castro gave a speech in which 
he declared that “we have no other way but to unite and demand our rights 
. . . Somos del mismo barro—we are of the same clay.”99

Yet he did little to support the interests of labor. Instead, he ardently 
enforced the Agricultural Employment Relations Act and thus helped 
to undermine the UFW—the very organization that had helped to elect 
him. His actions were condemned by some Chicano activists. UFW leader 
Gustavo Gutiérrez suggested that he was a poor choice for governor and a 
Republican in ideology. Chicano activist-scholar Rodolfo Acuña suggests 
that  Castro’s tenure illustrates that “just getting people elected was not 
enough,” because he “spent most of his time supporting the state’s right-
to-work law and placating Arizona’s conservatives.” Ultimately, Castro 
served only for two years, resigning in 1977 when President Jimmy Carter 
appointed him as the new ambassador to Argentina.100

In his recent book on the Chicano movement in Los Angeles, Ernesto 
Chávez answers the question “Why are we not marching like in the ’70s?” 
He suggests that “the end of that dramatic era did not mean the death of 
ethnic Mexican reform efforts. Rather, the emphasis shifted, as it had on 
earlier occasions, to electoral politics.” Chávez also contends that histo-
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rians should view the Chicano movement not as a radical break with the 
past or a pinnacle of Mexican-American activism, but rather as “part of a 
continuum.” Its legacy, he argues, was to propel greater numbers of Mexi-
can Americans into political office, although “in being transformed into 
purely electoral efforts, the grassroots elements and the ability to truly 
redefi ne the American political landscape—to bring about days of revolu-
tion—[have] disappeared.”101

A similar argument could be made about Arizona’s Chicano  movement 
with some important revisions. There, too, one of the legacies of the move-
ment was in electoral politics. But the movement also left a legacy at an 
institutional and cultural level. CPLC, for example, remains an important 
institution to this day, providing fi nancial services to Mexican-American 
businesses and economic and social services to thousands. The move-
ment signifi cantly altered the state’s public culture. Schools became more 
sensitive to the cultural differences of non-Anglo students, and bilin-
gual education became standard, at least until recently. Chicano studies 
programs eventually fl ourished at the two largest state universities. The 
movement led to the publication of numerous works on Chicano culture, 
history, and literature, and to a muralist movement that, as anthropolo-
gist Carlos Vélez-Ibáñez says, served as a symbolic “reclamation of space 
and place” in Arizona’s urban areas.102 Most broadly, the very idea that 
diversity rather than cultural homogeneity is a goal worth achieving, how-
ever contested and incomplete, was a signifi cant change from the com-
mon wisdom that cultural homogeneity was required for the nation to 
function.

Nevertheless, Arizona’s movement had important shortcomings. It failed 
to guarantee the rights of workers to bargain collectively. There is no 
greater symbol of this defeat than the 1972 Agricultural Employment Rela-
tions Act. While respect for a culturally diverse body politic had become 
more common (if not hegemonic), a substantial proportion of Arizona’s 
population apparently had no tolerance for another vision of citizenship—
one in which citizens could struggle as a group to fi ght not only for their 
civil rights but also for their collective rights as workers.

It is also important to acknowledge the movement’s own internal con-
tradictions. Too often did the complex and fl uid vision of a mestizo identity 
articulated in the story by Mario Suárez about El Hoyo become simplifi ed 
in the hands of Chicano activists in the 1960s and ’70s. In 1947 Suárez used 
his capirotada metaphor to emphasize diversity while simultaneously 
celebrating certain common cultural characteristics and interests. The 
Chicano movement, however, sometimes fell back on static defi nitions of 
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identity, demanding conformity to a certain ideal of what a Chicano should 
look and act like and undermining the possibility of coalition building 
with other ethnic groups.103 It is ironic that, although many Chicano activ-
ists celebrated their own indigenous roots, most had little to say about the 
needs and interests of the state’s contemporary indigenous population (the 
Guadalupe Organization and La Raza Unida being rare exceptions).
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chap ter 8

vill ages,  tribes,  and nations

An editorial in the Arizona Daily Star in 1960 proved that old notions about 
Indians being incapable of full and equal citizenship were alive and well. 
Pointing to factionalism on the Tohono O’odham reservations, the writer 
suggested that Anglo-Arizonans, “who have had the job of working with 
warring Indian Tribes and more recently working with the reservation In-
dians, should have some idea of what a task it is to change primitive people 
into modern citizens.” The editorial ignored the considerable factionalism 
among non-Indians and the fact that recent tensions on the reservations 
were largely the outgrowth of new and unfamiliar political structures that 
confl icted with older standards of village autonomy and government by 
consensus. It continued, “In one hundred years we have been barely able to 
advance these people to any point beyond tribal self-government.”1

Enos Francisco, the Tohono O’odham tribal chairman, responded to the 
editorial by turning its argument on its head. He suggested that it was 
modern white citizens who had trouble understanding anything beyond 
their own, shortsighted standards of government and citizenship. “Your 
editorial,” he wrote, “implies that consistent, intelligent efforts have been 
made over the past century to help Indians achieve a position of social and 
economic independence and to assume the responsibilities of full citizen-
ship. Anyone with even a slight knowledge of Indian affairs knows how far 
this is from the truth.” The politics of the Anglo majority from his per-
spective were at least as contentious and even less comprehensible, he went 
on. “It can be said more accurately that Indians, and particularly those in 
Arizona who have had the job of trying to work with warring white groups, 
and more recently working with the tribes of  administrative whites, 
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should have some idea of what a task it is to change modern citizens into 
understandable people.”2 His willingness to challenge Anglo standards of 
citizenship evinced the growing political assertiveness of the Papago tribal 
council from the 1950s through the 1970s.

This chapter will examine how south-central Arizona’s Indian popula-
tion struggled to adapt to the rapidly changing political economy of post-
war Arizona and how new cultural expressions and institutions simulta-
neously altered indigenous notions of identity, sovereignty, citizenship, 
and national belonging. The focus here is on the Tohono O’odham and 
the Yaquis because they historically transcended the territorial border 
between Mexico and the United States and the ethnic border separating 
Mexican and Indian identities.

The development of the Papago Tribal Council, and of the notion of 
Tohono O’odham nationhood, must be understood within the broader con-
text of a changing regional economy and the rapid evolution of federal pol-
icy, from the Indian New Deal to termination and to self-determination. 
Tohono O’odham villages lost much of their autonomy during this period 
in part because reservation farming, small-scale ranching, and seasonal 
farmwork all declined and because the Arizona economy shifted toward 
new high-tech and service industries. As a result, thousands of O’odham 
lived off the reservations for extended periods. Some grew alienated from 
both the villages and the tribe. For others, however, the elected tribal and 
district councils became the best means to assert authority over their own 
cultural, political, and economic concerns, however imperfectly such in-
stitutions fi t their traditional political culture.3

Meanwhile, Yaquis debated whether to seek federal acknowledgement 
as an American Indian tribe. This debate coincided with and was infl u-
enced by the Chicano movement, and it occurred in the context of new 
federal policies that offered greater sovereignty and resources to Indians. 
For many Yaquis, recognition as American Indians would ensure more 
control over politics, economics, and culture while securing their status 
as full American citizens—an ironic reversal from an era in which tribal 
membership disqualifi ed Indians from equal citizenship. Others, however, 
chose to embrace their Mexican heritage as an assertion of ethnic pride 
and a rejection of the perceived dependency of Indians on the nation-state. 
An analysis of this debate reveals much about how race, political economy, 
and evolving defi nitions of citizenship affected identity formation within 
Arizona’s inter cultural borderland.4
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consolidating the tohono o’odham nation

In the years after World War II, rapid changes in south-central Arizona’s 
economy, ecology, demography, and in its political environment forced 
the Tohono O’odham to adapt in new and often dramatic ways. Federal 
policy reforms that moved from termination in the 1940s to 1960s to self-
determination in the 1970s helped to expand the relevance and power of 
the tribal and district councils. At the same time, the tribal council de-
manded a higher level of authority over its own political economy and cul-
tural affairs, including the power to grant or to cancel leases, to secure 
water rights and compensation for lost lands, and to protect the sacred-
ness of their land and culture. While the council’s frequent deviations from 
 Tohono O’odham tradition bred rancorous debate, the slow and contested 
development of tribal government permitted the O’odham to change the in-
stitution of the tribe and to alter substantially their relationship to the U.S. 
nation-state. The result would be a new conception of Tohono O’odham 
nationhood—one that would eventually challenge the territorial boundar-
ies of the United States.

Especially signifi cant for the Tohono O’odham in the postwar years was 
the rapid decline of subsistence agriculture and cattle ranching on the res-
ervations. At the beginning of World War II, O’odham farmers cultivated 
12,900 acres on the reservations, and about 80 percent of all reservation 
families farmed for subsistence and/or for the market. In the decade that 
followed, however, a severe drought, erosion, and depletion of groundwater 
combined with the lure of wage work to lead many O’odham to abandon 
farming. By 1950 the Tohono O’odham cultivated only 1,252 acres of reser-
vation land, a drop of 90 percent in a single decade. The cattle industry also 
suffered in these years, although not to the same extent. In 1940 there were 
twenty-seven thousand cattle on the reservations. Overgrazing, drought, 
and disease so seriously impeded the livelihoods of O’odham ranchers that 
by 1949 only 8,858 cattle were divided among 6,873 individuals. The fur-
ther development of charcos helped the industry so that by 1960 there were 
fi fteen thousand cattle. Yet fewer than 5 percent of families, most of whom 
were located in the southeastern sections of the reservation, owned over 
80 percent of the livestock. This evolving class division would have impor-
tant implications for the tribe.5

Some Tohono O’odham blamed the decline of reservation farming on 
the abandonment of the Himdag—the collective body of traditions that had 
sustained the O’odham for centuries. In the latter 1960s an O’odham trac-
tor operator who lived permanently off-reservation felt that the problem 
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arose, at least in part, from the failure to practice the nawait ceremony. As 
he explained, “That’s why they had those wine feasts back then; I guess 
they worked because they used to have more rains then and more farming 
than they do now. There is nothing but cholla, cactus, and bones over there 
now.”6 Peter Blaine, a former tribal chairman, suggested that the avail-
ability of leasing income and an erosion of traditional values had led to the 
decline of farming. As he put it in the latter 1970s, “No, the lack of water 
is not the reason the people don’t farm at San Xavier anymore. The young 
people today don’t do anything at San Xavier because of that mine that 
opened on the south part of the reservation. That’s where they get their 
money. From royalties! The heck with the fi elds.”7

Others rejected the notion that a return to tradition would resolve the 
crisis. They looked to the tribal and district councils to protect O’odham 
interests. However, the expansion of the councils’ infl uence over the lives 
of individual O’odham was often highly contested. Just after the war ended, 
the Papago Tribal Council functioned largely at the behest of the Bureau of 
Indian Affairs and other government agencies. In 1949, responding to the 
decline of farming and ranching, the council worked with BIA officials 
to put together a Papago Development Program. Federal officials largely 
dictated the details of the plan, which called for the improvement of reser-
vation resources, termination of tribal status, and relocation of at least half 
the O’odham off the reservations, where they might obtain full-time jobs. 
Management of reservation land would pass from the tribal council to a 
“board of directors of a corporation owned by all of the enrolled members 
and created to manage the property of those members held in common.” 
Responsibility for law and order would be turned over to the state and the 
counties.8

During the next decade the relocation program sparked contentious de-
bate. Many O’odham leaders viewed the program (and rightly so) as part of 
a broader plan to terminate trust status. They sought to expand economic 
opportunities on or near the reservations. Tribal Chairman Mark Manuel 
suggested that seasonal work on nearby farms allowed O’odham working 
off the reservation to “go back to take part in things on the reservation, 
which is really the Papagos’ home.” Indeed, the seasonality of farmwork 
allowed many O’odham to make frequent visits to their villages for fi estas, 
baptisms, funerals, and other events.9 Archie Hendricks, the tribal council 
representative from the Chukut Kuk district, attended a meeting in 1960 
of the National Congress of American Indians (NCAI), which was taking a 
stand against termination. Reporting back to the tribal council, Hendricks 
explained that the meeting made it clear to him that relocation was simply 
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one element of a plan to end tribal sovereignty. “If work could be found 
on the reservations,” he argued, “young people wouldn’t have to go off the 
reservation to work.”10

Some tribal leaders felt that the practice of moving on and off the res-
ervations to work complicated tribal government. Chester Higman, the 
tribal legal counsel, recognized this when he visited Santa Rosa with Mark 
Manuel to discuss a proposed tribal resolution in 1958. As he explained in 
his journal, “We drove fourteen miles to Santa Rosa village to the trading 
post there, only to fi nd that the chairman had gone to Casa Grande, and 
were told the vice-chairman had left for the cotton fi elds to work.” Accord-
ing to his account, only three people remained in town. He found a similar 
situation at Chuichu. “It is very hard to get them together, and especially 
at this time of the year, when so many Papagos are picking cotton.”11 Due 
both to the persistence of this seasonal pattern and to a distrust of the 
notion of tribal governance, only certain districts and towns participated 
fully in tribal politics. The most densely populated southeastern districts 
of the Sells reservation and of San Xavier dominated tribal leadership. Resi-
dents of those districts earned a disproportionate share of income through 
livestock and leasing, which allowed them to live more permanently on 
the reservations and participate more steadily in tribal affairs.12

Tribal leaders struggled to enhance their authority and gain control over 
reservation resources. In 1951 the tribal council initiated a campaign to 
obtain full mineral rights on the reservations, characterizing the move as 
a means to combat relocation and achieve greater autonomy. Non-Indian 
miners had patented 3,590 acres of O’odham land, and claims on 35,653 ad-
ditional acres were pending. Some tribal leaders protested that the reserva-
tion was being invaded by prospectors.13 In 1955 these leaders persuaded 
Democratic Congressman Morris Udall to present a bill before Congress 
that would grant the Tohono O’odham ownership of the reservations’ sub-
surface minerals.14 Because such an arrangement had become standard 
throughout the country, the bill faced little opposition in Congress, and 
President Eisenhower signed it into law. Tribal members could now earn 
income by charging fees for leasing permits and by collecting royalties, 
and/or by working for wages for the companies who leased reservation 
lands.15

While Mark Manuel praised the legislation as a restoration of tribal au-
tonomy, leasing brought underlying tensions over an evolving tribal politi-
cal culture to the surface. In 1957 the tribe granted the fi rst major lease to 
the American Smelting and Refi ning Company (Asarco) on the San Xavier 
reservation. Because San Xavier had been allotted, the leasing process was 
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complicated, requiring a majority of heirs to agree to a common set of 
terms. The process ran counter to an older political culture in which the 
O’odham made decisions that affected the entire community by consen-
sus.16 In the end a majority of allottees approved the lease, leaving those 
in the minority with little recourse. Asarco agreed to pay over $1 million 
immediately as well as royalties while operations continued. Collectively, 
the tribe received only $24,000. The remainder was divided between indi-
viduals and families in increments ranging from 30 cents to $30,000: some 
through lump payments, others through yearly annuities.17

Leasing tied the interests of some O’odham to the tribe more than ever. 
James McCarthy’s family provides a good example. In the 1930s and ’40s, 
the McCarthys, like hundreds of other O’odham families, depended upon 
seasonal and temporary wage jobs to survive. In the 1950s, however, James 
obtained a permanent job in Tucson, and he settled with his wife, Emilia, 
and their sons at San Xavier. Soon thereafter, the district council chair 
called a meeting to talk about a company that wanted to mine copper on 
the reservation. According to James, “Those of us who owned land south-
west of the San Xavier Mission were asked to lease our land. My two broth-
ers and I agreed to the lease. Later we were told that we had some money 
waiting for us at the Papago headquarters in Sells.” With the new income, 
McCarthy was able to quit his job and build a new house for his family. Jobs 
as construction workers that his two sons found at the new mine allowed 
them to remain on the reservation.18

James, who had paid little attention to tribal politics before, became in-
creasingly familiar with the tribe because of his leasing arrangement and 
because the endless movement that had characterized his life was over. As 
he recalled, “Once we had settled in our new home, I had more time to visit 
and know our people. I was surprised when one day in the 1960s I was asked 
to be on the District Council. . . . I served three times—I became a veteran 
councilman.” McCarthy’s role as a lease shareholder and his growing fa-
miliarity with the community tied his fate more closely than ever to the 
tribe and gave him a new reason to be closely engaged in tribal affairs.19

Ironically, even those who opposed such leases often became more en-
gaged with the district and tribal councils. Some complained that the land 
was worth much more than the tribal and the BIA officials had paid for 
it. Alonso Flores, who leased some of his land at San Xavier to Asarco, re-
called, “I don’t see why the agency . . . made it so cheap the way they leased 
this out. . . . And I didn’t like it when I fi rst heard about it.” Flores began 
attending district council meetings, voicing his concerns to his cousin, 
councilman Harry Throssel. He also tried to rally the community not to 
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cave in to low prices negotiated by BIA officials. While he resented the 
presumptuousness of the council to act without consensus, the district’s 
control over leases prompted him to participate in district and tribal poli-
tics. Such was the irony of the new tribal institutions. Those who were in-
terested in local concerns had little choice but to engage with the councils, 
even if that engagement was sparked by fundamental differences. Over 
time the legitimacy of the councils as the proper venue for political debate 
would be enhanced.20

Leasing also sparked new debates over the balance of power between 
and the distribution of wealth among individuals, villages, districts, and 
the tribe. While to outside observers these negotiations seemed like petty 
intratribal bickering, they really involved negotiating a new balance of 
power within the context of a dramatically new political structure and 
new disparities in wealth between districts and individuals. At San Xavier, 
leasing exacerbated existing class divisions between O’odham allottees 
with large shares and those with none. Moreover, some district leaders 
viewed the tribe’s authority to grant leases as an infringement upon their 
right to manage their own affairs and to profi t from their own enterprises. 
In 1960 the district councils of mineral-rich sectors of the reservations 
fought to keep the profi ts from their own leases. Conversely, leaders from 
those districts with few or no leases hoped that profi ts would go to the tribe 
as a whole. Eventually, a compromise was reached in which half of all rents 
would go to the districts in which they were collected and half would go to 
the tribe. The idea that resources from one district belonged to the entire 
tribe was novel for the Tohono O’odham, marking a decided shift in the 
balance of power from the villages to the tribe.21

The authority of the district and tribal councils expanded further in 
1964 with President Lyndon Johnson’s Great Society programs. As more 
O’odham obtained jobs or received fi nancial support through tribal and 
federal programs, tribal institutions became increasingly relevant. Under 
a former tribal chairman, Thomas Segundo, the tribe organized a commu-
nity action program committee, which directed the formation of a tribal 
work experience program, a Head Start program, and established reserva-
tion housing and community centers. Funding for many of the new pro-
grams did not come through the BIA but went directly to the tribe. The 
programs also provided educational and work opportunities, accelerating a 
pattern toward centralization into larger towns and increasing the power 
of the tribal council vis-à-vis both the villages and the BIA. By the late 
1960s, as much as 67 percent of average annual income on the reservations 
was derived from federal and tribal sources.22

T4257.indb   217T4257.indb   217 7/19/07   12:12:47 PM7/19/07   12:12:47 PM



218 border citizens

As the tribe’s administrative hub, Sells became a center of politics, so-
cial services, employment, and a range of social activities. By 1966, as more 
Tohono O’odham moved in from smaller villages, the population grew to 
eight hundred. The BIA and the public health service in Sells ranked fi rst 
and second in providing the most jobs on the reservation, while the Papago 
Tribe itself ranked fourth, and the community action program, sixth.23 
Tribal and federal institutions also expanded their presence in a few other 
key communities, such as Topawa, Santa Rosa, Chuichu, and Pisinemo, 
which became secondary administrative and commercial centers. In these 
towns O’odham had access to, or worked for, schools, welfare administra-
tion and public health, postal, and other services. These connections tied 
the interests of growing numbers of O’odham directly to the tribe.24

One of the most important effects of increased funding for social ser-
vices was that more women were brought into public affairs and, even-
tually, into tribal politics. Ethnographer Päivi Hoikkala has studied this 
trend at the Salt River Pima and Maricopa Community near Phoenix, not-
ing that “Salt River residents readily accepted women’s involvement in 
community action programs as an extension of their roles of mother and 
wife.” On the Tohono O’odham reservations, many women worked for the 
BIA, for various War on Poverty programs, in the schools, and in other 
social services by the mid-1960s. They extended their roles as caretakers 
of their families into the public sphere. On the Sells reservation, for ex-
ample, Alberta Flannery and Mary Bliss, sisters who grew up near Sells, 
were among the fi rst women to receive bachelor’s degrees and to enroll in 
graduate school. Bliss attended college in the early 1970s with government 
funding, and in 1974 she went to work at the Arizona Department of Eco-
nomic Security. Flannery earned a degree in secondary education from the 
University of Arizona in 1976 and then went to work as the coordinator of 
the Indian education program for the Tucson Unifi ed School District. Both 
women earned master’s degrees in 1981, after which Bliss declared that she 
hoped to use her education to ensure that “the tribe could develop its own 
social services program outside the BIA.”25

Some of these women eventually expanded their roles into politics. By 
1983 four women served on the twenty-two-member tribal council, and 
for the fi rst time two women ran for the positions of chair and vice-chair. 
Vivian Juan entered college in the late 1970s to earn a degree in political 
science and secondary education which, she explained upon graduation in 
1981, she hoped to use “to help out in tribal politics.” A little over two 
decades later, Juan would become the fi rst woman to be elected as chair 
of the Tohono O’odham nation with an impressive 59 percent of the vote. 
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Her election was a strong indication of how substantially women’s roles in 
O’odham society were changing as the infl uence of the tribe grew.26

Even as the authority of tribal institutions increased, thousands of 
O’odham moved outside the reservations for longer periods of time, thus 
farther away from their reach. As the availability of seasonal labor declined 
in the early 1960s, hundreds obtained more permanent, off-reservation jobs 
as irrigators and tractor drivers, while others moved to the cities or mining 
towns. A 1968 study found that 38 percent of O’odham had moved away 
from the reservation entirely. This fi gure can be misleading, however, 
since only 10 percent of the permanent emigrants moved to distant cities 
like Los Angeles or Chicago. Most moved to rural towns or urban centers 
near the reservations from which they could make frequent visits.27

In 1969 ethnographer Jack Waddell noted that some off-reservation set-
tle ments had become full-fl edged “Indian villages” because “they have 
maintained some of the traditional features of the village organization and 
have also incorporated organization features that characterize the political 
infl uence of the Bureau of Indian Affairs on the reservation.” On the larger, 
rural settlements of this kind, adult men often worked either permanently 
or part time on various farms, while women usually cared for the homes 
and sometimes worked seasonally to help increase family income. While 
the homes of nuclear families predominated, they were generally arranged 
into extended-family clusters. Ethnographer Bernard Fontana has noted 
that, throughout the 1970s, Florence Indian village, Gila Bend, Darby Well, 
and Bates Well near Ajo continued to choose their own headmen and village 
councilmen. By 1974 the Florence settlement became so well  established 
that the federal government recognized it as a 20-acre reservation, permit-
ting federal funds to be used for Indian housing, health, and other services, 
and allowing residents to elect their own tribal representatives.28

Life was signifi cantly different in the mining town of Ajo than in the 
rural areas, but the O’odham there still found ways to maintain a strong 
sense of ethnic community, and to involve themselves increasingly in 
tribal affairs. For decades, Ajo had been among the largest O’odham popula-
tion centers on or off the reservation. While new technologies and new and 
more permanent housing meant less need for migration back and forth to 
the reservation, most people retained their connections through frequent 
visits. Moreover, the high concentration of O’odham living at Ajo pre-
cluded assimilation. The O’odham had their own church at Ajo Indian vil-
lage. In 1961 they also organized themselves as a new district, and residents 
soon elected their own district council and a representative onto the tribal 
council. One Ajo man who was elected to the council continued to orga-
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nize a yearly feast of the Sacred Heart on the reservation, drawing people 
from several villages every year. His complex connections to a variety of 
political and cultural institutions illustrate how permanent off-reservation 
residence did not necessarily sever connections to the reservations or inter-
est in tribal affairs.29

By the late 1960s the largest single Tohono O’odham community on or 
off the reservation was in Tucson. According to Waddell, many O’odham, 
particularly those in South Tucson, lived in “urban family clusters” and re-
tained “somewhat permanent relationships with a larger urban [O’odham] 
community” so that their cultural identifi cation was “still largely Pa-
pago.” Of course, some lived outside recognizably O’odham neighborhoods 
altogether. Some individuals had largely detached themselves from “ex-
tensive kinship involvement,” and it was this group that most frequently 
suffered from alcoholism and poverty. Others continued to live with fami-
lies in suburban O’odham households. The suburban O’odham—some 
eighteen households—tended to be members either of the middle class or 
of the skilled working class (primarily through electrical and mechani-
cal occupations). This group also formed a kind of “intelligentsia” with 
“adminis trative concern over the low status of many Tucson Papagos and 
with continuing involvement through kinship ties.” Anthony Cypriano (a 
pseudonym), for example, worked actively with the Tucson Indian Center 
and with the urban schools and church where O’odham attended.30

One of the most visible differences between urban and rural commu-
nities was the gendered division of labor. In Tucson hundreds of women 
worked for wages, particularly in domestic labor. In the late 1960s, fully 
50.7 percent of Tohono O’odham women in Tucson were employed, while 
in all of the other towns and villages only 18.7 percent had wage or salary 
jobs. Tucson women also had a lower fertility rate and a slightly higher 
level of formal education than their rural counterparts. The lower fertil-
ity rate was at least partly attributable to the fact that 14.4 percent more 
women than men lived in Tucson. Moreover, many of these women were 
single and had not yet started families.31

This brief overview of Tohono O’odham communities in villages, 
towns, and urban neighborhoods demonstrates that the population was di-
versifying and adapting to local circumstances. Some of the more intimate 
connections from the old villages and rancherías had been lost, but in their 
absence tribal institutions protected O’odham communities and created 
an emerging sense of peoplehood. This could be true even for those who 
disliked the often contentious majoritarian politics of the councils. In sum 
the very idea of a collective entity or imagined community known as the 
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Papago Tribe became a catalyst for cultural self-identifi cation and for com-
munication of that identity to non-Indians.

The power of the tribal council continued to grow in the 1970s in part 
because of critical transformations in federal policy. In January 1975 Con-
gress passed the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act. 
It was intended to “respond to the strong expression of the Indian people 
for self-determination by assuring maximum Indian participation in the 
direction of educational as well as other federal services to Indian com-
munities.” Congress created a review commission to analyze the impact of 
the new federal policy. In a 1977 report the commission reaffirmed that the 
Indian population had “a relationship recognized in the law of this Nation 
as that of domestic, dependent sovereign.” Directly repudiating the lan-
guage of termination, it suggested that the relationship has “at sometimes 
in the past been honored but more frequently violated and at times even 
terminated.”32

With this federal affirmation of Indian self-determination, the Papago 
Tribal Council had a new weapon in its struggle for sovereignty and for 
land and water rights—a battle that, in turn, would increase its visibility, 
relevance, and legitimacy. The fi rst issue to come to the fore was compen-
sation for lost lands. All O’odham shared an interest in fi nancial compen-
sation for lost territory. The federal government had established the Indian 
Claims Commission (ICC) in 1946 to resolve outstanding land disputes 
through cash payments. Not an altruistic measure, this was a means to lay 
territorial confl icts to rest so termination and relocation could move for-
ward.33 The Papago tribal council fi led a petition in 1951, but the commis-
sion waited until 1964 to hear the case and until 1976 to make a monetary 
award available. During the hearings, reports by ethnographers Ruth Un-
derhill, Robert Hackenberg, Bernard Fontana, and William Kelly, among 
others, documented “aboriginal land use and occupancy,” population fi g-
ures, and cultural continuity over centuries.34

In the end the ICC found that non-Indian settlers had divested the 
 Tohono O’odham of millions of acres between the Altar valley in Sonora 
and the Gila River in Arizona. It also recognized that the arid western 
region between Ajo and the Atlas-Gila Mountains “was occupied to a suf-
fi cient extent by Papago Indians to support a fi nding of aboriginal title.” 
Finally, it found that the O’odham had undisputed historical claim to the 
Santa Cruz valley, including the sites of Tubac and Tucson. In 1970 the 
ICC awarded $26 million for the loss of six million acres based on 1916 
land values. This amount could not have compensated the O’odham for the 
livelihoods and income they might have derived from the territory. Still, 
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it meant a symbolic recognition that their traditional homeland was much 
larger than the contemporary reservations and that the United States had, 
in the words of the ICC ruling, “fail[ed] in its duty to its Papago Indian 
wards” to protect them from the “steady encroachment and aggression of 
the non-Indian settlers.”35

While the ICC intended to preclude future litigation over land, in a 
broader sense the thousand pages of detailed evidence produced during the 
procedures publicly and legally acknowledged the O’odham’s deep cultural 
and historical connection to the region. In the future the tribe would use 
this as state-sanctioned evidence for the expansion of its autonomy and 
self-determination and to attempt to purchase certain lands that had been 
lost.36 This had hardly been the intention of the ICC. Still, the documents 
produced in the case became yet another building block in the construc-
tion of the Tohono O’odham nation. A collective, tribal identity was evolv-
ing not simply through the internal teachings from one generation to the 
next, but as a dialectic between the Tohono O’odham, government offi-
cials, Anglo scholars, and the public at large.

The monetary award created new dilemmas. Who would be eligible to 
receive payments? Should individuals who had never enrolled in the tribe 
be included? Should the money go to the tribe as a collective body, to the 
districts, or to individuals? The council worked with the BIA office in Phoe-
nix to develop a plan. The 1970 settlement stipulated that at least 20 per-
cent of the money be used for tribal programs. In two public hearings in 
November 1981, O’odham opinions varied widely. Some, especially older 
members, felt that the other 80 percent should be distributed evenly to 
individuals. One said, “I am old and tired, and soon I will go to my rest. . . . 
Give me some of my fortune now. I won’t have it when I go to heaven.” His 
opinion refl ected both a personal interest in receiving the money before he 
died and the traditional ethic that no single tribal entity should make deci-
sions for individual members.37

Others had developed more trust in the tribal council and felt that the 
money could be used more wisely and efficiently if it remained in a lump 
sum for capital improvements, health, education, social services, and other 
investments. Nick Francisco of Sil Nakya believed that if the money was 
distributed in per capita checks, individuals would likely “use it all at once 
and be poor again.” Hilda Manuel, a tribal court judge at Sells, felt that 
the tribe should use the money to buy back some of its traditional lands. 
In one of the more provocative comments at the meeting, she called the 
settlement “blood money” rather than a just compensation for the home-
land. “We lost aboriginal rights,” she said, “and here we are willing to ac-
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cept payment, forgetting the people who died for it, forgetting the people 
who are unborn. Invest it for land. Don’t just get a check in the mail for 
$1,500 and spend it.”38

Signifi cantly, while the debate was often rancorous, few would chal-
lenge the tribal council’s fi nal decision. Ultimately, the council voted 
unanimously, refl ecting a long tradition of government by consensus. Half 
the money would go to the tribe as a collective entity and half would be 
distributed in per capita payments. All members who had enrolled in the 
tribe between 1937 and 1940 (when the tribe was fi rst established) were au-
tomatically eligible, as were their descendants. In addition, anyone with 50 
percent O’odham “blood quantum” who had not yet enrolled could do so 
within 180 days to receive payments. By January 1983, with accrued inter-
est, the amount to be distributed was close to $44 million, leaving $23 mil-
lion to be distributed in individual payments. The disbursements inspired 
some O’odham to enroll as tribal members for the fi rst time.39

Meanwhile, the Papago Tribal Council turned to what was among the 
most complicated and contentious issues in south-central Arizona—water. 
In 1975 the tribe fi led suit against the City of Tucson for depleting under-
ground water sources. At the same time, the Tohono O’odham worked to-
gether with Pimas, Maricopas, Yavapais, and with pantribal organizations 
such as the National Congress of American Indians and the Association 
on American Indian Affairs. In October, representatives and lawyers for 
the tribes appeared before the Senate Interior Committee to secure enough 
water to promote economic self-reliance. When Arizona’s two Republican 
senators, Barry Goldwater and Paul Fannin (the ranking Republican on the 
Interior committee), refused to support the effort, tribal officials enlisted 
the help of Massachusetts Senator Edward Kennedy.  Kennedy introduced 
Senate Bill 3298 in April 1976, dubbing it the Central Arizona Indian Tribal 
Water Rights Settlement Bill. It called upon Congress to account for “the 
failures of the federal government to protect water supplies of the Central 
Arizona Tribes and the ongoing deprivation of water use which these tribes 
have suffered.”40

Opponents and proponents alike framed the debate as being over citizen-
ship rights as well as water. Senator Goldwater, in a statement that seemed 
to imply that Indians were something other than full American citizens, 
declared, “The water rights legislation, offered in the name of justice for the 
Indians, would dispossess thousands of American citizens who have con-
tributed their capital, their labor, and lifetimes of effort to developing agri-
cultural operations.”41 Conversely, Gerald Anton, president of the Salt River 
Pima-Maricopa Indian Community, in a letter that appeared in the New 
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York Times, wisely portrayed the issue not as an ethnic confl ict but as an eco-
nomic struggle between indigenous citizens and corporate interests. As he 
put it, “While it has impoverished the tribes, Interior has been generous in 
bestowing Indian water on powerful commercial interests. Some large cor-
porate farms irrigated by federal reclamation projects use more surface wa-
ter than all the twenty-seven hundred Salt River Pima-Maricopas or the 
eighteen thousand Papago.” As a result, he said, “Now we must depend 
on welfare to buy the very provisions that we once produced abundantly 
ourselves.” He pleaded with his “fellow Americans” to acknowledge that 
the Indians had a “constitutionally protected right to petition for redress 
of grievances.” With a return of their water rights, he suggested, Indians 
could secure their status as independent, self-reliant citizens.42

Ultimately, Senators Goldwater and Fannin helped to kill the bill, but 
the defeat proved to be a new beginning rather than an end to a pro-
tracted battle. In the years that followed, the water struggle would be de-
cided in piece meal court decisions and legislation rather than as a single, 
com prehensive law. The earliest two settlements impacted the Tohono 
O’odham. In 1978 Congress passed the Ak-Chin Act, from which the 
mixed Pima/Tohono O’odham community on the small, 20,000-acre Ak-
Chin reservation would receive 85,000 acre-feet of water annually from the 
Central Arizona Project. The settlement was important because it repre-
sented an admission by the federal government that it had failed to meet its 
trust responsibility. On the other hand, it protected non-Indian water users 
from future litigation.43 The second settlement guaranteed water for the 
San Xavier reservation and the Shuk Toak district of the Sells reservation. 
The Southern Arizona Water Rights Settlement Act passed both houses 
of Congress in 1982, allocating 76,000 acre-feet of water per year from a 
combination of groundwater, Tucson effluent, and Central Arizona Project 
water. Overall, San Xavier and Shuk Toak would receive 66,000 acre-feet 
of water annually.44

The Tohono O’odham disagreed sharply about what to do with the water 
once it became available. (As it turned out, it would be decades before any 
water reached the reservations.) The tribal council voted 10–1 to approve 
a plan to allow a California company to lease both land and water at San 
Xavier and build a development large enough to house over one hundred 
thousand people. Before the plan could move forward, however, the major-
ity of allottees would have to accept it.45 The ensuing debate once again 
raised fundamental questions about Tohono O’odham sovereignty and 
identity. Opponents organized as a group called the Defenders of O’odham 
Land Rights and argued that the lease would “destro[y] our tribal sover-
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eignty.” In an advertisement in the tribal newspaper, the Papago Runner, 
they declared that “land, water, sovereignty, and tribal jurisdiction is [sic] 
much more important to us as a people—as an Indian Nation—because 
without a land base, a place to call home, we have nothing and begin to lose 
our identity as Papagos” (emphasis added).46 Others rejected what they felt 
was a simplistic equation of land with Tohono O’odham identity. Alonso 
Flores, an allottee who approved the lease, argued, “No matter where I sit 
I’m still Papago. They’ve been brainwashed to think that possessing land 
makes you who you are.”47

The details of this ongoing dispute, which lasted into the latter 1980s, 
are outside of the temporal scope of this book, but it is important to note 
that after several years the tribal council reversed its earlier decision and 
ended further consideration of the lease. As explained by ethnographer 
Thomas McGuire, who consulted with the tribe as it debated its options, 
the decision had somewhat contradictory implications for sovereignty. In 
asserting its authority to cut off the debate, the tribal council turned fur-
ther away from its tradition of leaving local decisions up to local commu-
nities and districts, though its decision did protect the interests of those 
allottees who felt the lease would erode tribal sovereignty. Somewhat para-
doxically, then, the tribal council infringed upon one tradition—that of 
local autonomy—while indirectly upholding a tradition of consensus by 
preventing one group from imposing its will on another.48

By the late 1970s the power of the tribal council had grown sufficiently 
to permit it to fl ex its muscles in an unprecedented manner—to look be-
yond the confi nes of the U.S. territorial border to address the fate of those 
O’odham who still lived in Mexico. Figures on how many were there vary 
widely. In 1979 the Instituto Nacional Indigenista (INI, or National Indig-
enous Institute) counted only two hundred Sonoran “Papagos.” This was 
undoubtedly an underestimate, since those with marginal ties to the tra-
ditional communities or who temporarily lived outside of those commu-
nities were likely excluded. In fact, census takers in 1979 noted that an 
unknown number of Mexican O’odham were staying in Arizona, where 
they worked in rural areas surrounding the Sells reservation. Very recent 
estimates are much higher, suggesting that as many as fourteen hundred 
Tohono O’odham live in Mexico today.49

Mexican and U.S. O’odham maintained close connections in a number 
of ways, cross-border ritual events among them. Many hundreds of Arizona 
O’odham continued to travel to Magdalena, Sonora, in October to celebrate 
the feast day of St. Francis.50 Others crossed to participate in a harvest 
ceremony called the wi:gita at Quitovac in late July or early August. The 
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Quitovac ceremony combined elements of the nawait, or wine feast, mak-
ing it quite distinct from the wi:gita in Arizona near Santa Rosa, where 
the nawait and wi:gita were held separately in late July and November, 
respectively.51 Fontana describes the Quitovac ritual, as he witnessed it in 
1980, as “a religious dance drama . . . a prayer for abundant rain, good crops, 
lush desert growth, health, and long life for the members of each family.” 
For those Arizona O’odham who participated, it remained an important 
link to O’odham culture, to Sonoran desert ecology, and to their relatives 
in Mexico.52

Many Mexican O’odham periodically loaded up their trucks with pro-
duce from their farms and with lard, cheese, and tequila and traveled to the 
border to sell them to O’odham in the United States. For those on the U.S. 
side who lived in small villages far from Sells or Tucson, it was often easi-
est to obtain such items at the border. This was especially true for those 
who wished to purchase liquor, which remained illegal on the Sells reser-
vation. Meetings to sell or trade such goods often became transnational 
fi estas in which participants listened to conjunto and country music.53

Mexican O’odham continued to cross the border to fi nd work, visit U.S. 
hospitals, and send their children to U.S. schools. While it is impossible to 
quantify how many crossed for such purposes, anecdotal evidence suggests 
it was commonly done. Ana Antone, who was born in 1949 in Pozo Verde, 
Sonora, recalls that when she was a child she “lived south of the imaginary 
line and went to school in San Miguel on my Nations’ lands to the north. 
. . . The imaginary line was already there and it was always open, but the 
difference was there was not a Border Patrol. We used to freely come and 
go.” Dolores López, who was born near Caborca, Sonora, has a similar rec-
ollection of her parents moving periodically across the border to Ajo, where 
her father worked in the mines. In 1947 she moved to Eloy to work in the 
fi elds and care for the children of some of her relatives. Not until the 1980s 
did she fi nd that she was no longer able to cross freely because policing of 
the border increased.54

In the 1970s the O’odham in Mexico faced a wide range of problems, 
and they turned to the Papago Tribe in Arizona for help. They complained 
principally about encroachments by Mexican landholders. The INI had es-
tablished an office called the Residencia Papago in 1975 to begin to address 
O’odham concerns, but Mexican O’odham complained that it was not do-
ing nearly enough to protect them from these encroachments. The Mexi-
can government officially recognized O’odham communal landholdings 
of several thousand acres only at Poso Verde. Encroachments remained a 
problem, however, especially for those who continued to move seasonally 
between villages, across the border, or between their farming villages and 

T4257.indb   226T4257.indb   226 7/19/07   12:12:49 PM7/19/07   12:12:49 PM



villages, tribes, and nations 227

large, ethnically mixed towns such as Caborca. In their absence much of 
their land had been sold to private ranchers.55

Francisco Valenzuela was among those who complained about Mexico’s 
failure to recognize O’odham land rights. Valenzuela’s wheat fi eld was 
near Plenty Coyotes village, directly adjacent to the border. He had been 
raised in Sonora, but like many Mexican O’odham his family had never 
received a deed to their land. They lived part of the year on their farm and 
part of it near a well, miles from Plenty Coyotes. One year, while he was 
away from the fi elds, the Mexican government sold some of his land, along 
with that of many other O’odham nearby, to a wealthy, absentee rancher. 
Valenzuela then joined a group of O’odham who took their case to the 
Mexican government and to the tribal council in the United States. The 
Mexican government responded by setting aside a little over fi fty thousand 
acres as communal land at San Francisquito and El Carrizalito, a gesture 
that was small and inadequate.56

After considerable coaxing by Mexican O’odham, on May 16, 1979, the 
Papago tribal council in the United States passed three resolutions address-
ing their concerns. The fi rst, Resolution 43-79, declared that the Treaty 
of Guadalupe Hidalgo and the Gadsden Purchase had unjustly divided 
Tohono O’odham lands “without consultation with or consent of the indig-
enous Papago population.” These treaties, the resolution said, “separated 
the Papago people residing in Mexico and the United States from the lands 
in the other country which constitute Papago sanctuaries and traditional 
sites of Papago folklore, custom, tradition, rite and religion.” The resolu-
tion demanded that either “the lands within Sonora, Mexico . . . be ceded 
or transferred to the United States of America in trust for the Papago Na-
tion as a whole, or be set aside and reserved for, and be made part of the 
Papago Tribe of Mexico.” The council also asserted that the O’odham 
should “have free access across the international Border and freedom to 
worship through ceremonials and traditional rites at all Papago sanctuar-
ies and religious sites.”57

The tribal council passed two other related resolutions. Resolution 
44-79 criticized Mexico for depriving the Sonoran O’odham of their “lands 
and resources, including water and wells.” It requested that officials of the 
United States, Mexico, and the United Nations “investigate the continu-
ing encroachments against the lands and resources of the Papago Indian 
population in the State of Sonora.” Finally, with Resolution 45-79, the coun-
cil requested that Sonoran O’odham be recognized as full members of the 
 Papago tribe and thus be entitled to federal resources and a portion of the 
$26 million judgment.58

This was only the opening salvo in an ongoing struggle by the leaders 
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of the Tohono O’odham nation to challenge the legitimacy of the U.S.-
Mexican border, at least as the border applied to them. Mexican O’odham 
engaged in dramatic protests, including the occupation of the INI offices 
in Caborca.59 Forty-four Mexican O’odham wrote an open letter in 1990 
addressed to “Our Blood Brothers of the United States.” In it, they declared 
that “as O’odham we are one people” and complained that the INI office in 
northern Sonora had been “weak, under funded, and mostly working with 
ranchers and dope traffickers to taking more O’odham land.” They asked 
the U.S. tribe for assistance in securing their “traditions, culture, language 
and sacred sites.”60 In response the tribe, which had renamed itself offi-
cially the Tohono O’odham Nation, presented several bills before Congress 
designed to allow Mexican O’odham to join the tribal rolls, receive fi nan-
cial, educational, and health services from the United States, and ensure 
the rights of their people to cross the border freely. The fi rst, introduced in 
1987, was withdrawn before it reached Congress, and the most recent bill, 
introduced in 2003, died in committee. Nevertheless, this ongoing cam-
paign reveals that, while the direction that the Tohono O’odham Nation 
will take in the future remains contested, growing numbers of O’odham 
see themselves fi rst and foremost as citizens of their own nation, tran-
scending the boundaries of either Mexico or the United States.61

The roots of this sentiment can be traced to the emergence between 1910 
and 1937 of panvillage tribal institutions and, ironically, to policies initi-
ated by the U.S. government. These tribal institutions gained strength in 
the 1960s and ’70s as village autonomy was undermined through e conomic 
change, and as new U.S. laws guaranteed a greater degree of Indian sover-
eignty. In defi ning themselves as a nation rather than as a tribe, in reject-
ing the imposed “Papago” for the indigenous “Tohono O’odham,” and in 
demanding recognition and protection of their transnational homeland, 
the Tohono O’odham have built upon a tribal/national identity that devel-
oped in a dialectical relationship with U.S. institutions and Anglo precon-
ceptions to assert their sovereignty beyond the confi nes of the cultural, 
political, and territorial boundaries of the United States.

the politics  of yaqui  e thnicit y

While the Tohono O’odham were debating the implications of tribal tribal 
authority, Yaquis in Arizona endured without similar tribal institutions. 
Instead, Yaqui settlements in Pascua, New Pascua, Guadalupe, and Barrio 
Libre, among other settlements, maintained their own community net-
works and institutions with relatively tenuous connections between them. 
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Only in the 1960s did Yaquis from the Pascua barrio, in Tucson, begin a 
sustained campaign to persuade the U.S. government to acknowledge them 
as a tribe. In so doing, they challenged the racialized ethnic boundary be-
tween “Indian” and “Mexican” status.

Many Yaquis did not identify themselves as American Indians, having 
developed close ties to ethnic Mexicans who lived and worked alongside 
them in labor camps, rural settlements, and urban barrios. An increasing 
number no longer spoke Yaqui. At the same time, many Anglos refused to 
see the Yaquis as Indians. Rancher Turney Smith was among them, saying 
in 1964 that the Pascua Yaquis were “not Indians in the proper sense of 
the word” because they were “a mixture of several breeds.” Still, as dis-
cussed in the Introduction, with the help of Congressman Udall, Pascua 
Yaquis successfully pressed the government in 1965 to grant them a 202-
acre plot of federal trust land near the San Xavier reservation, which they 
called New Pascua. Yet, while Congress referred to the Yaquis as Indians, 
it refused to endorse the idea that their Indianness entitled them to federal 
resources. This ambiguity virtually guaranteed that the debate about the 
status of the Yaquis would continue.

Yaquis constantly had to reckon with the preconceptions of Anglos who 
viewed them either as American Indians, thus expecting them to act ac-
cordingly, or who assumed that they were not Indians at all because they 
had come from Mexico and shared many traditions with Mexicans. Some-
times Yaquis directly challenged such perceptions; at other times they 
strategically deployed them as a political tool. It is therefore not surpris-
ing that the campaign for federal recognition started in Pascua and New 
Pascua. Both communities were more ethnically homogeneous than most 
other Yaqui settlements. Moreover, Anglos in Tucson had long referred to 
the Pascua Yaquis as an “Indian tribe,” had acknowledged certain leaders 
as “chiefs,” and had even tried to gain federal recognition of the Yaquis as 
Indians in the 1930s.

For the New Pascuans, federal recognition would provide several ad-
vantages. Arizona’s recent shift from an economy based upon extractive 
industries to one based upon service and light manufacturing industries 
undermined one of the most important sources of income for the Pascua 
Yaquis—seasonal farm labor. Moreover, New Pascua was plagued by a lack 
of social services and infrastructure, and because it was on nontaxable 
federal trust land the county would not pay for improvements. While the 
Office of Economic Opportunity (OEO) initially funded housing construc-
tion, this was cut off in the early 1970s.62 In its place the town  received 
funds from the Office of Native American Programs of the Department 
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of Health, Education, and Welfare, but nothing through the BIA.63 Federal 
recognition would provide both access to new resources and a new tool to 
protect the cultural autonomy of Yaqui settlements.

New Pascuans faced opposition to their campaign for federal acknowl-
edgement from Anglos and Yaquis alike. A Protestant missionary com-
plained in a letter to the head of the OEO that New Pascua was a scheme 
conjured up by anthropologists to satisfy their research agendas. As he put 
it, such an experiment “may be fi ne from the viewpoint of the anthropolo-
gist or may even boost the Tucson tourist trade to establish a ‘museum of 
Yaqui culture’ just southwest of the city. But how does this help a back-
ward ethnic group which needs to be brought up to par with this generation 
rather than be pushed back into the past to satisfy someone’s greedy self-
interest?” The missionary also complained that Anselmo Valencia, who 
had initiated the effort to establish New Pascua, did not intend to allow the 
Presbyterians to build a church there. Even anthropologist Edward Spicer 
did not entirely trust Valencia, suspecting him of desiring power as a “cau-
dillo.” Meanwhile, the majority of Pascuans, some of whom were Presby-
terians, refused to move to New Pascua, remaining in what became known 
as Old Pascua, where their families had lived for generations.64

New Pascuans also had a difficult time persuading Yaquis from other 
communities, such as Guadalupe, to support their cause. Many Guadalu-
panos identifi ed closely with the ethnic Mexicans in their community and 
did not think of themselves as American Indians. Yaquis and ethnic Mexi-
cans in Guadalupe traditionally attended the same churches, worked and 
lived together, and formed close ties of compadrazgo through baptisms, 
marriages, and other ritual events.65 The two groups continued to inter-
marry and have children so that by the mid-1960s Anglos like teacher Ruby 
Wood felt that “with the people, Mexican and Yaqui, [you] can hardly tell 
the difference now.”66

Wood’s suggestion that there was little difference between Yaquis and 
ethnic Mexicans in Guadalupe was overstated. Yaquis continued to prac-
tice distinct rituals that highlighted their difference from neighboring 
ethnic Mexicans. Yaqui ceremonies held during Easter remained, in the 
words of an observer in the early 1960s, “extremely critical to the differen-
tiation” between the two groups. Mexican Americans were excluded from 
membership in the ceremonial sodalities, although some participated in a 
supportive role as compadres and comadres.67 At times, tensions surfaced. 
Some Guadalupe Yaquis recalled Mexican Americans throwing rocks at 
the chapayekas—one of the important sodalities (ritual organizations) that 
participated in the Lenten and Easter ceremonies.68
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Tensions between Yaquis and Mexican Americans also refl ected class 
differences. Of those Guadalupanos who were employed, Yaquis among 
them worked as unskilled farmworkers in much greater numbers than did 
Hispanics. A 1969 study indicated that the latter generally lived in “well 
kept, moderately priced homes” and were “ashamed of the poverty which 
[was] found on the forty acres.”69 A decade later, according to the federal 
census, 26.27 percent of Guadalupe Indians still worked as farm laborers, 
while 17.75 percent of those of Hispanic origin did so.70 Guadalupe Yaquis 
recalled that Mexican Americans often referred to them as “dirty Indian,” 
“hillbilly,” and “junkhouse.”71 According to Ruby Wood, some Yaquis felt 
uncomfortable attending the Catholic Church because “there are quite a 
few Mexicans that dress real nice and have good jobs and all, and they’d 
say, ‘Who wants to sit by a dirty Yaqui?’”72 Such labels had a profound im-
pact on Yaqui identity and self-perception. As Alberto Tavena said, “When 
I was growing up, I was raised by my grandmother who was a Mayo. I didn’t 
know I was a Yaqui until I went to school and the kids called me a ‘dirty 
Yaqui.’”73

Ethnic tensions of this sort led to deep resentment. These resentments 
surfaced in the early 1960s when the Catholic Church and the Guadalupe 
Organization (GO) attempted to buy the plaza at the center of the original 
forty-acre townsite, where the Yaqui Easter ceremonies were performed to 
make improvements to the plaza and the church. They also encouraged 
Yaquis to purchase their home lots. Some Yaquis viewed the action as a 
direct threat by the ethnic Mexican community. Benito Quijada turned di-
rectly to the federal government for help, writing to President John F. Ken-
nedy, “We are being harassed by the Mexicans and ignored by the authori-
ties. . . . We have always, since 1910 lived as a Yaqui Tribe, believing this 
land was set aside for the Yaqui refugees from Mexico, through the good 
works of farmers, priests, and Carl Hayden.” To Quijada, the forty acres 
symbolized a compact between the Yaquis and the United States—a pact 
that guaranteed both the Yaquis’ membership within and their distinct 
cultural and legal relationship to the U.S. nation. In the end the Guadalupe 
Organization and the Catholic Church withdrew their proposal to acquire 
the plaza, although many Yaquis did acquire their land as private property 
in subsequent years.74

Tensions between Yaqui and ethnic Mexican Guadalupanos, however, 
were mitigated. Shared seasonal fi estas, religious celebrations, intermar-
riage, and compadrazgo worked to break down ethnic animosities. GO also 
fostered cooperation between some Yaquis and ethnic Mexicans. Gabriel 
Alvarez, a Yaqui who married a Mexican-American woman, felt that GO 
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was critical in bridging the gap between the two groups. Describing it as 
“the most important organization” in Guadalupe’s postwar history, he felt 
that GO “somehow made us pull together and unite together, not only 
Yaquis but Mexican Americans. . . . Got us together to try and accomplish 
a certain goal and we were able to accomplish it.”75

Many Guadalupe Yaquis therefore  shunned the efforts in New Pascua 
to seek federal recognition as a tribe. “I was one of those who thought,” 
Gabe Alvarez said, “I don’t want to become part of the U.S. Tribe. . . . I saw 
myself as like a Mexican tribe, and I felt that I didn’t fi t into that category. 
. . . I’m not an American, I’m a Mexican.” Although he was objecting to 
being pigeonholed as an American Indian, his comments conformed to tra-
ditional ethno-racial and national boundaries in another way. Because he 
was of Mexican ancestry, he felt that he was “not an American,” despite 
having been born in the United States. Thus, he reinforced one ethno-ra-
cial boundary while questioning another.76

While New Pascuans sought federal acknowledgment as a tribe, Guada-
lupanos cooperated across ethnic lines to promote their interests. In 1965 
GO’s role in Guadalupe expanded after receiving a $500,000 OEO grant. 
GO then became the state’s fi rst community action program.77 With the 
funds, GO developed Neighborhood Youth and Head Start programs and 
initiated an adult education and rehabilitation program through which 114 
members earned high school equivalency diplomas. It also provided vo-
cational training in basic plumbing, electrical work, and carpentry and 
established a credit union.78

GO consciously tapped into the Chicano movement’s rhetoric and the 
imagery of indigenismo to build interethnic support for the organization. 
The cover of one of its pamphlets featured the image of a Yaqui deer dancer 
superimposed on the Aztec calendar. The image served as a reminder of the 
two groups’ shared indigenous heritage. The pamphlet declared that GO’s 
primary purpose was “to keep and further develop the identity of Gua-
dalupe as a community due to its unique Mexican Yaqui culture and its 
rich heritage.” GO thus represented a rare instance when indigenismo in 
Arizona helped to provide a unifying ideology, however imperfect, for inter-
ethnic cooperation.79

In the 1970s GO’s impact spread beyond Guadalupe. In 1971 Socorro 
Hernandez de Bernasconi, a Guadalupe school counselor, protested to of-
fi cials of the Tempe Elementary School District that they had dispropor-
tionately placed ethnic Mexican and Indian children in special education 
classes. Ethnic Mexicans and Yaquis made up 67 percent of the students 
in such classes—a number that was vastly out of sync with their total en-
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rollment of 17 percent. When Hernandez asked Guadalupe’s public school, 
the Frank School, to offer multilingual testing, it refused.80 Hernandez 
then enlisted the help of GO, which fi led a class-action lawsuit against the 
school district. In 1972 the district court ruled in favor of Hernandez, man-
dating that all schools test in students’ primary language. Soon thereafter, 
all but one of the children named as petitioners in the suit were moved to 
regular classes. GO was legitimately able to boast that it had scored a major 
victory for “all bilingual children in the State of Arizona, be they Pima In-
dians, Papagos, Filipinos, Yaquis or Mexicans.”81

This achievement was followed by a substantial setback—a setback that 
explicitly revealed the deep connection drawn by the federal courts between 
a homogeneous education and the stability of the nation. Shortly after the 
fi rst legal victory, GO fi led another, more ambitious class-action suit on 
behalf of all 12,280 students of the Tempe Elementary School District to 
demand not only testing in multiple languages but a pluralistic approach to 
education throughout the curriculum. GO called for a multicultural edu-
cation that refl ected the “particular history of the parents of each child 
attending the school.”82 But in 1978, after an appeal, the Ninth Circuit 
Court ruled against GO. “Our analysis,” the court explained, “returns us 
to the foundations of organized society as manifested by the nation-state. 
We commence by recognizing that the existence of the nation-state rests 
ultimately on the consent of its people.” Clearly, however, not everyone’s 
consent was required. “Linguistic and cultural diversity within the nation-
state,” the court continued, “whatever may be its advantages from time to 
time, can restrict the scope of the fundamental compact. Diversity limits 
unity [and Tempe’s decision] to provide a predominantly mono-cultural 
and mono-lingual educational system was a rational response to a quintes-
sentially ‘legitimate’ state interest.”83

The court thus asserted, in no uncertain terms, that state and school of-
fi cials had a responsibility to encourage a monolithic ideal of cultural citi-
zenship and collective national identity. The decision, which English-only 
advocates often cite as a major victory in their struggle against bilingual 
education, was an important and symbolic statement on the relationship 
between culture, language, citizenship, and the nation. In suggesting that 
cultural diversity could threaten the state’s interest to promote a “mono-
cultural” national identity, the court, in effect, acknowledged that the resi-
dents of Guadalupe, in their fi ght to preserve their cultural heritage, were 
engaged in a struggle to reformulate the boundaries of the nation itself. 
The decision demonstrated just how difficult that struggle could be.84

Guadalupanos, however, did not wait passively for the courts to reform 
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the school system. While the second suit was tied up in the courts, GO 
opened an alternative private school. This action was prompted, in part, 
by the busing program that began in 1973. Buses transported Anglo stu-
dents from Tempe into Guadalupe, and Mexican and Indian students from 
Guadalupe to six different schools in Tempe. Parents in Guadalupe were 
concerned about discrimination in the Tempe schools, about the distance 
their children had to travel to attend them, and about a curriculum and fac-
ulty that did not refl ect the town’s history, culture, and ethnic makeup. As 
an alternative, the new private school, named I’tom escuela (our school, in 
Yaqui and Spanish), offered classes for students from kindergarten through 
sixth grade. Two hundred enrolled. The curriculum served as a model of 
the intercultural education that Guadalupanos hoped to spread into the 
public school system. Teachers emphasized Mexican and Yaqui history and 
culture in addition to U.S. history, reading, writing, and arithmetic. The 
school also required every student—Anglo, Mexican, and Yaqui alike—to 
speak English and Spanish on alternate days and to take lessons in the 
 Yaqui language twice a week.85

In the mid-1970s GO spearheaded a drive to incorporate Guadalupe as 
an independent municipality, arguing that the move would empower the 
community to protect its culture and interests. Some Guadalupanos feared 
that Tempe planned to annex the town and turn it into an industrial park; 
others feared higher tax rates and stricter housing codes.86 GO responded 
by drawing up its own master plan, suggesting that incorporation would 
preserve the town’s distinct Yaqui and Mexican heritage.87

Once again, not all Guadalupanos were in agreement. While GO leaders 
tried to reach out to the Yaqui community, many Yaquis still distrusted its 
motives. A few felt that ethnic Mexicans in GO were simply using them as 
a means to obtain federal funds, capitalizing on the federal government’s 
relatively favorable policies toward Indians in the 1970s.88 Other Yaquis 
and Mexican Americans expressed concern that the town did not have the 
resources or the political know-how to maintain its own streets, its own 
police force, and all of the other elements of self-government that would 
be necessary. Still, when the issue came to a vote, 295 Guadalupanos voted 
yes and 216 voted no. Jimmy Molina, a Yaqui, became the fi rst mayor.89

In the years following incorporation, Guadalupe continued to experi-
ence a period of cultural revitalization. In 1976 local educators initiated 
the Yaqui Project with a special $25,000 grant from the Department of 
Health, Education and Welfare. With these funds six former Head Start 
teachers began to teach Yaqui history and to develop a Yaqui vocabulary 
list so that traditional stories could be written down. The funds also helped 
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residents to begin to reconnect, in a small way, with Yaquis who still lived 
in Sonora. A community service director took a trip to Mexico to obtain 
“native toys, tools, art objects, kitchen utensils and artifacts used by Yaqui 
medicine men for use in the classroom.” About one hundred children took 
part in the program that year.90 Such programs helped to renew awareness 
of Yaqui history and culture and instilled a sense of dignity among many 
town residents. Guadalupanos thus felt a growing sense of pride in their 
heritage. As Jimmy Molina later said, “It wasn’t cool to be a Yaqui when I 
was growing up, but now it’s the ‘in’ thing to be a Yaqui.”91

The new town council also used its power to defend the town’s cul-
ture from exploitation by outside observers. A city ordinance outlawed 
pho tography and note taking during Holy Week. The ordinance imposed a 
$300 fi ne or six months in jail for breaking the new law. One resident praised 
the ordinance for distinguishing Guadalupe from New Pascua, where the 
Yaquis printed brochures and constructed bleachers for observers of the 
Easter ceremonies and had allowed a photographer to take pictures for a 
feature in Arizona Highways.92

While Guadalupe entered a period of revitalization, New Pascua strug-
gled merely to survive; as a result, residents intensifi ed their campaign for 
federal recognition as an Indian tribe. Conditions for such a strategy were 
more favorable in the mid-1970s than they had been in the early 1960s. In 
1965 when New Pascua had been established, termination was still the 
guiding policy of the U.S. government. After the passage of the 1975 Self-
Determination Act, however, conditions changed substantially. That year, 
New Pascuans began to send letters to Congressman Udall to help them 
seek tribal status.93 Federal officials, however, were ambivalent. George 
Castile, who worked with the OEO in New Pascua at the time, recalled, 
“The OEO was as perplexed as everyone else regarding the Yaqui’s status: 
Were they Chicanos or Indians or what?”94

Udall introduced the matter of tribal recognition to Congress in 1975, 
but the bill faced opposition from many fronts.95 Among those opposed 
were some of Arizona’s other tribes, in part because they were concerned 
about competition for resources but also because they hoped to maintain 
cultural boundaries between those who should be considered Indians and 
those who should not. Such concerns were sometimes expressed in racial 
and nativist terms. The chair of the Colorado River Indian Tribes suggested 
that federal funds were already stretched thin and that because the Yaquis 
were “outcasts from Mexico,” they should not be eligible for recognition. 
White Mountain and San Carlos Apaches also opposed the bill, and some 
tribes purportedly referred to the Yaquis as “a bunch of Mexicans, a bunch 
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of wetbacks.”96 The Arizona Inter-Tribal Council brought the issue before 
the Arizona Commission of Indian Affairs, raising concerns about a non-
indigenous people receiving recognition as a tribe. Anselmo Valencia ap-
peared before the commission to plead his case and said, “I am sorry if we 
have taken from one of the other Arizona Indian tribes, but we do need 
this help.”97

Many Yaquis also continued to oppose the quest for federal acknowledge-
ment as a tribe. Ramon Jaurique from Old Pascua feared that the Yaquis 
might lose their individual rights if they became federal “wards.”98 Oppo-
sition was especially strong in Guadalupe—a problem that was exacerbated 
when Anselmo Valencia, in a 1975 meeting before the Inter-Tribal Council, 
presumptuously claimed that “the Guadalupe people are not happy here [in 
Guadalupe]; they want to move to Tucson to live with us.”99 This merely 
fed the fears of Guadalupanos that they might be forced to move without 
their consent. One Guadalupe woman recalled that some members of the 
community “were telling my [mother] . . . that they were going to take her 
land away and put her on the reservation.”100

Despite such opposition, and urged on by Valencia and other New Pascu-
ans, Udall repeatedly brought the issue before Congress. The new requests 
came at a propitious time, since South Dakota Senator James Abourezk 
was simultaneously introducing new procedures for acknowledging unrec-
ognized tribes. Abourezk was the chairman of the American Indian Policy 
Review Commission, which had been established in 1975 when the Self-
Determination Act became law. As the commission worked on the new 
procedures, Udall introduced another bill, House Resolution 6612, in April 
1977, providing for the extension of federal benefi ts and services to the 
Pascua Yaqui Indians of Arizona. Arizona Senator Dennis DeConcini and 
Senator Abourezk introduced a companion bill in the Senate.101

Over the next year and a half, as Congress debated the new bills, the fed-
eral government made several important decisions that signaled growing 
support for Indian self-determination. On May 17 the commission issued 
its fi nal report, declaring that the status of Indian tribes as “domestic, de-
pendent sovereigns” should be “nurtured and cherished by this Nation.” 
Then, in August 1978 Congress issued a broad policy statement protect-
ing American Indian religious freedom. Most importantly for the Pascua 
Yaquis, in October the Bureau of Indian Affairs issued new “procedures 
for establishing that an American Indian group exists as an Indian tribe.” 
While the procedures were “intended to cover only those American In-
dian groups indigenous to the continental United States,” the defi nition 
of indigenous was left rather ambiguous. Indians would be recognized if 
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they could establish that they had “been identifi ed from historical times 
until the present on a substantially continuous basis, as ‘American In-
dian,’ or ‘aboriginal.’” Evidence for such status could include federal and/
or state documents, “repeated identifi cation as an Indian entity in news-
papers and books,” and/or works by “anthropologists, historians, or other 
scholars.”102

The fate of the Yaquis was decided a month before the government ad-
opted these new procedures, but the fact that Congress was deliberating 
over the problems and that Abourezk himself introduced the Yaqui bill 
suggests that the deliberations infl uenced the decision. During Senate 
hearings there was much discussion about what it meant to be Indian in 
the United States. Abourezk opened the proceedings by declaring that the 
“Yaqui people have lived in areas including what is now the southwestern 
United States and northern Mexico since time immemorial.” Senator DeC-
oncini, who could not attend the hearings, issued a prepared statement that 
anticipated the language of the soon-to-be released federal acknowledge-
ment procedures. In his words, “The Yaqui Indians . . . have been identi-
fi ed by every recognized authority as being a major and unique American 
Indian tribe.” He also made the highly questionable declaration that the 
Yaquis had lived in “what we call the Southwest, including the area of 
the Gadsden Purchase, from time immemorial.” More plausibly, he wrote 
about their “pride and strength of culture, language, and character that has 
carried these people through much adversity.”103

During the hearings, Anselmo Valencia made the New Pascuan case 
directly before the Senate. Turning rancher Turney Smith’s rhetoric on its 
head, he argued that “The Yaquis are Indians in every sense of the word. 
We have our own language, our own culture, such as the Pascola Dancing, 
the deer dancing, and the coyote dancing. These dances are Indian in ori-
gin.” He then reviewed the history of oppression that the Yaquis had faced 
in their long struggle to survive. “The Catholic faith and the various gov-
ernments under which the Yaquis have had to suffer have tried for centu-
ries to undermine our ‘Yaquiness,’ but after four hundred years they have 
not succeeded.” Rather than claim that the Yaquis had lived in territory 
now controlled by the United States since “time immemorial,” he made 
the more likely suggestion that “Yaqui Indians are, and have been, from 
the southwest since before the establishment of international boundaries 
which divide this continent.”104

In the end the hearings convinced Congress that the Yaquis were, in-
deed, American Indians, and it passed Public Law 95-375 to that effect on 
September 18, 1978. The act rescinded the language of the 1965 act that 
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had withheld federal resources or privileges reserved for American Indians 
from the Yaquis. Instead, the new legislation stated that the Yaquis were to 
be eligible “for services and assistance provided to Indians because of their 
status as Indians by or through any department, agency, or instrumental-
ity of the United States” (emphasis added).105

Ethnographer George Castile has suggested that a critical reason Con-
gress granted federal recognition to the Yaquis was the unproven yet oft-
repeated idea that the Yaquis were descendants of the Toltecs, and the far-
fetched suggestion that Toltecs had once lived in territory that was now 
the Southwest. Indeed, Senators Abourezk and DeConcini both made such 
claims during the hearings.106 It is important to note, however, that even 
if it infl uenced the Senate’s decision, BIA federal acknowledgment guide-
lines did not make such a claim imperative. The new legislation required 
that a tribe had existed from a “historical time.” It was undeniable that 
the Yaquis had been living in the United States at least since the late nine-
teenth century, which was certainly a historical time. Moreover, through-
out the century, anthropologists like Edward Spicer had referred to the 
Yaquis as an Indian tribe.107

While it is interesting to consider the role that purported Toltec ances-
try played in congressional hearings over federal recognition, the debate 
over the Yaquis’ status in the United States raises deeper questions. What 
did it mean to be defi ned as indigenous in a nation whose territorial bound-
aries had been fi rmly established only in 1854, not long before thousands of 
Yaquis began crossing from Sonora into Arizona? It must be remembered 
that U.S. infl uence had never stopped at the territorial border. The presence 
of U.S. investors in northern Sonora and the support of the U.S. government 
for the Díaz regime had played a signifi cant role in dislodging thousands of 
Yaquis from Sonora in the fi rst place. Did the United States then not bear 
some of the responsibility for rectifying such historical injustices?

Debates over the status of the Yaquis shed light on the ways in which 
Americans of various ethnic backgrounds have insisted that people be de-
fi ned into readily understandable ethno-racial categories, and how that 
insistence has affected the ethnic identity of indigenous peoples. It was 
incomprehensible to many outside observers that the Yaquis could be both 
Mexican and Indian or, more to the point, that they are something alto-
gether different. To Anglos such as Turney Smith, the liminality of the 
Yaquis, in cultural and national terms, made them “not citizens of any 
country,” even though legally they had been recognized as U.S. citizens 
for many decades. Other Indian tribes, too, insisted on maintaining solid 
boundaries around Indian status, declaring at various times that the Yaquis 
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were “wetbacks” or Mexican outcasts and not like them. And then there 
were Yaquis themselves, such as Gabe Alvarez who asked how he could be 
a Native American when his ancestors originated in Mexico and when he 
listened to Mexican music and ate Mexican food.

All of these groups, and not just Anglos, frequently resorted to simple 
ethno-racial categories—categories that had helped to defi ne the social and 
cultural fabric of the nation by defi ning how different groups fi t, or did not 
fi t, into that fabric. The Yaquis threatened to disrupt that comprehensible 
world because they challenged by their very existence the cultural and 
racial borders that helped to defi ne the limits of citizenship and the bound-
aries of the nation. Congress, by defi ning the Yaquis as Indians, moved 
toward putting such debates to rest, substantially clarifying the place of 
the Yaquis within the nation.

On one hand, in 1978 the Pascua Yaquis successfully redefi ned what an 
American Indian could be, since they were, after all, descendants of im-
migrants. But on the other, their success depended in part upon their will-
ingness to accept aspects of an externally derived, essentialist conception 
of Indianness. The Pascua Yaqui Association was replaced by the Pascua 
Yaqui Tribe, and New Pascua became an Indian reservation. Membership 
was now based on genetics; the tribal rolls were open only to people of 
one-quarter “Yaqui blood.”108 Never before had the Yaquis had a perma-
nent tribal government, and never before had the proportion of one’s blood 
determined whether or not one was a Yaqui. One’s kinship relationships, 
cultural practices, and any number of other factors were more important. 
In fact, some Yaquis, especially those in Guadalupe where intermarriage 
was common, continued to fi ght against the high level of blood quantum 
necessary for membership, pushing for a decrease to one-eighth.109

Yaqui tribal recognition affected Yaqui culture and identity in other 
ways as well. The new tribal government in Pascua provided the opportu-
nity for women to obtain leadership positions that had not existed before. 
Historically, only men served as headmen, gobernadores, or members of 
village councils. Now, like the Tohono O’odham, Yaqui women expanded 
their public roles into the world of electoral politics. Octaviana Salazar, for 
example, who was the fi rst Yaqui from Guadalupe to earn a PhD, eventu-
ally became the fi rst Guadalupano, and one of the fi rst women, to serve on 
the Pascua Yaqui tribal council. For two months she also served as interim 
chair of the Pascua Yaqui tribe.110 More recently, in June 2004, Herminia 
Frías was the fi rst woman in the tribe’s history to be elected chair. Her 
election demonstrates how a new institution, the Yaqui tribal council, over 
time has altered the gender standards of political authority within Yaqui 
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culture.111 As Barbara Valencia, who served as vice mayor of Guadalupe, put 
it in 1995, “We’re a totally macho culture, but we’re trying to change that 
too. This is a new Yaqui here.”112

Perhaps it was the Guadalupe Yaquis who succeeded best in transcend-
ing imposed, static, ethno-racial boundaries. A homegrown social move-
ment, infl uenced by the Chicano movement, built upon the community’s 
own evolving interethnic heritage to assert a new political identity—one 
that embraced cultural mestizaje as a basis of empowerment rather than as 
a sign of racial impurity. GO’s emphasis on the town’s mixed Mexican In-
dian culture as a basis for political empowerment demonstrates that Gua-
dalupanos rejected the equation of whiteness with fi rst-class citizenship 
without embracing other static terms that would pigeonhole them into an 
externally defi ned place within the nation.113 And yet, as this book has at-
tempted to demonstrate, judging the authenticity of ethnic identities is an 
ill-advised pursuit. It can distract scholars from the task of taking existing 
identities seriously and understanding what they mean to the people who 
live them, while interrogating how and why they emerged, adapted, and/or 
disappeared over time.
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Borders Old and New

Vivian Juan-Saunders and Herminia Frías, chairwomen of the Tohono 
O’odham and Yaqui nations in Arizona, traveled to Sarmiento, Mexico, 
in November 2004 to participate in the Ninth Annual Assembly of Indig-
enous Women. There they met up with O’odham and Yaquis from Mexico, 
along with other indigenous peoples from Arizona, California, Sonora, and 
Sinaloa, to discuss their future. The meeting was remarkable in a number 
of ways. First, that both leaders were there to represent their respective 
indigenous nations reveals how much their political cultures had changed 
since the nineteenth century, when individual villages were considered 
autonomous and the idea of a national or tribal leadership elected by a 
majority was unheard of. Second, the election of women by the Yaqui and 
 Tohono O’odham nations to the highest positions of political power re-
vealed a dramatic cultural shift from a time when all-male village coun-
cils made decisions by consensus. Finally, the meetings symbolized an ex-
tension of a pan-Indian notion of sovereignty that was no longer confi ned 
within the borders of the United States.1

On the other hand, one might see the meeting as a sign of the loss of 
tradition and cultural integrity, and of unresolved contradictions. The very 
idea that Juan-Saunders and Frías could claim to speak for the O’odham 
and Yaqui nations was evidence of a decline in village autonomy. This 
concept of O’odham and Yaqui nationhood was one among many ways in 
which indigenous culture in Arizona’s borderlands had changed. Thou-
sands of Yaquis and Tohono O’odham no longer spoke their native lan-
guages. The adoption of majoritarian democracy countered a history of 
government by consensus. The creation of the Yaqui and Tohono O’odham 
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nations has  appeared to confi rm rather than challenge the idea that the 
world is organized into discrete ethnic groups or nations with imperme-
able boundaries.

Indeed, as old borders eroded, new ones emerged. This was true not 
just metaphorically but also in very concrete terms. Chairwoman Juan-
Saunders proclaimed that “it is critical that all recognized members of the 
Tohono O’odham Nation maintain the right to cross the border to see fam-
ilies and friends, to receive services and to participate in religious ceremo-
nies and other events.” At the same time, she initially condoned the idea 
construction of a fence through traditional O’odham lands along the So-
nora border in order to stop, in her words, the “approximately fi fteen hun-
dred undocumented immigrants and smugglers [who] cross through the 
Tohono O’odham Nation daily.”2 The Tohono O’odham thus simultane-
ously raised the radical prospect of delegitimizing the international border 
for themselves while reinforcing it for others. Some Yaquis and O’odham 
worked through the Indigenous Alliance Without Borders (led by Jose Ma-
tus, a Yaqui Indian) and the O’odham Voice Against the Wall to challenge 
the effort.3 They eventually convinced her to change her position.

The idea that there are inalienable differences and boundaries between 
ethnic groups and nations remains largely intact. Yet, this is not simply the 
natural order of things; it is the product of history. Ever since the Treaty of 
 Guadalupe Hidalgo and the Gadsden Purchase, government officials and 
economic elites had worked to classify and rank Arizona’s regional popula-
tion according to its economic value and suitability for American citizen-
ship. In the borderlands, race served to reconcile contradictions between a 
high demand for labor, regardless of ethnicity or national origin, and cul-
tural demands to foster national homogeneity. Racial classifi cation worked 
to promote, if not a monocultural nation, at least the homogeneity of the 
citizenry by withholding full citizenship rights from those deemed worthy 
to work but unworthy to be full members of the U.S. body politic.

Over the course of one hundred years, restrictions on voting,  segregation 
statutes, miscegenation laws, federal Indian policies, and anti-immigration 
measures ranked and classifi ed the regional population into specifi c, ethno-
racial categories. But in the fl uid space of the borderlands in the nineteenth 
and early twentieth centuries, identifi cation as Indian or Mexican had of-
ten occurred on a continuum rather than in binary terms. This was also 
true for Anglos or whites, since Italians, Greeks, Spaniards, and Poles, 
among others, had not been fully accepted as white at the turn of the cen-
tury. Over time, most of these groups managed to secure social acceptance 
into the circle of whiteness. By midcentury, Mexican, Anglo, or Indian 
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had become more strictly bounded ethno-racial categories, with much less 
room for in-betweens.

Throughout this period, the region’s immigrant, Mexican-American, 
and indigenous populations fought to maintain their cultural integrity and 
defi ne their own relationship to the U.S. nation-state. For decades, Tohono 
O’odham, Pimas, and Maricopas retained relatively autonomous cultural 
spaces by farming, raising cattle, and periodically moving between their 
reservation villages and Anglo-owned farms, ranches, and mines. In the 
1930s the Indian New Deal accelerated the process of economic change 
on and off the reservations and laid the groundwork for tribal councils to 
supersede village-level government. After World War II, as commercial ag-
riculture became fully mechanized and Arizona shifted to a service and 
manufacturing economy, seasonal migration from villages and rancherías 
into temporary wage jobs became much less tenable. These changes en-
couraged indigenous people to embrace new tribal or national identities 
in order to preserve their cultural heritage and assert their economic and 
political rights.

At the same time, ethnic Mexicans developed a number of sometimes 
contradictory tactics such as demanding acceptance as white American 
citizens; joining mutualistas for economic security, to protect their Mexi-
can heritage, and to claim American citizenship; or forming labor unions 
to challenge the  racially ordered class system. In the early 1960s ethnic 
Mexicans associated with the Chicano movement began to assert their 
indigenous and mestizo heritage, rather than their whiteness, as a basis 
for political empowerment. Still, as this book has suggested, even those 
who identifi ed as Chicanos tended to trace this indigenous heritage to the 
hierarchical civilization of the Aztecs rather than link themselves to the 
indigenous population in south-central Arizona with whom they worked, 
lived, and intermarried. In that sense they conformed to dominant concep-
tions of what constituted civilization and what did not.

The liminal ethno-racial status of the Yaquis lasted perhaps the lon-
gest. Yaquis challenged the racial categories of Indian and Mexican by 
preserving a highly Hispanicized indigenous culture and forming close 
ties with ethnic Mexicans. In the 1960s some Yaquis embraced their cul-
tural mestizaje as the basis for an interethnic movement for economic 
and political rights, while others sought federal recognition as a tribe. The 
quest for federal recognition implied a degree of acceptance of dominant 
American defi nitions of how Indians should behave, how the boundaries 
of Indian identity should be defi ned, and what the relationship of Indi-
ans to the U.S. nation-state should be. It also, however, provided a new 
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tool to secure resources and exercise political sovereignty and cultural 
self-determination.

Indeed, by the end of the 1970s both Indians and ethnic Mexicans in 
Ari zona’s borderlands had substantially redefi ned their relationships to 
the U.S. nation in ways that countered the historical intentions of  Anglo 
policymakers. Through assertions of Chicano cultural citizenship and 
semi autonomous, indigenous nationhood, these movements defi ed the 
dominant Anglo majority’s claims of authority to defi ne the contours and 
boundaries of the nation, even as they borrowed from traditional Anglo-
American notions of citizenship and nationhood. It should not be surpris-
ing that, after a century and a half of interethnic interaction in the U.S. 
Southwest, such politicized forms of ethnic identity both confronted and 
refl ected dominant defi nitions of national belonging. Such is the nature of 
resistant adaptation in the era of nation-states.

In recent years these groups have faced new challenges, as some Ameri-
cans have attempted to shore up the boundaries of citizenship and the na-
tion. An early example of this reaction occurred in Guadalupe in response 
to a local suit in the mid-1970s to institute multilingual and multi cultural 
education in Tempe schools. The rhetoric of the federal court’s 1978 rul-
ing against the suit—that it was supposedly a legitimate state interest “to 
provide a predominantly mono-cultural and mono-lingual educational 
system”—would be repeated over and over again in coming decades as 
 English-only advocates sought to end bilingual education.4 Twenty-two 
years later, the campaign culminated in Arizona with Proposition 203, 
which was overwhelmingly approved by voters in November 2000. It re-
quires Arizona’s public schools to dismantle bilingual education, replacing 
it with English-immersion programs. Combined with a similar bill passed 
in California, the victory reassured English-only advocates from Texas to 
Massachusetts that they were not fi ghting in vain.5

Even more recently, concerns over protecting cultural and territorial 
national borders, and the boundaries of citizenship, reemerged in passion-
ate regional and national debate. In November 2004, the Arizona Taxpayer 
and Citizenship Protection Act, Proposition 200, was approved by 56 per-
cent of Arizona voters. The proposition begins with a declaration that ille-
gal immigration “contradicts federal immigration policy, undermines the 
security of our borders and demeans the value of citizenship” (emphasis 
added). The measure mandates that at the polls every voter produce either 
a driver’s license or two other forms of identifi cation to prove their U.S. 
citizenship. It also directs each “agency of the state” to verify the identity 
and citizenship of applicants for public benefi ts and requires all state em-
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ployees to report any applicant who is suspected of violating immigration 
laws. Any who fail to comply with the law could be charged with a Class II 
misdemeanor. In May 2006 a coalition of Arizonans challenged the law in 
federal court but the challenge failed, and the law was implemented in the 
November midterm elections.6

Meanwhile, the U.S. House passed HR 4437 in 2005. If approved by the 
Senate, the bill would have enhanced border protection through new tech-
nologies, more personnel, and hundreds of miles of new fencing. It would 
have made criminals of undocumented immigrants—and anyone who aids 
or abets such immigrants—subjecting them to mandatory minimum sen-
tences. It would expand the power of government agencies to carry through 
depor tations and would have given the attorney general discretionary au-
thority to deport immigrants based on immoral character. It would have 
enacted new penalties and enforcement measures against employers who 
fail to make a concerted effort to fi nd and report undocumented job ap-
plicants. Finally, border security officials would work with tribal govern-
ments, particularly with the Tohono O’odham, to secure their reservations 
against illegal border crossing.7

The passage of HR 4437 spawned protests throughout the nation, in-
cluding a march by as many as two hundred thousand people in downtown 
Phoenix in April 2006, the largest demonstration in Arizona history. Pro-
test organizers and politicians such as Steve Gallardo, an Arizona congress-
man, focused on the need to challenge recent restrictionist immigration 
bills and state resolutions and for Latinos to register to vote to make their 
voices heard. Meanwhile, watching from the sidelines, a Republican state 
senator told a reporter that the government must crack down on illegal 
immigration and the production of counterfeit immigration papers. “Who 
knows which documents are real and which are not real?” she asked. “They 
look real. They’re very well done.” The statement only confi rmed many of 
the Latino protesters’ worst fears. After all, if one can never tell whether 
immigration and citizenship papers are real, all Latinos are suspect.8

The symbolism of the march was revealing. Demonstrators carried signs 
reading Somos America (We Are America) and U.S. fl ags, heeding the ad-
vice of organizers who hoped to undercut critics of earlier protests in which 
some participants had waved Mexican fl ags. The tactic resembled histori-
cal strategies by Mexican-American activists in groups like LULAC and 
Arizona’s ACCPE who strove for equality by asserting their patriotism. On 
the other hand, the fact that Latino citizens and foreign nationals protested 
together suggests an emerging solidarity across lines of national citizen-
ship. Moreover, the slogan Somos America sent the message that even 
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non-English speakers could be equal citizens—a clear challenge to those 
who advocated a monolingual and monocultural citizenry in the United 
States.

As some observers have pointed out, the protests were also about la-
bor rights. A large percentage of the protesters were noncitizen workers 
who came to the United States either to send wages back to their home 
countries or to settle permanently, and legally, in the United States. The 
demonstrators were aware that the federal government was once again 
considering a guest worker program since it had become front-page news 
throughout the country. The proverbial devil, however, was in the details. 
Would a new guest worker program provide immigrants with a path to citi-
zenship, or at least legalization? Would it establish protections for foreign 
nationals from exploitative employers? Or would it look much like the old 
Bracero Program, which had permitted only temporary admittance with-
out a path to permanent residence, thus implicitly reinforcing the notion 
that Latinos were good enough to be workers but not to be citizens? The 
protesting immigrants put themselves at risk by publicly demanding, at a 
minimum, that noncitizen workers have dignity, respect, and the tools to 
defend themselves from exploitation and discrimination.9

Recent challenges to current immigration and border enforcement 
proposals have crossed ethnic lines. In the past several years, Chicano 
activists-turned-politicians in Arizona have taken up the cause of the To-
hono O’odham to recognize their right to a homeland that transcends the 
U.S.-Mexico border. In June 2001 Representative Ed Pastor, a member of 
Chicanos por La Causa in the 1970s, introduced the Tohono O’odham citi-
zenship bill in the U.S. House to grant members of the Tohono O’odham na-
tion citizenship regardless of their residence in Mexico or the United States. 
Representative Frank Pallone Jr. introduced a second bill which declared, 
“Notwithstanding the Immigration and Nationality Act, all members of 
the Tohono O’odham Nation of Arizona shall be entitled to pass and repass 
freely the borders of the United States.” To support the bills, a delegation from 
the Tohono O’odham nation traveled to Washington, D.C. Henry Ramón, 
the vice-chair of the nation, demanded that “the federal government needs 
to right a wrong committed in 1853, when our traditional lands were di-
vided between Mexico and the United States.”10

When the bills stalled in the Republican-led Congress, another long-
standing Chicano activist, Raúl Grijalva, introduced a new bill in February 
2003. Grijalva had been among the primary organizers in South Tucson 
in the 1970s of the Raza Unida Party, which had support from some local 
Tohono O’odham residents. Like the earlier bills, HR 731 would make all 
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members of the Tohono O’odham nation U.S. citizens, and make tribal 
membership credentials the legal equivalent of a U.S. birth certifi cate. Un-
fortunately, the bill never made it to the fl oor for a vote.11

As these recent events suggest, rigid ethnic and national boundaries in Ar-
izona and the United States—as elsewhere around the globe—remain 
highly contested to this day. Will the struggles of workers and the transna-
tional nature of capital soften national borders, as some have suggested? Or 
will recent concerns over border security and immigration shore up na-
tional boundaries and lead to a new era of restrictive nationalism?12 Will 
Yaquis, Tohono O’odham, ethnic Mexicans, and others cross ethno-racial 
boundaries (such as in the case of the recent Tohono O’odham citizenship 
bills) to form new coalitions that challenge exploitation and discrimina-
tion and secure political and economic rights? It remains to be seen. As 
always, we stand at a historic crossroads.
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